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Preface 

In Volume I of this work a history of James Bluford Coffey (my great frand­

father) was given. All of his descendants, as far as known, were also listed and 

discussed. This volume deals with his ancestors, not only on the Coffey line but 

also to some extent on the collateral lines of Lane, Dabney, ~ade, Cleveland, 

Graves, Powell and others. In addition, I have felt it advisable to include some 

collateral Coffey lines and considerable data on other and unplaced Coffey lines 

in Colonial and early post-Revolutionary times. There is much yet unknown about 

the relationships of the latter, and it is hoped that the inclusions of the data 

I have accumulated may help some other researchers to find their ancestral lines. 

The purpose of this volume is thus two fold1 first, to provide information for my 

family (descendants of James Bluford Coffey) about their ancestry, and second, 

to make the data I have accumulated during the past 20-odd years available to 

other Coffey researchers. 

In deciding what to include on collateral Coffey lines I started out with the 

general rule to not go further than the families of the brothers and sisters of 

my direct line ancestors. However, where I have known or had considerable corres-

~ pondence with some living descendants of these lines I have often included them 

and their lines. Where much information is available in other published family 

histories I have referred the reader· to those works rather than attempt a repe­

tition of their data. In some cases I have given my own interpretation of the 

data which may differ from that of others. I make no apologies for this; I have 

simply presented the material "as I see it." 

No one person can write a history of all the Coffeys in America or even the 

descendants of Edward Coffey and Ann Powell. Thus, this work should not be con­

sidered an attempt to do so, but rather an account of some of the better known of 

these descendants. Omission of more recent generations on most lines will un­

doubtedly disappoint some readers. I have felt that that information is more 

readily available to them than that of the earlier lines and have thus made my 

choice of material to include on this basis. To have included more would have 

greatly le~thened this volume and the time necessary to pro~uce it. 

'Ihe reader will find a study of the charts in Chapter 1 helpful before pro­

ceeding further as this should orient him to the overall picture and to the chapter 

where a particular family can be found. In using the charts in other chapte~s 

the reader should note that I have used standard genealogical form with th~ dates 

and abbreviations. While dates are given in the traditional manner (e.g., Feb­

ruary 2, 1827) in the narrative part, in the charts (and other compacted material) 
vi 



the f;enealogical forn (e.g., 2 Feb 1827) is used. 3tate abbreviations are those 

used by the U.3. Fostal 3ervice. Other abbreviations are also rather standard.. 

They include: 
b = born d = died bur= buried m or md = married dau = daur..hter 

abt = about bef = before aft= after, etc. 

The system employed in many family histories of assigning a number to each 

ancestor or a number or letter to each generation has not been employed here. 

Instead, each generation is indented 6 spaca::;, 3 for the vitc".J. :i.n:-,,'1'1at5.on about 

a Riven person, and 3 more for a listing of his or her children. Note, for ex­

ample, page 47. The vital data of Thomas Coffey is indented 3 spaces and then a 

numerical listing of the children follow, each indented the same 3 additional 

spaces under the heading "children. 11 Note that all the descendants of each child 

will be listed before going to the next child. If someone has bee~ married twice, 

all the descendants of the first marriage will be listed before going to the sc,c­

onci ~:it.rria~ {e.g., 'nlomas Coffey's first :narriage (p. 47) to ~lizabeth Smith is 

followed by all of her children and then Thomas' 2nd marriage to 3ally Fields is 

followed by her children. Infomation about a spouse, if known, usually follows 

his or her name and is in parentheses. For example, on page 46 it can be seen 

that Edmond Coffey married Nancy Barnett who died before 27 April 1829, the mar~ 

riage taking place in Albemarle or Amherst county. 

Al though I have attempted to get all material up to date, this book will be 

out of date as soon as it is published {if not before). The turn to a. search of 

"roots" by so many people is resulting in an accellerated uncovering of new mater­

ial. In time some of the information here can probably be added to or improved 

upon. However, after years of intensive research there comes a time when one 

must draw a line, publish what he has, and get on with other things. I believe 

that time for me has come. Perhaps if enough new information becomes available 

a second edition may some day be published. Suffice it to say that this book is 

not complete, nor is it the final word on the Coffey history. 

Errors will undoubtedly be found in this work. For these I take full respon­

sibility. '!hose who find any such errors will be helping the author a great deal 

if they would bring them to his attention. The same holds true for omissions. It 

is anticipated that an "errata and addend.a" sheet will be produced at a later date. 

I would welcome correspondence from anyone having additional or different informa­

tion, including differing interpretations. Family history is only useful if it 

can be shared. It is my hope that the in:formation in this volume will be useful 

to many others. 
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I wish to acknowledge my wife, Wanda, for help in preparation of the index, 

and my daughter, ·orilee, for some of the drawings of maps. Most of the other ~ 

drawings are mine. Those redrawn from other sources are generally acknowledp.ed 
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ter pages has been taken from the Dover Publications Clip-Art 3eries and grateful 
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To all Coffey descendants: Those who 

have gone before, those who are now 
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Herring and published by Broadrnan Press, Nashville, TN who gave permission for 
its use. 
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CHAPTER 1 

OVERVIEW 

"Man is but the sum of his ancestors" 
--- Emerson 
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James ~luford Coffey was born October 11, 1837 in th~ Saline district of 

Gallatin county Illinois. When not quite 16 years old he made the long trlp to 

Oregon in a covered wagon with his family. He, his parents, and his eranc.parents 

were restless pioneers, moving often and into undeveloped areas. James' story 

was told in Volume I of this work; that of his parents and grandparents is in 

Chapters 13 and 10, respectively of this volume.· The ~tory r,f these families 

is not greatly different from that of many others of the same time periods. As 

new areas of the United States were charted, children or whole fa~ilies moved 

further into such lands seeking new opportunities. 

Our Coffey line started in the "lower" counties of Virginia but soon moved 

further west and south as new lands were surveyed. :1early all c.,f this line 

finally left Virginia, most going first to North Carolina in the 1770s and 1780s. 

In the late 1790s and the early 1800s most of the Coffey fa:nilies cf North Caro­

lina moved on, either further south or to Tennessee or Kentucky. In each of these 

areas large groups of the families became established, but always, sorr.e moved 

further west. 

From Kentucky my line moved to Indiana and then Illinois and Missouri. ?•Iany 

others followed suit and today Coffeys are found in every state of the Union. 

However, the largest num't:er remain in the South. 

The story told in this volume is largely one (.,f a line which made one of 

the biggest breaks at an early date, following the Oregon Trail in 1853. On& 

could not tell this ztory without relating those of other fa.~ilies found along 

the way. 'Ihus lhe read.er will find in this volume abundant information on illC.ny 

other Cof1ey families, as well as a number of non-Coffey fcllr:ilies. The following 

charts should help put some of these families in proper perspective for the reader. 
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CHART I 
SCH! DESCENDANTS OP EDWARD COFFEY 

Bdvard Coffey and Ann P-ell 
Eaaex co. VA, 1699-1716 8 

(He Ch■pt. 3) 

I 
I 

John CoH117 Edvard Coffey 
I I 

Harth■ Coffey (P■t•y) Ann or Annlater(■) Coffey 
md. Jo,hua Stapp I I 

Auettn or Auatea Coffey 
I 

F.llaaheth Coffey 
ad. Jane Crave■ 
Ba,n, Spota7lvant■, ~ Albe-
11111rle coa.,VA. 1728-1775 

md. Crace Cleveland 
(see chepr. 3) (He chapt. 3) 

md, Hl ■a Shenelt (?) 
(aee ch■pt n 

md, .John Cleveland 
Oran11e co. VA 

Jeme■ Coffey 
(aee chept. 3) (He chrt• 4) 

I 
J-■ Coffey 

I I 
Bd:J Coffey 

I I I wuu- .John Coffey Wtnlfred 1boma, Coffey Reuben Coffey 
aid. Blt■■beth Cleveland 
Alb8111■rle-AJaher■t cos.VA; 
Wllkaa co.,N.C.,1750-1786 

Coffey, ml. ml. (1) Dore■, ad. Nancy Coffey,11111. ml. (1) Ella■be th al. Sally 
Ell-■beth Certer,(2) Bernett Nlcholae Smith, (2)Sareh Scott 
Oaboume Nancy Richan!• (chept.4) Moran Flelda (chept.4) 

( ■ee C ■pt. 5) (aee chept.4) aon (chapt.4) 

Ellaabeth 
Coffey,c:d. 
Wllll■a 

Vhtteeldee 
(ch■pt.5) 

I 
Archelau■ 
Coffey 

1806 
md. J■ne 
Dean 

John Archelaua 
Coffey * Coffey-1755 
ad. Kary md.Bleenor 

J-a 
Coffey 

leub 
Coffey 

(Polly) Wade-I 755-83 
(chept. 5)"° (chapt,8) 

UR11111r. T * 
(chept. 5) 

md. Milley 
Morrt■ T 
(ch■pt.5) 

I 
1bo,ua 
Coffey 

1808 
nd. Keala 
V■rnler 

I 
I 

.1-■ H. Coffey 
1776 

ad. Prance■ Lane 
1803-1849 
(eee chept.10,11,12) 

I 
I 

John Coffey 
I 

Ann Coffey 
1810 

(■ee chept, 10) ( aee ch■pt .10) 

md. Nancy 
Snyder,1832-
1879. lL,MO,OR 
(1■e chapt.13) 

1812 
ml. John 
Baldridge 
(chapt.10) 

J 

I 
J-• Bluford Coffey 

l837 
Callatln co.,IL to 
Oregon (eee chept.1 
end lJ) 

Ma1:th■ 
Coffey 
ad.Meetln 
Durham 
(chept. 5) 

(ch■pt.4) (Chapt.4) 

Asnbroee Coffey* 
md. (l)Mllley 
Moore,(2)Ellaabeth 
Rlce 
(chept. 5) 

Ell Coffey 
ml. Henneh 
Allen 
(chept. 5) 

Rlce Coffey 
md, Sarah 
Bradford 
(chept. 5) 

.John Coffey 
1778 

.Jane toffey 
1782 

md. Polly fferbord 
(aee chept. 8) 

I 
Etiaor Sally Coffey 
Coffey 1816 

1814 11111. E .. tng 
ad.,_. Flannigan 
Kennady Chept.10) 
(chept.10) 

J 

md. llllllem Herbord 
(He chept. 8) 

. I I 
J-■ llealey te .. t ■ Coffey 
Coffey, l818 1820 
md. Hary md. Nancy 
Kene Lea.,el 1 
(chept.10) (chapt .10) 

(see chapt. ft) 

' Benlamln Coffey 
a>d. Polly llayu 
(■ea ch11pt,4) 

Joel Coffey 
md. Marthe 

? 
(chept. 5) 

I 
Ellaeheth Coffey 
mcl. Thomaa Flelde 
(He chapt. 4) 

Levla Ruuel I Coffey 
md. lldent Moore 
(see chapt. S) 

I 
toul ■e Coffey I 

El I Coffey 
1823 182<, 

md, John md, ( 1) Nancy 
Lane Ruuell, (2) 
(chapt .10) Nancy Foster 

(chapt. 10) 

a. Datoa from to 
indicate married yaafi: 
■ tn11le dates ere year hurn. 

) 
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CHART NUMBi:.'R I -A 

Ancestry or Ja.'lles Bluforo Coffey 

2 John COJo'FEY 

BORN 22 Apr 1810 
WHERE Wayne co., KY 

1101 .. , 17.55 
w11fnE Al b!111arl«. co. VA 

4 JC11:1ra.11...J:1.~.u.l:.U:.i...------lWIIFNMARRIED abt 1775 
ooAN 20 Jul 1776 01E0 abt 17WJ/4 
WHERE AclihPrst co,, VA WHERE Wilkes co,, N.C, 

WHEN MAIIRIID 16 Jan 1804 • l!.'l.eanor WAul:: 

01ED 7 Jan lll49 BDR"' abt 1? 55 
wt1E11E3aUue ur Hamil ton co,, WHERE Al bel!l&rle co,, VA 

II, DIED after 1829 
WHERE Illlnols (?) 

n l,,;lh:abeJ.lt cu;vl,;J,Allli ----· 

, 11 John WAD-: _________ _ 

,a Elizabeth 

20 llUU11111 LAiii-; 

WHE ... MARIIIED 1) 3ep 18)2 10,--,..._.....,...._.,........_ _______ --f 

DIED • 8 Apr 1879 IIOA"' abt. 1741 
WHERE Looklngp;lass,Doup,las,OR wHERE Vlrf,1n1a 

t J es Blufo 

BORN lt Oct 
wvH1111 Gallatin co,, IL 
WHt"' MAAIIIED(l )19 Oct, 1862 (2)16 Jul 1866 
DIED ) Jul t g24 
wHtRE Ad1111s, U~atllla, "oR 
( t } Mary Anh McCOIIKLF._ 
NAl.11 Of HUSIIANO 011 Wl~I 

(2) Mary Elizabeth BOLIN 

BORN 1 Dec 1815 
WHERE Vlr11:1n1a 

DIED 28 Feb l8YJ 
WHEAi Lexlngt.on, Morrow, OR 

a L..:=~C::::B:,:8..1;1a!!All:!....--------1wHEN MAAIIIIO 8 Au,; 

IIDRN 22 Jun 178.5 DIED abt. tnJ6/7 
WHERE North Carolina. WHEAi! 30, Illinois 
DIED 24 Oct 1859 11 Nancy DABNEY 

WHERE Saline co,, IL BORN abt 1766 

,2 

0,---------------i 
BOAN 

WHERE 

WHEN MARRIED 

DIED 

WHEAi 

1:11 

14 

7.__ _____________ --1 

BOIIN 

WHEII! 

DIED 

WHEAi 

,, 

WHERE Vlrp,1n1a 

DIED 

WVHERE 

BORN 

WHERE 

WHEN MARRIED 

DIED 

WHERE 

BORN 

WHERE 

DIED 

WHERE 

BORN 

WHERE 

WHEN MARRIED 

DIED 

WHEAi 

BORN 

WHERE 

DIED 

WHEAi 

21 Anne CR,:W 

178) 

] 
---------·----

,. 

25 '------------·----
28 

27 

30,---------

:11 ,__ ___________ --··-. 



CHART NUl'IBi::R I-B 

Ancestry of J11111es Bluford Coffey, Cont. 

, Archelaus COFIBY 
BORN 1755 
WHlRE Albemarle co,, VA 
WHlN MARRIED Abt.. 1755 
DIED abt. t78J/4 
WHERE Wilkes co., N,C.' 
~lea.nor WADE 
NAMI Of HU09AN0 011 WIPI 

J 

2 J11111es CUF'F};y 

BORN 1729 * 
wuERli Essex co. , VA 
WttEN MARRIID &bl. 175() 
DIED· W,p. 26 Oct 1786 
WHIRi Wilkes co., N,C, 

(see chapl, S) 

3 ~llzabeth CLEVELAND 
flDRN abt 1726h 
WHERE VlrglnJa 
DIED abt 1626/7 
WHIRi Bedford CO, 1 TN 

(see chapte, S & 6) 

• mwvr1 c,;ru;x 

• J~!' COFl-~1 
DORN a?;t t'/00 

noHN (see cha~t.. J) 
WHERE 

WHEN MARRIED &bt 1699 
01[ D w, P• 20 Hov. 1716 
WHERE Essex co,, VA wHERE 1::ssex co,, VA 

WHENMARRIEO &bt 1728 
OIEO 11,!>• Ju Har 1?75 
WHERE Albemarle co. • VA 

fl A .,. 

(see chapt, 4) 

BORN abt 1707 
WHERE prob, Essex co, , VA 
DIED 1792 
WHERE Vllkes co, 1 H,C. 

(aee chapt, 4) 

• Alexander CLE AND 
BORN lap. Jl Jul 1687 
wHERE Gloucester co,, VA 
WHEN MARRIED abt 1711 
DIED abt. 1 TIO 

10 

n 

12 

1:1 

WHIRi prob. Blue Run, <>rarige 1 
VA 

(see chapt. 6) 

BORN (see chapt. J) 
WHERE 

DIED 

WIIERE 

John GRAVES 

IIORN 

WHEAi (see chapt. 4) 
WHEN MARRIED 

DIEO W,p, 17 Hay 1720 
WHERE Essex co. , VA 

DORN (see chapt 4) 
WHERE 

DIED 

WHERE 

BORN 

WHERE (see 
WHEN MARIUIO chapt. 
l>IEO 

WHERE 
Dorcas 

BORN 

WHIRi 

DIED 

WHIRi 

BORN 

WHERE 

1 ,_lt;.:.ar..;;.a ___ or ____ lt_l_ll_e.....__P_HE3_1_L_E_Y __ --1 WHEN MARRIED 

BORN DIED 

6) 

J ---------------
111 

J) 

" 
2D Jwnes Gi1AVE3* 

(see chapt. 4) 
2, Jean MAU'lELD 

22 

:D 

] 
28 

21 

WHERI WHIRi 30---------------
DIEO &bt 1770 181..-------------~ 

, wHIIRli prob. Blue Run, Ora~, ■DAN 
VA WHERE :n '-----------·----

DIED 

WHERE 

J 1) 
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CHAPTER 2 

ANCIENT ORIGINS 

..... a.. 

OF THE COFFEY FAMILY 

"The farther you look back, 
the farther you can see ahead" 

--- Henry Ford 
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In considering this subject it should be understood that we do not know the 

specific origin of our Coffey line. However, all of those comill,'! to Americ~ seem 

to have originated in Ireland. The name Coffey is an Engl i. sh ren<lerine of the 

Irish Cobhthaigh or Cobhthach, which means "victorious". 2 As is true with many 

other Irish names it was in earlier times given as O'Coffey and O'Cobhthaigh, -11-

meaning "of the family of" or "descendatit of". 'Ihe name Col:::hthair,h is Gaelic, 

originating frOJll Celtic bands that roau,ed over much of EurCJpe in the Jrd and 4th 

centuries, B.C. and invaded Ireland sometime late~.3 The Col:hthaigh line is 

traced back to Col:::hthaigh 's grandfather Olliol F'lann Bea..t;, King of i·~unster (about 

240 A. D. ) , and from there to the brothers .I the and Bile, relatives of Milesius, 

King of Spain. 4 In 803 A.D. Fergus Mos O'Col:::hthaigh 1,rought the leaders of the 3 

most powerful waring clans of Eire, the O 'Briens, 0 'Niels, and ~•!cCarthys, together 

at Tara, the ancient capitol of Eire, where a peace treaty was sie;ned. For his 

·diplomacy and respect for law and order he was ma.cl~ supreme judge of Eire, a 

position which has been hereditarily held by the family for seven generations. 

f,fembers of this family seem to have settled in various parts of Ireland, rut 

there were 3 main septs, 5 'lhe best known was O'Cowhey, O'Cowhig, or O'Coffey of 

Fuin Cleena, chief of 'I'riocha Meona, now the barony of West Barryroe, Corea 

Laoighe (Cork county) in Munster. 4 These once powerful chiefs had seven castles 

along the coast and :ruins of them still exist. 

A second group was Ui Maine2•5 (counties Galway and Roscommon in Connaught.) 

'Ibey lost their lands and influence in the Cro1nwellian and Willia.mite confiscations 

of the 17th century. The Irish Civil War of 1641 is credited with being the cause 

of the Colllln0nwealth confiscations in Ireland. Because of their devotion: to faith, 

King, and country the estates of the Irish "Papist"landed gentry were almost 

wholesale confiscated to make room for the Cromwellian settlement. In 1649 Crom­

well became Commander-in-Chief of all English forces in Ireland and soon con-

quered most of the country. There followed a great deal of' redistribution of the 

land. In 1675 12½ million acres were redistributed, nearly 8½ million acres passing 

into the hands of English and Scottish settlers. During the Williamite ccnfisca­

tions, 1688-1702, 1,060,792 acres and much pers~nal possessions were forfeited by 

(,,,,,,., Irishmen loyal to King James the Second. About one-four~h of these were eventually 

9 
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returned to their former owners (by the Treaty of Limerick), wt most went to pers-

onal friends of King William the Third. Another consequence of the Commonwealth "'""', 

confiscation of Ireland was the suppression of prefixes like o•. Some families 
later returned to this use wt the Coffeys did not,2, 4 

SOJ11e of the Coffeys transplanted or otherwise removed from their lands in­

cluded in 1653-54: Thomas Coffie, Balligiffe, county Westmeath; Edward Coffy, 
Ballinkeny, county Westmeath; Murtagh Coffy, Rogerstown, county Westmeath; and 

Daniel Coffey, Province of Connaught. Others, date and locality not given, were 1 

Teige Coffie, and Hugh and Owen Coffy.6 

KAP OP DELAHD 3IIOVIllt; CXl1JJITU3 Ill WHICH COFFETS 
IIERE PJIOKIJG:HT 

'lbe third Coffey family 2,S was 

that of county Westmeath in Leinster, 

a celebrated bardic family. In 

ancient Ireland the bards ranked 

next to royalty. 'Ibey preserved 

the folklore, handing it down from 

generation to generation by word of 

mouth. A bardic Coffey family also 

lived in Connaught. 

'lhere are genealogical charts ~ 

listing descendants from Ithe through 

over 90 generations down to an Ed-

ward Coffey in America in the 1800s.4 

However, we do not know at which 

point our line branched from this 
genealogy. It 1s quite possible the 

ancestor went from Ireland to England. 

for sometime before coming to America. 'lhe later {nineteenth century) Coffeys 

who came to America from Dublin were probably of the Munster sept {largely from 

county Cork.) 
If one wishes to trace their origins further than the above a good source is 

O'Hart's Irish Pedigrees 4 and 1he Annals of the Four Masters by O'Clery, et a1.7 

After listing the generations from Adam to Noah as given in the Bible, 8 and that 

Noah •s son Japhet was given Europe and most of Asia as an inheritance, dHart men­
tions some descendants of Japhet that settled and developed the Scythian nation 
{see map on next page). Ireland was invaded by a series of sythian groups in 

very early times bit the most prominent were the Melesians. 'Ibey seem to be 

descended f'rom Japhet's son Magog {as were the earlier groups) wt through the 



11 
latter's son Baoth and several generations of descendants who spent some time in 

Phoenicia, Egypt, and Crete befo~ one Brigus conquered large areas around the 

Mediterranean, including what is now Spain. He had 2 sons, Ithe and Bile~ '!be 

latter was King of these conquered contries and his son Milesius succeeded him. 

Milesius was quite an adventurer. He went to Scythia where he became a general 

and married the King's daughter. Because he wa.s so popular the King became 

jealous of him and ensuing events led to Milesius slaying the King. He then 

went to Egypt where the Pharaoh made him his general and gave him a daughter, 

Scota, in marriage, Milesius now being a widower. At length he took leave and 

:returned to Spain. Some years later he sent his uncle Ithe along w1 th the 

latter's son Lugha.idh to Ireland. Ithe was subsequently killed by the ruling 

group there. Lughaidh and some of the men escaped to bring word back to Miles­

ius who then dispatched his sons and many men to conquer the Island. Milesius' 

son Heremon eventually became the sole ruler of Ireland and his brother's sons 

:received large land inheritances. He also gave a part of Munster to Lughaidh. 

•,w, OP BUIOl'E, m ND1'EEllJWIE'IJf ill) m IIEAB 2AST, DDICA~ SOME 

POSSIJILB mm:m OP m !!ELESIAIIS .Alli DISH CILTS 'DIAT MAI HAVE 
CIVEH llSZ TO m conn LIIIB 
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:'he '.,iilesians ruled Irelan,1 flu.' :,~,;J:}5 year~ down to their s1.1bnission to thr:: Grown 

of England in the person of Henry the 3econci. The Heremonia.n nobi.!.i ty includes ~ 

all the kings of 3cotland down to the 3tuarts and the Kings and C:,uecfls 1;£' England 

from Henry the 3econd down to the present time. 4 

From Ithe 's son Lughaidh O'Hart gives tht: descendants dmm i.o Couthach Fi01:n 1 

a. name mea.nlng "Fairhaired Victor. 11 Cobthach is synonomous with Co1ilthaigh. nis * 
son was O'Cobhthalgh and as mentioned earlier, local dialects were anglicised to 

O'Coffey, O'Cowhig, Cowhey, Caughey, Coffey, Coffy, and Coffee. Ihe name O'Cuffey 

exists at least from as early as 121J A.D. when Ainmire C'Coffey died. 4 He was 

an "abbot of the Church of Derry, an ecclesiastic of noble birth, distinguished. 

for piety, charity, wisdom and other virtues." He was also a near kinsman of 

Erlile, fflmber 104 on the Nicholson line. 

A list of the principle or well-known families in Ireland from the 11th to 

the beginning of the 17th century included O'Coffey, chief in Westmeath, O'Coffey 

in Galway and O'Coffe" (location not mentioned). 4 In 1960 there were listed as 

bei~ 4,250 Coffeys in Ireland. 9 

3ince Ireland was invaded by many groups ove:c the centuries, the Coffey 

line as well as others must have been well mixed. Coiner, another descendant of 

Japhet, 1~ thought by most scholars to be the ancestor of the Cimmerians who in 

turn were the source of, among others, the Gaelic and Celtic peoples, some of 

whom settled Ireland. It should be mentioned that the terms Gaelic and Celtic 

have come to be almost synonymous in tenns of origin. 

There is another source 10 that suggests that the name which means "fairha.ired 

victor" (Cobthach Fionn) must have come from a Norseman during the Norse in-

vasion (in the 9th and 10th centuries), who stayed around and married a native 

Irish girl. This does make more sense as one would not expect a line from Spain 

or Southern Europe to produce someone who was "fairhair:ed" and we know that the 

Norsemen did remain in Ireland for several centuries and intermarried with the 

Celts and others who were already there. However, I know of no other reco.rds 

indicating this to be the case and it would seem that the name Cobthach (or 

Col:hthaigh) Fionn was used before the Norsemen came. 

O'Hart 4 makes a strong point for the similarity of the Irish language with 

the ancient Scythian and claims this (the Celtic language) was the Adamic lang­

uage of Eden, the Irish is the most pure fom of it, and is a key to ·the modern 

languages of Europe. 
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THE COFi-1!:1 FAMil,Y COAT OF ARMS 

'!he Coat of Arms (see frontispiece) consists of a shield, the surface 

{escutheon) of which is green with a broad band {fesse) across the middle (either 

straight or chevron-shaped) in ermine between three covered cups (coons) which 
are gold. 'lhe green refers to a religious temperament, eternity, everlasting 

life, and fecund! ty. Gold is the metal denoting strength, authority and weal th, 

while ermine is the :fur denoting judgeship or a judicial position. 

'!he coon or Celtic drinking cup was a very important charge. Since each 

treaty or agreement wa.s sealed by a drink it became a symbol of friendship, honor 

and peace. '!he three cups in the Coffey arms allude to the peace of Tara, the 

great capitol of ancient Eire, between the clans O'Brien, O'Niel and McCarthy. 

'lhe motto, which can be translated "Not by Providence but by Conquesi!" or 

'
1Not Prudence but Victory", is a canting upon the name inasmuch as O'Col:ht.haigh 

means "victory'' or "conquest". 

'lhe mantle or decorative matter around the shield has no special shape. 

'Ibis is left to the taste and discretion of the artist. It takes its name from 

a cloak or mantle which the mounted knight wore suspended from his helmet. This 

mantle would become cut and slashed in combat and the knight was very proud of 

these rents. 

'!be shape of the shield is al.so immaterial. and left 
to the discretion of the artist. 'lhe one pictured to the 

right is one 'Which is more commonly pictured in books on 

coats of arms, as for example, the book by MacLysa.ght. 2 

'lhe one figured in the frontispiece originally came from 

a tracing in the Office of the Ulster King of Ams (for 

Ireland) in Dublin. 

'!he.crest of the Al:ms shows a nude man riding a 

dolphin. 'lhe latter symbolized the sea and the naked 
man represented the family. 'Ibis is another canting as 

the man riding the dolphin signifies conquest of the sea. O'COFFEY 
(Co. Cork) 
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ADAM----------~Noah 
Ja}het 

M8fog 
Baot.h ----------~ Breogham ( or Brigus) 

Cobthach Fionn~----------­
or-kCobhthaigh 

O'Cobhthaigh 
J, 

O'Coffey 

corhY 

Itie~Bile 
..l, t 

- Lughaidh Melesius 
-1, 

Ht:remon 

CHART II. One possible line of descent £or the Coffey family. 
Long lines indicate many generations, 
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CHAPTER 3 

THE EARLY COFFEY 

ANCESTORS IN AMERICA 

"America is a fortunate country• 
she grows by the follies of our' 
European nations." 

--- Napoleon 

• 
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Anyune who has teen associated with the Cuffey fa;nily history for sometbc 

w'.l:i. tell you that tne i'irst known Coffey to co:ne to America wa~; John Coffe:e ·,;h0 

came to Ellzabeth City county, Vire;inia in 1637 as an indentured servant, Lhe 

patentee being Nicholas Hill 1. However, Greer maue a mistake in copying his 

name from the Virginia land patents, a mistcti<e that. was picked up by t,up:ent2 

when she compiled her books 2 on these land patents, 3he recortls hi:s n:;i.me as 

"John Coffin or 3coffin." In order to rectify the discrepancy I went to the 

oriizinal records and found that Nugent had made a correct copy; the name is F,lven 

as Coffin at first and then at the end the name is repeated but a_ppears to nave 

an old style "s" in front of it so as to make it 3coffin. At any rate, it is not 

Coffee or Coffey, It may 1:.e that Greer assumed Coffin was meant to be Coffee. 

However, Coffin is an entirely separate name, dating from ea~ly times, and per­

haps more common than the name Coffey in America, 

It seems rather ironic when we consider that Coffey 5enealogists have for 

years accepted John Coffee as the earliest Coffey in America, some even making 

him the ancestor of Edward Coffey of Essex county and giving him one or two wives, 

either ~ary Jolliffe and/0r Rebecca Ireland, I have never seen any reaords that 

could document the above marriages or individuals, A William Ireland does appear 

in York county Virginia records, 16JJ-48, The earliest Jolliffe I have found was 

a John 2 in Nansemond and Isle of Wight counties in 1653, 

Many people have p:coposed, as mentioned above, that this fictional John 

Coffey was the grandfather, or even the fa~her, of Edward Coffey. Othe~s have 

Edward coming directly from Ireland in about 1680 or 1690, Thus some have postu­

lated that he was born anywhere from 1650 to 1680, This all appears to be specu­

lation as I have yet to see a sin~le record indicating one possibility or the 

other. The first record of Edward Coffey in Virginia appears to be the will of 

~~ Mosely, dated January 6, 1699 in which he gives to his "servant 2d, Coffe 

one heifer of 2 years old." The will was proved in Essex county court April 16, 

1700 and on September 10 of that year Edward Coffey received a judgment 4 from the 

:iosely estate for his freedom, corn, and clothes. My own "guess" is that Edward 

came to Virginia from Ireland during the Williamite Confiscation mentioned in 

chapter 2, perhaps around 1690 or a few years later, and was transported by &-t­
v)tn\.., 
~ Mosely. If this is so, why is he not mentioned in the land patent books? 

17 
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If one examines these carefully he will see that an indi viduaJ. recei ve<l so ::-,uch ·~ 

land for transporting so many people but not in all cases are the na1r.e!; of al 1 
Wm-t., 

these people listed, ·Et¼wa1d Mosely transported many people i::to Gld Rap:=,a-

hannock county from about 1660 until and includin,r:; the 1690s. It ls logical 

that he transported his servant £dward. As we shall see later, i.dwa!'Ci probably 

lived. on land owned (or once owned) by Mosely. 

But before we proceed with an account of Edward lets return to other pos­

sible early Coffey immigrants. Although Nugent mentions 2 some others by the name 

of Coffey (variant spellings) in the 1600~ there seems tote no other records uf 

them. The only Coffey for whom I ha·,e seen a record this early is Abraha..n Coffe~ 

who si~ned a petition about 1683 in New Kent (now Kin~ & ~ueen) county.5 This may 

be the same man Oreer lists as Abr. Cofface and Nugent as Coffall beinF- t~ans­

ported in 165;, The land patent for this transportatior, l'las "on the south side 

of the freshes of the York river right against Totopoto1r.oy." Abraham is ment­

ioned further in Chapter 7, , 
Nugent also lists 0 some Coffeys who were transported in the 17JOs: A Tno~as 

to Isle of Wight county in 1711, a Charles to King and Queen county in 1714, and 

an Edward to Isle of Wight county in 1726. I have no further information on any 

of these Coffeys and they were all too late to be the ancestors of our line. 

The next record we have of Edward, our progenitor, comes on March 10 1 1700 

when 1homas Powell of Sittingbourne Parish, Essex county Virginia made his will. 7 

In it he bequeathed 1 shilling to his daughter Ann Coffey, a witness being Ed-

ward Coffey. Thus Edward had married Ann Powell ].}'._ 1700. Unfortunately some * 
genealogists have used this date for the marriage, Edward made his w1118 (see 

Appendix A) February 14, 1715/16 and all of his children were under 16. Al-

thou~h it wasn't probated until November 20, 1716 he died before July 16 as on 

that date John and Edward Coffey, his sons, concluded a land transaction 9 for 

200 acres on Occupatia Creek with John Mosely, son and heir of Edward Mosely and 

one-third was set aside for John and Edward's mother Ann Coffey as a widow's 

dower. The deed lacks explanation rut it seems probable that this may have been 

land the Coffeys lived on and which was willed by Edward to his sons although 

he did not have clear title. This deed 1s a lengthy one and apparently gave 

clear title to John and Edward with the additional payment of 8,000 pounds of 

tobacco (a common mediwn of exchange in those days), 

The purpose of the above lengthy account is to show that John and Edward, 

the sons of Edward, Sr., were not 16 or. February 14, 1716 but were on July 16. 

It would thus appear that they must have been twins and born between February and 
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7 ..,,. !.:e c=-.r.1 tn· us affix 1:.be date of ~dwa..."'ti an,1 Ann's mar:dage a~ probably .;uly l 0.. .. ..... 

betne; in 1699, at least not later than that. 

Ann Powell and ::er AncestrJ 

ifuile on the subject of Ann it would be well to r,~ention here a l!.tt~e cf her 

ancestry. According to Lucas 10 her father Thomas Powell was born aboct 1630 and 

married Mary ?lace l::efore 1657. However, I believe there is Sl1me ,rdsinterpre­

tation of dates here. Mary's father, Francis Place, who had a},pa.rent:y lived in 

Isle of Wight county, patented 6 JOO acres on the "north side of tr.e Freshes of 

the Rappahannock River" on September 7, 16,54 for transportimr. 6 persons. On 

August 11, 1655, in making his will, he conveyed11 this land and some cattle by 

deed of gift to "my daughter Mary Place when she arrives at 1-~ years. 11 Cn 3ep­

teml::er JO, 1666/7 (actually, probably 1667) she and her husband Thomas Powell 

sold 12 this land to James Coghill for "9 barrells of good Indian ccrn anci. divers 

other considerations." This indicate~ that (1) Mary had arrived at tile age of 18 

and (2) she had married Thomas Powell. It seems unlikely that these even~s na.ci 

taken place much before this date, We might therefore fix the birth of r-.ary Place 

as taking place in a.bout 1648 or 1649, agreeing with Mrs. Hiden in her article 13 

on this family, 
The Powells seemed to have been an early English family in Virginia, A John 

and a Nathaniel Powell were involved in the disco'lery of Chesapeake Bay in 16GB. 

At least 72 Powells had come to Virginia by 16661 and of these, 10 were named 

Thomas. Another, more complete source 2 shows that 8 Thomas Powells were trans­

ported into Old Rappahannock and adjacent counties (Lancaster and Westmoreland.) 

between 1650 and. 1683, a span cf only 33 years. The reader can thus see that it 

is not easy to see which 'Ihomas was ours. Mrs. Hiden1J, and other authors who 

have followed her, have suggested that our Thomas was the son of William and 

Elizabeth Powell of Isle of Wight county, this Willia.111 being the son of another 

Thomas Powell of the same county. They cite William's will in Isle of Wight 

county in 169.5 in Which he names a son Thomas. I tend to disccunt this connect-

ion beca~se (1) it would seem strange that a man, in 1695, wvuld will a large tract 

of land to his son who was himself perha~s 65 (at least 55) years old and well 

established on his own land in another county, and (2) at least one 'Ihomas Powell 

persists in Isle of Wight county records long after our n,omas would have moved 

to Rappahannock. Mrs. Hiden's main premise for believing as she does is that many 

Nansemond and Isle of Wight families moved to Rappahannock about this time. 



20 . (' 
i..uca:.;i. 1 states that ,_,ur inom&.s was probably a brother of i..i1e .;,::;m :r·owell 

wh,: r.,arrietl (1) ·,ary Co~hill (2) ~-".arl-!'.aret CoF,hilJ, and (J) Jane Lucas (Jchn born 

1644, di.ed 16G8-9 in Essex county). TI1ere was als0 d. TI-1cma.s Fo...-ei.l in neigh";:ior­

i11~ Lancaster county in the 1650s and 1660s who had a son Tnomas, :-iowever, he 

m~st be .ruled out as our ancestor since he had a wife Anne wi10 died c:, 1 C64 and . ' 
Thomas rema.rriedJ. .... ·•:rs. Jane Catesby in late 166l.. or early 1c65. A ifo.,ell 

:owell, mentioned several time3 in deed records, was probably either a son or 

a brother to this :homas. This may also be the ·n1omas who patented 500 acres 

on the north side of Rappahannock river, "being a neck of land commonly called 

Powell's Quarter tounded .•• on the eastermost with Deep Creek!' Jctober 24, 165C 

for transporting 10 persons. This land would be in present Lancaster county just 

south of present Richmond county ( then part of Rappahai,r!ock ). 

The a~ove being the case, and looking at every other land transaction and 

i~portation in the same critical way, our Thomas Fowell may more like~y be the 

one transported 16 by William Mosely in 1663 for which ·•:osely received 11.57 acres 

on the south side of Rappahannock river in 3ittinp;bourne Parish. He may even 

have been a servant of this Mosely for a time. If so, it :nust have been for only 

a short time for it is p,enerally thought that our Thomas is the one who purchased 17 
50 acres in Rappahannock county on Tignor's creek from John Mills December 12, 

1665. It may well have been about this time or in the next year or two when he 

married ~ary rlace. 

The sum of all this is, that we can't be certain who our Thomas Fawell is 

and where he came from. 3uff1ce it to say that I think the long-held idea of his 

origin from William Fewell of Isle of Wight count;:r iz not entireJ.y tenable a.~d I feel it 

more likely that he was an immigrant from England to Virginia (specifically Old 

Rappahannock county) sometime after 1650 and most likely about 1663, He was prob -

ably thus born about 164o, not 1630 as generally listed. 

Thomas purchased1 8 more land in 1668 and he and Mary conveyed 100 acres to 

their oldest son Honorias in 1694. From this and later deeds in Essex county and 

from Thomas' w11119, made March 10, 1700 and proved April 10, 1701, we learn the 

names of his children, They are as follows, 

1. Honor1as - born about 1669, died after 1750, md. 1694 P.rs. Joyce Lamberth, 
widow of George. 20 2, Place - d. abt 1715, md. Mary ___ bef 1705. 

3. Thomas, Jr. - b, abt 1680, d, by 1739, md Mary Gibson. 

4. William - b. abt 1682 (under 21 in Thomas' 1700 will), d, 1?C5, urund. 

5. Frances - nothing known. 
6. Elizabeth - md. John Salmon. 
7. Ann - md. Edward Coffey. 
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Most of Thomas' descendants went west - Orange, then Amherst county Virginia 

and into North Carolina and Kentucky. It is of some interest to note that Hon­

orias' son John named a son Ambrose and this may be the origin of the name of 

Ambrose Coffey, son of James and Elizabeth (Cleveland) Coffey (see Chapter 5). 
Mary (Place) Powell died 21 in Richmond county about the middle of December 

1710. About the only other item of interest to note about Thomas is that a 

Major Thomas Powell of Rappahannock county was wounded in the taking of Jamesto~'ll 

in Ba.con's Rebellion5 (about 1676). We have no proof but this might well have 

been our Thomas. 
Returning now to Ann Powell, after her husband Edward Coffey died in 1716 

she married Robert Dooling (or Dulin), the ceremony cccuring before March 19, 1717. 22 

They had two children, William, born about 1720 and Thomas, born about 1725. In 

Ann's wi1123 made October JO, 1744 in 3t. Ann's ?arish, Essex county she leaves 

all her possessions to the two "Dooling" boys and her daughter Annisters (Ann) 

Coffey and Annister's son, James Coffey. It would seem, from the language of 

the will, that Annisters was living with her mother.· We know of no marriage of 

Annisters and unless she did marry some unknown Coffey the likelyhood exists that 

her son James was illigitimate. For a possibility of what may have happened to 

this James see Chapter 7. From the date of birth of Ann's last child it would 

appear that she was probably born about 1685, or a few years earlier. 

The Children of Edward and Ann (Powell) Coffey 

Edward Coffey was a tobacco planter and had land on branches of Occupatia 

Creek (or swamp) in Essex county. 24 When he died the inventory of his estate 

listed a valuation of 45 pounds, 10 shillings, and 9 pence. His w1118 lists 6 
children. He leaves all of his land to his 2 sons John and Edward, a cow each 

to John and daughter Martha (it is written Marth~) and all the tenables to his 

wife Ann. He then names his 6 children as John, Edward, Marther, Ann, Austes 

(we think this should be Austin), and Elizabeth. There has been some difference 

of opinion over the dates of birth for these children. If we accept the premise 

that John and Edward were twins, born in 1700, and alloWing for the "nomal 2 

years" between children we might list their birth years as Martha 1702, Ann 1704, 
Austes 1706 and Elizabeth 1708. However, such is probably not the case. Ann 

was young and still able to bear children. It seems unlikely there would be the 

period of 1708 to 1716 without any children. Also, since Edward didn't leave 

anything to Ann, Austin and Elizabeth it is probable that they were quite young 

and Edward only thought of leaving something to his older children who would soon 
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~ out on their own. 31nce i::11.zj.j,beth married John Glew1land who was born 1712 ~ 

(see chapter 6) it's quite pos';ible she wasn't bor,1 until 17t.'.;. as ,;;ome ha·,e su,,-

p-ested. '!"ne birthyears as 1dver1 in t.he chart at the end of this cha})lt'-.:- is there-

fore quite hY}>othetical excent that. .Jci'.r1 and i::dwc1rd inust have teen bom in 17,,<::; 

f0r reasons riven earlier. 

2dward Coffey, Jr. 

John will be the subject of the next chapter. Let's now turn our atte~tion 

to the other children, each in order, starting wit:-i Edward. .~e know very little 

about he and his Wife Grace Cleveland. Edward sold 25 his share of i:,he land in 

Essex county to his brother John in 1737 and apparently moved to Grange county 

where he witnessed a deed in 1740. The Cleveland fa.11ily lived in Orange county 

at t~at time so this is probably where he met and ~arried Grace, We do not kno~ 

when this marriage took place but Grace Cleveland is l'Jentioned in some Oranp-e 

county records in 173426 so it would have been after this time and probably also 

after 1737. There is also a brief mention of Edward in Caroline county records 

in 174527 but it is not known if he lived there. On January 20, 1751 he bought 28 

150 acres in Anson county North Carolina on Jones Creek on the south side of 

the Fee Dee River. A year and a half later on August 15, 1752 he sold it and 

apparently moved back to Orange county Vir~inia. He is listed there on the 1749 
list of tithables and again in 1754. The family must have soon moved over to 

F'rede~icksville Farish in Albemarle county as Edward 1s mentioned a number of ti~es 

in these records 29 from 1769 to 1774. Most of these relate to payments t:) ii:dward 

for care which he provided for Alexander Cleveland, evidently his father-in-la;r. 

As to the children of Edward and Grace we have no information. However, I 

believe there are some otherwise-unaccounted-for Coffeys who could well be their 

children. The most likely 1s a Cleveland Coffey (wife Slizabeth) who appears in 

various Orange and Albemarle county records from 1762 to 1774 (and possibly one 

record in 1791. He would have had to have been born by the early 1740s. TI1is 

may also be the Cleveland Coffey who had a land entryJO in 1778 on Zack's Fork 

of Lower Creek in Burke county North Carolina. 

Another possible son of Edward and Grace is the Benjamin who was born in 

Virginia in 1763 and is on the Burke county North Carolina census from 1790 to 

1850 (Caldwell in 1850). His wife is Leah, born about 1760 in Virginia. The Leah 

Coffey who married Francis Hickman April 19, 1798 in Jefferson county Tennessee 

may be their daughter. They also had a son Cleveland, born about 1782 with whom 

they were livirn? in 1850. The name Benjamin probably came fl:om the Cleveland 

family, Grace having a brother by that name (see Chapter 6). The chief problem 

* 

* 
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with this Benjamin being a son of Edward and Grace is that Grace would have been 

47 when Benjamin was born, rather late in those days. 

Two other possible children of E.dward. are James Coffey who is on the 1785 * 
enumeration of Botetourt county Virginia and William Coffey, found in sone records 

of Montgomery county Virginia, 1781-1785. It is also possible that these two 

are children of Peter and Susannah Coffey of Prince Edward county (see chapter 7), 

but I have found no indication for one or the other, However, the william Coffey * 
on Buckingham county tax lists, 1783-1797, is quite probably Peter's son. He also 

had land in Prince Edward county and had sons Abner, David and probably Pleasant. 

Still other possible children of Ed.ward are Jesse who is in Wilkes county 

North Carolina records 1779-1786, and an Isaac or Isaiah Za.rrah, also in Wilkes * 
county 1782-1796 (see chapter 4 for another possibility of the parentage of these 

two). The Jesse in Wilkes county up to 1786 may well be the same one who is on * 
the Pendleton county South Carolina census of 1790 and 1800 and the father of 

six boys, Cleveland, Edward, Joel, Elijah, Elisha, and John who moved to Rab..m 

county Georgia3 1 in 1821. 'llle use of the names Cleveland and Edward strengthen 

the possibility that Jesse was a son of Edward, Since he was over 45 at the 

time of the 1800 census he would have been born in 1755 or before. Jesse is not 

ip,,. on the 1810 census of Pendleton county but a Nancy ( over 45) is. 'lllis may well 

be his wife, Jesse having died prior to 1810. 'lhe number and age of children in 

the family are about right if this is the case. 

Martha Coffey 

Martha (Patsy) married Joshua Stapp (or Stepp).3 2 ,33 He was a son of Abra­

ham and Dorothy (Moss) Stapp (or Stepp) of Essex county Virginia. Abraham made 

his willJ4 October 20, 1710 and it was recorded April 18, 1714.3 3 Henry Scalf 

wrote a book33 about this family which is both a help and a problem for us. 

Abraham's children34 were Abraham Jr., William, Jacob, Joshua, Joseph, James, 

Ruth, Rebecca, and Martha. Joshua was the most prominent and according to Scalf 

was born about 1688. He lists his marriage to Martha Coffey as occurring in 

1709/10 and her birth as 1690, We know this is not possible as Martha. couldn't 

have been born before 1702 as we have previously seen. I have studied over the 

infonnation provided by Mr. Scalf and, although no proof is given I will ack­

nowledge that Joshua Stapp could have been born by 1688. However, I can see no 

reason 'Why he needed to be married by 1709 or 10 and start having children. In­

deed, the information given would tend to fit better if the first. children were 

born in the 1720s, I would tend to place the marriage of Joshua and Martha as 
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occurring about 1718-21 and the first child born about 1720-22. This 1s where 

it helps to place Martha Coffey's birth in 1702, not 1704 or even 1708 as some ~ 
have it. If the above conclusions are not true, then it seems to me that the 

only other alternative is to look at Martha as a second wife of Joshua. There 

seems to be no evidence for this however. 

'Ihe children33 of Joshua and Martha were as follows (I shall not use the 

birthdates Scalf gives since they do not fit the conclusions I have drawn), 

1. John - eldest son, d. prior to May 21, 1751; md, Ann 3almon 
2. Joseph - md. Elizabeth Lucas 
~. J.oQhu~ Jr. - d. Jul 1814; md. Hannah Durham 
4; Thomas - md. Ann Lucas 
.5. James 
6. Anester - md. Capt. William Sims 
? • Eve - md. Anthred Salmon 
8. Elizabeth - d. 179.51 md. William Morris 

Joshua's will is dated December 19, 1782 and according to Scalf he died just 

before March 27, 1783. Martha is supposed to have died in 1772, 'Ibey apparently 

spent most of their mature years in Orange county Virginia where they also died, 

Annister( s) and Austin Coffey 

Dr. Laurence H. Coffey in his early work32 on the Coffeys lists the spouse 

of Anister (his spelling) as ____ Shenal t, rut in his list of the children 

of Edward and Ann Coffey he doesn't mention the son Austin (Austes in Edward's 

will). Since Dr. Coffey's study of the family others have listed Austin as 

marrying a Miss Shenalt. N~t having other proof I am also listing Austin this 

way and asswning that Annister was not married. As was mentioned in connection 

with the will of Ann Powell Coffey Dooling, Annister had a son named James 

Coffey, rut no Coffey or other husband is known for her. James may be the one 

who later turns up in Surry and Stokes counties North Carolina after a brief 

* 

time in Pittsylvania county Virginia.. Or, he may be the James Coffey in Bote­

tourt county Virginia in 1785 which we have tentatively listed a.s a son of Edward. 

We really do not have enough infomation to be certain one way or the other. 

We might also note here in passing that the naming of Annister's son James 

might give some credence to the thought that this could be the name of Edward's 

father. '!he use of this name for John's first son (see chapter 4) and possibly 

also for a son of Edward is also some evidence. However, the name James appears 

in both the Cleveland and the Graves lines as well. 

Returning to Austin, one reason to believe this was his true name 1s that 

some of John and Jane (Graves) Coffey's descendants used the name Austin. Where 
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Edward and Ann Coffey got the name we do not know rut there was a Daniel and 

Susannah Austin family in Essex county contemporary with Edward, and others be­

fore 1700. Of course the name might really be Austes and the person be a female. 

However, I do not believe the weight of what little evidence we have is in favor 

of this idea. Assuming then that this child was a male named Austin and married 

a Miss Chenault (this is the correct spelling) what happened to him? We really 

haven't a trace in the records as far as I am aware. A Stephen Chenault family 

occurs in the early 1700s in Essex county and is later in Orange county (1750). 

When John and Jane (Graves) Coffey sold their land in Essex county (see chapter 4) 

it was sold in 2 parcels, 1 in 1745 and the other in 1747. In the first instance 

the witnesses included William Duling and William Chenault, in the second instance 

William Duling and Stephen Chenault Jr.. Thus we see the closeness of the Duling 

(or Dulin), Chenault, and Coffey families in Essex county. Presumably Austin 

would have been there too, rut if so he apparently failed to create any records. 

He may have died as a young man or perhaps he did move out of the area. It has 

been suggested that he might have been the father of Chesley Coffey (see chapter 

?) who probably was early in Albemarle county and may have gone to North Carolina, 

but of whom we also have no records. However, Austin may have been too young to 

~ be the father of Chesley. 

It is of course possible that without creating public records he did manage 

to have several children and if so, some of those which I have suggested as 

children of Edward might be his. 

Elizabeth Coffey 

Genealogical records often get confused and many have confused Elizabeth 

and Martha, saying it was the latter who married John Cleveland. However, it 

definitely was the younger Coffey daughter, Elizabeth, whom John Cleveland married. 

This couple lived most of their lives at Blue Run, Orange county Virginia and 

were the parents of several famous boys, most notably Colonel Benjamin Cleveland 

of Revolutionary War fame.35 The Coffeys and Clevelands were neighbors in Vir­

ginia and later in North Carolina and there were at least 2 other Coffey-Cleveland 

marriages. Because of this close relationship I have devoted a chapter (6) to 

them in addition to some information in chapters 5 and 7. 



26 

Vf RGI NIA 

MAP SHOWillG PART OF ''LOWER" VIRGINIA. 
From Old Rappahannock county, 1656-1692, was 
created all of Essex and Richmond counties and part of 
Westmoreland, king George, Stafford, Caroline, and Spotts­
ylva.nia counties. 
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CHART 2 

VITAL DATA OF EDWARD CQFFEY Alul ANN POWELL 

Edward Coffey 
b, abt 1670 (?), prob. in Ireland 
d, bef 16 Jul 1716 {will made 14 Feb 1716, proved 20 Nov 1716, Essex co., VA), 
m. abt 1699 Ann Powell, Essex co., VA (dau of Thomas Powell and. i:iary Place, b, 

abt 1683-5, Essex co,, VA; d. Oct-Dec 1744 (will made 30 Oct, proved 18 
Dec) St, Anne's Parish, Essex co., VAa she md. 2nd bef 19 Mar 1717 Robert 
Dulin). 

children, 
1. John Coffey * 

b. bef 16 Jul 1700, Essex co. VA 
d. Jan/Feb 1775 (will dated 31 Mar 1774, proved March 1775), Albemarle 

co, VA 
m. abt 1728 Jane Graves (dau of John & Hannah Graves), Essex co. VA 
children, see cahpter 4 

2. Ed.ward Coffey 
b. bef 16 Jul 1700 - twin of John(?), Essex co., VA 
d. after 1774, prob. Albemarle co. VA 
m. abt 1 ?Y?-40 Grace Cleveland (d.au of Alexander Cleveland and Milley 

Presley ?; b. 1 Sep 1716, Gloucester co .. , VA), Orange co. VA. 
children1 see text, p. 22 for discussion of possible and probable children. 

J. Martha (Patsy) Coffey 
b. abt 1702, Essex co. VA 
d, abt 1772, Orange co. VA 
m. abt 1718-21 Joshua Stapp or Stepp, Essex co, VA 
children, (see text for full discussion) 

1. John, b. abt 1720-22, d. prio;r to 21 May 17.51; md Ann Salmon. 
2. Joseph,. md. Elizabeth Lucas; d. after 1775, 
J. Joshua Jr., d, Jul 1814; md Hannah Durham. 
4. Thomas, md. Ann Lucas 
5, James 
6. Annester, md. 6 Aug 1751 Capt. William Simms 
7. Eve, md. Anthred Salmon 
8. Elizabeth, d. 1795; md 1745 William Morris 
9, Brockmana says there was a dau md. Wilhout, a dau md. Creel, and 

a da,u md. Hubba.rd, He also says James muri~d Elizabeth Lucas. 

4. Annester (Ann) Coffey 
b. abt 1708 (?), Essex co, VA 
m. unknown, prob. unmd, 
one known son, James Coffey 

5, Austin (or Austes) Coffey 
b. abt 1710 {?), Essex co, VA 
m·. Miss Chenault, prob. dau of Stephen Chenault,Sr. 

6. Elizabeth Coffey 
b. abt 1714, Essex co. VA 
d, 1770, Orange co. VA 
m. 20 Apr 1734 John Cleveland (brother of Grace, above). 
children, see chapter 6 

l 

a. Brockman, William Everett. Orange County Virginia Families. Vol III. Minneap- 7 
olis, MN. 1959, PP• 100-104, 
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The Coffey and Graves families of ~ighteenth century Virginia were probably 

typical of their times1 planters, members of the established Church of England 1, 

and slave holders. 2 As mentioned in Chapter 3, John obtained land in Essex county 

in 1 ?16 when probably only 16 years of age. This land was held jointly with his 

brother Edward until 1737 when Edward sold his share to John. About 1 ?28 John 

Coffey married Jane Graves, the daughter of John Graves, deceased, and his wife 

Hannah.3 

The Graves Family 

The origin of our Graves ancestors is far from clear. This faJT,ily was a 

very early and prominent family in Virginia, the first member being Captain 

Thomas Graves of the Jamestown Colony in 1608. i'iany of his descendants are 

known and much has been written 4 about them. These accounts include some who 

lived in Old Rappahannock (later Essex) county and include more that one of the 

name John Graves. Unfortunately we cannot identify our John Graves as one of 

these nor can we (at least as yet) trace him to Capt. Thomas Graves, According 

~ to Greer5 at least 21 Graves had come to Virginia. by 1666. Nugent6 lists others 

after this date including a James in 1667, a John in 1669 and 2 Johns in 1688. 

It is possible that one of the latter was the immigrant ancestor. 

Coffey genealo~ists 7 who have looked into our Graves ancestry claim that 

* 

the parents of John Graves (d. 1720) were James Graves and his Wife Jean Mayfield. 

She was the daughter of Robert Mayfield, Sr. and his wife Sa.rah. 8 James Graves 

made his will January 10, 1724 and it was proved April 20, 1725, so he outlived 

his son (no children are mentioned in his will, only his wife). This lineage is 

based on a number of "ifs" and "ands" and it seems unusual that the deaths of J 
generations occur within 10 yea.rs and that there are no records of James Graves 

in Rappahannock or Essex Camti.es before 1710. Records of John Graves date from 

1675 in Old Rappahannock county including one who was a constable in 1684. But 

these could be for one of the Johns in the 'Ihomas Graves line rather than the 

John, son of James who might be of a much later arrival in Essex ounty. Since 

we have no better records than these I am following others in this lineage and 

proposing the following possible dates, 

Robert Mayfield, b. abt 16)5-451 d. 17151 md abt 1659-64 Sarah . ---
)1 
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dau, Jane or Jean Mayfield, b. abt 1660-651 md abt 1674-79 James Graves who 
was b. abt 1650-1660 & d. 1724 ·or 1725. ~ 

son John, b, abt 1675-80; d. 17201 md abt 1698-1702 Hannah 
their children, 

1. James 
2. Benjamin 
J. Martha 
4. Ann 
5. Jean or Jane 

--

The above is the order named in the will and apparently all were unmarried 

(or at least without children) and probably underage when the will was made on 

September 4, 1719. (See appendiX B for wills of Graves and Mayfield. ) 

I do not have further information on any of them except Jane (familiarly 

called Jean) who married John Coffey about 1728. 3he could have been born as 

late as 1710-14. 
John and Jane Coffey, The Essex County Years 

As we follow the moves of John and Jane Coffey and their children it might 

be useful for the reader to refer to the map on page :n. 
Nothing is known about the life and activities of John and Jane Coffey in 

Essex county Virginia except that several. children were born there. Chart 4 

gives the vital data for their family. We do not know the date and order of 

birth for all of the children but it probably isn't the order given in the will 

(see appendix B ). We know Thomas was born in 1742 and Reuben most probably 

in 1744 so John and Edmond could not have both been born between Thomas and 

Reuben, in fact, probably neither of them. Also, the date of birth of the two 

daughters is not known. Most geneaJ.ogists have followed the order given by 

Laurence Coffey in his book10 on Thomas Coffey. However, it is not likely that 

William was the youngest son as given in that wo:r:k since William was mentioned 

with James in the will and quite likely had been established for sometime on 

his own. 'lhe order and dates I have followed seems to me to be the most probable, 

based upon the many accounts I have seen, bit it should not be considered the 

last word. 

The first child, James was born in 1729, 'lhe date of July 4 comes from the 

records of David A. Strange of .3an Rafael, CaJ.ifornia hat I know of no other 

source for this date. Certainly none of the early Coffey genealogists had more 

than a year date. Since my direct line comes through James, he and his family 

will be the subject of the next chapter. 'lbe balance of this chapter will be 

concerned with the other children of John and Jane Coffey. 
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Map of Virginia showing progressive moves of the Coffey family. 1. Edward 
Coffey family; 1,2,3, & 4. John Coffey family; 4 & 5. James Coffey family. 

William Coffey 

I am suggesting that William was the second child, born about 1731. He 

married Elizabeth Osborne {variously spelled) before 1759 and they spent most 
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of their life on their 923 acres on the Tye River in that part of Amherst county 

that later became Nelson county (see map on page 35). 1hey apparently lived 
for a time in Augusta county 'Where there are deed records 11 which identify him 

from 1780 to 1792 and as late as 1819, and the land sales of his estate into the 

1830s (unless this is another William for whom we haven't accounted). Although 

the estate record of John Coffey 3r., proved after the death of Jane in 1792, 
does not list William, he did not die until about 1828.12 If all these dates 

are correct he was 97 years old when he died. 

Willialll and Elizabeth's children, to the extentc known, are listed in Chart' 

4-A. However, we should here comment on one in particular. '!he oldest son, 

Osborn, was a Revolutionary War soldier, serving 6 months as a private and 18 
months as a sergeant. After the var he moved to Casey county Kentucky where he * 

( received a pension for his services. 13 His son Jesse was a Colonel in the War 
of 1812, a state senator in 1834, and a member of the delegation that wrote the 
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· "":~J6::: "State constitution in June 1850, a :nonth be:fore i:e died. 14 

The above Jesse had a son c.a. who relates 1.5 that Osborn's fr2.i:.her (William) 

died in Nelson county Virginia (:n:·oved by will). A William Coffey wa.3 c.a. sergeant 

in the same company cf th~ 6th Viri,rinia rerdmer.t as Csbcrn, who was then c.. pri­

vate, 16 It is i'.l:enerally conceded that this William wa:3 Osborn's father. Forrest 

Arnold of 3eattle, •..:ashington is a descsndant of this Osborn, sor, of "l\'illiam. 

John Coffey 

The third child of John and Jane Coffey was probalily John, born about 1'?3J 

in Es3ex county. He is reportea 10 to have had 2 wives, (1) Dorcas Carter and 

(2) Nancy Richardson, but we have no posith~ identificatic,n cf r.is children or 

whether he had children by both wives, He is mf.:-ntioned in the Albemarle county 

Vir1dnia deed books 17 as John, Jun, from 1 ?60 to 1765 and them in Arr.herst county 12 

in 1767. There are a number of John Coffeys later in Wilkes and Burke counties 

~cr..h Carolina and it seems most likely that he is the one who had two land entrie,5 19 

in 1779 on :Blair's Fork of Lower Creek in Burke cot:.nty, next to Denjamin Ccf'fey 

(see map, page ). A John Coffey, 3r. had a land entry in :-iilkes county on the * 

Yadkin River in 1791 (#591), He is also on the.tax lists there in 178? and 1788 

and as John 3r, on the 1800 and 1810 census, The terms 3r. and Jr. were some-

times used for an older and a younger person of that r1ame but not necessarily 

father nnd son. That ls probably the case here, In see~ing information on what 

happened to this John one possibility is that he cc,uld be the Jc,hn Coffey who 

received bounty land on "the waters of 3il ver Creek" in Lincoln county Kentucky 

(n0w tn !1-!adison county) for his services in the French and Indiau iiar. 20 Howeve.c, 

the record for this bounty land seems to indicate that John may nev&r have taken 

up residency en the land but instead signed it over to sorr.eone else. 'There is 

also a John Coffey on the 1800 census (tax list) of Knox county Kentucky for 

which we have not accounted. 

It seems to me most likely, however, that he left North Carolina for 7enn­

essee and is the John Coffey over 45 on the 1810 census of Grainr;er county, This 

supposition is strenr,thened by the fact that the one person ;;i10 is mcst likely a 

son of John, Meredith Coffey, went to Grainger county Tennessee (from Wilkes 

county North Carolina) by 179821 and remained there until his death in 1838. 22 

Veredith married Esther (or Hester) ____ and his chilc.::::en (Chart 4-B) in-

eluded a da.uf;hter Dorcas (another indication that rt.eredith was a son of Johr. 

Coffey and Dorcas Ca.rtt::lr). After his death his land wa:. r·arti tioned for his 

widow and children. 23 

~ 



35 

ie can only be uncertain about other children of John Coffey. Some of those 

in the Wilkes-Burke counties area mentioned in chapter 3 as possibly belonging to 

F.dwa.rd Coffey and Grace Clevelana could in fact be children of John. Twc dau­

ghters of John may be Sally who married Benjamin Rhea and Jenny who married Levi 

Miller, both in Grainger county Tennessee. In both cases the bondsman was Mere­

dith Coffey. 'lhomas Coffey, age between 26 and 45 on the 1810 Grainger county 

census might also be a son of John. 

Edmond (Edmund) Coffey 

'lhe name is given as Edward by Laurence Coffey 10 and in some other records, 

but although Edmond is more commonly found, and that is the way John Coffey gave 

it 1n his will of 1774, there was probably an interchange of names. Withycombe24 

Map of Albemarle county Virginia (larger outlined area) 
and the counties derived from 1t (dotted lines). 1. Home 
of John Coffey, North Garden, St. Anne's Parish; 2. Early 
home of James Coffey; J. Later home of James, William 
and Edmund Coffey, Tye River. 
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says these two u.:;.,.,es were often con:used in the 17th cel!tu.t·y (anci., we 1· . .ir id . ..,_,1,1, 

rro";Jably in the 18th century as well,) 

E:cimond (spel~ed variously with a "u" or an 11
0 11

) was probablJ ·u:,:.·11 aiJou t. 1735, 
"4 2-He rtarri~u a :;a.ncy whose last name may have oeet, Barnett ... or 3hen~lt. J ~ey 

lived in A.,,herst county Viri\Tin:i.a c;, ':.oe T.ye iU ver, 26 (~ee :,,o.p, p. 35) p=c ~U..:· 

nes.i:- ilimond 's brother William. This land of course was later i1i :;e:j_.,,Jn county 

where Ec;._<md 111ade his w11124 in 1807 and died in 1808. One oi C:J.,,1,:,r.il's sons wc.1.~. 

;~ond l• Cu.f fey 10 whereas William had a son Edinood Z• Coffey, ooth alsu iiad a 

son tiil 11am. The entire fai"llily of Edmond ls listed in Chad, 4-C, 3efore g:cine ,'in 

·..;e should mention that there are marriage records :i :1 1;e1son and/or ;u;,hi;r;;;t co:.rnt..y 

of Coffeys who haven't been identified as belon,r,inr-, t,J either Williar, or c.d.mcnti, 

:hese are Jordan ( wife Elizabeth), Jen,ima, and 3aj_ly, * 

Winlfred Coffey 

About the only thing known about the first daughter., i-iinifred, is that. she 

married Nicholas Moran. He had a land patent of 150 acres in A.rr.herst county list­

ed for 1767 but lived in Albemarle county from 1763 to 1766. 17 "' :~.:..·,e not found * 
them in Wilkes county North Carolina records so they may have :ce!l".ained in Virginia. 

3h& was probably born about 1739 in Essex county but we have no sure irnowledF'e 

of this, 

l"nomas Coffey 

Thomas Coffey was born March 7, 1742 in Essex county a11d an entire book has 

been written about his descendants. 10 He married twice, tht first wlfe 1~ir~ 

Elizal::eth 5mith by whom he had 6 chlidren. This was in Albemarle cvunty and the 

minutes of the Albemarle Baptist Church 27 show that in 1773 a list of members 

included Thorr,as and Elizabeth Coffey, il:lizabeth 's father wa:~ Thomas 3111itn of 

Albemarle county. 

After Elizabeth died and sometime 1:,e~en 1775 and 1780 Thomas macried 

3arah (3ally) Fields, daughter of Richa...---d Fields and Elizabeth I•iurreE. About 

1?78-1780 they moved to Wilkes county North Carolina. 19 Here they settled on 

the upper waters of the Yadkin River 1:,elow the present town of Patterson (now in 

Caldwell county - see map, page 39). His first land entry was in January 1779 

for 25 acres. He lived here the rest of his life, had 9 more children by 3ally 

Fields, and died in 182;~ 3 See Chart 4-D for Thomas' family. I have not gone 

into great detail on most of his descendants because the names of these can be 

found in the book to which I have previously referred. However, some comment 

should be made concerning the son Jesse. Laurence Coffey in his book on Thomas 

l 
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d , -,, I • • • 2t-
Coffey says tnat Jesse died sinµle, ar.d Jesse j s not nen~.iuue .L!1 .noIT1a.s w1..1.J.. 

( see append ix '..) However, there is a marriage record of a J~~se Coffey to hini-

fred Crurrpto:1 December 22, 1321 in Wilkes county. Larkin ,:offey provided the 

bond. Jesse a.nd Winifred are on the 1850 census of Gilmer county (now Fic;...ens), 

GeorF.ia where he is listed as age 52. Several descendants have unsuccess:ul:y 

sou12"ht the parents of this Jesse and some now belie•.re him to be t.he Jesse, son 

of :ho:nas and 3ally. He is about the right a~e and since Larkin (another .son 

* 

of Thomas, only a few years younger than Jesse) provided the bond, and -..e cannot 

place this Jesse in any other family in Wilkes county, it all see~s quite plausible. 

Perhaps Thomas did not provide for Jesse since he had alr~ady left the area. 

•:ost of the children of Thomas remained around the i/ilkes-Burke county area 

of North Caro) lna b..tt some went to Indiana. The most prominent of these was 

Reuben, a 'Baptist minister. He sold the Thomas Coffey land where he lived anci 

with his wife Folly Dowell and 10 children moved to Indiana in 1832 to '\-:,et into 

the nea..cest state where slavery was pruhibited." R.euben was in part responsible 

for the founding of Franklin College, a Baptist institution in Indiana. nis 

family settled in Owen and :fonroe counties, India,1a. 29 
It may interest some to know that two sons of Thomas, 3mith and Willia:n, 

married nieces of Daniel Boone.
10 

Toe !':ave to 3pottsyl vania County and the Birth of the Last Three Childred 

* 

Of the 200 acre parcel of land which John and Jane Coffey owned in ~ssex 

county 100 acres were sold in 1745 and the remainder in 1747.JO They were liv1n 6 

in 5pottsylvania when both deeds were recorded. In an even earlier recozu John 

Coffey of 3t. Goerge rarish, 3pottsylvania county, witnessed3 1 a deed in that 

county on October 2, 1744. Thus he was there by that da.te rut, al thoup.:h John 

and Ja,1e may have moved to 3p0ttsyl vania before his mother Ann died (probably 

November 1744) they did not sell the land until after her death. It seems likely 

that Reuben may have been born in Essex county before they moved but since we 

have no real way of knowing I am listing his birth as occurring in Essex 2f: 3potts­

ylvania county. 

Reuben has been much confused with his nephew Reuben, son of James (see chapter 

5). The Reuben here discussed married Sally Scott, :;:rrobably in Albemarle county. * 

He was !!Qi in the Revolutionary War (as far as we know), and moved to Burke county 

North Carolina by 1?78. 32 He and Sally's home was in the Globe settlement on the 

3t. John's River (now in Caldwell county - see map, page 39). Here he died in 

1818, as did his wife in October l8J7. 3J Their children, and some other descendants 
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are listed in Chart 4-E. r.ost of them went to Owen county Indiana where there 

mi~ht be additional confusion with the family of Reuben, son of Tho~as, pre­

viously mentioned. 

Benjamin Coffey 

John and Jane's youngest son, Benjamin, was born in 5pottsylvanic:t. county 

'/irp:inia in 174714 We first find him in the records of Albemarle county Virginia 

in 1772 when he purchases35 211 acres. He soldJ 6 this in 1774 to John Cof~ey, 

either his father or his brother. The same land was sold again:37 to James Garland 

Jr. in 1780. wby or how this land came back to Benja.n:in so that it could be 

sold ap:ain is not known, Sometime during this period Benjamin moved to North 

Carolina, initially settling on land that would be pc1.L•-:.. uJ~ 3urke county, but was 
J8 "4 at that -tine a part of Rowan county. He was there by A:vril 1776, J 3ome cf 

his descendants think he went there somewhat earljer and married Pclly Hayes in 

North Carolina. There does not see~ to be any Coffeys in the records of Rowan 

county for that time period, The Hayes family lived in Albemarle county '/ire;inia 

at the time the Coffeys did and at least some 0f thep, came to North Carolina in 

the 1770s and '80s. I think it more logical to believe that Benjamin married 

Polly in Albemarle county and then moved to North Carolina. Since the Albemarle 

county marriage records for that time are not extant we have no way of proving 

it one •,ray or the other, 

Benjamin served 5 months in 1776 in the Revolutionary War,34 mostly fieht-

ing Cherokee Indians on the "frontier of Burke county." In December 1?78 Benjamin 

had 4 land entries 39 on Blair's Fork of Lower Creek in Burke cc~nty (see map, 

page 39,) Presumably this was land he had been living on for some time. It was 

located just over the ridge from Wilkes county and bounded land of John Coffey 

(probably his brother) and Nebuzaradan Coffey (see chapter 7), and not far from 

his brother James Coffey's land in Wilkes crounty. In March 1780 he bought land 

in Wilkes county and moved there, residing in that county until the early 1800s~ 

The first of April, 1780 he again volunteered for Revolutionary War service, 

being assigned to the Regiment commanded by Col. Benjamin Cleveland. Later that 

yea:r they marched to Kings Mt., wt Benjamin missed the famous battle due to 

losing his horse the night before, Because of "pains in his ankles" he l."as 

furlowed home the first of November.34 

A list of Benjamin and Folly's children has not been found but ~ust have 

included at least 5 sons and 4 daughter8. 41 The 'rest known cf these is John, 

born October 15, 1776, JS It is logical that he should be the oldest. However, 

if William who married 42 Polly Coffey (daughter of Thomas) is Benjamin's son he 
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CALDWELL COUNTY NORTH CAROLINA, showing areas 
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and 178Os in ~hat ~as then Wilkes and Burke 
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may have been older because of his 1796 marriage. Also, if either Ann who married 

Alexander McKinsey in 1793 or Sarah who married James Coffey in 1794 are his 

daughters, they could also be older. If Benjamin came to North Carolina as early 

as 1774 he could have been married by 1773 or earlier. Since he owned land in 

1772 it is reasonable to think he might have been married then. However, this 

is all speculation since we have no records to prove it. Nevertheless, I believe 

it is useful to mention this as it might provide a clue of in:f'o:mation :for some.­

one else to pursue. 

1he known, probable, and possible childxen and some descendants of Benjamin 

and Polly are outlined in Chart. 4-F. James Coffey o:f' Riverview, Michigan and 

.ilfi!',,, Je:f'f Radclif:f'e of Jacksonville, Illinois aretnown descendants of Colby Coffey who 
\ 
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was a son of John Coffey and Elizabeth Rucker. Elizabeth was a daughter to 

Colby Rucker. H. Marcus Coffey of Thorn Hill, Tennessee seems to be a descen­

dant of George Coffey although it may be through his mother's line. 45 He is 

probably also a descendant of .Benjamin through his father's line, possibly by 

a son Jesse. 36 His great grandfather was Cleveland Coffey who was married and 

living in Grainger county Tennessee in the 18JOs. This Cleveland is suppo3ed 

to be the son of a Jesse, however, we are not sure to whom this Jesse belongs. 

Another .Benjamin descendant is Bennie Lou Coffey Loftin of Garland, Texas. She 

descends through John and Elizabeth's son .Benjamin (1808) who married Nancy 

Hayes. Jeanne Snodgrass Bonham of Cincinnatti, Ohio descends through John and 

Elizabeth's son Ausbon. Some of John and Elizabeth's descendants settled in 

Kentucky: Madison, Rockcastle, and other counties. For further information on 

these and other descendants of this line the reader is referred to Bennie 
Loftin's book.JS 

. .Benjamin moved to Hawkins county Tennessee by 181043 (some say 1809) and 
apparently lived there until his death in 18.34.44 

Elizabeth Coffey 

'Ihe only other child of John and Jane Coffey not yet accounted for is 

Elizabeth. Since I have seen no records that indicate when or where she was 

born I am including her last, more as a matter of convenience than knowledge 

of fact. She is known to have married 'Ihomas Fields, brother of Sally and son 

* 

of Richard Fields and Elizabeth Murrell. Elizabeth and Thomas also moved to 

Wilkes county North Carolina. 46 Thomas was active in the Yadkin Baptist church, 

holding the office of clerk and later that of a Deacon. 47 The w11148 of Thomas 

Fields in 1807 lists wife Betty and children James Crumpton, William Fields, 

Reuben Fields, Betsy Penley, Winifred Humphrey, Polly Humphrey, arxi Sally Penley. 

John and Jane Coffey's Later Years 

* 

Although we have followed the children of John and Jane Coffey into North 

Carolina and Tennessee we have not finished our story of John and Jane themselves. 

Sometime in 1 ?47, presumably after .Benjamin was born, the Coffeys apparently 

moved from Spottsylvania to Orange county. John bought 137 acres there on June 

23, 174749 and was listed as among the purchasers of an estate there in July 

1751?0 • When the 137 acres was purchased in 1747 John was listed as being from 

Spottsylvania county, when it was sold, August JO, 17525; his residence was 

given as Orange county. The latter date may be when they moved to Albemarle 

county. He appears in various Al bema.rle records in the 17 ,50s am 1760s and re­

mained there the rest of his yea.rs. The home place was at North Garden on the 



_, ;ras rr.ad.e on i•,arch 31., 1774 and provf~d. at the :•:arch ccurl in 177 5 . . . 
died in January or ?ebruary 1775. In the next few years fol] ~win1:: rii::; death al~ 

of the child.rer.. exce:;.:,t 'i,"iil:!..a~, .2..dmonu., anc:. probably Winifr~d ;r,oved. to ;\.-,;:th 

Caroline.. ..iane also went with them and. located i11 '.{ilkes co'-!nty m~c.:i.· Jarr.es 6'.i· 

2. Census and tax records of Wilkes co., N.C. sh°" that Jane had slaves in the l780s and l790s, almost 
certainly an inheritance of she and John's years in Virginia. 

3. See will of John Graves, dated 4 Sep 1719, proved 17 May 1720, Essex co, VA Will Bk. J, pp. 140-41. 

4. See particularly the following: 
a. Graves, John Card. Genealogy of the Graves Family ln America. 
b. Graves, Louise. Graves: Tvelve Generations, 
c. Articles by Mrs. P.W. Bidon, especially The Graves Family of Essex County, Wm. & Mary Quart. 16 (4): 

650-68. 1936. 
d. Hamlin, Charles Hughes. Genealogy of the Graves Family of Virginia. The Virg. Gazette Aug. 28, 1959. 

5. Greer, George Cabell. Early Virginia Immigrants, 1623-1666, Baltimore: Gen, Pub. Co. 1960. 

6. Nugent, Nell M. Cavaliers and Pioneers, Abstracts of Virginia Land Patents and Grants. Vols. t-III. 
Baltimore: Gen. Pub, Co. 1969. 

7. See especially Sexton, Jacqueline Coffey. Tho Coffeys of Wayne County, Monticello, KY: Lakeview Printing, 
!nc. 1974, 

8. Will of Robert Mayfield, Sr., dated 3 Dec 1714, proved 16 Aug 1715. Essex co. VA Wills & Deeds, Bk. 14, 
p. 385. 

9. Warner, Thomas Hoskins, History of Old Rappahannock County Virginia 1656-1692. Tappahannock, VA 1965. 

10. Coffey, Lawrence H. Thomas Coffey and His Descendants. Chattanooga: Newell Sanders. 1931. 

ll. Augusta County Virginia Deed Books 23 (p. 327), 29 (pp. 119,306), 42 (p. 289), and 55 (p. 437). Also see 
Chalkley, Lyman. Chronicles of the Scotch-Irish Settlement in Virginia. Baltimore: Gen. Pub, Co. 1965. 

12. His wi.11 waa made in Nelson co. VA 2 Mar 1825 and proved 28 Mar 1828: Will Bk. C, p. 417. 

13. National Genealogical Society Quarterly, Vol. J4, p. 62. 
14. Thomas, Gladys Cotham. Casey County Kentucky 1806-1977, Liberty, KY: Bicentennial Heritage Corp., Casey 

Co. Ky, 1977. 
15. Dr"l'er, Kings Mountain Papers 13DD • 132. (letter from C.R. Coffey of Owensboro, KY, March 21, 187J}. 

16. Sweeny, Lenora Higginbotham. Amherst County Virginia in the Revolution. Lynchburg, VA 1951. pp. 9 & 121. 

17. Albemarle County Virginia Deed Books 2 (p. 227), 3 (p. 218), and 4 (p. 117). For Thomas Coffey deeds see 
Bks. 4 (p. 466), 6 (p. 487), & 7 (pp. 418 & 501). For Nicholas Moran see Bks. 3 (p. 202), & 4 (p. 155). 

18. Amherst County Virginia Deed Book B, p. 361. 
19. Burke County North Carolina Land Entries q 1395, 1396. 
20. Taylor, Phillip Fall. A Calendar of the Warrants for Land in Kentuc Granted for Service in the French 

and tndian War. Bundle 79, Warrant 213. He was a sergeant and received 200 acres in Lincoln county 
"on the "'ate rs of Silver Creek, on a branch running in above Locust Bent, on the we.9t fork of said creek." 

21. He purchased 300 acres of land there on Nov. 4, 1798 and is on the 1799 tax list. He was on the Wilkes 
co. N.C. tax lists of 1791,2,& 3. 

22. Grainger County Tennessee Inventories of Estates & Wills, p. 324, 18 Sep 1838; Wills & Settlements, 1839-
47, pp. 4, 194, 277, 429, & 435. 

23. Grainger County Tennessee Deed Bk. H, p. 89. 1840; also Wills & settlements, above. 

24. Nelson County Virginia Will Bk. A, p. 
25. File of R. Ivey Moore, JOl Kensington Ave., No. Wilkesboro, N.C. 28659. 
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26. Coincon, J.B. Colonial History of Nelson County Virginia 1734-1807. Ar.iherst,VA: Amherst Pub. Co.(no date). 
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27. !dvards, Morgan. Materials Tovard a Risto of the B tists in the Province of Vir inia, Vol. 3. Typed ~ 
copy at Southern Baptist Theological Seminary, Louisvi e, KY, 7 3, 

28, Wilkes County North Carolina Will Bk. 4, p. 7S. Thomas' will was dated 29 Jan 182S and proven in Oct.1825. 

29. Coffey MS (including a sketch of Elder Reuben Coffey by Dr. J.E. Hodges), z. Smith Reynolds Library, Wake 
Forest University. 

30. Spottsylvania County Virginia Deeds, Vol. 23, p. 276 and Vol. 24, p. 130. 
31. Crozier, William Al'IIIStrong. Virginia County Records, Vol. I, Spotsylvania County, 1721•1800. Baltimore: 

Genealogical Pub. Co. 1971. 
32. Burke county N.C. Land Entries, entry 9 1263, dated Dec. 1778. 
33. Burke county N,C. Estate Sattlaments,1851 (folder marked Reuben Coffey). 
34. Benjamin Coffey's Revolutionary War Pension papers. 
35. Albemarle county VA deed bk. 5, p. 435, 
36. Ibid, Bk. 6, p. 268, 
37. Ibid, Bk. 7, p. 412. 
38. ieiiiiie tau Coffey Loftin, Garland, ?X, correspondence; sea also her book, tizzies Legacy and Our Coffey 

Cousins, vritten in conjunction vi.th Mary Elisabeth Coffey Self and pub. by Bennie Coffey Loftin, 1984, 
39. Burke county N.C. Land Entry Bk I; entries 1391, 1392, 1393, and 1394. 
40. Wilkes county N.C. Deed Bka., Land Ent~ios, and Tax Books, 1778-1799; 1800 Federal census, Wilkes co. 
41. The 1790 census of Wilkes county, N.C. lists 4 males under 16 and 4 females other than the wife: the 1800 

census lists 5 males besides Benjamin, es does the 1787 state census •. 
42, Wilkes county N.C. Marriage Bonds, pp. 52 & 53. 
43. Creekmore, Pollyanna. Early East Tennessee Tax Payers. Easley, So. Carolina: Southern Historical Press. 

1980. Also see Curtis, Mary Barnett. Early Tennessee Tax Lists. Fort Worth, l'X: Arrow Printing co. 1964: 
and Sistler, Byron & Barbara. Indez to Early Tennessee Tax Lists. Evanston, IL 1977. 

44. Ar1111trong, Zella. Twenty Four Hundred Tennessee Pensioners. Chattanooga: The Lookout Pub. Co. 1937. p. 28. 
45. Personal correspondence from Horace Harcus Coffey, Thorn Hill, 'IN. 
46. Wilkes county, N.C. Land Entries 6 64, 22 Jan. 1787. 
47. Exce ts from the Minutes of the Church of Christ on the Head of the Yadkin. Pub, by Southam Baptist Hist. 

Comm., Nas vile on microfilm). 
48. Wilkes county N.C. Will Bk. 2, I 195, The will vas made 10 Jan 1807 and probated at the Feb. 1807 ter111 

of court, Levis Coffey vas a witness. 
49. Orange co. VA Deed Bk. 10, pp. 512•13. 
50. Orange co. VA Will Bk. 2, pp. 306-7. 
Sl. Orange co. VA Deed Bk, 12, pp. 109•10. 
S2. Tax lists of Wilkes co., N.C. 
S3. Wilkes co. N,C. Estate Rae., 1777-1945, dated 10 Jan 1793. 



CHART 4 

VITAL DATA OF THE JOHN AND JA1'IE (GRAVES) COFFEY FAi·iILy-8-

John Coffey 
b, bef 16 Jul 1700, Essex co., VA, son of Edward Coffey and Ann Fo~ell 
d. Jan/Feb 1775, Albemarle co., VA 
m. abt 1728 Ja~1 (Jean) Graves, dau of John Graves and Hannah 
children1 1:1~ 1'7'iJ.. lJ;IJ(.es.C:o NG 

1. James Coffey 
b, 4 Jul(?) 1729, Essex co,, VA 
d. Sep/Oct 1786, Wilkes co., N.C. 
m. abt 1750 Elizabeth Cleveland, Orange or Albemarle co., VA 
children: see chapter 5 

2. William 8offey 
b. abt 1731, Essex co., VA 
d. abt 1828, Nelson co., VA 
m. abt 1758 Elizabeth Osborne 
children1 see chart 4-A 

3, John Coffey 
b. abt 1733, Essex co., VA 
m. (1) Dorcas Carter, (2) Nancy Richardson 
children1 see text and chart 4-B 

4. Edmond (Edward) Coffey 
b. abt 1735, Essex co., VA 
d. w.p. 25-Jul 1808, }~lson co., VA 
m. Nancy Barnett 
children: see chart 4-C 

5, Winifred Coffey 
b. abt 1739, Essex co., VA 
m. Nicholas Horan 

6. Thomas Coffey 
b. 7 Mar 1742, Essex co., VA 
d, Apr 1825, Wilkes co., N.C. 
m, (1) Elizabeth Smith, (2) Sarah (Sally) Fields 
children1 see chart 4-D 

7, Reuben Coffey 
b. 1744, Essex or 3pottsylvania co., VA 
d. 1818, Burke co., N.C. 
m. Sally Scott 
children: see chart 4-E 

8. Benjamin Coffey 
b. 1747, Spotsylvania co., VA 
d. 4 Jan 1834, Hawkins co., TN 
children1 see chart 4-F 

9. Elizabeth Coffey 
b. 
d, after 1807, prob. Wilkes co., N.C. 
children1 see text 

a This information comes from many sources including references# 7, 24, 511 
John's will, and the many papers of Abby Dyer Griffin, a descendant of child 
# 7, 

43 
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CHART 4-A 

CHil.DREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY 1 # 2, WILLIAM b 

William Coffey 
b. abt 1731, Essex co., VA 
d. "bef 28 Mar 1828 (da.te will proved), Nelson co., VA 
m. abt 17,58 Eliza"beth Osborne (or Osborn), prob. Al"bemarle co., VA 
children1 

1. Osborn (various spellings) 
b, 29 Jul 1759, VAc 
d. Ji Mar 1840, Casey co., KY 
m. 15 Feb 1783 Mary (Polly) Nightinga.le (b. 1761, d, 1847, dau of Mathew 

Nightinga.le), Amherst co., VA 
chilcb:ens 

1. Jesse 
b. 26 May 1784 
d. Jul 1850, Casey co., KY, rur Middleb.trg cem. 
m. (1) Tabitha Riffe (or Rife), (2) 16 Feb 1805 Eliza"beth Rife 

(1785-1842), Pulaski co., KY 
children& had dau Sally and sons C.R. and Jesse Jr. 

2. Elizabeth 
m. 9 May 1806 Christopher Riffe 

3. Patsey 
m. George Portmancc 

4. Matthew 

* 

* 

* 

* b. abt 1790, Amherst co., VA 
d. prior to 1830 
m. 29 Jul 1823 Haney D. Adams (d. 18.54, Schuyler co., MO), Lincoln 

co. KY 
5. Lucy 

b, abt 1792 
6. Richard N. 

b. abt 1790-95 
m. 29 May 1820 Catherine McCormick, Lincoln co., KY 

7. Osborn 
m. 1829 Jane Bell 

8. William 
9. John 

m. 2 Sep 1843 Catherine Bryant, Lincoln co., KY 
2. William Jr. 

m. 2 Nov 1790 Polly Rippeto 
3. Winnefred (Ureney?) 

m. 29 Mar 1792 'lbomas Hayes (bond 28 Mar) 
4. Mildred (Milley) 

m. 17a3·samuel Collman (Coleman)d 
5, Elizabeth (Betsey) 

m. 15 Sep 1795 John Bridge 

b. Marriage bonds and records of Amherst co., VA; deed rec of Amherst & Augusta 
cos., VA; ref.# 16; pension papers for Osborn; Will of William, Nelson co. 
VA Will Bk. C, p. 417, 

c. DAR Patriot Ind.ex 
cc. DAR Lin. Bk. 1191 208-9, 

* 

d. Marriages of Fredericksville Parish, in Papers of the Al"bemarle co. Hist. Soc, 
Vol. 6, P• 57. 



6. Edmond F. 
b. abt 1773 (age 72 in 1845 - ref.# 16) 
m. 3 Apr 1802 Elizabeth Burger 

7, Jane 
m. (1) 16 Dec 1819 ___ Anderson; (2) ___ Fitzgerald 
children of# 1: Joshua, Sallie, and Winnie; children of# 2: Perry 

and Asrury. 
8. Margaret 

m. ___ Monroe 
9. Mary 

10. Frankey 
CHART 4-B 

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY:# 3, JOHN 

John Coffey 
b. abt 1733, Essex co., VA 
m. (1) Dorcas Carter, (2) Nancy Richardson 
probable children: 

1. Meredi th 8 

b. abt 1760-70 {perhaps 1769), Albemarle or Am~erst co., VA 
d. 1838, Grainger co., TN 
m. Esther (or Hester) ___ ,b. abt 1776). - md. abt 1797. 
childrens 

1. John 
b. 18 Oct 1798, Grainger co., TN 
m. (1) 24 Feb 1821 Rebecca Ragsdale; (2) Jane Hopper 

2. Anna 
b. a.bt 1800, Grainger co., TN 
m. J Nov 1819 Jacob Arnett, Grainger co., TN 

3. James 
b. abt 1803, Grai!1f8r co. , TN 
d. bef 10 Sep 1851, Grainger co., TN 
m. 14 Dec 1825 Sally Fielding, Grainger co. , TN 
children1 Joel Henry Coffey and James Temple Coffey.f 

4. Dorcas 
m. 26 Jan 1840 ~uba.1 Mitchell, Grainger co., TN 

5. Joel 
b. abt 1806, Grai~r co., TN 
d. bef 10. Sep 1851 , Grainger co. , TN 
m. 5 Feb !829 Elizabeth Grubb, Grainger co., TN 
children a 

1. Nancy 
m. 16 Oct 1847 

2. John 
b. abt 1833 

3. Susan 
b. abt 1838 

John Hinshaw, Grainger co., TN 
5. William E. 

b. abt 1842 
6. Sarah E. 

m. Samuel Stalsworth 
m. 6.Dec 1860 Robert Inkle­

barger 
4. Jacob 7, Elvira 

b. abt 1839 

45 

* 

e Ref. #s 22 and 23, 'lbomas Roach, Kenneth Fortner, & Peggy Swenson are descendants. 
fcrainger co. TN Invent.of Est. & Wills, 1847-52, pp. 399, 408~10; same, 1852--, 
pp. 157 & 252; Deed Bk. M, PP• 38-41. 
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6. Mira 
b. abt 1809 
m. 6 Aug 182? Hardiman Sparkman, Grainger co., Tii 

7. Eliza 
m. 16 Feb 1834 Henderson Sparkman 

8. Mary 
m. 29 Oct 1838 Henderson Dyerr, Grainger co., TN 

9. Mahalia 
m. 11 Aug 1838 Samuel Crain, Grainger co. , TN 

10. Rice 
m. 16 Jun 18J9 Elvira Trogden, Grainger co., TN 
moved to Crawford co., MO 

Possible children of John Coffey: 
2. Thomas 

b. 1766-84 (age 26-45 in 1810) 
3. Sally 

m. 9 Feb 1802 Benjamin Rhea, Grainger co., TN 
4. Jenny 

m. 23 Sep 1806 Levi Miller, Grainger co., TN 
5. For others see text. 

CHART 4-C 

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY: # 4, EDMO~ 

Edmond (or Edmund) Coffey 
b. abt 1735, Essex co., VA 

* 

* 

* 
d, 1808, Nelson co,, VA ~ 
m. Nancy Barnett (d. bef 27 Apr 1829 - prob bef 23 Mar), Albemarle or Amherst co, J 

children, 
1. Edmund s. b 

b. abt 1773 
d, after 1845 1'1"1A~l<is5' 
m, 3 Jan 1798 Tildy Fitzgerald, Amherst co. VA 

2, William 
m. 18 Apr 1800 Betsey Giles, Amherst co., VA 

J, Reuben 
m. 5 Sep 1801 Nancy Giles, Amherst co. VA 

4. Amelia (Milley) 
b. abt 1772 • 
m. 22 Feb 1793 John Campbell,Amherst co. VA 

5. Nancy 
m. Sep 1817 (bond 29 Aug) Joel Campbell, Nelson co. VA 

6, Polly 
m, 28 Aug 1819 John Steel, Nelson co. VA 

gWill of Edmond Coffey in Will Book A, page 1 and Bk. D, p. 70, Nelson co,, VA; 
marriage rec of Amherst and Nelson cos., VA 



CHART 4-D 

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY:# 6, THOMASh 

Thomas Coffey 
b. 7 i1ar 1742, Essex co., VA 
d, Apr 1825, Wilkes co., N.C. 
m. (1) abt 1762 Elizabeth 3mith, prob Albemarle co., VA 
children I d, .q bT. 177~ - 17 n 

1. Elizabeth 
b. 25 Oct 1763 Albemarle co;, VA 
d. 1850, Indiana (Owen co.?) 
m. David Allen 
moved to Owen co., IU in 1828 

2. John 
b. abt 1765 Albemarle co. , VA 
d. abt 1812, Wilkes co., N.C. 
m. 3 Oct 1796 Hannah Wilson, Wilkes co., N.C. 
children: 

Eliza, Cassandra, Wilson (or William), Rebecca, Jane. 
3. Thomas 

b. abt 1767,· Albemarle co. VA 
m. (1) Margaret Coffey; (2) Nancy Pendley 
children of# 1: Joshua, Sallie, and Winnie; children of# 2: Perry 

a.nd Asblry. 
4. James 

b. 1772, Albemarle co., VA 
d. 1840, Wilkes co. , • NC.. 
m. 31 Aug 1799 Delilah Ferguson, Wilkes co,, N.C. 
children: Thomas (b. 1804), James, Lovancy, Marvel, Eli (m. Caroline 

Storyhh), Myra, and Louisa (m. John Jackson 15 Aug 1820 Wilkes co,) 
5. Mary (Polly) 

b. a.bt 1775, Albemarle co., VA 
m. 3 Jul 1796 William Coffey (prob. son of Benjamin). 
children: Austin, William, Elijah 

6. Smith 
b. abt 1776, Al bema.rle co., VA 
m. Hannah Boone 
children: Squire, Morgan, Athan, Sallie, Leland, Isaac, Millie. 

m. (2) abt 1778/9 Sarah (Sally) Fields, prob. Albemarle co., VA 
children: 

1. Martha (Patsy) 
b. abt 1780 Wilkes co., N.C. 
d. Indiana 
m. 3 Sep 1807 Rev. James Dowell 

2. William i 
b. 29 Nov 1782, Wilkes co., N.C. 
d, 21 May 1839 Wilkes co., N.C. 
m. 16 Oct 186'! Annie Boone (b. 26 Jul 17851) 
children: Daniel, Wilborn, Celia, Gilliam, Calvin (latter is ancestor 

of Dr. Robert Coffey of Portand, OR {see chapter 13). 
~See ref.# 10 for a more complete list of descendants. 
hhA descendant of this line is Waneta (Coffey) Matney of Tacoma, WA. 
icoffey farn. Bible in possess. of Mrs. Miriam Leeper, Manhattan, KS. 
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J. Reuben A. 
b. 15 Sep 1785, Wilkes co., N,C. 
d. Feb 18.54, Indiana. 
m, 1805 Pqlly Dowell, dau of Goerge Dowell. 
child.re n : J 

1. Alfred Martin 
b. abt 1807 
m. Jane Coffey 

2. Albert 
b. abt 1810 
m. Sa.rah Goodnight 

J. Cornelius 
b. abt 1812 
m. Margaret Smith 

4. Emily 
b. abt 1814 
m. William I. Curtis 

.5. Malena 
b, abt 1816 
m. Wilson Coffey 

6. Luther 
b. abt 1818 
m. Myra Crisp 

7. Rufus 
b. abt 1820 
m. Charlotte Allen 

B. Miriam 
b. abt 1822 
m. (1) John Sanders JO Sep 1849; (2) J.H. Buchanan 

9, Shelton 
b. abt 1825 
m. Dicey Sanders 

10. Judson 
b, abt 1830 
m. Caroline Rone 

All went to Monroe-Owen co. , IN in 1832 
4. Elijah 

b. 1788, Wilkes co., N.C. 
d. 1865, Georgia 
m. Polly Hull 
moved to Georgia in 183.5 

* 

* 

* 

* 

children, Anderson, Minerva, Newton, Starling, Alphonso, Elvira, Milton. 
5, Sally 

b. abt 1792 
d. N. C. 
m. 2 Mar 1824 Samuel Thomas Stewart 

6. Lewis 
b. 25 May 1796 Wilkes co., N.C. 
d. Owen co. (?~ Indiana (moved there) 
m, Harriet E. Powell 

* 

* 

childrena Sarah, Martha, Mary, Richa.cl, Amanda, Jasper, and Sephronia.. 

Jcoffey Family MS, z. Smith Reynolds Library, Wake Forest Univ. 
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7. Jessek 

b. abt 1798, Wilkes co., N.C. 
d. uranar, or d. 18.58 in Georgia if this is the Jesse who 
m. -22-De-~ 1821 Winnifred Crumpton, Wilkes co., N.C. 
children, 
1. Lewis E. (Elbert?) 

b. abt 1826 
2. William 

b. abt 1829 
J. Eli 

b. abt 18J2 
4. Martin Van Buren 

b. abt 18)4 
m. 24 Feb 1859 Francis Pettit, Pickins co., GA 

5. John 
b. abt 1840 

8. Larkin 
b. 18 Feb 1800, Wilkes co., N.C. 
d. 12 Jan 1881, Owen co., IN (moved there in 18JJ) 
m. Catherine H. Wilson 9 Jan 1826, Wilkes co., N.C. 

* 

children1 Susan, Sylvester, Lorenzo, Jason, Sarah, Adolphus, and Elzy. 
9. McCal.eb (or Caleb) 

b. 22 Aug 1803, Wilkes co., N.C. 
d. 17 Feb 1881, Caldwell co., N.C. (lived near Patterson, N.C.) 
m. 1 (or 5) Feb 1828 Elizabeth Collett, .Burke co., N.C. 
children,lThomas Jefferson, Charles L. ,Sarah A., Johiu E., Mary Lou, 

Margaret, Wm. Columbls, Martha E., Henry c., James E., Frances 
Caroline, Rachel M., Julia Jane, Laura Louise, and Buddie. 

CHART 4-E 

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY,# 7, REUBEN"1 
Reuben Coffey 

b. 1744, Essex .Q!: Spottsylvania co,, VA 

* 

d. 1818, Burke co. , N, C. * 
m. bef 1772 Sarah (Sally) Scott (d. Oct 1837), prob. Albemarle co., VA 
children: (most went to Owen co., IN) 

1. John 
2. Reuben * 

b. 1772 
d. JO Nov 1851, Owen co., IN 
m. 7 Feb 1797 Naomi Hays, Wilkes co., l~.c. 
children: * 

1. Hiram (1802-1889), m. Charlotte Stansblry 19 Apr 1827 
2. Alfred, m. Rachael Pulling 
3. Celia, m. James Sharp 
4. Minerva, m. Gllbraith Neil 
5. Thomas R., m. Sarah Rocket 

kProb. the J.C. Coffey on Cherokee co., GA 1840 census. 
1see ref. # 7. * 
msources a.re various rut include rec, of Abby Dyer Griffin and Ann Gold, both 

descendants, and a petition of heirs in Burke co., N.C. Ct. of Equiv, Spring 
term 18;8. Abby Dyer & her brother Fred were some of the earliest Coffey gene­
alogists. The order of birth may differ from the order listed here. 
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6. Denzia (1812-1842), m, William Mayf'ield 
?. Isom (1814- ?), m. Martha Smock 
8. Nancy, m. John Fullen 
9, James W. (1819-1885), m. Theresa Wampler 

10, Temperance, m, Mr. Moreland 
3. Joseph 

d, 1835 
ch1ldren1 

1. Sarah, m. Larkin Calloway 
2. Margaret, m. Tyre Webb 
J. Nancy, m. William Gragg 
4. Enoch, m. 15 Dec 1831 Prudence Cragg, Burke co., N.C. (?) 
5. Elisha 
6. Zacheus 
7, Matilda} 
8. Luchia Minors in 18J8 
9, Brice 

* 

4. Jesse * 
d, 1840 

5. Elizabeth B. * 
b. JO Jul 1776 
d. 5 Mar 1868, Greene co. , IN 
m. John Green .Q!_ 'lhomas Roper ? 

6. Elijahn * 
b, 11 Mar 1779, Globe, Burke co., N.C. 
d. 3 Sep 1863, Owen co., IN 
m. 23 Sep 1803 Mary Abby (Polly) Dyer, Ashe co., N.C. 
childrenz 

1. Lucinda, b. 8 Aug 1804; m. JO Sep 18J8 Emanuel Falkner 
2. Allen, b. 21 Sep 1806, Globe Settlement, Burke co., N.C. 
3. Alfred, b. 18 May 1809; d. 11 Jun 1885. 
4. Amos, b, 12 Jun 1811; md. 11 Feb 1834 Martha K. Niell * 
5, Jane Louisa, b. 12 Jun 1813, Globe settlement, Burke co., N.C. 
6. Albert, b. 7 Dec 18151 m. 28 Jan 1841 Caroline Hall 
7. Joel Anderson, b. 10 Jun 1818, TN1 d. 21 Mar 1901; m. 12 Dec 1847 

Charity McDonald 
8. Wm. Trimble, b. 17 Dec 1820, KY; d. 19 Mar 1879 
9. Wiley H,, b. 27 Feb 1823, IN; m. 10 Jun 1849 Harriet McDonald 

10. Malinda Caroline, b. 6 Mar 1825, IN; m. 25 May 1845 Isaac Franklin. 
1t. Nancy Emmaline, b. 25 Sep 1827, IN; d. 19 Mar 1904. 

7, James D. * 
b, 23 Oct 1786, Globe, Burke co., N.C. 
d. 27 Oct 1868, Owen co., IN 
m. Hannah Alloway Strange (b. 18 Feb 1790, d. 14 Dec. 1871) 
moved to Indiana in 1834, first to Monroe and then Owen co, 
childrena 

1. Archelaus (or Archelius) 0
, b, 1 Ma.r 1810, Wilkes co., N.C.; 

d. 27 Dec 1900, IN; m. 23 Jan 1834 Rachael Wilson, Ashe co., N.C. 
2, Sally, b, 12 Feb 1812; d. 22 Feb 1861 
J, Abraham, b. 26 Apr 1814, Wilkes co., N,C.; d. 23 Aug 1885; m. 

No.v 1835 Sally Green. 

nrnformation from a Bible owned in 1943 by Mrs. Bladen of Indianapolis, IN; 
see -ref# 7 for further information on this line. 

0 Tales of Pioneers: History of Owen County (IU), Vol II. Spencer (IN) Chamb. of 
Comm,, Spencer, IN. 1963, 
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Subj: 
Date: 
From: 
To: 

Bonnie, 

Hodge Raymond Coffey 
Sunday, October 3, 2004 2:32:22 PM 
w5 jkc@cebridge.net 
bculey@aol.com 

Marvin incorrectly describes this family in his book. He was a generation off. 

Hodge Raymond Coffey was a son of William H. Coffey and Mary 
Faulkner. William was a son of Reuben Coffey and Sarah "Sally" Scott. 

William and Mary may have had more children tharJ.iodge, but I haven't found 
them yet. 

Hodge was born 181 2 in North Carolina, and married Hannah Wilson 1 3 Nov. 
1831 in Owen Co., IN. 

Their children were: 

Oliver N., born 2 Dec 1832, died 30 Dec. 1900 
James L., born 9 Jun 1834, died 6 Nov. 1890 
Silas, born 23 Feb. 1839, died 6 Mar. 1904 
Mary Ann, no birth info 
Serena T., born 1846, died 1 Apr. 1855 
Isaac Coffey, no birth info 

James L. married 30 Sep 1855 Elizabeth Litton 30 Sep 1855, and had children 
Martha, born 1856, and Laura, born abt 1858. In 1850 this family is in 
Gentry Co., MO 

Silas married 1 Nov 1864 Carolyn Byles; no other info. 

Mary Ann married David H. Allen 9 May 1859. No other info. 

Serena married Richardson Coffey, son of Benjamin Coffey and Nancy Hayes on 
1 May 1860. 

This might help someone. 

Jack 

aolrich://92192181060/ 

10/3/04 5:22 PM 



4. Polly (Mary), b. 9 (or19) Jul 1816, N.C.; d. 18 Oct 1909, Owen co., 
IN; m. 28 Apr (or Mar) 1859 Anderson :O.Mills, Owen co., IN. 

51 

5. Riley, b. 27 Jun 1818; d. 27 Aug 1855. * 
6. John Davidson, b. 4-toPJul 1821, Ashe co., N.C.; d. 5-15P Jan 1909, * 

Ellettsville, IH; m. (1) 1844 Mary Whisanand, (2) 1847 }1ary A. 
Mayfield, ( 3) 1874 Mary J. Ridge. 

7. Elvira Ann, b. '2:/ Oct 1823; d. 19 Mar 1880, IN; m. 5 Jul 1853 
Geo. W. Starnes. 

8. Nancy4 
b. 10 Sep 1788, Globe, Burke co., N.C. 
d. 19 Apr 1866, IN 
m. (1) Durham, (2) Joel Anderson Dyer 
ancestor of Abby Dyer Griffin, early Coffey genealogist. 

9. William H.4 
b. 1789, Globe, Burke co., N.C. 
d. 17 Oct 1844, Owen co., IN J 

\Y\ _ __ (\m. Mary Faulkner ~/•t-J O d e,-e ~ A y /Y\ "rJ 
,U,~hildren : I 

10. 

11. 

12. 

13. 

1. Mary Ann, m. 9 Ma.y 1859 David H. Allen 
2. Silas, b. 23 Feb 1839, d. 6 Mar 1904, m. 1 Nov 1864 Carolyn Byles 
J. John 
4. Isaac 
5. James L., b. 9 Jun 18)4, d. 6 Nov 1890, m. JO Sep 1855 Elizabeth 

Litton 
6. Oliver N., b. 2 Dec 1832, d. JO Dec 1900, m. JO Jan 1851 Elizabeth 

Litton 
7. Serena T., b. 1846, d. 1 Apr 1855 

Thomas 
d. bef 1838 (no children) 
Benjaminq 
b. abt 1790 (?), Globe, Burke co., N.C. 
d. 1843, Owen co., IN 
m. 1816 Exa Saphronia Stepp 
children1 

1. Jesse, b. 18 lfov 1818; d. 10 Oct 18851 m. 12 Feb 1840 Lucinda Burpo 
2. Lawson, b. 15 Aug 18201 d. 7 Aug 1904; m. (1) 1 Feb 1851 Mary 

Litton, (2) 1856 Eliza Campbell 
3, Nancy J., b. 182Ja d. J Feb 1866; m. 22 Dec 1842 David Allen, 
4, Sally Ann, b. 18)8; m. (1) William Litton, (2) George Luggett, 

(3) Ira Graham. 
5, William W., b. 15 Nov 18)0; d. 18 Jun 1865; m. 7 Feb 1850 Malinda 

Litton. 
6. Milton Hiatt, b. 14 Nov 1831; d. 25 May 1915; m. 1 Jun 1858 

Cynthia J. liicholas--,.James Marion Coffey~Bessie May Coffeyqq 
7, Matilda C., b, 9 Aug 1837; d. 15 Apr 1917; m. (1) Elijah Miller, 

(2) Calvin Lyman. 
Jane b,; 7 T--I 
m. J.ame.s Webb B ,,,J j F··· u k) e. LL 
Sallyr 
m. Samuel Curtis 

* 

* 

* 

* 

Pvarious dates from different lists; at this writing I don't know which is correct. 
4See ref.# 7 for further information on these lines. 

,~ rI am not certain that this child fits in this family. 
qqMother of Herschel Sharr (husband of Noreva), El Monte, CA. 
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CHART 4-F 

CHILDREN OF JOHN AND JANE COFFEY: # 8, BENJA.?v!H,-s 

Benjamin Coffey 
b. 1747, Spotsylvania co., VA 
d. 4 Jan 1834, Hawkins co., TN 
m. Polly Hayes (poss dau of Jesse Hayes) * 
known children:(according to 1790 & 1800 census they had 5 male & 4 female children). 

1. Johnt 
b. 15 Oct 1776, prob. Rowan co., N.C. (area that 'became Burke co.) 
d. 15 Mar 1845, Grainger co. , TI~ 
m. Eliza'beth Rucker, dau of Colby Rucker, and b. 6 Jan 1787, d,22 Mar 1855, 
child.rent u 

1. Ausrurn (various spellings), b. 11 (or 14) Jan 1805 Wilkes co., N.C.; 
m. abt 1830 Matilda Dalton; d. 30 Dec 1876, Grainger co., TN. A * 
descendant of this line is Jeanne Snodgrass Bonham of 516 Hickory 
Hill Lane, Cincinnati, OH 45215. Her line is Ausburn~omas 
Jefferson Coffey (1822-1897) & Perlina Hayes~Lee Coffey (1854-
19'.34) & Isabelle Hiatt~Arthur A. Coffey (1876-1929) & Gatie 
Ramsey~Ella Mae Coffey (1898- ) & Bradford Snodgrass~M. Jeanne 
Snodgrass (1928- ) vho m. C. Philip Bonham. Another son of 
Ausborn,James Madison Coffey (1834-1886) m. Lydia Wolfe and had 
Glathia Jane Coffey (1864-1939) whom. Joseph Love Ramsey and had 
Janie Lydia Ramsey (n.md.) 

2. Colby, b. 23 Aug 1806, Wilkes co., N.C.1 m. 22 May 1330 Mary Adams, 
Grainger co., TN; d. 17 Jun 1888, Estill co., KY. A descendant * 
of this line is James v. Coffey of 13869 Sibley Rd., RiVJerview, 
MI 48192, His line is Colby~William W. Coffey (1841-1906) ~ 
Josephine Jones--,Vernon Coffey (1895-1972) & Beulah Curtsinger 
--,James Junior Coffey (1929-1967) & El Wand.a Beasley~James 
V. Coffey. Jeff Radcliffe of Jacksonville, IL is another descen­
dant of Col by. 

3. Benjamin, b. 8 Feb 1808, Wilkes co., N.C.; m. Nancy Hayes; d,8 * 
May 1867, Rockcastle co.KY. A descendant of thils line is Bennie Lou 
Loftin of 4006 Clemson Garland, TX 75042. Her line from Benjamin 
is ~Ausburn (Ausbon) Coffey (1846-1923) & Celia Ann Laswell~ 
William Ransome (Rance) Coffey (1869-1932) & Lou Mina Jane Clark-:, 
William Benjamin Coffey (1912- )& Lou Ellen Simcox-----'tBennie !Du 
Coffey (1934- ) m. (1) Roy Chapman (div), (2) Ro'bert Loftin. 

4. Nancy, b. abt 1811, TN1 n.md.; d. 20 Nov 1896. 
5. John Jackson, b. 12 Jan 1812, Tn1 m. 7 Jul 1839 Alsy (Elsie) Nash, 

Grainger co., TN; d. 1,5 Oct 1877, Rockcastle co. KY. * 
6. Elizabeth, b. 1821, TN; m. (1) JO Nov 1839 Nathan Whitsett, * 

Grainger co., TN {he d, 22 Jan 1842, Grainger co.), (2) 20 Feb 1845, 
Geo. w. Hayes, Grainger co., TN. A descendant of this line is 
Kathryn Johnson of 1.59 3heridan Ave., Longwood, F.L 32750. Her line 
is through Elizabeth's 2nd marriage to George w. Hayes (abt 1817-
18--)--,William Daniel Hayes (1861-1911) & Ida Mae Henry..-.+William 
Ernest Hayes (1902- )& Irene Theresa Gudde~Kathryn E. Hayes m. 
William Wallace Johnson 

sRef. #s 7,22,23,34,44; corr. from Marcus Coffey, Thorn Hill, TN, Jeff Radcliffe, 
Jacksonville, IL, James Coffey, Riverview, MI, Alice Ketron, Winchester, IN, & 

t Bennie Lou Loftin, Garland, TX (latter has Bible rec.) ~ 
Info. fr. 2 fam Bibles, War of 1812 Pens. pap., census, & toombstone rec. 

uChildren proven by deeds of sale(of inheritance of each child) to Ausborn, Grainger 
co. Deed Bk. K (pp.209,10,425,532),L (pp1J0,491,602-J);also Bible recs. 
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7. Sarah Lucinda, b. 1822, TN; m. 21 Mar 1840 William Coffey (son of * 
George), Grainger co.TN;d.4 Nov 1895, prob west Plains, MO * 

8. Margaret, b. 28 Feb 1825, TN; m. 7 May 1844 Isaac Bullen, Grainger 
co. TN; d. Rockcastle co. KY. 

9. William M., b. 31 Oct 1828, TN; m. 12 Jun 1849 Ellen Nash,Grainger * 
co. TN.; d. 9 Aug 1893, Grainger co. TN 

10. Catherine, b. 10 Aug 18)4, TN; m. __ Sweet(?); d. P.rob Cass 
co. MO. 

probable children: 
2. George 

b. abt 1782 (age 68 in 1850) 
m. Margaret Rucker (prob. sister of Elizabeth and dau of Colby Rucker, 

b. 1789-90.) 
children: 

1. Mira 
b. abt 1810 
m. John Hipshi:re 

2. Thomas 
b. abt 1812 

J. Delphia 
b. abt 1815 
m, 29 Dec 1828 Timothy Dalton, Grainger co., TN 

4. Mary 
m. 2 Sep 1833 Jack Dalton, Grainger co~, TN 

5. William 
b. 20 Jan 1817; d. 15 Jun 1878 
m. Sarah Lucinda Coffey, dau of John & Elizabeth, Grainger co., TN 

6. Elijah 
b. 23 Feb 1820; d. 13 Jul 1890 
m. 11 Jan 1840 Rebecca Shockley, Grainger co., TN 

7. Matilda 
b. abt 1821 
m. 27 Aug 1835 Tandy Dalton, Grainger co,, TN 

8. Malinda (not certain this one belongs in this family) 
b. abt 1823 
m. 11 Nov 1839 Cleveland Coffey, Grainger co, TN 

9. Mahalia 
b. abt 1828 
m, 21 Jan 1846 Enos Shockley, Grainger co., TN 

10, Emily or Emeline 
b. abt 1831 
m. 20 Feb 1851 Wainright Shockley, Grainger co., TN 

11. Louisa 
b. abt 18)4 
m. 18 Mar 1851 William Shockley, Grainger co., TN 

3. BennettV 
b. abt 1779 (age 71 in 1850); d, by 1858 
m. 5 Feb 1805 Sally Ferguson 
childrens 

1. Caswell 
b. abt 1806, N.C,; d. 7 Sep 1882, Grainger co., TN 
m. 3 or 4 times, one was Martha Campbell 

vBennett was closely associated with Benjamin in Hawkins co. on tax list, witness 
to deeds, etc.; also see ref.# 38, 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 



2. Joel w 
m. prob. Sarah Mullins, 5 Nov 1855, Grainger co., TN 

3. Jesse 
b. abt 1828, Tl~ 

4. Louisa 
b. abt 1831, TN 

Others unknown 
4. William * b. prob. 1778 or poss. 1774/5 if Benjamin md. abt 1773/4. 

m. 3 Jul 1796x Mary (Polly) Coffey (dau of Thomas Coffey and Elizabeth 
Smith) 

children1 
1. Austin 

m. Betsy Hawkins 
2. William 

m. Margaret Robbins 
3. Elijah 

m. Elizabeth Robbins 
possible childrena 

5. Jesse (there are a number of Jesses and it's difficult to separate them)* 
6. Jane * 

m. Aug 179yt Joel Coffey, Wilkes co., N.C. (It seems more probable that 
this Jane and Joel belong to the Chesley Coffey family - see chapter 
7. It may be that Benjamin had a dau Jane but we do not have her mar.) 

7. Ann 
m. 28 Oct 179J Alexander McKinsey, Wilkes co., N.C. * 

8. Sarah * 
m. 30 Aug 1794 James Coffey, Wilkes co., N.C. (Note1 It has been sugested 

that this Sarah and James also belonged ·to the Chesley Coffey family­
see chapter 7). 

9. Another daughter 

* 

wDeed from Bennett to Joel and old letter rega.rding Caswell, recd. by corr. from 
Bennie Loftin. ~ 

xBenjamin was a witness to these 1narriages so he may have been the father. 
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CHAPTER 5 

VIRGINIA TO NORTH CAROLINA-

JAMES COFFEY AND 

ELIZABETH CLEVELAND 

'There goes the parson, oh illustrious spark! 
And there, scarce less illustrious, goes the cler~ 

... Cowper 

• 
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James is one of the best known of the children of John a:1d Jane (Graves) 

Coffey. Born 1729 in Essex county Virginia, he was their first child. He is 

referred to as Reverend James Coffey because he bec~~e a Baptist mi~ister in * 

Wilkes county North Carolina. He married Elizabeth Cleveland, the daughter of 

Alexander Cleveland. The Clevelands are further discussed in the next chapter. 

It appears that the Cleveland and Coffey families lived in both Crange and Albe­

marle counties. 1 r.ost Coffey genealogists have ass~~ed that James and Elizal:.eth 

were married in Orange county about 1750 and the date has been listed as Aufl7Ust 

JO, 1750.2 However, there is no reference given for this date and it is not 

found in the Orange county marriage records. The date may be ~onfused with the 

date of James' first land entry (see below). 3ince we haven't found a record 

in Orange county it is quite possible that they were married in Albemarle county 

where the marriage records for that period of time are not extant. 

James Coffey was on the Orange county "List of Tithables" in 1749 but not 

in 1?54 so they probably settled in Albemarle county soon after their marriage. 

However, the first deed record I have found in Albemarle county is dated 17,58. 
In this they bought 124 acres from .James' father John, at the head of the middle 

branch of the Hardware River.J Again, many of the early AlbeMarle county records 

are missing and we do not even know when John bought this land. Thus it is 

presently impossible to be certain when James Coffey settled in Albemarle county, 

but I am assuming it was probably by 1754 and possibly as early as 1750. Jacqueline 

Sexton says they had a land entry of 115 acres there August JO, 1750.4 The only 

land entry I have been able to find is a Virginia land patent for 262 acres "on the 

head branches of ~eechums River (see map, page 35), under the Ragged l>':ountains." 

This was received July 26, 1?65 but such dates were often several years after the 

land was entered. In this case, James had already moved to Amherst county a 

year previous to the date of this land patent (see later). I a.M thus listing the 

birth of the first 2 children, Elizabeth (born about 1?.51) and John (born about 

175'.3) as probably Albemarle county. 

Elizabeth Coffey 

Elizabeth (the first child and daughter) was ~enerally called Betty. 5he 

married Robert Whiteside of Albemarle county and they later moved to North Carolina 

{...._ where they lived next to her parents in Wilkes county. This marriage was probably 
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in Albemarle county since Robert's father, William, had a land patent there near 

the Coffeys (in 1753). William and Thomas Whiteside, ~ba • .1.ty brothers,were ~ 

listed as members of the Orthodox Reformed Presbyterian Church5on Ivy Creek March 

29, 1747 and William was among the Albemarle company of rilitia for Protection of 

the Frontier Against the Indians, 3eptember 1758, 6 Robert was in the Revolu-

tionary War and probably at the Battle of Kings Mountain with some of the Coffeys,? 

Sometime later.Robert and Elizabeth moved to Wayne county Kentucky where they 

probably both died, 1810-1812. Their best known son was Jonathan who it is said 

settled in Chattanooga, Tennessee. He and brother Robert are on the fulaski 

county Kentucky tax lists in 1806-7, See Chart 5-A for the data on this family. 

John Coffey 

According to long standing tradition and early family lists the second child 

and first son of James and Elizabeth Coffey was named John and was born about 1753, 

Recently a supposed Bible record. 8 has come to light which gives his birth as Feb­

ruary 13, 1755, If true, he may not be the first son.· However, at present there 

is enough room for doubt that I 'Will here use the 1753 date. '!here are few records 

concerning John. He also settled in Wilkes county North Carolina 9 where his 

children were raised and where he died December 27, 1825, 10 His wife was apparent- ~ 
ly named Mary (called Polly or Molly) 11 but nothing further is known about her. 

The names of only 9 children have been known11 but David Strange's records list 

11. We have the marriage records of 5 of these. 12 A daughter Sarah married 

Michael Israel, Jr. and a descendant of this couple is Willard Israel who pre-

sently lives in Crossville, Alabama. A descendant of the son Levi, who married 

Dolly Edmondson, is Lavar West of Thatcher, Arizona. Two descendants of the 

daughter Elizabeth who married Archelaus Alloway Strange are Frances Tiller of 

Kansas City, Missouri, and David A. Strange of San Rafael, California. Their 

lines are given in Chart 5-B along with other descendants of John and Polly. The 

son Lewis went to Gwinnett county Georgia and is listed there on the 1830, 1840, 

and 1850 census. A Rewlutiona.ry War pay voucher for John Coffey, dated June 26, 

1784, is supposed to be for this John. 4 It has been said that Reverend James said 

he had 2 sons and 1 son-in-law who served in the war. The sons might thus be 

John and Reuben and the son-in-law Mastin Durham. However, we have already seen 

that another son-in-law, Robert Whiteside, had Revolutionary service, and later 

we shall discuss two more sons, Ambrose and Eli, who may also have served in the 

War. 

The next child was Archelaus, born about 1755 in Albemarle county. He will 

oo the subject of Chapter 8. 



James Caffey, Jr. 

Ja~es, Jr. was corn about 1757 in Albe~arle county. 3orne say he never 

l""arried; howe·,er, ri. Ive)· ~:oore14 says !"ie married rollie :'.oore ('torn June 2, 1766 

and a d.at,f.hter of Jesse ?'.oore). 7his must have 1:een an error in reco:rd.5.r.g how­

ever, as an earlier source 15 p:ives ~'ollie's hu~1::ar.d as Ab!'ahara Alloway 3tranP."e. 

;;e have no record of a marriage between Ja.r:es and ~-'cllie, but two of Yollie 's 

sisters marriecl Coffey brothers from this family. There is one mar::.-iap:e record 

in :o/ilkes county North Carolina for a James Coffey to 3arah Coffey (August 3G, 

1.?94) a:1~ we :vwen't definitely accounted for either of these individuals . ..3arah 

could be a daughter of Benjamin, as mentioned in chapter 4. Also, in chapters 

4 and 7 it is pointed out that these 2 individuals could both belonf to the 

C:he.sley Coffey line. June Bork16 lists him as rr.ar:ded to 3alley Rue. It is 

difficult to separate this Ja..'TJes in the records of Horth Carolina from Ja!'les, son 

of Thomas, who married Delilah Ferguson. The James Jr. mentioned in the rlilkes 

county Court of P and Q minutes is probably the son of Reverend James as is the 

J~es nentioned in the Yadkin Baptist church records 17 as bein~ clerk in 1790. 
Our James lived next to his father in ~filkes county, 18 but is said to have f.one 
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to ·11ayne county Kentucky quite early in the 1800s, later returning to North caro­

lina and trading his land in Kentucky to his brother Lewis ~ussell Coffey, 19 I 

have seen no record of this land unless it is the 1799 grant in Elk 3pring Valley 

{:,layne county) listed for Lewis Coffey. 20 There are no deed records for this Ja1r.es 

in ~ayne county, It is possible that researchers have confused hin with James 

r. Coffey, son of Archelaus (see chapter 10) who was in ilayne county at that 

early date. 

James cannot be definitely found on the 1800 or later census of Wilkes or * 

Burke counties, rut he cannot be found in Wayne county, Kentucky either. rerhaps 

he went with Rice and others to Ee~ford county, Tennessee as there is a James 

there in 1830 of the approprlate age and its difficult to imagine who else this 

could be. There is also a James on the Jefferson county, Tennessee tax lists of 

1800 and a will listed for 1807.21 

Martha Coffey 

~artha Coffey, according to her great great granddaughter Nell rarsh 22 was 

born a bout 17 58 ( this would be in Albemarle county) and married in ?e bruary 1774 

Mastin Durham (born 1755, died August 1, 1844) who SArved in the Revolutionary 

War. 23 Mastin was active for a time in the Yadkin Church, holding the office of 

clerk, but according to the minutes 17 in 1807 he accused the church with being 

"extortionists, drunkards and disorderly persons," and desired to withdraw his 

fellowship. He was excommunicated. 
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The children of r:artha and rastin were born in ~-lilkes county, North Caro-

lina but the family moved to Wayne county Kentucky in 1.911 where beth !-'.artha ~ 
and :•:astin d:i.ed, 3he died prior to August, 12, 1826 and was buried near the 

Coffey 3ettlernent in Wayne county, 4 r-'.ost Coffey genealogists have listed :-'.artha 

as born 1768 and married 1794, Hot1ever, the fa.":lily records of !~ell 1•:arsh a.re 

probably more reliable, It appears that the dates 1768 and 1794 were copying 

errors, 

Reuben Coffey 

Reuben Coffey was born 3eptember 16, 1759 in Albemarle county Virginia, He 

is frequently confused with his uncle Reuben who married 3ally 3cott (see pre­

vious chapter), The Reuben here discussed was in the Revolutionary War and re­

ceived a pensionf 4 He fought at the Battle of Kings rountain under Colonel 

Benjamin Cleveland, a first cousin ("see page 87), Reuben lived in Wilkes county 

1778-1797 ( on the north side of Warrior Gap - sec map, page 39) , .Burke county 

1797-1819 (Blairs Fork), and Wayne county Kentucky from 1819 until his death on 

June 9, 1842,25 The wife of Reuben is not given in any records, but tradition 

has it that her name was Millie Morris, 26 Reuben is listed as having 10 child­

ren~ The 1800 census of Burke county, N,C, would seem to indicate that there 

was another male, born between 1790 and 1800, If so, we have no record of him, 

~~any of Reuben's children 11 ved in Wayne county Kentucky, 3ow.e descendants still 

live there today, among them Bennie Bryan Coffey and his daughter Jacqueline 

Coffey Sexton, authors of "The Coffeys of Wayne County:• 4 

Ambrose Coffey 

The next child was Am brose, born in 1762 in Albemarle county Virginia, He 

is said by some to have also served in the Revolutionary War, but I have seen no 

proof of it, I believe he has been confused with the Ambrose who was at the siege 

of Fort Boonesboro (see below), Our Ambrose married Mildred (Millie) Moore, 

another daughter of Jesse and Alley Moore, Millie was born March 31, 177014 (or 

~'.arch 13, 177015) and died in 1812, probably in Pulaski county Kentucky, Follow-

ine her death Ambrose married Elizabeth Rice 27 and later probably Polly ___ • 

Ambrose lived in Wilkes county, :N.C, until about 180428, lived in Tennessee 

* 

for a short time, and came to Kentucky about 1806, 20 He was living in Pulaski 

county when he died, as his widow petitioned there for letters of administration * 
and for the allowance of dower, 3eptember and November 1818, respectively, They 

had just soldJO 90 acres of land (purchased in 1816) in Fulaski county to Vincent ~ 
Garner on 3eptember 2, The balance of Ambrose's land (157 acres) which fell to 
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~ 1 Q 1 p / , '/1 t thi:; widow and children as heirs was finally sold-'· April 1r., ,.Zs, a~sc ":.o ncen 

:;arner. The settlementJ 2 mentions that there were 12 chilciren but dcss:, 't nar-.e 

the:n. In all of these peti ttons and deeds Ambrose's wife is listed as ~-olly. 

Hnce this ls not a diminutive of Elizabeth it see~,s li~ely that Apbrose ha.a a 

third wife. In the indenture of 1826 she is listed as the wife of John :·n1s but 

I did not find the record of her remarriage, nor do I know her maiden name. :here 

is a Marriap.:e of Polly Coffey to James l"~cHenry on July 7,, 1821, security '/inc-=:nt 

Garner, so perhaps she married him first and then John f'ills before 1826. 3ince 

Vincent Garner provided the bond when she obtained letters of adftinistration and 

he is frequently found in other records involving Folly and Ambrose, it see~s 

likely that her maiden name may have been Garner. In Cctober 1877 3amuel Tate is 

P-Tanted33 letters of ad.~inistration in the estate of Polly Coffey, deceased, but 

this could be another Folly. There is a Folly Coffey on the Fulaski coun~y 1220 

census (age 15-20) and a I;olly Ann on the Pulaski 1E30 census (age 20-JO). ?our 

children are listed at home in 1820, three in 18JO, but one of the latter is a 

male under 5. lFerhaps she was remarried once or even twice (briefly), had 1 son 

and resumed her first J11arried name ( Coffey )_J 

The children listed in the indenture are Jesse, niram, :Betsey, A:nerica, ;,:ira, 

Jefferson, Washington, Greenup, and Emily. The latter two we understand to be * 

children by the second wife, Elizabeth Rice, 34 the others by ~1illie roore. However, 

omitted are James r-1adison, Holland, Alice, and rildred. J4 Perhaps they were 

older and already gone from home, although some could have been predeceased. ~e 

know for certain that Holland was alive as he later became quite prominent in Texas. 

He 1s known there as an Indian fighter and owner of the Coffey Tradinr ?ost on the 

Red River (in Red River county). Eventually he was killed and buried at the trading 

post.34 Ambrose's family appears in Chart 5-E. 

~any Coffey genealogists have mistakenly 

the battle of Fort Boonesboro (Kentucky) with 

Coffey was there but it was a different one. 

said that our Ambrose Coffey was in 

Daniel Boone. True , an Am brose 

A deposition 35 taken in 1809 in 
* 

!-'adison county Kentucky proves that this Ambrose was not the same man as ours. He 

was born about 1759 in Dublin, Ireland and came to this country as a young boy. He 

is undoubtedly the Ambrose on the Fayette county Kentucky census of 1790 and ront­

pomery county 1800, and the Revolutionary soldier stationed at Fincastle (hentucky) 

in 1776.36 He had several children, including a son Ambrose who in turn had a son 

Ambrose. These families are found. in the records of l"'.ontgo1T1ery, r--:orp;an, and Green-

,.-. up counties. 
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Eli Coffey 

The next child was Eli (often spelled Ely in some records). He was born 

!-'arch 1, 1763, probably in Albemarle county Virginia. He married Hannah Allen, 

daup:hter of David and Hannah Allen, and they probably lived in Wilkes countyJ7 

:-:orth Carolina until 181620 when they moved to Wayne county Kentucky. .C:li was 

quite active in the Yadkin Baptist church, serving as church clerk, 1804-1807. 

In June of the latter year he left the church "on account of principle and rules 

of said society. 17 In 1808 he was a Justice of the Feace. 61 He is said to have 

died at the home of his son, Colonel Asbury Madison Coffey in Knobnoster, i'!issouri 

3eptember 5, 1847. However, Asbury did not move to Knobnoster until 1859 and was 

in Pettis county Missouri at that time, There is a Revolutionary War pension 

application.38 for Eli Coffey, and his son Asbury wrote a letter39 in which he 

says that his father entered the army at the age of 16 and served the balance of 

the war, 

Eli and Hannah had 2 boys that died in infancy, James and Allen, 40 and one 

who lived to maturity, The latter was Colonel Asbury r.adison Coffey, born July 

25, 1804 in Wilkes county North Carolina. He graduated from Center College in * 
Danville, Kentucky in 1826 and moved to Tennessee where he taught school. On July 

22, 1828 he married one of his former pupils, Mary Bradford. 3he was a niece of 

3a.ra.h Bradford, the wife of Rice Coffey who was the brother of Asbury's father 

Eli. 40 Asbury and l':ary lived in r.cMinn county Tennessee 41 until 1842. During 

this time he was treasurer of the East Tennessee and Virginia Railroad, 16 They 

moved to Pettis county Missouri, and finally in 1859 to Knobnoster, Johnson 

county, Missouri, Asbury was elected to the legislature from Pettis county in 

1850 and appointed as an Indian Agent by President Fillmore in 1851. 42 He lived 

for some years among the Peories in Kansas. 43 He was a member of the first 

Territorial Legislature of Kansas ("Bogus Legislature") in 1855 and Coffey county 

Kansas was named for him, but not the town of Coffeyville as many have stated. 44 

Of some interest to Western Coffeys is the fact that 2 of his children settled in 

the Beaverton-Portland, Oregon area. These were Henry and Rachael. The latter 

married Robert Walker. Asbury died in Knobnoster November 28, 1897. 45 

Rice Coffey 

Rice Coffey, born April 1766 in Amherst county Virginia, was probably the next 

child of James and Elizabeth. On December 13, 1764 James bought land along the 

Tye River in then Amherst county but now Nelson county (see map, page J5) from ~ 
46 Thomas Jefferson, The land in Albemarle county was sold in 2 parcels, one in 

1766 and the other in 1767. 47 Thus Rice was probably the first child born in 
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Ar.therst county. As previously mentioned he married 3arah (3ally) Bradford. This 

took place in 1790. 3he was born July 22, 1770 and died September 3, 1840 in 

Bedford county Tennessee. 48 Rice died at the same place July 24, 1853. Their 

hone place was near Wartrace. They probably went there quite early as Rice appears 

in very few North Carolina records. He is on the 1788 and 1789 tax lists as well 

as those for 1796-99, but not on the 1790 or 1800 census. This could indicate 

that he was gone during the period 1790-95 and that he moved permanently about 

1800 or soon thereafter. The first tax list in Tennessee in which he appears is 
49 1812, in Bedford county (first list extant for that county). A short account 

of the family written about 1890 by Rice Abner Coffey, a grandson, says that Rice 

moved from North Carolina to Bedford county Tennessee in 1808. It also says that 

all of the children except the last J were born in North Carolina which would put 

the migration date a bit earlier. 

Rice and 3allywere parents of 9 children. 3ome discrepancy exists in various 

lists of these children but I believe the one given at the end of this chapter is 

about as correct as we can get it. The 1820 census lists 5 male children and 3 

female, which would be correct because Jerusha died in 1810. Rice and 3ally's 

youngest son, John Reid was a colonel in the Mexican War {later Brigadier General 

~· of the Alabama Militia) and otherwise rather prominent in the south, serving as 

sheriff of Jackson county Alabama, and in 1861 as a delegate to the convention 

which passed the ordinance of secession.SO 

Joel Coffey 

The tenth child of James and Elizabeth was Joel, born in 1770 in Amherst 

county Virginia. He married Martha (Patsy) __ (maiden name unknown). It is 

difficult to be certain about records in Wilkes county for Joel,as he can be con­

fused with another Joel living there. This other Joel will be discussed in Chapter 

7. Our Joel may have gone to Burke county as he and his family are reported 4 to 

have moved from there to Wayne county Kentucky about 1806. A Joel of the "correct" 

age appears on the 1800 and 1810 census of Burke county. Joel was a carpenter and 

built the Wayne county courthouse in 1825. 4 He died in December 1826 leaving a 

will.5 1 r.artha went to Randolph county Missouri where she died in 1839. Their 

children were 6 in number and are listed in Chart 5-H. 

Lewis Russell Coffey 

The last of JMes and Elizabeth's children was Lewis Russell, born November 

r 18, 1772 in Amherst county Virginia. He married on December 10, 1795 Bidant ("Biddy") 

Moore, another daughter of Jesse and Alley Moore, She was born May 3, 1775 and died 
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January J, 1851, Although Lewis had a land grant in the Elk Spring Valley of 

Wayne county Kentucky in 1799 ( then Green county) they apparently d.idn • t move ~ 

there until 180720 Perhaps the 1799 grant was originally to his brother James 

and was the land previ,>11fi1y mentioned which was traded to Lewis, Many of their 

children and relatives settled around them so that this area became known as the 

"Coffey Settlement", and was located on the east side of a mountain known as 

"Coffey Mountain." (see pictures). It is a beautiful spot, only a few miles 

from Monticello. There is a family cemetery located there in which both Lewis 

• and Biddy are buried, I visited this area in 1976 and marveled at its beauty 

and solitude, 

Bennie Bryan Coffey and Jacqueline 
Coffey Sexton (authors of'toffeys 
of Wayne County") and Jacqueline's 
son - in Elk Spring Valley, Wayne 
county Kentucky. Foothills in back­
ground lead to Coffey Mountain. 

Mark Alan Coffey holding Todd 
Coffey, sons of Marvin D. Coffey--­
in Coffey cemetery, Elk Spring 
Valley, Wayne co. Kentucky. Large 
toombstone is for Lewis R. Coffey. 

Lewis was a large land-holder and quite prominent in Wayne county, 19 There 

were 11 children in this family, listed in Chart 5-I. It is probably the best 

known family descended from James and Elizabeth Coffey, A grandson, Shelby Moore 

Cullom, was a U,S, Senator andGorernor of Illinois (son of Elizabeth Coffey and 

Richard Northcraft Cullom)~2 It has sometimes been said that Lewis was in the 

Revolutionary War. This is an error since he would have been too young to serve 

then. However, there may have been an older Lewis, still unidentified, who was in 

that War. Lewis was in the War of 181219, serving as a private in Captain Micah 

Taul's company from Wayne county, He also served in the House of Representatives 
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of the Kentucky Legislature in 1815. 19 

We should now go back to Amherst county Virginia where the last of James and 

Elizabeth's children were born. James had sold some of his property to William 

Coffey (presumably his brother) in 1768.53 The remainder was sold March 1, 1779.
54 

However, James moved his family to Wilkes county North Carolina before this as 

he had a land entry there June 2, 1778 for 200 acres on Warrior Creek. 55 (see map 

page 39). He had a second land entry November 23, 1779 for 300 acres and several 

other early deeds such that by 1782 he owned 700 acres.5 6 

Although James became a large landholder in North Carolina and had sufficient 

land in Virginia he was far from a wealthy man. In an undated British Mercantile 

Claim docurnent57 (probably about 1777-8) he had a debt at the Amherst 3tore of 

Speirs, Bowman and Company of 10 pounds, 1 shilling, and 1 pence. The record 

states "James Coffie or Coffey was insolvent before the war as appears by the 

return of the Sheriff upon an execution which issued against him in behalf of 

Tucker Woodson 'that the defendant had no goods whereof the debt and costs could 

be made'. At no period since the commencement of the war has he been able to pay 

anything." 

It has often been said that James was a missionary to Wilkes county, perhaps 

as early as 1757, and a minister when he lived there. Also, some tradition says 

that he founded the old Mulberry Fields Baptist church which was located at the 

present site of Wilkesboro, North Carolina . .58 There are probably two major errors 

in this idea. First of all, some Baptist records written in 177259 indicate that 

James joined the Baptists sometime between 176? and 1771 and he and his wife were 

part of a group forming the Amherst Baptist church May 10, 1771. Thus, if he did 

serve as a missionary it was probably after this date. Secondly, the Baptist re­

cords dealing with the Mulberry Fields church, 60 organized in 1769, make absolutely 

no mention of James Coffey, either in the founding or in the preaching, then or 

later. Records of other Baptist churches in the region are very scant until about 

1790 when we find records of the Yadkin Baptist church. Several Coffeys were 

active in it but this was after the death of James. However, o~e other history 61 

indicates he may have founded a church in the ~~ulberry Field sector of Wilkes 

county. It goes on to say that this was a mere meeting house, commonly called 

"Brother Coffey's Meeting House11 and was not strictly Baptist but was attended 

by people of many faiths. Since an area near where the Coffeys lived is al!o 

called Mulberry (now a township by that name) it seems probable that this simple 

meeting house where he preached was located there (in present Caldwell county) 

and not at Mulberry Fields. The latter was some distance away and would have 

necessitated considerable travel to attend meetings. It is not clear in various 



66 

histroies whether this meeting house was located on the Yadkin (near Patterson) 

and was thus the forerunner of, or was actually the original Yadkin church, or ""'l 
whether it was located on or near James' property and the establishment of the 

Yadkin church was independent and a few years later, From Hayes' work61 it 

would appear that they are separate entities since on page 110 he refers to the 

church at the head of Yadkin (Patterson) being established in 1779 and on page 

111 there is a reference to a meeting in 1791 at Brother Coffey's Meeting House 

on Lower Creek. The latter area is a bit south of James' property, Of course 

James Coffey died in 1786 and the minutes of the Yadkin church show that most of 

his relatives were associated with it in the 1790's and early 1800's. 3ome of 

these minutes from 1801 lead one to believe there was only one church as they 

mention the "Mountain Association met on Head of Yadkin at Coffey's Meeting 

House11
•
62 There is another reference to this same church as "Coffey's Meeting 

House" in 1807, Thomas Coffey was very active in church affairs and James Jr, 

(son of James 3r,), Eli Coffey, and Mastin Durham were all clerks at one time or 

another, Thomas Fields was a deacon, Eli and Mastin. (and probably James Jr,) 

left the church over disagreements. 

James was a patriot during the Revolutionary War.63 It has been said that 

all of his sons that were old enough served in the War, and more particularly in ~ 

Colonel Ben Cleveland's Regiment of Wilkes county "Bulldogs," However, the only 

ones for whom I have seen materials that would tend to verify this are John, 

Reuben and Eli, Both of his son-in-laws were Revolutionary soldiers, 

James made his will (see append.ix C) September 13, 1786 and it was proved 

October 26 in Wilkes county. 64 All of his children are named except he mentions 

the "heirs of my son Archelaus." The latter thus died before 3eptember 1786, 

Elizabeth is said to have gone to Tennessee with her son Rice where she died 

about 182?, and probably about 100 years old, At the Bell Buckle or Old Salem 

cemetery (in Bedford county Tennessee) there a.re 2 stones in the Coffey lot that 

a.re underground and unreadable. According to Timothy and Helen March65 one of 

these is probably that of Elizabeth Cleveland Coffey, or at least they· say she 

is buried there. 

We have noted that a number of the children of James & Elizabeth Coffey went 

to Wayne county Kentucky. A neighbor of theirs, Daniel Boone, was of course in­

strumental in the blazing of the Wilderness Trail into Kentucky, It began near 

where the Coffeys lived and went through the Watauga country into Tennessee where 

it joined the Great Valley Road coming down from Virginia, Here the road passed ~ 

through the famous Cumberland Gap into Kentucky (see map, page 68 and picture, 

page 118.) 
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CHART 5 
VITAL DATA OF THE JA"lES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY FAf':ILYa 

James Coffey 
b. 4 Jul (?)b1729, Essex co., VA, son of John Coffey and Jane Graves 

)J
C}, 3ep/Oct 1786, Wilkes co., N.C. (w.d. 16 5ep, w,p. Uct 1786) 

1/?:m• JO Aug(?) 1750 Elizabeth Cleveland (dau of Alexander Cleveland, b, 
,'# ~f\-- 1726/27; d, 1826/27, Bedford co,, TN), Orange or Albemarle co,, VA 
~ children: 

\JV" 1. Elizabeth (Betsy or Betty) 
b, abt 1751, prob, Albemarle co,, VA 
d, 1811/12, Wayne co,, KY 
m. abt 1770 Robert Whiteside, Albemarle co., VA 

2. John 
b, abt 17-53 (or 13 Feb 1755 ??)~ prob. Albemarle co., VA 
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d, 27 Dec 1825, Wilkes co,, N.C. 
m. abt 1773/4 Mary (Polly or Molley) , prob. Albemarle or Amherst 

J. Arcfi~lAuXA(see chapt. 8) 
b, abt 1755, prob. Albemarle co,, VA 
d, abt 1783/4, Wilkes co., N,C, 
m. abt 1775 Eleanor Wade, prob, Amherst co,, VA 

4. James, Jr. 
b. abt 1757, Albemarle co., VA 
d. prob. N.C. or TN 
m. unmd. ?? 

5, Martha (Patsy) 
b. abt 17 _58, Albemarle co,, VA 
d. abt 1826, Wayne co., KY ·- Al!~ J--;L. 
m. 1774 Mastin Durham 

6, Reuben 
b. 16 Sep 1759, Albemarle co., VA 
d, 4 Mar 1842, Wayne co., KY 
m. Mildred (Millie) Morris - (tradition) 

7, Ambrose 
b. 1762, Albemarle co., VA 
d. abt 1818, Pulaski co., KY 
m. (1) Mildred (Millie) r.oore, (2) Elizabeth Rice, (J) Folly Garner(?) 

8, Eli 
b, 1 Mar 1763, Albemarle co., VA 
d. 5 Sep 1847, prob. Johnson or Pettis co., MO 
m. Hannah Allen 

9, Rice 
b, Apr 1766, Amherst co,, VA 
d. 24 Jul 1853, Wartrace, Bedford co., TN 
m. 1790 Sarah (Sally) Bradford 

10, Joel 
b, 1770, Amherst co,, VA 
d. Dec 1826, Wayne co., KY 
m. Martha (Patsy) 

ainformation is from many sources (see text). 
bThese dates come from David A. Strange, 3an•Rafael, CA, who has a xerox copy of 

a Bible record giving such dates, However, at this writin~ there is some doubt 
about the veracity of the source, hence question marks(?) are·used, 
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11. Lewis Russell 
b. 18 Nov 1772, Amherst co., VA 
d. 29 3ep 1850, Wayne co., KY 
m. 10 Dec 1795 Bidant (Biddy) Koore 

CHART 5-A 
CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH ( CLEVl!."'I.AND) COFFEY 1 # 1 ELIZABETHc 

Elizabeth "Betty" Coffey 
b. abt 1751, prob. Albemarle co., VA 
d. 1811/12, Wayne co., KY 
m. abt 1770 Robert Whiteside (b. 22 Feb 1743, Albemarle co., VA, son of William 

Whiteside,and Elizabeth Stockton; d. 1~), Albemarle co,, VA 
children1 i,;,·1710-/777 17~ 0 - 1175 

1. James 
b. 21 Jul 1771; d. 24 Apr 1848 

2. William 
b. abt 1773; d. 1824; m. Lavina Singleton 

J. Jonathan 
b, 13 Apr 1776, Amherst co, VA ,2!: Burke co,, N,C. 
d. 1860, Tennessee 
m •. 19 Jul 1796 Thankful Anderson, Madison, c~~ i ,KY . . •. LJ.:Jl ~ 

lI,=-=Rasstt • Mfi_,~ -~ 
llL. Betsy Bielt', Wayne e .. ,, Kt- ~ ~ ~ ·, 

5. Mary "Polly" - , 
m. i:saae Davis -rAIYlesj,Dfl,Ji~ 

¥-Joel 
m. 'Sally Lunch 

h L €,vJ :.s CHART 5-B 

CHILDREN OF JAME3 AND ELIZABETH ( CLEVE.'LAND) COFFEY 1 # 2 JOH~ 

John Coffey 
b, abt 1753 (or 13 Feb 1755?), prob Albemarle co., VA 
d, 27 Dec 1825, Wilkes co., N.C. 
m. abt 1773/4 Mary (Polly or Molley) ___ (b. 18 Dec 1755, d. bef 1825) * 
children: 

1. Levi * 
b. 19 Dec 1774, VA 
d. bef 1850 
m. 18 Aug 1799 Dorothy "Dolly" Edmund.son 
children, 

Rice (1802), Mary Ann (1804), James (1806), Robert (1807), John (1809), 
Keziah (1812), Enoch (1812), Elisha (1814), Levi (1817) and Nancy (1820) 

2. Lewis 
b. 12 Jan 1777, VA 
d, after 1850, Gwinnett co,, GA 
m. ? * 
children1 * 

1. Louney (b. abt 1806, N.C.) 
2. Sarah (b, 1 Sep 1812, N,C,; d, 5 Nov 1893, Atlanta, GA; m. 5 Nov 

1833 Jesse Brawner Jr,e 

csee Ref. #- 7t also The Whiteside Book by Clarence Cannon, 1957, 
dsee Ref. #s 10, 11, 12 & especially 8 for specific dates. 
eA descendant of this line is Mic Barnette of New Orleans, LA 

-f ClP.12 ~~ Dr}{~
1 

/r-.5 ,1, Cho; ec k: {clk.ojA/f a. l,i;/1':"i ·fri-// 1 C 9 ,,.,,) 

~ lJ w lu, t,.J h: --/ e ff/de. A- NC' e ~~ J, fJ r 9 



J. Poss. Catherine? 
4, Poss, sons Webster and Edmond 

J. 3arah (3ally) 
b, 1 May 1779, prob. Wilkes co., N.C. 
d. 26 Au~ 1842,· Ashe co., N.C. 
m, 26 Feb 1800 ~ichael Israel, Jr, (son of Michael 3r. & 3arah Graves), 

Wilkes co., N.C. 
children: 

James (b. 1802, m. ~ary ___ ); Mary (b. 1804, m. A.B. Carland)i 
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* 

Elizabeth (b. 1805, n.md.); Celia (b. 1807, m, Russell Jones); John 
c. (b. 1811, d. 1904, n.md.); 3arah (b. 1814, d. 1898, m. Laxton Case)i 
Arminta (b. 1818, n.md.; Caroline (b. 1820, m. William Bishop). 
Willard Israel of Crossville, AL descends through the oldest child 
James and wife Mary~son Monterville Marvin Israel (1826-1864) & 
wife Matilda Green~son James Monroe Israel (1850-1928) and wife 
Elizabeth Jones~son Marvin Belson Israel (1897-1968) and wife Eve 
Gertrude Hagler~on Willard Alfred Israel (1926-- ) n.md. 

4. Elizabeth 
b. 10 Jan 1182, Wilkes co., N.C. 
m, 23 Nov 1802 Archelaus Alloway Strange (son of Abner Alloway Strange, 

b. 12 Jul 1780, Fluvanna co., VA; d. 23 Oct 1852, Adair co., KY). 
children1 

* 

John Strange (1803-1865), m. 3ally Walkup; William 3trange (1805-1845), 
m. Demoriah Davis; Abraham Strange (1808-1-866), m. Elizabeth Morrison; 
Lewis Strangef(1810-1886), m. Isabel Biggs; Archelaus Strange (1812-
1883), m Celia Miller; Levi Strange (1817-1882), m. Elizabeth Robertson; 
Larkin 3trang~(1819-1884), m. Mary 3impson; Winston 3trange (1821-
1900), m. Margaret Meadows a Elizabeth Strange (1823-1890), m, Mr. Wal­
kup; Mary (1814-1875), m, John Thomas; Ellen Strange (1826-1840), n.md, 

5. William 
b, 17 May 1784, Wilkes co., N.C. 
d. after 1850, prob. Gwinnett co., GA 
m. 3arah 

6. James --
b. 23 Oct 1786, Wilkes co., N.C. 

?. Celia (3ealy) 
b. 19 _ 1789, Wilkes co., N.C. 
d. bef Aug 1825 (pre-deceased when John made his will) 
m. Mr. Smith 

8. Nancy 
b, 14 Jul 1791, Wilkes co., N.C. 
m. 10 Sep 1818 Thomas Pendley 

9. Eleanor 
b. 9 Jan (prob. 1793/4)~ Wilkes co. N.C. 
m. 10 Feb 1819 Jesse Crumpton (or Compton) 

10. John 
b. 5 Jul 1796, Wilkes co. N.C. 

11. Polly 
b. 5 Feb 1799 

* 

* 

* 

fA descendant is Frances L. Tiller of Kansas City, ~:O, From Lewis & Isabel her line 
is: Lewis Wilson Strange (1853-1905) & wt'. Frances Pound~Zou Ellen .3trange 
(1882-1970) & hus, Arthur Linvill~Frances Linvill (1916 -- ) & hus Stanley Tiller. 

gA descendant is David A. Strange of San Rafael, CA. From Larkin & Mary his line is1 
Samuel Archelaus 3trange (1850-1938) & ;rf. Melrose Lisenby~Ian Maclaren 3trange 
(1897- ) & wf. Adelaide Weihe )David Alloway Strange (1924 -- )& wf. Florence 
Pernste iner. 

hnie Bible rec. says 1791 but this must be an error in transcribing. 
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CHART 5-C 

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 5 MARTHAi 

t-'lartha Coffey 
b, abt 1758, Albemarle co. , VA 
d, bef 12 Aug 1826, Wayne co., KY 
m, Feb 1774 ~astin Durham (b. 1755 

co,, VA 
children: 

1. Molly Durham 
b, 7 Feb 1775 

2. James Durham 
b. 8 Feb 1777 

J. John Durham 

8;cis Yi 1VqS Ce..M,f/Htl-- pfly/Y'\/t..'-1s1Jille.. l\L{ 
Hanovef co., VA; d. 1 Aug 1844), Albemarle 

b, 29 Mar 1779 , /I ,1 e,~l 
4. Elizabeth "Betsy" Durham . C Pi:ir-/"1 )e "J5V, e1 w f\t1"Je ) 

b. 29 Sep 1781 1/C., - d Vi<l1 }3:~sfJ:,1,<_;e.ot:'~ff' f/n-'181½~-'f>.& A. 

(j,LJA)-,-- m. Mr. Boone. D ~ J, D.2.,__ !J 1777 NC 1 /Y\ h-.. II. . ., .~ \. 
0- 5, Selah Durham J ic ~ r6<>-<1•,.t.J ~ " "~.._"'- I:) ~ ~ ~ ~"-

b. 29 Jun 1784, N,C, 
d, 12 Aug 1874 
m. 4 Feb 1804 Ebenezer Fairchild, Burke co., N,C. 

6, Sally Durham 
b, 11 Mar 1787 

CHART 5-D 

CHILDREN OF J AME3 AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 6 REUBE!f 

Reuben Coffey 
b, 16 Sep 1759, Albemarle co., VA 
d, 9 Jun 1842, Wayne co,, KY 
m, abt 1782 Millie Morris (tradition) 
children: . 

1, Eleanor 
b, abt 1783, Wilkes co., N,C, 
m. Mr. Hisan 

2. Sally 
b, abt 1785, Wilkes co,, N,C, 
m, Joseph Owens 

J. Elizabeth ("Betsy")l 
b. abt 1786, Wilkes co., N,C, 
m, Thomas Sumpter 

4, Jamesl 
b, 1790, Wilkes co,, N,C, 
d. 1870/80, Flat Rock, KY 
m. 7 Jul 1810 SaJ.ly Sumpter 

5, Anna 
m. Washington Owens(?) 

6. Rachael 
m. 23 Jul 1820 Burnett Elam, Wayne co,, KY 

isee ref. # 22 
jA descendant is Nell Marsh of Monticello, KY 
ksee ref, #s 25, 26 & especially 4 for information on additional descendants, 1Alma Whitis, Indianapolis, IN is a desc, of James; Bennie Coffey & Jacqueline 

Sexton are desc, of both Elizabeth & James, 

* 



7. Polly 
m. Mr. Giddens 

8. Oliver 
m. 18 Oct 1815 Sally Ramsey 

9. Austin 
b. abt 1796, Wilkes co,, N.C. 

10, Naomi N, 
b. abt 1805, Burke co., N.C, 
m, Summers Wright 

CHART 5-E 
CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY,# 7 AMBROSEm 

Ambrose Coffey 
b, 1762, Albemarle co., VA 
d. Se~ 1818, Pulaski co., KY 
m. (1) Mildred ''Millie" Moore, dau of Jesse and Alley Moore 
children: 

1, James Madison 
d, 25 Jun 1833, Mississippi 

2, Jesse 
b. 1792 
d. 11 Feb 1835, Tennessee 

J. Thomas Jefferson 
b. 16 Feb 1805, Burke co,, N,C, 
d, 1 Nov 1858, Brazoria co,, TX 
m, Malinda Graves Williams Haley 

\
/0\ 4. George Washington 

b, abt Dec 1806n 
d, 17 Mar 184o, Jackson, MS 
m. Mary Catherine Isler 

5. Holland 0 

b, 15 Aug 1807 
d. 5 Oct 1846, Texas 
m. 29 Jan 1839 Mrs Sophia Suttenfield 

6. Hiram 
d, 19 Jan 1836, Mississippi 

(7) Alice 
b, Burke co., N.C, 

8. America 
b. Burke co,, N.C. 
m. Samuel Lusk 

9, MH.dred 
b, Burke co., N.C. 

10, Myra 
d. 3 Sep 1835, Tennessee 
m. Mr. Edmondson 

11. Elizabeth 
d. Jan 1843, Warren co,, TN 
m. George Washington Jewell 

mnata from several sources; see chiefly ref. # J4 
nBa.sed on age at indenture of apprenticeship, Wayne co., KY Deed Bk, C, p. 85. 
0 Ray, Worth S, Austin Colony Pioneers, Washington co., Austin, TX. 1949 
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m. (2) 1812 Elizabeth Rice 
children: 

1. Christopher Greenup 
d. 19 Apr 1861, Jackson, r.s 

2. Emily 
m. (J)bef Sep 1818 Polly Garner(?) 

CHART 5-F 
CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 8 ELIP 

Eli Coffey 
b. 1 Mar 1763, prob. Albemarle co., VA 
d. 5 3ep 1847, prob. Johnson or Pettis co., MO 
m. bef 1790 Hannah Allen, dau of David and Hannah Allen 
children: 

1. James 
d. in infancy 

2. Allen 
d. in infancy 

3. As bury Madison * 
b. 25 Jul 1804, Wilkes co., N~C• 
d. 28 Nov 1897, Knobnoster, Johns-On co., MO 
m. 22 Jul 1828 Mary Bradford, (dau of Col. Henry Bradford), Tennessee 
children: (9 - only 7 listed) 

1. Rufus L, 
b. abt 1831 
d. 25 Dec 1860 
m. Martha Ann --2. Alexander B. 
b. abt 1832 
m. Mary Bradford. 

J. Ellen B. 
b. abt 1836 
m. Mr. CorrtJJn of Knobnoster, MO 

4. Mary 
b. abt 1838 

5, Tipton H. 
b, 18 Feb 1846 
d, 19 Dec 1860 

6. Henry 
b. 8 Jul 1848 
d. Nov 1934 

?. Rachael Frances (twin of Henry) 
b. 8 Jul 181.J8 
m. 24 May 18?1 Robert H. Walker 

Pseveral sources - see chiefly ref. 39-45 and 1850 census of Pettis co., MO. Accord-
ing to census records there was probably a son b. 1829 and another either 1835 or ~ 
1839/40. An article in an Oregon newspaper in 1932 says the twins were the young-
est of a family of .2. children. 



CHART 5-G 
CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 9 RICE4 

Rice Coffey 
b. Apr 1766, Amherst co., VA 
d. 24 Jul 1853, Wartrace, Bedford co., TN 
m. 1790 Sarah "Sally" Bradford (b. 22 Jun 1770; d. 3 Sep 1840)r 

children: 
1. Jerusha (or Joenash) 

b, 4 May 1792, N.C. 
d, 10 Mar 1810, Bell Buckle, Bedford, TN 
unmd. 

2. Elvira 
b, 14 May 1794, N.C. 
d. 10 Jul 1849 
unmd. 

J. Henry Bradford 
b. 12 Jul 1796, N. C. 
d. 11 Apr 1864, Jackson, AL 
m, Sarah Edmonson 

4. Mary c. (or G.) 
b, 12 Oct 1797, N,C. 
d. 22 Oct 1878 
m. John Kendall (?) 

S• Weightstill Avery 
b. 1801, N,C. 
d. 1837, unmd. 

6. Alexander Hamilton 
b. 1803/4, N.C. (?) 
d. 1864, Bedford co., TN 
m. Nancy E. (Mary) Weatherly (or Matherly?) 

7. Martha ''Patsy" 
b. 1805/6 (or 1808), TN(?) 
d. 1845 
m. Alex Yell (or Bell?) 

8. Benjamin B. 
b, 1809/10, TN 
d. 1864 
m. Mrs. Mary E. Roache (Beach ?) 

9. John Reid 
b, 27 Mar 1814, Wartrace, Bedford, TN 
d, 21 Mar 1896, prob, Jackson co., AL 
m. 21 Aug 1849 Mary Ann Cross (b. 28 Dec 1831; d. 8 Sep 1897), 

CHART 5-H 
CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 10 JOEL8 

Joel Coffey 
b. 1770, Amherst. co,, VA 
d. Dec 1826, Wayne co., KY 

4see ref. #s 4, 16, 48, 49, 50 

* 

rTombstone rec in Bedford-co., TN (Bell .Buckle or Old Salem cem.) 
5 See principally ref,# 4; one ref, (# 16) lists a 7th child, Elizabeth (Betsy) 
who md. Burrell Elam. 
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m. Martha "Patsy" ___ • 
children: 

1. Nathaniel 
m. (1) 182J Louisa Durham; (2) after 1830 Nancy Clark 

2. Alvina (Elvira) 
m. 27 Mar 1828 Martin Wright 

J. Carolina (or Caroline) 
b. abt 1819, Wayne co., KY 
m. Noah Summers 

4. Martha L. 
m. 19 Feb 1835 Perry M. Stacey-

5. Frances {Franky) 
m. Andrew Jackson Jones 

6. Henry B. 
d. Macon or Moniteau co., MO 
m. 24 (or 3) Jan 18:38 Sara Ann Isbell, Wayne co., KY 

CHART 5-I 
CHILDREN OF JAMES AND ELIZABETH (CLEVELAND) COFFEY: # 11 LEWIS RUSSELL t 

Lewis Russell Coffey 
b. 18 Nov 1772, Amherst co., VA 
d. 29 Sep 1850, Wayne co., KY . 
m. 10 Dec 1795 Bidant "Biddie" Moore,(d.au of Jesse & Alley Moore, b. 3 May 

1775; d. 13 Jan 1851, Wayne co., KY), Wilkes co., N.C. 
children: 

1. Eli2:abeth "Betsy" ~ 
b. 1797/8, Wilkes c.o., N.C. 
d. 5 Dec 1868, Tazewell co., IL 
m. 17 Mar 1819 Richard Northcraft Cullom {b. 1 Oct 1795; d. 4 Dec 1872) 

2. Mary "Polly" 
b. 19 Oct ~.800, N.c. 
d. 29 .Mar, 185,5, :·Wayne co. , KY 
m. 4 Jan 1821 Joshua Oatts 

J. James Lewis 
b. 12 Sep 1802 
d. 7 Aug 1855 
m. Feb 1829 Sa.rah Alloway Stmnge 

4. Henderson 
b. 8 Oct 1804, Wilkes co., N.C. 
d. 8 Dec 1868 {or 6 Dec 1866) 
m. 27 Aug 1827 Minerva. Alexander 

5. Edward Northcraft Cullom 
d. bef 13 Apr 1850 
m. Rachael A. Isaacs 

6. Rachael 
b. abt 1809 
m. 1829/30 Thomas Jefferson Jones 

7. Shelby 
b. 12 (19) Aug 1811, Wayne co., KY 
d. 2 Sep 1863 
m. Zerilda Emarine Meadows 

t Several sources - see principally ref. #s 16, 19, 4; also Lewis' will in Wayne 
co. KY Will Bk. A, p. 112, 13 Apr 1850. 
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8, Jesse Moore 
d, Aug 1835, Wayne co,, KY 
m. 1832 Elizabeth Ann Smith (or Elizabeth Griffin) 

9, Benjamin Franklin 
b. 10 Dec 1816 
d, 11 May 1868 
m. 11 Oct 1842 Mary Ann Worsham 

10. Thomas Coleman 
b. 1819 
m, (1) 11 Dec 1839 Mary "Polly" Havens; (2) 23 Aug 1848 Patience 

Miller; (J) Sa.rah Havens, (4) Mrs, Amanda Jane Hudson Stone 
11. Cleveland L. 

d, 26 Oct 18J4u 
m, (1) ~!rs, Brad.shaw; (2) Sophronia Catts 

u See ref, # 16. 
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CHAPTER 6 

THE CLEVELAND 

FAMILY 

"M7 brave fellows, w haw beaten 
the Tories, and we can beat them 
&gain . • • I wUl ahow :,ou, by sy 
example, how to tight••• " 

Benjua1n Cleveland to his 
aen of Wilkes and Surry at 
the !attle of Kings Mt. 

m 
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Several notations have been made in previous chapters concerning the Cleve­

lands. It seems appropriate at this point to give an account of the Cleveland ~ 

gell!alcgy since all who descend from Rev. James Coffey share some Cleveland an­

cestry, and some other Coffeys may be related. 
It is extremely difficult, and perhaps impossible to arrive at a true account 

regarding the relationships and ancestry of the Clevelands of eighteenth century 

Virginia. Most accounts of this family's genealogy seem to have been derived from 

the works of Edmund James Cleveland, published in 1899. 1 Mr. Cleveland details, 

perhaps accurately, the history of the New England immigrant, Moses Cleveland, 

and then in volume 3 proceeds to give an account of an·Alexander Cleveland who 

is supposed to be the ancestor of the Virginia Clevelands and possibly a brother 

of Moses. He admits that there is no documentary evidence for this Alexander in 

America. Apparently the best evidence is a letter written by Oliver Cleveland of 

Albemarle county Virginia which states "my father and grandfather were both named 

Alexander Cleveland.. My grandfather 11 ved to be 111 years old and my grandmother 

("" to be 103 years old. My grandfather was an Englishman by birth. " It appears 1 

however, that Oliver's grand.father was the son of this (perhaps imaginary) first 

Alexander. Edmund Cleveland lists only 1 known son, Alexander, born about 1659 

(apparently in England), and died about 1?70 at the home of son John Cleveland 

on m.ue Run, Orange county Virginia. His wife was perhaps M--illy Presley, born 

about 1667 and died 1770, 3 days after Alexander. Children listed were: 
I 

John Cleveland, born abt 1695-1700 ' ' 
Alexander Cleveland., born abt 1698-1710 
J!_remiah Ole-veland, born abt 1700-11!"2 
Micajah Cleveland, born about 1702-1712 (this may not have been his son) 
Elizabeth Cleveland, born abt 1704-1716 
William Cleveland, born about 1719 
' He also indicates that the above Alexander may have been the original immi­

grant rather than another Alexander who was his father. At any rate he says they 

settled on Bull Run in Prince William county Virginia and removed prior to 1734 
or 1738 some 60 miles southwest to Blue Run in Orange county (near the line of 
Albemarle. ) 

At this point it seems to me that Mr. Cleveland may have confused two Cleve­

land lines. In 19.58 George A. Martin published an article 2 which refutes much of 

r"' these original claims. Citing the Abingdon Parish Register of Gloucester county 
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Virginia (which I also have checked) he shows that Roger and Dorcas Cleveland 
were the pa.rents of Alexander who in turn was the father of John who settled in * 
Orange county. He also cites evidence 3 that the Clevelands went from Gloucester 
county to Spotsylvania county. There is a deed for Roger Cleveland in 1679 which 
says he was of Gloucester. 4 He purchased lar.d in Old Rappahannock county which 
of course later became Essex county and may have been that part of Essex which 

still later became Spottsylvania county. 
We do not know when Roger and Dorcas Cleveland. came to Virginia, or whether 

he came over and married her here, but they seem to be the first Clevelands in 

the records of Virginia, and Roger was in Virginia by Nov. 16, 1670.5 It is not 

entirely clear to me whether the Clevelands ~oved from Spotsylvania to Orange or 
were just in that part of Spotsylvania that became Orange county in 1734. At 
any rate an Alexander Cleveland. witnessed a deed in Spotsylvania county April 2, 

17W and Alexander Jr. bought 100 acres :from Rice Curtis in Orange county March 

17, 1734. 6 He was listed as being from Spotsylvania county at the time. Alexan­
der also bought 100 acres in Orange county from Lawrence Franklin in September 

1738 but sold (or leased) this to John Taylor November 23, 1752.7 
John Cleveland also bought 100 acres from Rice CUrtis on Branches of "mew 

Run" adjoining that bought by Alexander and on the same day. 6 Both of these deeds ~ 
were witnessed by Grace Cleveland who I suppose is the Grace Cleveland that mar-

ried Ed.ward Coffey, son of Edward Sr. and Ann Powell. Grace was John's sister. 

John also bought part of 16oO acres on March 18, 1734. He apparently remained 
in Orange county on m.ue Run the rest of his life and died there·. His Will was 

made November 1, 1778 and proved in Orange county court November 26, 1778.8 

Alexander Sr. ( son of Roger and Dorcas) married M&17 ___ or Milley * 
Presley and according to the Abingdon Parish Register had the following childrena* 

1. Alexander Jr., baptised May 251 1712 (this is probably the Alexa.nder later 
found in Albemarle county.) 

2. John, born July 31, baptised August 24, 1714 (this is the John mentioned 

above in Orange county.) 
3. Grace, born September 1, baptised September 30, 1716 (she married Edward 

Coffey, son of Edward and Ann (Powell) Coffey). 

4. William, born February 23, baptised March 22, 1718, 
5 . .Benjamin, born November 21, baptised November 28, 1721. 

According to family tradition Alexander died at m.ue Run at or near his 
son John's home (possibly 1770?). There is no will for him. 
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Moving over to Albemarle county we find that Jacob Cleveland and Wife Mildred 

sell to Alexander Cleveland 99 acres in North Garden on the Hardware River 9 

(this is where John and Jane (Graves) Coffey lived) September 9, 1762, witnessed 
by Eli Cleveland. This is the land he received by patent November 10, 1757. Also 
in 1762 he bought 114 acres from Henry Carter (witnessed by Eli Cleveland. ) He 

sold 184 acres in March 1778. In the minutes of Albemarle church (Baptist) a 

list of members in 1773 included Jacob Cleveland, Milley Cleveland and Fanney 
Cleveland. 10 I do not know where this Jacob fits in. Edmond James Cleveland * 
says he is a son of Jeremiah (son of Alexander), born May 6, 1739. Perhaps this 

is correct, al.though the date may be off somewhat. 
I did not find any other deeds for Alexander but he witnessed a deed by James 

Cleveland July 26, 1767. 11 His will 12 is recorded as being made Fe brua.ry 2, 1776 
and proved at November co\¢ 1776. It lists his wife Margaret and children James 
(eldest), Oliver, William (under 21), Anne, Elizabeth, Mille, and Polley. 
(Polley is a nickname for Mary). It doesn't list Eli as a son but executors 
included "wife Margaret and son in law and son Eli Cleavlam and Edward Johnson" 

(presumably he meant Eli as a son). Witnesses were Eli and Oliver Cleavland and 

Edward Johnson. This could well be the Alexander that Edmund Cleveland listed 
as the second child of the Alexander who was supposedly born in 1659 and died in 

1770,(but in reality born in 16B72.) This Alexander Jr. would have been a bro­

ther to John of Orange county. The children listed in the will are also listed 
by F.dmund Cleveland. However, there a.re additional ones listed in Edmund's book 

(Anka, Alexander, John, and Martha or Pausey) which are not listed in the will. 

In a 1782 tax list a Margarett Cleavland is listed with no males in the household 

above age 21. She must have been the widow of Alexander. 

Putting Edmund James Cleveland's list together with information from other 
sources 13 we can come up with the follollinga 

Alexander Cleveland, b. 1712, Gloucester co. VA1 m. Margaret Doolittle (deed 

records, will and statement of grandson Henry Wilson Cleveland); children, 
1. James, b. _, d. prob. 1791 (if this is the james whose will is rec. * 

in Louden co. 12 Sep 1781 - wife F.rances, child. Johnston, Hannah, & 
George), was a captain in the Rev. War. 

2. Ell, b. 1729-34 (according to tradition he was 9.5-100 at time of death. * 
However, most Cleveland ages seem to be exagerated and he was probably 

somewhat younger - note birthdates of brothers and sisters), d. Apr. or 
May 1829 in Fayette co., KY (w.p. Jun 1829). Possibly this is the same 
Eli who was an assistant minister in the Littleriver Church (Regular 
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Baptist), Louden co., VA in 1772. 10 Thia church had several branches and 
he may have been in the Bull Run Branch. On Oct. 16, 1766 he leased 
land in Prince William co. and was listed as being of that county. 

J. Alexander, b. _1 d. abt. 18251 md, Sarah AM ___ • * 
4. John, b, __ 1 d, bef. 1839. * 

;. Oliver, b. abt 17491 d. Feb. or Spring 1844, Madison co., KY; md. 19 Dec 
1792 Jane Buckner ('lbe Oliver Cleveland. who d, in Albemarle co. in 1785 
is apparently an earlier one). 

6. Anna, b, 1751; d. 14 Jan 1838, Montgonery co,, KY1 m. John Hazelrigg. 

7, Anka or Ankey, b. _, d,-still living in Amherst co. VA in 18J9r m. * 
___ Wood, 

8, Elizabeth, b. abt 1755-61 d. 1845/61 m. John McWilliams or perhaps * 

Bennett Gillum (?) l went to KY, 

9, William, b, 24 Dec 1757, Albemarle co., VA1 d. 18 Jun 1842, Pendleton* 

co., KY1 Bl, Margaret Wilson. 

10, Milly, b, __ 1 d.-living in KY in 18391 m. ____ Henry, * 

11. Ma.ry (Polly), b. __ 1 d, prior to 18391 m, __ Johnson. * 

12, Martha (Patsy)_, b, 9 Jun 17641 d, __ I m, Mar 14 179.3 Berna.rd FrankU.n! 4 

Also went to KY. 

All six of the boys were in the Revolutiona.ry War and were supposed to have 
all been at the Yorktown surrender. 

* 

'!he problem that still remains with the above list is that the age span of 

birthdates is too great, at least for one wife, However, I offer this list since 
there seems to be nothing better at this time, As previously mentioned, Alexander 
Jr. (t_he father in the above liat) died in 1776 in Albemarle county, His wife 
Margaret lived for some years after the war. It can be seen that moat of this 
family nnt to Kentucky, although it is possible the son Alexander may have gone 
to Prince William county Virginia. 

Returning to the family of Alexander Cleveland Sr., the second son, John 
(vho settled on m.ue Run in Orange county) had a well-known family. He married 

Elizabeth Coffey (Jl2! Martha, aa Edmund James Cleveland says). She was a younger 
daughter of F.dwa.rd and Ann (Powell) Coffey (see chapter J). John's .will in 1778 

lists S sons and J daughters. He omits his son Larkin but there a.re enough other 
accounts of the Clevelanda to indicate that Larkin belonged to this family. The 
account of Edmund James Cleveland omits Patty, and does not have the names for 

'l 

daughter Betty (Elizabeth?) and son Reuben. Some of his dates a.re also incorrect. 1 
Utilizing these two sources together with the Draper papers and other historical 



accounts we can arrive at the followings 
John Cleveland, b, Jul J1, 1714! Gloucester co. VA; d. Nov 17?8, Blue Run, 
Orange co., VA; m. 20 Apr 17341~ Elizabeth Coffey (b, abt 1714, Essex co.VA). 
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Children1 
1. Mary - m. Bernard (Barnett or Meishack) Franklin; moved to Wilkes co, N, C. 

w1 th most of the Clevelands (land entry in 1 ??8); d, Jan 1828. There 
is some confusion here with the Bernard Franklin whom, Martha of the 
previous family (I am here assuming they are two different 1.mdividuals.) 

* 

2. Benjamin16- (prob. the oldest son) b. 26 May 1738, prob, Orange co. VA1 * 
raised there J 111.. abt 1761 Mary Graves, dau of William Graves. Benjamin 
spent some time in Pittsylvania co. VA where he became known as a mighty 
hunter. In about 1768 he moved his family to N.C., initially to Surry 
(created from Rowan in 1770), finally settling on the "Round about" on 
the upper Yadkin River in Wilkes co. He and Mary had three children1 
Absalom, John and Jemima. In 1779 & 1780 he represented Wilkes co. in 
the N.C. General Assembly. 26 Ben was a Colonel in the Rev. War, COJnllland­

ed a Regiment of N.C. Militia ("Wilkes county Bulldogs") in the famous 
battle of Kings Mt.17 (So. Clarolina) Oct. 7, 1780. 'Ibis regiment included 
several Coffeys and relatives. Col. Ben was known as the "terror of the 
Torrles", being forever in and out of scrapes with the British but always 
coming out victorious. For awhile after the War he operated an inn in 
Wilkes co. but soon moved to the Pendleton District of So. Carolina along 
the Tugal.o River on a line between the whites and the Cherokee Indian 
tribe. Ji!re he became a judge. Benjamin is reported to have grown to 
enormous proportions, reaching a weight of 450-500 pounds. One account 
even says his weight at death was 734 pounds (rather unlikely). He 
died ins. Carolina (some say Georgia) in Oct. 1806 (w.d. 10 Sep, w.p. 
21 Oct). Cleveland. co. N.C. was named in his honor. 

3, John - b. 1740?. Edmund James Cleveland. says he was the oldest and born * 
17JO. 'Ibis seems highly unlikely and probably based on age reported 
(by some) at his death. As we have seen and will continue to point out, 
tradition has a tendency to lengthen the life of an ancester and this 
seems especially true in the case of the Clevelands. This John Cleveland. 
should not be confused with one called "Devil John" who is supposed to 
be the son of Benjamin and with him at the battle of Kings Mt. However, 
if the birthdate of 1769, generally given for him, is correct he would 
only have been 11 years old at the time of the battlel (I think the b.d. 
is incorrect),The John we a.re here discussing became a Baptist minister 
in Wilkes co., N,C. (land entry there Jan. 1779), later ins. Carolina. 
His death is reported to have occurred at Cleveland's Ferry, Tugalo R., 
s.c. (or poss. Georgia) in 1820/1. He m. Mary or Molly McCann. 

4. Elizabeth {Betty) - b. 6 Jun 1742, Orange co,, VA; d. 19 Apr 1828, Scott * 
co, KYJ m. abt 1760-65 David Glllaspy; moved to Madison cc. KY in 1802. 

5, Robert - b. 8 Jan 1744, Blue Run, Orange_ co., VA. He also removed to 
Wilkes co. N.C. (land entry 1 Oct 1779) where he remained the rest of 
his life, dying Apr. 10/26, 1812 at his home on Lewis Fork. He was a 
captain in the War and also at King's Mt. He also was involved with 
his brother Ben in some daring skirmishes with the Torries, Robert m. 
( 1) bef 1770 Alice (Aley or Ally) Mathis of Kentucky who was b. 11 Dec 
1750 and d. 18 Dec. 1791, a.nd (2) Sal.lie Johnson of Wilkes co. He had 
17 children by the 2 wives. In 1809 he was a member of the 6th u.s. 
Electoral College from N. Carolina. He may have lived in Pittsylvania 

* 



86 

county Virginia. before going to Wilkes co., N.C. as a Robert Cleveland, 
not otherwise accounted for, is there as a land owner in 1779 (Deed ~ 
Bk • .5, P• 91). 

6. Reuben - Little is known about him but he is mentioned in his father's 
will. He apparently d. bef. 9 Feb. 1792 and had a son John.18 * 

7. Jeremiah - b.-abt 1?46 according to Edmund Cleveland. However, his 
dau. Martha. Cleveland Lingow, b. 1788,13 (quoted in Draper papers) 
says 1753. He remained in VA & d. there in 1806. He is mentioned 
several times in Albemarle deed a.nd order Hts. His wife was Mary 
Gentry (dau of Bena.jah Gentry & Miss Austin &: b. abt 1755) of Al be-
marle co.19 Jeremiah had 13 children.20 One must be careful to dis­
tinguish between this Jeremiah and his uncle, son of Alexander Sr. Some 
claim that Jeremiah, son of John, also went to N.C., but the dates fit 
better here. It may be that he went to Wilkes co. briefly then back to 
VA. '!he Jeremaih llho m. Elizabeth Moon was a son of this Jeremiah. 12, 20 

a. Larkin - b. 6 Apr 1748 (his monument says "April 1748"); went to Wilkes * 
co., N.C. where he was among the earliest to make a land entry in 1?78, 
and was a Lieutenant in the Rev. War. He was badly wounded at Kings Mt. 
and was a cripple the rest of his life. After the War he also went to 
So. Carolina, Georgia and finally settled in Lincoln co. TN, He d. 
1n Giles co, TN 9 Jul 1814, Larkin m, Frances -......--·• A Larkin Cleve­
lam appears on some records of Bedford co. VA in 17?4 (ct. Ord, Bk • 
.5, PP• 26, 111.) 

9, Patty or Patsy - 11. James Smith 9 Nov 1775, Orange co,, VA~1 

It should be noted that some sources list the b.d. of Patty as 17.50 and 
Reuben 1752 but the above order (with the exception of the omitted Larkin) 
is as they are given in John's will. I have aleo seen a source listing 
La.rkin's birth as 1756, 

Of the other children of Alexander Cleveland, Sr, given in the Abingdon 
Parish Register, 

( 1) nothing is known of the Benjamin born in 1721. 

(2) William, b. 1718, was among the citizens of Albemarle co. signing a dec­
laration of Independence April 21, 1779, but apparently lived later in 
Loudoun co. VA22 and had a vife Nancy and a dau. Dorcas, d, 1787/8. 

(3) We have alread.1 seen that Grace (b. 1716) md, Edward Coffey the son of 
Edward, They 11 ved in the Al bemarle-c>range co. area, at least for a time. 

Edmund J, Cleveland does not list Benjamin or Grace as children ot this 

Alexander but does list Jeremiah, Elizabeth, and perhaps Micajah. 'Ibis Jeremiah 
had a son Jacob and it may be he who is mentioned in the Albemarle c0unty deeds.9 

* 

I have no record on Micajah and 1 t is uncertain if he belongs here so I will not * 

discuss him further. 
'!bat brings us to Elia.beth who Cleveland says waa born about 1704-16 and 

married Rev. James Coffey. However, since the latter was. born in 1729 it would 
seem that Elizabeth could not be as old aa he says. Since all the other dates 
for this family given by Cleveland seem to be wrong there is no reason to believe 
this one would be correct. But why do not the names of Eliza.beth and Jeremiah 
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appear in the Abingdon Parish Register? This is because they were born after the 

~ family left Gloucester county and moved to Spottsylvania county and we have no 

record of births there. '!bus Elizabeth might have been born about 1726 or 1727 * 

or as late as 17)0 as some have suggested. (Note that in chapter 5 we have shown 

that there is one possibly good record that gives the date as February 1727). 

There is another Cleveland that does not appear in either Edmund Cleveland's 

book or the Abingdon Parish Register but nevertheless proba.bly belongs here. 

This 1s Jane Cleveland who married Chesley Coffey. The reader should turn to * 

chapter 7 for additional information on this couple and their descendants but 

for now I will simply say that I am placing her birth as occurring about 1725. 
This date fits an open spot in the list of Alexander sr. 's children and would 
make her about the right age to marry and have the children attrib.ited to her in 

chapter 7. 
'Ibis just about accounts for all of the Clevelands in the records of the 

counties around Orange and Albemarle except for a John who died in Albemarle 

count:, in 1786.23 He sold 259 acres in Albemarle to Edward Johnson December 13, 

1774, witnessed by Alexander Cleveland. 24 At present I have no idea who this 
John was because all other John Clevelands we know about moved elsewhere and died 

later. If he was the John son of Roger (b. before 1678), he would be at least 

108 at the time of his death. Perhaps he was a sen of William (1718), Benjamin 

(1721), Jeremiah (1723) or Micajah. '!be latter supposedly had two sens named 

John. 1 We should also not rule out Alexander and Margaret as his pa.rents, 
In order to bring some sort of logical conclusion to this lengthy discussion 

I sugrEBt that Cha.rt 6 might explain what I believe te be the true Cleveland gene­

alogy at leaat as fa.r as I can derive it with the infomation I have. 

It will thus be seen that Elizabeth Cleveland is a daughter of Alexander 

Cleveland (as her son Rice gives it 25) and a granddaughter of Roger Cleveland.. 

She is thus an aunt of our Colonel Benjamin Cleveland {not a sister as some have 
said). Also, she would be an aunt to the Clevela.nds who went from Albemarle county 
to Kentucky { ch!ld.l.'en of her brother Alexander). 

Using these dates we would find that Alexander Sr. (b. 1687), who if he died 

in 1770, was only 83 yea.rs old, not 111 as related by many descendants. Alexander 
Jr. (b. 1712) died at age 64 (1?76) and his brother John at Blue Run, Orange county 

(b. 1714) was also 64 (d. 1778). Also many of the other Clevelands previously men­
tioned as having died between age 90 and 100 were probably somewhat less. I am 

-~ rellind.ed of the saying, "the palest ink is better than the strongest memory." 
\ 



88 

An early Cleveland, still unplaced, is William Cl!!!!land who gave his power 
of attorney in 1724 in Essex county, Another unplaced one is the Robert "of 

Fauquier county" who leased land in Prince William county on December 18, 1775, 

Perhaps he is a son of William (1718) or Eli since both were in neighboring Loud­
oun county, '!he Alexander Cleveland who witnessed two wills in Fairfax county 

(Will Bk. D) in 1777 must have been the son of Alexander and Margaret (Doolittle) 
Cleveland, 

It should finally be mentioned that an important source of Cleveland history 
has been the Draper Papers. 13 Lym.an Draper wrote to a lot of the Cleveland. des­
cendants to get 1nfomat1on for his Kings Mt. and other histories. He collected 

a multitude of information, much of it contradictory and based on tradition, How 
he pieced it together to get his history leaves something to be desired. An exami­

nation of his original papers together with other known facts can easily lead one 

to different conclusions which I believe to be more correct. 

To Draper's credit he does discredit the story of the supposed Cleveland con­
nection with Oliver Cromwell, Since this has become so much a pa.rt of Cleveland * 

history and tradition I feel compelled to aake some mention of it. As the story 
goes a beautiful maiden in the palace of Hampton Court by the name of Elizabeth 

Cleveland attracted the attentions oi' Oliver Cromwell, the Crown Protector, and a 
son was born to them. When he grew up he took his mother's name and wrote a book 

"'!he Life and Adventures of Mr. Cromwell, Natural Son of Oliver Cromwell" which 
was first published in 1731 (after his death) by the consent of his son. Several 
researchers have concluded that it is a fictitious romance and no evidence for 
such a Cromwellian-cleveland son exists. Be that as it may, Col. Benjamin Cleve­

land had a copy of the book and delighted in cla1Jdng his descent in this manner. 
Other Clevela.nds did so as well am the story has become legend, I suspect that 

Oliver Cleveland (son of Alexander Jr.) was named for the character in this book. 
Suffice it to say here that the Roger-Alexander descent seems to be the correct one, 

As to the English origin of the Clevelands we know that this family is an anceint 
one, deriv1.ng its name from a tract of land in the North Riding of Yorksh1re,17 
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CHAPTER 7 

KISSIN' COUSINS- OTHER COFFEYS 

IN VIRGINIA AND NORTH CAROLINA 

., 
Great families of yesterday we show, 
And lords whose parents were 

the Lord knows who!' 
.. . Daniel Defoe 

.. 
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At this point in our story I believe it helpful, primarily for the benefit 

of future Coffey researchers who might read this, to discuss somewhat the other 

Coffeys who were contemporaries of those on our line. As everyone who has dor.e 

much family searching knows, it 1s necessary to separate one's ~wn line from 

others of the same name that occur in the same place and same time period. In 

the process of doing this I have accumulated a great deal of data. on other 

Coffeys, particularly in Colonial Virginia and North Carolina., that I think should 

be shared with others. A complete account is not intended since the main purpose 

of this book 1s to give an account of one ma.in line and those closely related to 

it, and many Coffeys appear in the records for whom it 1s difficult to assign a 

family line. However, a few family lines appear rather frequently and members 

of these lines have been confused with those of our line. Th.us it seems necessary 
to set the record straight, at least to the extent of our present knowledge. 

Early Immigrants 

It appears that there may have been a number of Coffey immigrants to Virginia 

during oolonia.l times, and at present we have no way of knowing if or how they 

might have been related. Several individuals by the name of Coffey ( w1 th variant 

spellings) reached Virginia in the 1600s and 1700s as indentured servants. Those 

who paid for their importation received land grants. Some of the importees in­

clude an Alice Coffe1 (New Kent co., 1673), another Alice Coffe1 (New Kent co., 

1691), Tho. Coffey2 (Nansemond/Is. of Wight co., 1711), Charles Coffee 2 (King & 
Queen co., 1714), and Edward Coffey-2 (Is. of Wight co., 1726). In addition to in­

dentured servants there were also many bonded servants who came to America fr0111 

English prisons. I have only found one Coffey (Peter) who came to Virginia in 
this manner (see later}. 

About 1683 the name of Abraham Coffee appears on a vestry petition:3 in New 
Kent county. I know of no further reference to him and this is an unusual name 

for a Coffey. The only other mention of an Abraham Coffey before 1800 that I have 

seen is one born in Virginia in 1797.4 He was a son of a William Coffey Sr., born 
(apparently in Virginia) in 1?6J. Most of this line went to Logan county Ohio with 
s0111e then going to Rock Island county Illinois and a few on to Iowa. A brother of 

William Sr. 5 was John who married Rachael Pidgeon December 8, 1784 in Loudoun * 
county Virginia. His Virginia connections are better known since he was a Quaker.6 
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He seems to originally have come from Loudoun county but moved to Bedford county 
in 1788. There are several records of him there, In 1805 he and family moved to 

Belmont county Ohio. 
A Timothy Coffey died April 1, 1728 in Spotsylvania county,7 He left his en­

tire estate to a friend, Adam Gordon, who was also the executor, It does not 

seem that he would be closely linked to our family. 

It might be useful at this point to say a few words about the spelling of 
the name Coffey since there seems to be so many variant spellings, It should be 

apparent from what we have said in chapter two on the origins of the family that 
the name did not a.rise from the beverage coffee, but rather from the English ren­
dering of an Irish name that sounded like it. The spelling -ee must surely have 
come about by association with the better known beverage and also due to the un­
educated status of the masses who spelled by sounds almost exclusively. In the 
United States we generally find that those going to the south have spelled the 

name -ee and those to the north -ey. However, because I am convinced that the 
true and original spelling was -ey, I shall use that spelling henceforth except 
when quoting from a record that has it otherwise. 

Peter Coffey 

'!be only other immigrant for which we have a definite reco1'd is a Peter 

Coffy who came frcm Newgate (Engl.and) to Virginia on the ship "Forward Galley" 

which sailed October 28, 1730 and arrived on the Potomack in January 1731. 8 

This Peter was apparently one of those taken from Newgate prison and shippped to 

the Colonies to atone for their crimes by penal servitude in the plantations. 

Lest anyone think he was some sort of heinous criminal let us remember that it 
was common then to put a person in prison for stealing a loaf of bread( Gener­

ally they served for 7 years but a notation in his record says 14 years. It 

* 

seems quite possible, if not probable, that this may be the Peter Coffey who 

setUed in Prince Edward county. However, the two most common accounts of this 
family usually say that (1) 1'Peter and Joshua Coffey, brothers, came from Ireland 
in 1750 and settled in Prince Edward county Virginia,9 Each had a son named John 
and both became generals in the War of 18121" m: (2)''Peter and Susannah Coffey 
came :from Ireland in 1750 and brought at least several of their children with them." 
The best known son, Joshua, is usually quoted as being born in Ireland in 1745, 

However, the Overwha.rton Parish Register in Old Stafford county Virg1nia 10 menti011S 
children born {presumably there) in the early 1740s and a marriage in 1745, 'lbere 

are some discrepancies between these children and those mentioned in the Will of 

Peter (Prince Edward county Will Be. 1, P• 1:32 - w.d. 1 Jan. 1771), but similari­
ties suggest they are the same family, having been in Stafford county before going 
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to Frince Edward. A book dealing w1 th this line 11 prints the will of Peter and 

~ then makes a list of the children which does not take the will into consideration. 

Although I have not investigated this line extensively I feel the evidence indi­

cates the following may be the approximate truth, at least a good point of depar­

ture for further research, 
Peter Coffey came from Ireland by way of England in 17301 probably as a 

bond.ad or indentured servant. He ma.rried Susannah ___ probably soon after 

coming to Virginia. They lived during the early 1740s (and probably the 17JOs) 
in Stafford county, moving to that portion of Amelia county that later became 

Prince Edward county, perhaps by 1745. Peter received a Virginia Land Patent of 

220 acres in Amelia county September 20, 1748. One daughter, Mary, was born in 

the early 17JOs, She married James Kendall February 25, 1745 and they had the 
following children, 10 Jesse, b. 19 Jan 1747, d, 17 Apr 1750; John, b. 26 Feb 1749; 

Jess, b. 20 Sep 1752; and Bailey, b. 8 Oct 1755. 
Daughters born during the 17JOs probably included Catherine who married a 

Thomas, Hannah who married a Weakly, and Elizabeth (Bettie)• probably not married. .. 

There was also a sen William and a daughter Frances born before 1741 (the latter 

died January 1741). other children were James, born February 27, 1740t Lydia, 

born January 25, 17421 Benjamin, born October 9, 17431 Joshua, born January 26, 
1745, and Peter, evidently born after Joshua. Williu was probably born by 1734 

since he is on the 1755 list of tithabl.es for Prince Edward county. However, 

Peter and Peter Jr. a:re also listed. If Peter was younger than Joshua then ac­
cording to my calculations Peter Jr. would be less than 10 years old. Either he 

was much older than Joshua or perhaps the Peter who married Susannah was a junior 

and his father, a Peter Sr., came With them from Ireland. (I believe the first 
option is more nearly correct). 

Extensive in:f"ormation is available for only 2 of these children, Joshua and 

Peter, although there 1s some data relating to William (see later). Peter married 

Sarah Smith in 17?4, fought in the Revolutionary War (Private, 12th Virginia Regi-
ment), and eventually went to Hancock county Georgia where he died. They had 7 

girls, a son Joshua who never married, and a son John (b. 3 Dec 1?82, d. 25 Sep 

1836) who married Ann Penelope Bryan (1784-1865). This John was a general of the 
State troops of Georgia in the War of 1812 and later rather prominent in that 
state (see picture). Coffey county Georgia was named for him in appreciation of 

his service against the Creek Indians. 8 He was in the state legislature and twice 
elected to congress, dying on the day of his second election. 8 

The other son, Joshua married Elizabeth Graves in Hanover county June 2 (or * 

August 11), 176712 {she was born January 28, 1751 (or 1741)12 in Hanover county 

* 
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Virginia &Del 41•4 ln 1804 1n Danuoa eouaty Tennessee). A .Jubua C.tte:, appean 

as a plaS.ntitt iJl a court cue 1a Pitta7l'f&l11a county Virginia in 1772. It la not 

known it thi• la the uae Joshua. Joshua 11-.ed 1n Prince Id.ward county until 

177.5 when lie aowd 13 to Graaville county lorth C&reliaa. He •llliatecl in the lar 
1D 1719, was oaptured l,;y InrUana, and did priaen labor at Detroit. ilded. by a 

tza4er'• wife he escaped and. in 1780 was ude a capta1n oonw1ng a COllpany of 

aounted pnn1ra (lorth CaroliJJa Militia) 1D the SenMrn Caapaign (D.A.I. I )9)0,1. 

After this eentl.1ct he aowd to lock1ngbaa ceunt1 llbere be died Septeaber 8, 
1797.12 ODl.:,-2 children, lolm and Mary are aentieaad. in the will Im the follev­

iag 1• ■uppoaedl1 a aore emaplete list, 
!b•as Crawa, 'b. ,. Sep 1?69 (sea• sa7 7 J>ec 1764 but Ids parents wren't aar- * 

.r1•a itjtn 1767)1 4. 5 Sep 18'f6s •· 10 Jul 1787 11&r1 1111g11t (1r,o-1s:,2). 
Vlllla, •• 20 Sep 1?68. 
m.1Jah, ,. 15 Oct 1r,o . 

* 

.Jeha, •• 2 la 17721 4.? .111118)), Laudezdal.eacc,. a,••:, Oct. 1so9 llar., Donel-.... 
lar.,, •• 17 Allg 17?41 ... 28 Apr 1839, Jlutherfozd oo., n, •• 1792 Siapaen llaffia 

Two Ce•nl Jeba Cetteya, left, JebD, aon et Jeahua an4 friend ,r. 
Aldze,r J&eka••• r!.&bt, Jolm, Hn •f Peter u4 Georgia atateaun. 
(Drawillp llada ~ ell palatillp) l 
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According to s011e records there was another son (but perhaps a grandson), 

Joshua M., born September 27, 1789 who married January 29, 1810 Jane Trousdale • 
and went to Smith county Tennessee in the early 1800s. He is on the 1820 census 

cf Smith county a.s is a David Coffey, somewhat older. 14 Joshua died in Warren 
county Tennessee in 1842. 15 Joshuai,.-M., Abner, . Da.vid

1

and Pleasant B. Coffey are 
supposed to be brothers. David died in 1822 and Pleasant is on the 1820 census 

of Overton county Tennessee. Abner and wife Christianna probably remained in 
Prince Edward. county. ill four are apparently sons of Vill18Dl (son of Peter) who 

16 probably lived in both Prince Edward and Buckingham county Virginia or at 

least he owned land in the latter. 
Some of the children of Joshua and Elizabeth went to Tennessee. 'Ille one of 

most interest to us is John. He, like his ceusin John of Georgia, rose to rank* 

of General in the War of 1812. However, this John was more famous. He was a 
comrade in the var and lifeleng friend of And%ew Jackson, 17 whose niece, Mary 

Doneleen, he later married. John Coffey and Andrew Jackson were early business 

partners. 18 'Ibey-had a fleet of flat beats that traded up and down the Cumberland, 

Ohio, and Mississippi Rivers. As early as 1798 we find John Coffey moving salt 
frOlll the Illinois Saline (an area later to become Saline county) down the Mississippi 
River. John was a Colonel of the Tennessee volunteers and with Jackson in the Creek 
War, his 1ncurs1ons·1nto Florida, and the faaous :Battle of New Orleans in the Var 
of 1812.13 Many authors b&ve extolled the heroics, loyalty and integrity of this 
John Coffey (see picture on preceding page). 

After the Var John Coffey, who was a surveyer by trade, settled on a large 

plantation knovn as "Hickory Hill" in Florence, Lauderdale county, Alabama where 

he died in 1833. 8 He is 'buried in the Coffey cemetery 3 miles north of Florence. 
Rice Coffey (see chapter S) wrote his nephew that he was a. cousin of '}en. John * 

Coffey. I'm not sure if this was supposed to be through the Graves or Ceffeys but 

in either case they were not more than "kiasin • cousins", some generations removed. 

It was C011U1on to refer te someone as cousin even though the blood lines were thin, 

or even supposed, as was probably the case here. In the early 1920s When Laura 

McFarland 'lbompson was living at Adams, Oregon with her grandpa.rents, James B. 

and Mary E. Cctffey, she used to write letters for James B. t0 Dr. Robert Coffey 
20 of Portland. James B. told her that Dr. Coffey was a cousin. An investigation 

of this shows that they were actually only 4th cousinsa 21 

Thmas Coffey also went to Tennessee and then te Lauderdale county Alabama. 
He had a son, Richards. Coffey who married Sarah Fielder. 22 
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Chesley Coffey 

Another line which has caused much confusion is the one which I shall call 
the Chesley-Joel line. There were many large families in this line and today 
many descendants are researching it, Because of this, and since it is not my 

line I will not go into great detail but rather give only some of the early 

branches where confusion with the Edward-John-James line might be more likely to 
occur. Beyond this I refer the interested reader to other researchers 23 and es­
pecially an essay on the family written by Tillothy- Peterman (see later reference). 

As mentioned, there were many large families in this line in early Ameri-

can times, Each family used a lot of the same names and thus it is sometimes 
difficult to untangle all of them, Fortunately there a.re some early Bible and 
other family records, and a few wills, all of which help immensely. M~ Porter 24 

has s011e of these old records that provide many of the keys. Her husband, Calvin 
Reese Porter, is the great grandson of Nathan Coffey and Sarah Meredith, this Nathan 

being the son of Joel Coffey and Martha Step, and Joel the son of Chesley Coffey 

and Jane Cleveland. 
The information back to Nathan seems documented by an old Bible, However, 

the material on Joel Coffey-Martha Step, and Chesley Coffey-Jane Cleveland was 

written down by a daughter of Na.than and~ (Eliza Emeline Coffey Porter) about 
1995, presumably from older records which she had. 25 

A DAR record.26 has always listed Joel aa born 1730 and married in 175.3 to 

Martha Sealey who was born in 1737. However, their youngest son Nebuzaradon, born 

posthumously in 1789 would thus have bean born when Martha was 52 years old, 
Several possible explanations have been proposeda (1) Joel married Martha Sealey 

who died and then he married Martha Steps (2) Joel married a widow by the name ot 
Mrs. Martha Step Seale:rs (3) Sealey was a nickname for Celia which was a middle 
name of Martha; (4) Joel was really nuch younger, being born circa 1750, One or 

more of these possibilities could exist, Let us examine them. 

It has been suggested that a son Joseph who is not listed in Joel's will 27 of 
1789 but 1a on the list of children given by Eliza Porter, could have been born to 
the first wife a.nd died before the will was made. Also, this Joseph is reported 
to have gone to Kentucky quite early and was supposedly older so he might have al­
ready been provided for and perhaps thus not, be listed in the will. Of course, 
even if there was only one wife Joseph could have died early. Martha Step's father 

* waa named Joseph so it is quite logical that the first son could have also been 
named Joseph, 28 One of the daughters of Joel and Martha was named Celia but re-

-· 



99 

ferred to as "Sealy" in Joel's will. This may be where the name "Sealy" originated. 
I have not been able to find any Sealy family in any county where the Coffeys lived 
in either Virginia or North Carolina. What have generally been identified as Joel's 
brothers appear to ha.ve all 'been born mostly in the 1750s and none later than 1?60. 

It has been suggested that Joel could have been born in 1730 and been the father of 

those listed here as his brothers, However, a family record.24 says that Joel's 
son James married Betsy, daughter of his uncle (Nathan). '!bus ·Nathan (1?60) at 
least would have to be a brother of Joel, Timothy Peterman ably discusses 29 other 

evidence which points to thn as brothers. Space does not permit me to go into 
detail here but suffice it to say that the evidence I have seen leads me to 'believe 

that Joel was born closer to 17.50, probably 1745..Jfa, married (1765-68) Martha 
Step (b, abt 1750, d, 1816), who may have had a middle name of Celia (Sealy), and 

their children were born mostly in the 1770s and 1780s. Al though the sequence may 

not be correct, the following seems to be the list 24 of their childrens 
Joseph - may haw died young, 1::ut there is a Joseph Coffey on the early tax * 

records of Adair co. , KY. 
Cleveland. - prob. b. by 1768 since he was named an executor of his father's * 

will in 1789; d. 29 Oct 1814. Adair co., KY; m. 11 Feb 1794 Jane Witherspoon, 
Wilkes co., N.C.1 childrens Kitty, Geor~, '.iUl!lp~ey, Elijah (b. 1806 Adair 
co. lCY), Valton• Lincy, & Cleveland (all under age when father died). A1l 

indenture in Russell co. 30 May 1836 indicates a dau. Patsey blt no mention 
. of Ki tty or Lincy. 

Ca.therine (Caty) - prob. named for her mother's mother, Katherine Witherspoon. 
James - b. 13 Mar 1774 (one acct. has James b. 1783 and his wife b. 1791 & d, * 

1837, Jackson co., AL); d. 15 May 1826s m. 4 Mar 1804 Elizabeth {Betsy) 
Coffey (dau of Nathan & Mary Saunders Coffey, Nathan stated to be an uncle 
of James), Adair co. KY. 1 childrent Langston, Logan, Williui, Woodson, 
Cleaveland., Wyatt, & Lucy. 

Joel - d. 18491 m. abt 1815 Martha Patricia Cobb. 
Jane - prob. the one who md. Joel Coffey (son of Nebuzaradan) Aug 1793, WUkes * 

co., N.C. 
Celia (Sealy) - m. Fielding Coffey (prob. son of Nebuzaradan) '.3 Mar 1800 - bond 

dated 10 Mar, Madison co., KY. She was stated as being owr 21. * 
Nathan (or Nathaniel) - b. 10 Jan 17881 d. 19 Sep 1834, 11. 11 Nov 1806 Sa.rah * 

Meredith, Adair co., KY. 
Nebuzaradan - b. 29 Aug 1789, Wilkes co., N.C.1 d. 20 Jan 1867, Marion co., OR; 

11., 11 Sep 1810 Eliza.beth Easley, KY 

Joel apparently lived in the King's Creek area of Wilkes county.'.30 It's in­
teresting that this is the general area where my Archelaus Coffey bought land. 

Sometime after Joel's death the mother and children moved to Kentucky, first 
Madison and then that part of Green county that became Adair county and still later 
Russell county. Some of the children later went to Illinois, and the youngest son, 
Nemzarad&n, and his family were Oregon pioneers (see chapter 13), Elijah Coffey31 

~ says the first move to Kentucky was in 1794 but I do not find them on the Madison 
county tax 11sts 32 until 1796. The first Coffeys of this family appear on the 
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Green county tax 11sts 33 in 1799 but some do not appear until 1800. 
Now lets return to the family of Joel Coffey, Eliza Porter states 25 that his 

parents were Chesley Coffey and Jane Cleveland. As far as I know no one has 

found a record of this early Chesley or of a Jane Cleveland. The latter seems 

obviously related to the Cleveland family of V1rgin1a34 and later Wilkes county 

North Carolina (see chapter 6), and tradition seems to have the Joel Coffey 

family coming from (probably) Albemarle county Virginia 35 to North Carolina in an 

early day, perhaps in the 1 ?SOs or by 1 ?6o. If Joel was born closer to 1750 per-­

haps Chesley may have been born around 1730. The latter could then, as has been 

suggested, be a son of Edward or Austin Coffey, brothers of the John Coffey who * 

married Jane Graves. Supposedly Ed.ward (who could have been born as early as 

1700) married Grace Cleveland and Austin married a Miss Shenault.3 6 However, 

Grace Cleveland was a witness to a deed in Orange county in 1734 so apparently 
hadn't married Ed.ward Coffey early enough to be the mother of Chesley, Also, she 

wasn't born until 1716 (see chapter 6). We know little about the early life of 

Edward1 perhaps he could have been married before Grace. As we saw in chapter 3 
he is in Orange and Albemarle counties in the 1750s to 1770s and had a short stay 

in Anson county North Carolina (1751--2). This might establish the close relation--

~ 

ship of Edward Coffey to the Chesley--Joel line, but we don't have ad.equate infor- ~) 

mat1on to make this connection and dates do not coincide as well as need be. Per-

haps a n1111ber of our dates are somewhat off and perhaps there is something in-
correct about the Chesley Coffey-Jane Cleveland information. Of course it is 

possible that this line is entirely separate from the Edward-John--James line but 

there seems to be so many connections, in Virginia, North Carolina, and Kentucky 

that it is difficult to.imagine them not related. Timothy Peterman29 also points 

out the many close parallels in the two lines. 
It has been suggested that Chesley Coffey could have been a son of an unknown 

Coffey who married a Miss Chesley since the practice of using sir names for given 

names in such cases was not uncommon. I have seen nothing to substantiate this 

except that a Phillip Chesley and wife Margaret are mentioned in York county 

Virginia court records January 25, 1674 and Phillip is 11entioned even earlier 
(1664) in connection with his land patent in James City county. Also a Dan Ches­

ley is mentioned~7 

'lbe children of Chesley and Jane appear to be as follows1 29 
1. Joel - b. 1730 (DAR) 2I_ more probably abt. 1?45-48, in Virginia (?)1 d. 

bef. 27 Jul 1789, Wilkes co., N.C.1 m. 1765-68 Martha Step (Sealey of DAR ~ 1 
rec.)1 served in Rev. War. 

2. S&lathiel .. b. abt 1750 .. 55, d. bef. 28 Jul 1784, Wilkes co., N.c., m. bef. 
177'.3 Elizabeth ___ • 
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3. Chesley Jr. - b. 19 Nov 17551 d. 18 Sep 1818, Maury co., TN; m. bef. 1780 
r""" Margaret Baldwin. 

4. Nebuzaradon - b. 1757 (or earlier), d.· 179?, Madison co., KY1 m. abt 1780 
(tradition) Elizabeth Haysi pvt., N,C. Militia in Rev. War. If his son 
Joel was the one who md. Jane Coffey in Wilkes co., N.C. 22 Aug 1793 then 
Nebuzaradon must have md. several years before 1780. 

5, Nathan - b. 1760 (or earlier), Rowan co. (?) - DAR Lineage recs. say Anson 
co., N.C.1 d. 1823, Jackson co., AL1 m. late 1770s Mary Saunders. 

6. (Perhaps) Cleveland .2!: Jesse Cleveland and/or other undetermined Coffeys. * 
Salathiel died (bef, 28 Jul 1784) intestate in Wilkes county and although 

his wife is named in the administration38 of the estate, no children are named. 

His wife and children moved to Adair county Kentucky29 about 1799-180139 (Green 
county at the time) and some children later went to Illinois. The children and 
s0111e other descendants are apparently the follow1ngs 40 

1. Newton41- b. 1773, Wilkes co., N.C. (Surry co. at that time); d. 18.58: m. * 
1802 Sarah Meridithi went to Bond & Montgomery counties, n, by 1818 where 
he founded the town of Hillsboro, childrena Cleveland Salathiel, Martha 
(Patsey), Ruth Eliza, Thomas L., Colbert L., Nancy, and Murry. 

2. Eli - b. 8 May 17751 d. 18 Jul 183Jr m. 22 Mar 180142 Mary Coffey, dau of * 
Nathan (1760), Green co., KYi moved to Sangamon~then Shelby, then Christian 
co., n,, 12 children, Marl.ah, Willis, Elinbeth (b. 14 Aug 1807, d. 21 
Jan 1891r m. 19 Dae 1826 Jacob Wolfo:cd, Russell co., KY)4 Nancy, Salathiel, 
Sirena, Nathaniel J., Stanton P., Williams., Newton Eli 3 (b, 2 May 1823, 
d. 1890s m, 13 Apr 1843 Martha Vermillion), Mary Ann, and Reuben. 

3. Elizabeth "Graney" Coffey - b. 1781-4-1 •• 17 Mar 1801 Rutherford. Coffey 
(son of Nathan, 1760), Green co., KY. 

4-6. Possible children may have been James, Richard, and Salathiel, the latter * 
b, 1781 & m. 25 Oct 1808 Polly m.a1r in Adair co., KY, 45-

Chesley is the only one of the 5 knovn sons of Chesley Sr. for whom we have 

exact birth and death dates. He and his wife Margaret Baldw:Ln were married before 

1780 and are en the 1782 tax list ot Wilkes county. They had 9 children aa follows, 

1. Nathan - b. 13 Aug 17801 11. (1) .3 Mar 1806 Elizabeth Gilbreath (or Kllbreath), 
Adair co., KY, (2) Euph;y Stockard. * 

2. Polly - m. John McClain. * 
3. Isaac - murdered 1n 1799 aa a yeung boy. * 
4, Gracie - b. 17821 d. 13 Jan 18.591 11. 12 Dec 1802 Amrew Turnbow, Adair co. KY 
5. John - m. 29 Mar 1809 S&l.lie Brown, Adair co., KY. * 

* 6. Felic1a 46- b • .3 Mar 1787s d. 18 May 18651 a. 21 Aug 1811 Jues Turnbow, 
Maur:, co., TN. 

?, Joel (Joe) - b. 15 Jun 17891 a. Sallie Mackey, see chapt. lJ for more on this 
family which came te Oregon in an early- day. 

8. Jacob (Jake)• ll, Amd.e Kelsey. 

9. Landon - b. 17941 m. 15 Mar 1821 Polly Tate. 

This family aeved after 179547 to Knoxville, Tennessee 29 and were in Ad.air 

county Kentucky by 180248 and possibly as early as 1799.49 Chesley had gone te 

* 
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Maury county Tennessee by 180950 but he and sOJRe of the children are on the Adair 

county census of 1810. Hevever, it seems that most of the family did finally 
settle in Maury county tennessee. At least Nathan and Landon a.re e>n the 1850 
census of Maury c0unty. 

The next child of Chesley and Jane was Neblzaradon, He married Elizabeth 
Haya, probably before 1780, and went to Madison county Kentucky about 1794.51 

Here he made a w1.11.52 and died in 1797. By 1801 his family joined the other re­

la ti ws in Adair county. 53 According to the will his children were, 

1. Joel - m. 22 Aug 1793 (if this is the Joel-Jane marr. in Wilkes co.N.C.) * 
Jen¢.e Coffey (prob, Jane, dau of Joel), d. 1822•61 Childs James, 1800, Celia. 

2, Sary ~Sarah)• !t 1s sometimes claimed that this might be the Sarah who md. 
James Coffey in Wilkes co. N.C. 30 Aug 1794 but that 3arah is also claimed * 
to be a dau. of Benjamin ( see chapt. 4). 

3. Polly - m. Jo McDowell McMillian. * 
4. Fielding - d. w.d. 14 Nov 1833, w.p. 13 Jan 18341 ut. 13 Mar 1800 (bond dated 

10 Mar) Celia (Sealy) Coffey, Madison co. KY, She is prob. the Celia, dau * 
of Joel, children• ThOJllas H., Mahala, Elizabeth, Sealy, Fielden, Louis, and. 
Allen. 

.5. Sail (Sale or Salathiel) - d. bet. Oct 18351 m. 19 Aug 181J Anna Lynch 
(dau. of William Lynch), Pulaski co.,·xy. 

* 

6. Nias (Ananias) - 178.5-18281 m. 1809 Jane Hindman.54 Son, Zidner, b. 1810 * 
7. Hayes55- 1793-1860 1 m. Mary Burkett. 
8. Betsy• m. 14 Dec 1819 James Lester, Pulaski co., KY. 
9, Ruth • m. 15 Jan 1800 (bond dated 7 Jan) Andrew Moody, Madison co., KY. 

She was stated as being over 21, another indication that Nebuzaradon was 
llld. bef. 1780. 

Other possible children are Louis (1793-1860) who 11d. Cassey Coffey (1798-?) 
and a James Coffey. 

* 

Perhaps the fifth child of Chesley and Jane was Nathan, born 1760 ( or earlier). 

He was also a Revolutionary soldier and is known to have married Mary Saunders, 
probably before 1780. Their children were as follows (s0111e birthdates may be sev­
eral years etf) 1 

1. Mary (Polly)• b. 7 Dec 17801 d. 10 Mar 18721 m. 22 Mar 1801 (consent note 
dated 12 Mar, bctnd dated 17 Mar) Eli Coffey, son of Salathiel, Green co. KY, 
She signed her own consent note and testified that she was over 21. 

2. Rutherford - b. 1786 (tradition, but prob. 1779 or earlier - may be older 
than Mary)s 11. 17 Mar 1801 Eliza.beth "Graney" Coffey, dau of Salathiel (one 
record says he md. Celia Coffey1 there may have been 2 Rutherford.a). 

J. Absolom - b. 17881 m.29 (1) Mary Lusk, (2) Nancy Chad.wick, but unless there 
is another Absolem the same age, then he md. Polly Beard 20 Sep 1808 in 
Adair co. KY. 

4. Joel - b. ) Aug 17901 d. 18501 •• .5 Jan 1818 Mary Knox (1798-1874), dau of * ~! 
John Knox. In marr. bond Joel's name is given as Joseph. '!hey had dau. Eli­
zabeth (1827-62) who 11. in 18"8 John c.c. Peacock (DAR Lin.Ht. 77,p. 53-4). 
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5. Eliza.beth - b. 1791 ?1 d. 1837, Jackson co. , A!.; m. 4 Mar 1804 James Coffey * 
(b. 1?'74 or 1733 ?, son of Joel), Adair co. KY. 

6. Grace - b. 17931 m. 29 Oct 1809 John Harl~w, Adair co., KY. 
7. William Saunders - b. 1?95, m. Elizabeth Scheyler (or Schuyler). 

8. Nancy - b. 1797; m. 15 Feb 1823 Richard Lockett, Adair co., KY. 

9, Catherine - b. 1799s m. John Baxter. 
'nlere is also an Appleton mentioned by some but perhaps this was meant to be 

Absolom. 
This family also went to Kentucky a.ad settled primarily in the Adair county 

area. Some later went further south. Nathan died in Jackson county Alabama in 

182J. 
There were probably other children of Chesley and Jane, We do not know of 

any girls but there may have been a son Cleveland, or Jesse Cleveland. There is 
more than one Cleveland Coffey in the Wilkes county area in the late 1700s, It 
is probable that at least one belongs to the Edward-John line, possibly as a son 

* 

of Benjamin and Polly Hayes (see chapter 4) or as a son of Edward Jr. and Grace 
Cleveland (see chapter 3). We should also mention that there is a Cleveland. Coffey 
in the Orange and Albemarle county Virginia records from 1762 to 1791 (see chapter 

3). His wife was named Elizabeth. A Cleveland. Coffey did have a land entry in r 17'78 on Zacks Fork of Lower Creek in Burke county, N. C. but we don't know which 

Cleveland he is. 
An Adair county Kentucky Coffey that hasn't been identified is Richard, aged 

26-45 on the 1810 census. He is probably too young to be a son of Chesley Sr., 
but by association would seem to belong somewhere in this family. His 2 sons and 

J daughters were all under 10 in 1810. A Richard Coffey married Catherine Mc 

Comick May 29, 1820 in Lincoln county blt he was probably a son of Osborn (see 

Chart 4-A, Chapter 4). 
Another "mystery" Coffey is Martin. According to an old Bible record5 6 he * 

was born September 15, 1762 and either in Virginia or North Carolina.57 Heap-

pears in Green county Kentucky as early as 1799 (tax list) and is on the Ad.air 
county tax lists from 1802 to 1807. He is later found on records in Wayne, Warren, 

and finally Russell county mere he died November 27, 1867, age 10.5. He is prob­
ably the Martin who married Nancy-Phelps August 17, 1798 in Madison county Kentucky. 
He married 2 or 3 times and one of the marriages was on December 1, 1817 to Nancy 
Hansford.. 'Ibey had a son James, born September 7, 1818 who married Martha (Patsy) 

Tucker, 'lbe latter were the parents of Moses Coffey, born August 6, 1843, who 
f lived in C&sey county Kentucky. Because of the close association 1n Madison, Green, 

Adair and Russell counties it may be that he belongs to the Chesley Coffey family, 
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perhaps as a younger brother of the 5 just discussed. I do not have a list of 
the children of Joel (son of Nebuza.radon) and Jane (daughter of Joel, d. 1789) 
but I understand that they had a son Mart1n.S6 It 1s quite possible he could 

have been named after an uncle. Of course !! Joel and Jane married in 1793 and 
this Martin was born in 1821 it might seem a little unlikely. '!be latter Martin 

died in Russell county in 1855, age )4. Perhaps a different Martin married Mary 

Meljuire on October 5, 1830. 

Hugh Coffey 

Still another family for which there may be some confusion in the records is 
the Hupi Coffey family • .58 'Ille origin of this family in America is also obscure. 
A Hugh Coffey appears in the records5 9 of Northumberland county Virginia in 1705. 
A history.58 of this family indicates that Hugh came to Virginia about 1725 but if 

this is the same Hugh then the earlier record must have been missed. Hugh is 
supposed to have initially settled around Harpers Ferry,60 blt soon afterwards 

moving to Augusta county. Here he died before August 22, 1767. His son John who 
married Susannah Watson, was born in Augusta county about 1730 and moved to Lan­
caster county South Carolina about 1754 . .58 Hugh's wife was named Mary and they may 

also have had sons William and Benjamin.60 However, one or both of these might 

* 

be sons of John and Jane (Graves) Coffey of Albemarle county who could have spent 

sOllle time there. At least it seems that the William mentioned as buying land in 
Augusta in 1780 and as a land insolvent in 1792 must have been the Wi1118.lll of Al­

bemarle-Amherst-Nelson counties (see chapter 4). Hugh is mentioned in the records 60 

of Augusta count7 as early as 1747. He had a land patent of 220 acres in "Cowpas­
ture" received November 3, 1750. His son John administered his estate and sold 

this land in 176?. 
Succeeding generations of this family used the names of Hugh and John over 

and over. From South Carolina SOJlle descendants went to Tennessee (Hugh w., born 
1800 in South Carolina, and wife Jane are in Maury county in 1850), but most seem 
to have settled in the deep south and there are apparently thousands of descendants 

there today. A Hugh Coffey, son of John, was born April 9, 1784 in South Carolina 
and sometime after 1827 settled in Mississippi. 61 He died in Lafayette county Mis­
sissippi May 7, 1861. To avoid confusion we should also mention the Hugh Coffey 

living in Anson county North Carolina in 1755. 'lhe John Coffey family in Lancaster 
county South Carolina lived near the North Carolina. border (Anson county at that 
time l:ut now Mecklenberg county). 'Ibey are said to have s011let1mes been in the rec- ~ 

ords of first one state and then the other. Presumably this Hugh (1755) was a 
brother of John and another son of Hugh of Virginia. 
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James Coffey of Surry/Stokes North Carolina 

r"" In the early records of Surry county North Carolina (about 1779 or early 
1780s) w find several references to a James Coffey who was a constable, After 

Stokes county was formed from Surry in 1789 further references are found there, 

Others in Stokes county at this time include a. Micajah Coffey and a. Sarah Coffey, 

James apparently had a son James who had a son Lewis M. (born 1798 in Stokes 

county), 'lbe latter went to Pulaski county Kentucky where he married Delilah 
Turpin January 11, 181862 (name is l:!!.Y!. in marriage records), Among Lewis' child­

ren was a son James Wilson, born in 1822. In 1827 the family moved to Morgan * 

county Indiana. A descendant, Leonard Coffey, 11 ves in Martinsville, Morgan county 

Imia.natoday and has a great deal more information on this line, 
The original James of Surry county, N.C. came from Pittsylvania county Vir­

ginia according to both Surry and Pittsylvania 63 county records, Since he has 

not been connected. otherwise a possibility exists that he may be the son of An­

niater Coffey of Essex county Virginia (see chapter J). 'lbis possibility is 

strengthened by the fact that the 1820 census of Stokes county, N.C, has an Anis 

Coffey who could be named for a grandmother, Annister, All the Coffeys of Stokes 

are apparently descended from or closely related to the first James, 

other Coffeys 

There remain a few other Coffeys in colonial Virginia and North Carolina 

records, but tying them to specific family lines is difficult. In Rockingham 

coUDty, N,C. there is a Michael Coffey who lll8de a will in 1804 (probated 1810). * 

He names Wife Margaret, sons Michael, Robert, Thomas and Johns am daughters 

Sophia, Mary, and Margaret. I have no further information on this family. Some 

other Coffeys appear in some eastern and central counties of North Carolina b.at 

since there is little likelyhood of confusing them with the Wilkes-Burke Coffeys 

I have not investigated them. 

I would like to end this chapter With a mention of one James Coffey who was 
bamin Chester county Pennaylvani.a August 17, 1759. In this study I have paid 

little attention to Colonial. Cotteya in states other than Virginia and North 
Carolina. However, this Janes Coffey has sometimes been confused with our family 
so I will make a few COIIJllents about him. Ve do not know who his parents were. 64 

* 

He was in the Revolutionary warf 5aarried Mary Leeper, and later went to Marshall 

county Tennessee where he died. 'lbere a.re Bi bl.e and. DAB66 records on the many 

descendants of this family in M&l!'Shall county Tennessee. Mary Miller Coffey, great 

aunt of Noreva H, Sharr of El Monte, California, was a descendant of this line. 6:7 

* 
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CHAPTER 8 

FRONTIER FAMlLIES-

ARCHELAUS COFFEY AND ELEANOR WADE 

"The first farmer "•as the first man, 
and all hlstoric nobility rests on 
possesslon and use of land.'' 

... Emerson 
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It has long been held that the third child and second son of James Coffey 

and Elizabeth Cleveland was named Archelaus, 'nlere are no records as to his 
exact date of birth but it has generally been considered by Coffey genealogists 
to be in 1755 in Albemarle county Virginia. If the records of David Strange 

(see chapter 5) are true and John was born in 1755, the above assumptions may not 
be true, Again, it is not known when he married Eleanor Wade but from the date 

of birth of the oldest son it is presumed that the marriage took place in 1775, 
It must have been in Amherst county as this is where the Coffeys lived at the time 

and also where the pa.rents of Eleanor, John and Elizabeth Wade lived, However, 
the Amherst county clerk does not haw a record of the marriage, 1 Mo~ is written 

on the Wad.es in Chapter 9, 
In October 1 ?77 Archelaus Coffey bought 150 acres on Davis' Creek in Amherst 

county from his father-in-law, John Wade.2 A yea:r later he sold 50 acres back to 
hilll and the other 100 acres to James McAlexander.3 I believe that the occasion 
for these sales was the move of Archelaus and his family to Wilkes county, North 

(" Carolina. 'Ibis was either in company with or close to the time James and Eliza­
beth Coffey 11oved there, Archelaus' land entry in Wilkes county4 is dated January 

4, 1??9, It was for 60 acres on the North Fork of Kings Creek in what 1s now 
Caldwell county. This is also recorded in the deed books in 17825 but it is not 
entirely clear whether this is an additional. and aepa.ra.te purchase or another re­

cording for the same land. I believe the latter to be the correct interpretation. 

Tax records indicate only 60 acres. Archelaus originally entered 250 acres of 
land in B\mce county6 on the main Mulberry Fork of Johns River on December 29, 

1778, but for acme reason this was transferred to others and he settled on the 
&bow-mentioned land in Wilkes county. 

'lbe first child ot Archelaus am Eleanor seems to have been James (perhaps 

James M.) According to his tombstone7 he was born July 20, 1776 and since he was 
- 8 

listed as heir to Archelaus it is asSU11ed he was the oldest child, He will be 
the subject of chapter to. Only 2 other children a.re known for certain, John w. 
and Jane, Mr, John L. Coffey of OklahOll& City has a chart in which he lists the 
children as James, Bail:,, Hezekiah, and John W. However, I haw never been able 
to find records of a Baily or a Hezekiah belonging to this family and I believe 

r""' that in family tradition a generation was "slipped" (a rather COlllllon occurrence). 
We know that John w. had sons Bailey and Hezekiah and that Hezekiah had a son 
Milton, the latter being listed aa a son of John w. on Mr, Coffey's chart, '!he 

111 
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name Bailey seems to have come from the Harbord family (John W. Coffey married 

Mary Harbord). 
'Iba second child was probably John W, 'lhe initial "W" stands for Waid, the 

traditional family spelling of his mother's name, although all Virginia records 
show it to be~. John V, 1s very closely associated with James 1n Wayne county 
Kentucky and later tor a time in Indiana. Since he had a land grant in Wayne 

county in 17999 and was married by 180110 it is presumed he was close to the age 

ot James, most 11kely born two years later in 1778 and probably in Amherst county 
before going to North Carolina, 'Ibis is supposition of course and the reader 
should take it as such since ve have no record of John's birth, His ma:riage was 
to Polly (Mary) Harbord, daughter of John Harbo-rd, on December 29, 1801 in Wayne 
county Kentucky.to 'Ibis John w. should not be confused with a John v. Coffey who 
appears on various Wayne county records in the 1840s and later, I have never 
been able to discowr mere the latter, born about 1797, fits in. 

Our John W. is only on the tax records 11 of Wayne county through 180?. In 
1811 he is listed on the delinquent tax lists as "not found" and in 1812 as "moved 
to Ohio", We have no record of him going to Ohio but the first record in Washing­
ton county Indiana is that he located nea.r Harristown 1n 1811 •12 His first land 
record there is in 181:,.13 He was an ea.rly teacher in the first school house in 
the Franklin townahip, 14 west of New Philadelphia and. not ta:r from Salem. '!his 
11a:, be the point of confusion regarding John A. v. Coffey (see chapter 13), grand 

nephew ot John w., who was said to have been a teacher and lived a.round Salem 
(Oregon). John v. was also a clerk in the Sh&'ron Baptist Ohurch,1.5 the oldest 

Baptist church in Washington county. On Februa.ry .:3, 1821 he resigned his clerk­
ship and requested a letter of diSlllission because of his intention of removing. 
John and Mary sold part of their land in Washington county in April 1820 and more 
in Janua.ry 1821. 16 He bought land in Vigo county Indiana in 1823, 17 one-half of 
which was sold the next year, the remai?Mler still owned by John at his death (about 
18'.34), He doesn't seem to be on the 1830 census of Indiana am I eouldn't find 

hill in other records of Vigo county. He may haw 111.oved back to Washington county 
by 1825 as one daughter was married there then. I didn't find anything further 
on him in the Washington county records, but Stevens' Riston: of Washington County 
says 14 he died in Washington county. 'Ibis seems to have been before July 9, 18:,4 
as on this date hia son Hiram made petition in Washington county court for a 
guardian (Henry Young) in order to obtain a sale of the land in Vigo county of 
the deceased John v. Coffey. 18 According to these records his Wife was still 
aliw as the heirs• rights were "subject to the widow's dower." Mary may have 
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gone to live with her son Bailey or one of the other children in BloOlllington, Illi­
nois. Al.though I couldn't find her there on the 1850 census she is supposed to 

have died there in 185:3.19 Bailey was a first sergeant in the company of Capt. 

Merritt L. Covell, 5th Regiment, Whitesides Brigade in the Black Hald< War.20 

Following this service, in 1832 he went to McLean county Illinois along with a 
number of the Harbords. Bailey was quite prominent in McLean county, being a 

Bailey H. Coffey 

county clerk, justice of the peace, sheriff, and 

county judge. 21 After his wife Nancy died (Feb. 

27, 1850)2iie went to Davies county Missouri where 
he married Catherine, widow of Mat:thew Harbord 
(April 29, 1851)~3 He died at Coffeysburg (now 

Coffey), Davies county, Missouri August 23, 1879. 24 

'Ibis town was named for hill. Bailey also laid out 

the village of Sa.lem (Davies county) in the fall 
of 1856 and in the township he served as a super­
visor (1873) and a trustee (18?4-77). 25 

As mentioned, other children of John w. went 
to McLean county •. Eleanor and her husband Jacob 

Young were there in 1850. 26 John W. was there be-

fore he went to Davies county Missouri. In the 

latter place he was a pastor and a justice of the 
·24 

peace. Mary (Polly) Ann also 11 ved in McLean 

county, in the 1840s and 1850s. Hiram was also in BloOJllington, in 1860.27 

lhe oldest son, James Harvey was a. carpenter who continued to 11 ve a.round. 

Salem, Washington county, Indiana. until his death. Descendants.of his still live 
in the area. 28 One of these is Gary K. Coffey of Borden, Indiana. His line iss 

John Vaid Coffey, Sr. & Mary Harbord ~James Harvey Coffey, Sr. & Ann Eliza 
Graham-.+James Harvey Coffey, Jr. & Diantha Boling---=i.t'almage I. Coffey~ 

Gary K. Coffey. 

'!be son Hezekiah also lived 1n Washington county Indiana until the m1d-1850s. 
He then went to Lawrence county Indiana until about 1869 when he joined his 
lit-others Bailey and John w. 1n Davies county Missouri. Here he stayed only about 
3 years, aoving on to Republic county Kansas 'Nhere both he and his wife Susan died. 29 
'!heir daughter, Susan Amanda, was the great grandmother of Mrs. William Tripp of 

camp Hill, Pennsylvania. Hezekiah's occupation was a blacksmith. 
A more COlllplete list of the John "Waid" family appears 1n Chart 8. It should 

be noted that the date of birth is not known for all so the order of birth given 
1118.Y not be correct. 
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'lbe girls Betsey and Mary are presumed to belong to this family because of their 
early marriages in Washington county where no other Coffey family was known. If 
this is true 1t would appear that the family used the name Mary twice. However, 
the 1820 census of Washington county Imiana does not indicate that there was a 
girl of Mary's age in this family. 

'!be only other known child of Archelaus and Eleanor was Jane, quite possibly 
named for her great grandmother, Jane Graves Coffey who lived near them in Wilkes 
county North Carolina and a person Archelaus would have known well. Jane was born 

June 22, 178230 in Wilkes county, Her step-father, Jesse Shasteen, signed the 
consent note for her marriage to William Harbord in Wayne county Kentucky January 
2, 1802.10 '!be bondsman and witness was her "trother John w. Coffey who married 
William's sister Polly, This vas a second marriage for William. Harbord who had 
one son, Robert A,, by his first wife (name unknown). '!be children of the second 
marriage are shown in Cha.rt a.30 About 1809-10 William and. Jane moved to Indiana, 
settling in that pa.rt of the territory that became Decatur county 1n 1822. During 

the Var of 1812 they had many problems with the Indians. A company of soldiers 
was stationed 1n a fort near their hOJlle and William served for a time in this 
Var. In 1832 most 0£ the faaily moved to McLean county Illinois, settling in 
Twin G%'ove. Life was quite primitive here too. '!he first school at Mn Grove ~ 
was a round-log house with greased paper for windows and a fireplace which ex-
tended across one entue end of the building. It had seats made of hewed logs. 31 

Mary Ruth Ross of Chapel Hill, North Carolina and Viola Cook of Santa Clara, 
Utah are descendants of the daughter Eleanor who married William Platt. Mary Ruth 
(Platt) Ross is the daughter 0£ Samuel Platt (1880-1960) and Alice Miller (1884-
196)). Samuel was the son of John Platt (1839-1906) and Mary Ann McKinney (1841-
1931). John was the son of William Platt (1810-1869) and Eleanor Harbord (1818-
1889). Villiaa 's parents almost certainly were Jonathan Platt (1780-1849) and 

Amelia Brinley. Jonathan Platt was from New Jersey. 

At this point it might be of interest to some descendants to give some infor­
mation about the Harbord. famlly. 32 John and Mary Harbord cue with their children 
from Virginia to Wayne county Kentucky quite early. John M11ted in his will Agnes, 
Matthew, Susannah, William, Pataey, Mary Ba.zley, Joseph Bazle7, and Hezekiah Mosby. 
Ma.ey Ba,!ley Harbord aarried John v. Coffey and William married Jane Coffey. A ma­
ber of the Harborde went to Iadiana and then on to McLean county Illinois, Joseph 
Bailey Har'b!!:!_ (he changed the spelling) being the first, in 1824. Of the descen­
dants 0£ William & Jane Harbord, Eleanor Ha.rbord married William Platt in McLean 
county in 1835 and Matthew Harbord married Catherine Low there the next year. 
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Matthew died at Tremont, Illinois in 1849 of cholera. Catherine then me.?:ried 
Bailey H. Coffey (previously mentioned) whose wife had also died, 

Having given the children of Archelaus and Eleanor Coffey we need now to 
return to the parents. Archelaus died quite young and apparently quite suddenly 

as he left no 'Nill. 'lhe date is unknown but would have been before tax time in 
1784 as Eleanor's name appears on the tax list for their 60 acres. 33 There is no 

mention of them on the 1?82 list and apparently there is no 1?83 list. Archelaus' 
father James mentions the "heirs of the deceased Archelaus" in his will dated 
September 1 ?86, '.34 It has been thought that Archelaus may have been killed in 

the Revolutionary War since it is supposed that all of James' sons who were old 

enough (that would include Archelaus) fought in the War. However, no Revolution­

ary War record for Archelaus has ever been found. Eleanor apparently returned 

to her native Amherst county Virginia sometime after Archelaus' death and there 
married Jesse Shasteen November 22, 1785.35 Eleanor was the legatee in 1784 of 

the will of William Trotter in AJl'lherst county.3 6 'lhe executor was Samuel Denny 

who was also a witness along With Charles Tate and William Allen, lbe will was 

dated February 27, 1784 and proved May J, 1784. It is not known how if any of 
these men were related to Eleanor or why she was the legatee. 

Archelaus' land in Wilkes county was not sold but retained for the heirs and 
listed variously on the tax rolls1 1785, Eleanor; 1786, Elonder by James Coffey, 
178?, Elender by Reuben Coffey (an executor of James' estate)a 1?88, Elizabeth 

for Archelaus Coffey, not specifically mentioned 1789-96; 1?9?, Eland.er c. by 

John (another executor of James' estate). In 1798 James Coffey, as heir of 
Archelaus Coffey sells this 60 acres. 8 James was then listed as in Madison 

county Kentucky but there seems to be no information as to how he got there or 
what he was doing. '!be next :,ear he is 1n that part of Cumberland. county that 

became Wayne county in 1800, along with his brother John w.9 We do not know where 

James was between 1784 and 1798• It may be that his mother did not take him (and 
possibly John as well) to raise after her second marriage. Frank R, Moore in 
his book on the Coffeys states that James was raised an orphan, being about .S 

when his father died and about 10 when he joined the first families crossing the 
the mountains, eventually getting to Fort Boonesboro. However, he gives no ref­
erence for this other than a letter by James' son Rev. Achilles (Archelaus) Coffey38 

in which he says his father was raised an orphan boy. We know that Eleanor and 
her second husband Jesse Shasteen joined James and John v. Coffey in Wayne county 
Kentucky by January 1802 (when Jane Coffey was married) and that the Shasteens 
reaained in Wayne county (according to tax records) until the 1820s. 'Ibey then 
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apparently wnt to Gallatin county Illinois where Juea had taken his faaily, but 

I baw been un&ble to find any record as to where or when Eleanor died. Jesse and ~ 

Eleanor had other children, probably sons 'lboaaa and Jesse Jr. &l1d. possibly Villiu 

and claughters Elisabeth and Margaret., 'lbe Vayne county Kentucky 1810 census shows 
2 11&1.es 10-16 and one tea&le 16-26 ■till at heme. 'lbere wre no-children listed 

on t.he 1820 census. 'ftle 18)0 censua of Gallatin count:, Illinois baa a Jesse Shas-

teen full:, mere the old.eat aale is 60-70. Diere 111 no correspondingly older 

fnal• ao Eleanor auat haw died before 1830. '!here 1■ a 11&1.e am teaale each 

20-)0 and acae children. The aale au■t be Jesse Jr. u there 1• 110 old.er aale on 

the 1840 census of Jesse Shasteen. He 1• listed u 40-SO ao I lJeliew the 18 JO 
oeaaua 111 in error and ■hould read l()-40. 'lhia would. also agree lletter with the 

1810 census. Jesse Jr'• wife 11&8 probably -•d Poll:, as that mae is ginn 1D 

the Jethel Creek church records. 

-rtNIJ£S'SR 

Vayna c011nt:, X.eatuck:, llhow1Jlg areu mere Cotta,- 11wc1. 
Jaae■ II. a John v. Coffey aal the Lana• 11wd on Otter 
Cnek. 
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In the late 1700s and early 1800a the route to Kentuck1 (aa well u Indiana 

and Illinois) troa Tirg:bda, Jorth Carolina or Tennessee passed through the Cua• 

berlaad Gap am along the Vild.ernaaa Trail (aee aap P• 68 ). 'ftli• react waa orig­

lll&lly 'blased. 'b7 J>aniel Joone, llut ns aune79d., cleared, and opened by others in 

1781 under uthority of an act puaed "1 the Virginia General .Aaaea'bl.7. It n.a 
■ome t.hrill for ae 1n 1 m to trawl thro~ the Gap and owr ,art of th!.• route. 

'Die picture ■hovn here l• drawn auch ult alght have looked in the earl1 pioneer 

days. (see page 118). 
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CHART 8 

VITAL DATA OF THE ARCHELAUS AND ELEANOR (WADE) COFFEY FAMil.Y 

Archelaus Coffey 
b. abt 1755, Albemarle co., VA, son of JSJlles Coffey and Elizabeth Cleveland. 
d. by 1784, prob. 178), Wilkes co. (?), N.C. 
m. abt 1775 Eleanor Wade (dau. of John & Elizabeth Wade, b, abt 1?55, d. bef 

1830), prob. Amherst co,, VA 
children a 

1. James M. Coffe"y 
b. 20 Jul 1776, Amherst co., VA 
d. 7 Jan 1849, Saline or Hamilton co., IL 
m. 16 Jan 1804 Frances Lane, Wayne co. , KY 
For additional information on this line see Chapter 10. 

2. John Vaid Coffey 
b. abt 1778, prob, Amherst co., VA 
d, abt 1834, prob, Washington co,, IN 
m, 29 Dec 1801 Mary ''Polly" Harbord (dau of John & Mary Harbord, b, 30 

Oct 1781&, d. 19 Apr 185'.3~ Bloomington, IL), Wayne co., KY. 
children, 

1. Eleanor 
b. abt 1804, Wayne co., KY 
m, 23 Nov 1824 Jacob Youll4!, Vigo co,, IN. 
children a Mary A. (b, abt 18'.31), Sarah E, (b, abt 1833), Henry C. 

(b. abt 1835), Elizabeth (b, abt 1837), Jacob H. (b. abt 1840), 
and Irenius M, (male b, abt 1842), 

2. James Harvey 
b, 6 Aug 1806, Wayne co,, KY 
d, 1'.3 Feb 1855, Washington co,, IN 
m, Anna Eliza Graham 
children, 

1. Celestia E, - b, abt 1836 
2, William H.H. - b, abt 18)8 
'.3, John Waid - b. 1'.3 Jan 1841, Washington co., INs m, 26 Oct 1869 

Eliza Matilda Persi.ngerr child.rent George Henry, James Harvey, 
William Vaid, Anna. Eliza, Mary Elizabeth, & Minard Ernst. 

4. Almira E, - b, abt 184'.3 
.5, Mary A. - b, abt 1846 
6. James H. - b. 1848, Washington co,,INr d. 19041 m. 8 Dec 1883 

Diantha E, Boling, Washington co., IN; children included 
Claud M. (d, at age 1), Talmage I, (b, 4 Jan 190'.3, d, 23 Nov 
1978) am 4 others. A son of Talmage 1s Gary K. Coffey living 
1n Bord.en, Washington co,, IN 

7, Addie Caroline - b. abt. 1851 
'.3, Betsey 

b. abt 1808, prob, Wayne co,, KY 
m. 9 Oct 1825 (11c.) Horace s. Ranson, Wahington co., IN 

4. Bailey H. Coffey 
b. 16 Aug 1810, prob, Wayne co., KY 
d. 23 Aug 1879, Davies co., MO 
m. (1) 27 Dec 1832 Nancy Cox, McLean co., IL (dau of Benjamin, Sr. 

and Philena Dyes b. 16 Apr 18131 d, 28 Feb 18.50, Bloomington, n.). 
childrena 

1. Mary Philena.1, .. bi 18341. m, 20 Mar 1851 Edwin McIntire, Mc 
Lean co., IL 

a Bl.oollington (n.) eem. recs. cl: Blooa1ngton Intelligencer 27 Apr 1853 
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2. John Wm. - b. 4 May 1837, d. 13 Apr 1853, Bloomington, IL 
3. Hiram Jerome - b. 21 Sep 18391 d. 13 Nov 1854, Bloomington ~ 
4. Volney Thornton - b. 4 Jun 1843; d. 1 Jun 1853, Bloomington 
5. Taylor Y. - b, 15 Oct 18461 d. 1 Jun 1847, Bl.001111ngton, IL 
6. Lucinda A. - b. abt 18491 m. 27 Jan 1870 Wm. B. Vandervort., 

Davies co., MO. 
m. (2) 29 Apr 1851 Mrs. Catherine Low Harbord (widow of Matthew 

Ha.rbord, b. 19 Jan 18161 d, 9 May 1895), Davies co., MO. 
children& 

1. James B. - b. 28 Feb 18521 d. 2 Aug 1911, Davies co., MOJ 
11. 17 Mar 1878 Janie (Jennie) E. Maloney, Davies co., MO. 

2. C&therine - b, abt 1855/61 •• ? - some records say a Weldon, 
but Davies co. , MO marr, recs, say Cynthia B. Coffey md. 
25 Mar 1875 John R, Weldon (I don't know who this Cynthia 
could be), and a Catherine Coffey md, 29 Dec 1891 Robert 
Adams - but this could be the Catherine, dau of John & Esther. 

3. Nancy - b. abt 1860 
4, Harvey B. - b, abt 1859, •• 9 Mar 1884 Maggie Glaze, There 

5. Mary 

is doubt as to whether this one belongs to Bailey & Catherine. 
He is not listed on the census w1. th them lilt in 1860 census 
he is age 1 & in household of Ira & N&.0111 Jones, living 
near Bailey & Catherine, Deed recs. indicate he does belong. 

b, abt 1812, Washington co., IN 
m, 17 Feb 1828 George Beck, Washington co., IN 
'!be 1820 census would not indicate that Mary was a member of this 
family but she is listed here as we do not know of another family 
to which she could belong. ~ 

6. John v. 
b. 9 Mar 1814, Washllgton co., IM 
d, Davies co. , MO . 
11. Esther __ (b. 4 Nov 1814, d. 19 Aug 1894). 
childrena 

1, Laura• b. abt t~, n, 
2, Mark V. (or Marquis} - be &bt 1842, IL or MO 
J. Mary - b, abt 1844,MO 
4, Phebe - b. abt 1848, INs 11. 28 Dec 1876 Jaaes O, Ellis, Davies 

co,, MO 
5. Elias Y. - b. 14 Apr 16481 d, 4 Sep 18911 m. Jessie P. 
6. Catherine - b, abt 18501 m. ? 29 Dec 1891 Robert. Adams? 
7• Sanb Bell - b, abt 1853/4, IN1 ll, 24 Feb 1876 Elijah Ellis 

Jr. , Davies co, , MO, 
7. Hiram 

b. 2 Apr 1816, Washington co., IN 
d. Jul 1873 
11. abt 1839/lJO Elvira Coe 
childrena 1, Theodore - b. abt 18441 2. Henrietta c. - b. abt 

1845, tn. 'J,'eter1 3, Mary E. - b. abt 1846, m. 11 Oct 1866 Charles 
E. Kimler; 4., Loretta. - b, abt 1848, m. f9 Jul 1866 John Allen 
Stewarts 5. Frances Josephine - b, abt 1850, 11. Duekett1 6. 
Arabine - F - •• Daviss 7. Amadin (Amy) - b. abt 1855, m. Gay1 
8. L1ncoln1 9, Clara - m, George, 

8. Hezekiah 
b. abt 1818, Washington co,, IN ~ 
d, 19 Nov 1892, Courtland, Republic co., KS 



m, 25 Apr Susan A, Jones, Washington co., IN * 
child.rans 

1. Milton J. - b, abt 1842/J; m. Rebecca A, 
2. Sarah E. - b, abt 184?/81 m, Harris 
J, Susan Amanda - b, 24 Nov 1853, Lawrence co, IN; d, 22 Apr 

1896; m, Joseph Woody Fullen. 
9, Mar1 ''Polly" Ann 

b, 1 Feb 1822 
d, 26 Nov 1856, Bloomington, ll, 
m, (1) 10 May 184'.) F.dwa.rd M, Depew (he d, 19 Apr 1844) 
children, 

1, Ella 
m, (2) 21 Feb 1850 Harvey Bishop 
children1 

2, Margaret 
3, Jane Coffey 

b, 22 Jun 1782, Wilkes co,, N,C, 
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d, 2/J Oct 1862, Bloomington, McLean, IL 
m, 28 Jan 1802 William Harbord, Wayne co. , KY (he was b, 24 Dec 1777, * 

VA, son of John & Mary Harbord., d, 17 Sep 1845, McLean co., IL), 
ch1ld%ena 

1, James C o.ffey Harbord 
b, 16 Dec 180'.3, Wayne co,, KY 
d. 8 Mar 187'.3, Bloomington, McLean, IL 
m. 17 Jan 182.5 Esther Guthrie, Decatur co. , IN * 
children1b1. Martha Ann - b. 21 Jan 182?, d, 15 Jan 1844 McLean * 

co., IL, m. 18 Aug 1848 John Vesley Walker, McLean co, IL1 2. 
Moses G. - b. 3 Jul 1837, d, at Portland, OR, m. Jane Price1 
'.3, George w. - b. 22 Oct 1840, d, 27 Dec 1914, Lyon co,, KS, 
m, 1863 Effie c. Gault, McLean co. n,, 4. Mahala - b, 22 Sep 
1846, d, 8 Jul 1873, 111. 7 Jan 1864 James A. Hunt, McLean co, 
IL (may have been md. once or twice 'tef.); may have also been 
children Nancy, Margaret and tWins Adelia & Adeline. b 

2, Agnes Ha.rbord 
b, 9 Aug 180.5, Wayne co., KY 
m. 24 Nov 1829 James Wilkins, Decatur co., IN 
ohildrena George, Jemima and prob. others. 

3, John w. Harbord 
b. 18 Jul 180?, 'Wayne co., KY 
d, .5 Mar 1882,Clarence, Shelby co,, MO 
m. 9 May 1830 Mary s. McKee, Decatur co., IN 
child%en1 son H,H. 

4. Matthew L. Harbord 
b, 23 Jan 181'.3, IN 
d, 24 Jul 1849, Tremont, n, 
•• 26 Nov 1836 Catherine Low, McLean co., n. 
ch1ldren1 1. George c. - b, 19 Apr 183?t 2. Alphon~o - b, 12 Oct 

18391 3, Sa.rah J. - b, 20 Mar 1843, m • .5 Oct 1859 Napoleon B. 
Browns 4. Ione - b. 24 Dec 1844, •• Browns 5, Laura - b, 
24 Dec 18461 and Matthew Adolphus - b.20 Mar 1849 • 

.5, Mary B, Harbcmi (Harbert) 
b. 19 Mar 181.5, Imiana 
m. 27 A-pr 1835 Matthew B, Harbert, McLean co., n, 
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6. Eleanor Harbord 

b. J Oct 1818, Indiana 
d. 1889 
m. (1) 17 Jul 18JS Willian Platte, McLean co., IL (he was b. 1810 

in N.J. & d. 1869 in KS(?). 
chilch-ena 1. Amelia Ja.ne - b. abt 1838, m. Kelly Webb; 2. John A. -

b. '.30 Dec 1839, McLean co., IL, d. 11 Mar 1906, Arlington, TX, m. 
4 May 1869 Mary Ann McKinney-a J. Merit c. - b. abt. 1842s d. 8 
Jan 186J, Colliersville, TNs 4. James H. - b. abt 1844, d.7 May 
1889, Dry Grove, ILJ 5. WllliBJJi H. - b. abt 1847; 6. Samuel Leo­
nard - b. abt 1849, 7. Lewiss a. Eldora (Ella) - b. 8 Jul 1862, 
xs, d. Dec 1922, Mn Grove, IL,•• Wm. H. Morgana 9. Della. 

m. (2) Stephen Vebb 
7 • Vill1811 D. Harbord 

b. 18 Oct 1820, Ind1ana 
d. 5 Sep 1862, Bl.0011ington, IL 
m. 28 Ma7 1849 Susan J. Snodgrass, McLean co., IL 
ch1ldrena son Charles B. 

8. Mahala J. Harbord 
b. 16 Aug 182) 
•• 2 May 1839 Nathan Hendrix (?), McLean _co., IL 

Eleanor Wade Coffey md. (2) 22 Nov 1785 Jesse Shasteen, Amherst co., VA 
ch1ldre111 see text 

b Another (and perhaps better) list of James c. Harbord. 's childnn 1s as follows 1Mary 
Jane (d, age 7), Martha Ann (Walker), Richard H., William E., Nancy A., Moses 
G., Mary Margaret, George w., Elinor Adeline, Eliza.beth Adelaide (latter two ~ 
twins), and Mahala Caasand%'a Helen (Hunt) 
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Very little is known about Eleanor Wade and her ancestry. There were many 

Wades in colonial Virginia, at least 10 by 16661 and several had the firt name 

of John (Eleanor's father). 'lbere were also some Wade bonded servants shipped 
2 to Virginia or Maryland in the 1700s, including two by the name of John Wade in 

the 1740s. Also, a John Wade was granted a land patent of 47 acres in James City 
County Virginia in December 1710. 

John Wade, and his brother Pearce were in Albemarle county Virginia as early 
as 1750.3 They apparently settled in that part of the county Which later became 
Amherst county. 'Ibey may have had brothers David and Jeremiah and possibly Daw­
son. All of these naaes are used here and 1n adjacent counties so frequently 

that it is difficult to separate father, son, and cousins. In neighborin,; Augusta 
county there are mentions in the recordrP'of a Dawson Wade in 1766, 1767 and 1773 

(on the latter date Dawson and Rachel (Burside) Wade of Botetourte county sell 
land Dawson had patened in Augusta)1 a John Waid in 1773, 1781, 1787, 1794 and 
17961 a John Wade Sr. in 17901 a Priscilla Wade, daughter of John Wade, who 

married Abram Gum in 17851 Alexander, 'lhomaa and John Wade in 17771 a John Wad.es 

in 17821 and David Wade (wife Rebecca) who was in Montgomery county in 1802 and 

died there in 1803. 

'Ibe maiden name of John's wife Elizabeth may have been Mcilexand.er as several 

by this name are associated vi th the faaily and three of them were w1 tnesses to 

John's will made in 1785.5 '!his will was proved July 2, 1787 and besides Elizabeth 
lists only a son Dawson, and Eleanor and her second husband Jesse Shasteen. '!here 

probably was another daughter, Hannah, as she was listed with Eleanor and"their 
mother• as members of the Baptist church. 6 '!he Wades and Coffeya were apparently 
both associated to·s011e degree with the first Baptist church in Amherst county. 

Because of the close association with John of Pierce Wade it aight be well 
to briefly mention his Will (Amherst co. Will Bk. 1, p. 161). 'lb.rough it and 
subsequent citations concerning guardianship (Will Bies. 1 & J) we find that his 

wife was Elizabeth also and her maiclen name was probably Ballenger (or possibly 
Hardwick), Children were probably Ballenger (heir), Mary who married I. White, 
Charity Who married John Dawson, Jane, David, Pearce, Jeremiah, Lucretia, Clary 

(female), and Abigail Hardwick Wade. '!he latter four were minors, the latter 
three "infants". 'Ihe will was made in 1769, the gua.rdians appointed July .S, 
1179 so I suppose he died shortly before the latter date, 
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As to the origin of the Wades we have only a letter 7 written by Rev. A%ch­

elaus Coffey in which he says ''my grandmother on my father's. side by the name 
of Waid. I think her pa.rents came direct from Ireland., •• " 'lhe name 'Waid' has 

lar~ly become 'Wade' in America. 'lhe original spelling did however persist in 

the family of Eleanor's son John Waid Coffey until the late 1800s (see chapter 8). 

It would thus appear that James M. Coffey (as well as John w. and Jane, his brother 

and sister) is four generations removed from Ireland on his father's side and 

only two generations removed on his mother's side. 
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CHAPTER 10 

. 
ON THE WILDERNESS T~AIL-

JAMES COFFEY AND FRANCES LANE 

"Stand at Cumberland Gap and watch the 
procession of civilization, marching 
single file - the buffalo following the 
trail to Salt Springs, the Indian, the 
fur trader and hunter, the cattle raiser, 
the pioneer farmer - and the frontier 
has passed by," 

... Frederick Jackson Turner 
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The early life of James Coffey, up to the time he came to Wayne county Kentucky, 

has been given in chapter 8, Although he is on the 1799 tax list in Cumberland 

county (later a part of Wayne county) he had no land there until 1802. He settled 

239 acres in February 1802 and 136 acres in July 1802 on Otter Creek1 in the west­

ern part of Wayne county (see map, page 116 and picture, page 130). His marriage 

to Frances Lane is dated January 16, 1804, although the consent note was signed 

September 29, 1803 and the bond on October 1. 2 In those days they had to wait 

for a circuit rider preacher to come a.round. in order to get married bit once the 

bond was completed they were considered married. Thus one can use either date but 

I have chosen the actual marriage date for use here. She was the daughter of 
Thomas Lane and, according to the oldest son Archelaus,3 Nancy Dabney. However, 

there is some question about this since the consent note is signed Thomas and 
Ann Lane. I believe she also went by the name Ann and that this wasn't a second 

wife, Withycombe 11sts 4 Nancy as a diminutive of Ann. The Lanes will be further 

discussed in chapter 11 and the Dabneys in chapter 12. 

James Coffey is listed on the Wayne county tax records 5 1802-1813, However, 

he is also on the delinquent tax records 6 of 1812 and 1813, listed as "moved to 

Ohio," A biography of Elder "Achilles" Coffey,? son of James and Frances, states 

that they moved in 1813 to Indiana, Jefferson county and settled 4 miles from the 

fort. Because of fears from Indians they moved one year later to Washington 

county and settled near the town of Salem where they rema.1ned 3 years, Here they 

lived close to James' brother John W, When in Jefferson county it may be that 

they lived near his sister Jane and her husband William Ha.rbord, It 1s said that 

during the War of 1812 there was a fort, or at least an encampment of soldiers, 

near where they 11 ved so they may have been in this area before moving to Decatur 
county (see chapter 8). 

James is mentioned in the Washington county conun1ssioners records as being 

appointed an overseer of a road during this time, 8 In the fall of 1817 they moved 
back to Wayne county Kentucky. The only Indiana deed records I could find were 

two in Washington county, the first a purchase on June JO, 18159 and the second a 

sale on October 14, 1817,10 
'Ibis was for 160 acres about 1-2 miles from land 

owned by his brother John w. Coffey, James sold the land for $1500, probably a 

(,_,,, nice profit as it was undoubtedly obtained as a land grant for very little cost. 
11 Frank R. Moore says that he "sold his improved farm near Salem at a profit •• ," 

129 
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While in Washington county in 1816 he sold his 2 parcels of land in Wayne county. 12 

'Ibus, when the family moved back to Wayne county in 1817 they had to buy more 

land, 13 which they sold a year later when they went to Alabama.. 7 Frank Moore 

says 11 (no reference given) that James "could not compete with slave labor (im­

plying that he was not a slave holder), and the available farm land was poor, 

so after a stay of two years he decided to move to Illinois... We do not know 

where they 11 ved in Alabama. 'Ibey left there on July 30, 1820 7 so they may or 

may not have been counted on the census. However, the 1820 census is missing for 

many of the counties of Alabama. 
According to "Achilles" Coffey's biography? James took up a claim in Sanga­

mon county Illinois, but partly due to Indian conditions they moved south 2 years 

later to the northwestern pa.rt of Gallatin county (now Saline county). 'Ibis area 

is generally fiat but is occasionally broken by low hills ( see picture, page 1 J1 . ) 

Area along otter Creek in Vayne county 
Kentucky when James Coffey lived. Note 

At the time our ancestors moved there 

it was densely wooded. Even today 

those areas that have not been clear­

ed show a dense thicket which must 

have presented a considerable problem 

to these southern farmers. At this ) 

time they had only the ba.rshe.re plow 

which had a wooden mold boa.rd and 

only "stirred" the earth to a depth 

of about two inches. 14However, the 
soil was fertile so they were prob­

ably able to grow crops wherever they 

could clear the land. 'lbe woods were 

inhabited by "deer, tui:key, wolves, 

bears, and some panthers." 15 'Ihe 

township map on page 1 J1 shows the lo-
Coffey Mountain in background. cation of James' land. as well as that 

of some of his sons, and some other landmarks. '!he Shawneetown Land District re­

cords, and Gallatin and Saline county deeds, testify to the owership of these lands. 

While here James was active in the affairs of this area as some early records 
note 16 tha.t he was a signer of petitions to (1) obtain a constable, (2) change the 

voting pla.ce, and (J) change the county seat. He was also commissioned a Just-
ice of the Peace for Gallatin county in 1824.17 In the spring of 1829 the family ~ 
moved to Sangamon county but retuned in the spring of 1832.18 They already held 
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240 acres in Section 17, township 15, 
Range 2 (now in Mt. Auburn township of 
Christian county). While there James man­

aged to obtain 2 more grants totaling 160 

acres in Cooper township of Sangamon co­

unty. '!be location of these can be found 

on the map of Sangamon county on page 

(note dots). Archelaus' land was in Mt. 
Auburn township (two parcels of 80 acres 

each). '!be reader should get the proper 

perspective of the relationship of those 
areas in Illinois where the Coffeys lived 
by studying the Illinois map shown on 

page1J2. James and Archelaus sold 20 all 
of their land in Sangamon county when they 
moved back to Saline precinct of Gallatin 
county, but one parcel of James' was not 
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T 7 s LONG BRANCH TOWNSHIP 

T 8 s RALEIGH TOWNSHIP 

Twonship map of a portion of North­
western Saline County, Illinois. 
Location of lands held by the Cof­
feys in the 18JOs is shown by T: 
Thomas, A: Archelaus, J: John,and 
Ja: James M. '!be sons James w. & 
Eli later owned land a short dis­
tance to the north in Hamilton co. 
Durhams, Sloans., Deans, Lanes and 
others who married into the Coffey 
family had land nearby or in Ham­
ilton county. 

L.-nd '""here John Coffey Lived in 3~line 
County Illinois, 1832-42 
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Sangamon County Illinois (solid lines) in early 
days and (dash-line area with S) at present 
tiin.e. Co: Cooper township. Dash-line area with C 
is present day Christian county. Mt.A: Mt. Au­
burn township. James owned land in both of these, 
north and south of the Sangamon River, but the 
lands were not adjacent, 

finalized until October 18J5 and one ot Archelaus' until January 18J7. 

James aJUi Frances continued to live in what became the Longbranch township 
of Saline county until 1847 when they sold 21 their 160 acre fam there to Charles 
Sloan, who married their granddaughter Permelia Coffey. A descendant of this 

marriage• also named Charles Sloan, lives on this or adjacent land toda:,. He 
related to me the story of bow the land in Saline was covered with thick brush 
and trees (some still ls, and is indeed a dense thicket}. 'Ibis made clearing 
the land and f&l.'ming difficult and was a major reason why they went north to 
Sangamon county (a more open area). However, Mr. Sloan says they nearly froze 

in Sangamon county so came back to "Southern" Illinois. It seems unlikely that 
the distance, 140-150 miles, would make that much difference l::ut one of the win­
ters they spent there (I believe it was 1831) has been called in some accounts, 
the "winter of the big snow", and perhaps this is what convinced them to return 
south. 
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Exactly where James and Frances were living when James died January?, 1849 

~ is not known but in 185023 Frances, together with her unmarried children, Eleanor, 

James Wesley, and Eli, was living across the county line in Hamilton county. I 

could find no deed r'9Cord for James in Hamilton county but Eli was listed as Head 

of Household on the 1850 census so he perhaps owned the land and they ~re living 
with him. Frances died October 24, 1859 in Saline county. 24 Both she and James 

are wried in the Bethel Creek Baptist church cemetery lot. 22 (see pictures of 

tombstones,) 
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Map of Illinois with enlargement of Gallatin and. Saline counties to 
show areas where Coffeys lived and relationship to surrounding areas, 

We do not have the 1810 or 1820 census of James Coffey's family. However, 

known children plus the 1830 census indicate that there must have been at least 

10 children. Each will be discussed in the probable order of their birth. 

Archelaus 

'!be first child of which we have record is Archelaus (later frequently 

shortened to Archilles and "Achilles",) He was named for James' father, Since 

Archelaus wasn't born until July 30, 1806 it is quite possible that another was 

born before hill but died young (or of course a miscarriage could have occurred), 

Archelaus married Jane Dean, a. daughter of Rev, Jacob and Susannah Dean, April 

2J, 1824 in Hamilton county Illinois. 25 'lbe clerk wrote his name as Nicholas but 
I don't think there can be any doubt it was Archelaus. Rev. Jacob Dean was a 

Methodist minister. born June 23, 1775 in Virginia and died August 5, 1851 in 
Hamilton county Illinois, 25 His wife, Susannah Hatty, was born about 1766 in 
Virginia. 'lbe Deans were of German ancestry. 

Archelaus and Jane's first child vas named Pemelia and was born about 1825P 
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Aa aentiened earlier Pemelia aa.rried Charle■ Saauel Sloan, a aon of Jaaes and 

Hannah Sloan, 'lbeir children are listed in Chart 10-A, flle third child and 

tint aon ot Arebela.us and Jane, and by 

tar the lleat known, was Jaaes Asbury, 

Ilia aiddle -• was quite poaailll.7 g1 wn 

'tar U'Chelaua' ucle, Asbury Madison 
Coffey, son of ~1. James A, Cottey 

't&l.'lled in Saline count7 for a the llut 

appa.rentl1 th1a occupation lacked. the 

ad.wlrtun u4 exci teaent he desired. Ia 
1854 he aowd to la.naaa llbere he worked 
and. toqht tor the anti-slawry forces. 

After these conflicts he took 1tp aerchan­

cliaiag and established several ■tores 

u4 trading poeta. He t.rad.ed extensively 
with the Indians and in the p:roce■a learn­
ed. 2 languqea. In 1870 be touaded the 
ton of Cotte~lle, Kanaaa. (Xote, the 

Xuaaaa eoUDty •cottey' but El. the city 

.,I) A1L CofteyY1lle waa -•d after Asbury Madi• 

JP"'p/1~ aon Coffey.) A deacendant of J-•• A. was 
mat •• lloora (aov deceued) of Laguna 

Beach, California and aucb of tbe 11oot11 lie wrote la a'bout thi■ aan. Jue■ A. 

Coffe:, apparently had the rank of Col-

onel 1n the llf1aaour1-Kanaas sldniahea 

as that is how he is uauall1 referred.. 

He had established a store in Dodge 

City, Kansaa when he eontacted pneu­
aonia in 1879 and clied there. It 

■hould be noted that there is a gap 

of 3½ yea.rs betwen the b1rth of Jaaea 

A. Coffey am the next child, Sal.ea. 
Soae deacend&nta haw thaught that 
Archelaua a&ffied (2) JUlt Durhaa 

(Jane Dean having clied). If ■o tb1a 
would l1k•l1 haw been the till•. Hov­

ewr, there 1a abeolut.el1 DO e-ddence 

that. this happened; Jane Deanna, I J••• A. Cottey (drawing trca a photo.) 
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believe, his only wife. Two descendants of Archelaus which I have either met or 
~ corresponded with a.re Charles Sloan (previously referred to) of Galatia, Illinois, 

and John r,ockhart Coffey (a descendant of John Mcf..:lernan Coffey) of Oklahoma 

City, 
Archelaus was commissioned 2nd 

lieutenant of the 4th Illinois Regi-
28 ment December 19, 1825 and on May 

12, 1832 he volunteered for the Black 

HaWk I:rxiian War. He was then a 2nd 

lieutenant 1n Captain James Hampton's 

company until the latter was promoted 
to major and then Archelaus was made 
a captain. He was in charge of what 

was called Captain Coffey's company, 

1st Regiment, 1st Brigade, Illinois 

Mounted Volunteers of the Black Hawk 

War. He was mustered out September 

25, 1832, having been furpughed in 

August at the battle ground on the 
?ombston~s of ,T:unes (broken) and Frane:es 

~ Mississippi where he lost his horse, 
:off ~y i.r, ~-3tr.el Creek Church Cemetery 

saddle, bridle, and blanket on a 

forced march. For his services he received a bounty land warrant of 40 acres in 

1851 and another of 120 acres in 1855.29 

After the war he became interested in religion and, in July 1833 joined the 

Bethel's Creek Primitive Baptist church, 30 His wife joined at the same time. The 

histories of this area o:f'ten overlook this Slllall church, which was likely the 
first one in the area. It was organized With 7 members in June 1820,31 and was 

associated with the Muddy River Baptist Association. In October 1834 Archelaus 
was chosen as moderator of this church and in May 1836 he was ordained to preach~9 
He is said to have organized a number of churches and is known to have been a 

moderator of the Salem PriJlli ti ve Baptist church in Benton, Illinois. 32 In 187? he 

wrote his book,7 about the split in the church over the missionaey question. In 
,.BJ? this split affected the Bethel's Creek church, those favoring the missionary 
work were in the minority and were excluded by the majority. '!he former proceeded 

to form on October 19, 1837 the Union church (later known as the Raleigh church33). 
Archelaus was appa:rently very conservative, following the old o:cder of the church, 
somewhat the opposite of the Reverend Reuben Coffey mentioned in Chapter 4. Arch­
elaus must have also been active in the community. In 1844 his name appears on a 
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list of election of presidential electors. He was listed among the Democratic 
pa.rty electors.J4 Archelaus died of lung disease in Saline count,3 5 March 10, 

1883 and is buried at Bethel's Creek church cemetery. I visited this cemetery 

and the little church there in 19?6. The church still has service one sunday a 

month. Although not so named for this reason, I though it appropriate that it 
be called Bethel's Creek Primitive Baptist church. It is located in what one 

might say is a primitive (at least country) area of Saline county (see below). 

Road Leading to Bethel Creek Church ~ethel Creek Church, Saline co., Ill. 

One needs to know where to look to even find it. The graveyard in front of the 

church is well kept except for some vandalism, including the broken stone for 

James Coffey. 

While discussing this area it might be well to mention the schools. Accord­
ing to the leading history of the a.rea36 the first school in what is now Saline 

county was started in 1823 and had only a J month term in the fall. The winters 

were considered too sewre to send the children to school. Another school (date 

unknown) was taught by a man named Sloan. One wonders if this was an in-law of 
Archelaus and if any of the Coffey children attended. It was more common in those 

days for the boys to attend (and thus know how to read and write) than the girls. 

ThOlllas 

It is probable that the second child of James and Frances was Thomas, named 
for Frances' father, 'lhomas Lane. His date of birth is unknown but it must have 
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have been about 1808, On October 13, 1828 in Gallatin county Illinois he married 

~ Kezia Varnier, daughter of Peter Varnier. They moved to Sangamon cou."lty in 1829 
with Thomas' parents 37 but I didn't find any land ownership for them there, They 

probably moved back to Saline at the same time as did James and Frances, A Thomas 

Coffey was a private in the fila.ck Hawk War of 1832 in the Company of Capt, James 
Hall, 'Ibis probably was our Thomas, He joined the Bethel's Creek church in April 

1834 and was examined for ordination November 1837.JO The church records do not 

mention an actual ordination but our own family records say he was a preacher, 38 

However, the records do say he was appointed assistant clerk of the church in 

1839, In May 184339 he and Kezia sold their land (S 19, T ?, R 6 - obtained in 

1836) and in August of that year received a letter of dismissal from the church, 

In these records he was at the time listed as "Elder Thomas Coffey." They went 

to Miller county Missouri where Thomas died 2 years later, 40 He and Kezia are 

known to have had 5 children, J boys and 2 girls, al though there apparently was 

a third g1.r141 (see Chart 10-B), A descendant of this line through the son Allen 

is Fred Coffey of Kingsnort, Tennessee. 
The third child of James and Frances was John, born April 22, 1810 in Wayne 

county Kentucky. Chapter 13 will be devoted to him and his family, 

Ann, Eleanor and Sally 

The next child may have been a girl named Ann. We can only speculate here 

since we have no family or official records linking her to this family, but there 

were 2 girls 15-20 on the 1830 census and one must have been Eleanor (discussed 

below). Ann married John Baldridge December 24, 1834 in Gallatin county Illinois 

(marriage performed by Jacob Dean. 42) There seems to be no Coffey of marriageable 

age belonging to any other Coffey family in Gallatin county at this time, 43 What 

happened to Ann is unknown, They apparently did not settle in Gallatin county as 

there a.re no Baldridge deeds there at this time and they do not appear on other 

:records. There are a number of Baldridge families in nearby counties, especially 

Jefferson, and several with the first name of John, However, in each case the 
wife is not named Ann, al though Ann could be a middle name or a nickname. I 

have been unable to identify the wife of any John Baldridge in Illinois at this 
time as the correct one to fit this marriage, It is quite possible that Ann died 

soon after their marriage and John remarried, Another possibility is that they 

may have left the state, I believe the first option to be more likely. 

"Elinor" (probably correctly spelled Eleanor) Coffey is listed as J.5 yea.rs 
44 of age on the 1850 census. If true, she probably was born late in 1814 or early 

1815, On March 17, 1852 Rev. Archelaus Coffey performed the marriage of Elendor 
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Coffey to James L. Kennedy. It is preswned this is the same Eleanor. James L. ~ 

KeMedy was elected an associate justice of the Saline county court in 1855. 
He was born March 12, 1804 and died July 20, 1858, buried in Bethel Creek ceme­
tery. 22 !here is no further record of Eleanor, unless she 1s the Ellenor Kennedy 

on the 1900 census in Franklin county listed as a widow, born November 1812, age * 

87. She had 1 daughter, Lou (or Lori) K. Auld, born March 1853 in Illinois. If 
this is the same Eleanor then her birthplace and. that of her father and mother are 

incorrectly given and her a.ge on the 1850 census is wrong. The latter is a good 

possibility since two others in the family have the incorrect age listed. Thus, 

if she was born in 1812 then Ann must have been younger, perhaps born in 1814. I 

suspect this may be the correct interpretation but since proof is lacking I will, 

for the time being, stick with my original data. 
The 1830 census also lists a girl 10-15. Since the next child of known birth, 

James Wesley, was born May 15, 1818, it seems probable that she was born about 1816 
• 42 

and was the Sally Coffey who married Ewing Flannigan July 28, 18)6. This marr-

iage was perfo:z:med by the Rev. Jacob Dean whose family had close ties with the 

Coffeys arxi Lanes. Ewing had a land entry in Hamilton county in 18J?46 and they 

apparently settled there. Sally is said to have had 2 girls and. died before 1840, 

Ewing later remarrying. 47 However, the 1840 census of Hamilton county shows a 

male and female each 20-30 and 3 females under 5, According to Gallatin county 

Illinois marriage records (.Book 1, page 225) Ewing didn't marry his second wife, 

Caroline Mace, until May 19, 1843. Thus it would seem that Sally had 3 daughters. 

The records of Mildred Pulliam 26 show that Ewing married (3) Mary Elinor Cantrell 

on September 15, 1843. Ewing was killed or died in the Mexican War on December 

20, 1846 at Matamoras, Mexico. He was born in 1816 in Tennessee to Samuel Ewing 

Flannigan and. Nancy Sharp, both of North Carolina. In the 1850 census of Hamilton 

county the two known daughters of Sally and Ewing, Perlina (age 13) and Martha E. 

( age 11, are 11 ving w1 th their grandmother Frances (Lane) Coffey. 

James Wesley 

James Wesley Coffey (mentioned above) apparently remained in Longbranch 

township of Saline county all of his life (although he owned some land in Hamilton 

county) and was a rather prominent farmer there. He married Mary E, M. Kane on 

November 20, 18.54 in Saline county, the marria,;e being performed by his brother 

Archelaus, 49 Mary Kane was born January 11, 1839 and died July 11, 1916. 22 James 

W,, along with William Durham had the town of Hamburg platted in 1871 and he do­

nated the land on which the Long Branch Baptist church was built in 1860.50 James 
Wesley died August 5,1883 and is also buried at Bethel Creek, as are 4 of his 

* 
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children. The list of children given in Chart 10-D is taken from 1660, 18?0, and 
~ 1880 census records, Bethel's Creek ~rre+...ery records, and the estate record of James 

Wesley. However, the list still may not be complete. A few years ago a granddaugh­

ter, Blanche Pulliam (now deceased) gave a list (sent to me by Janie Summers of 

Johnston City, Illinois) in which she listed the following other namesz Silas, 

Ollie (female who married a Chaffin), OWen, Myrtle, John, and Jessie (female), 

However, she omitted 5 of those on the list I compiled. A possible explanation 
is either they went by other names or she got some from another generation by 

mistake. 
Lewis P. 

Lewis P. Coffey may have been the next child, born between 1820 and 1825, J? 

probably about 1821 since the folloWing child was apparently born in 1823. He was 

married October 5, 184251 to Nancy Ann c. Laswell. Lewis died before April 25, 
1848,52 According to the 1850 census 53 he left J children, all girls, Nancy re­

married on October 25, 1853 to Eldridge Sneed and had. one daughter. See Chart 

10-E for more complete data on this family, I think it might be of interest to 

here give the inventory of Lewis' estate as an example of what the average frontier 
farmer of those days had in possessions, The original spelling is retained. 

April 25, 1848. An Inventory of the Estate of Lewis P. Coffee, deceased. 
An improvement, one mill, bolting chest, one toledish two head. of horses, 
two head of cattle, five sows and pigs, and four head of other hogs, one 
sheep, nine geese, two ducks, five chickens, one pair of gears, one collar, 
one ho, two ascess, one croscut saw, one logchane, a pair of tungchanes 
loaned, two beefhides in tan on sheves, one table, one oven, one skillet, 
one stew kettle, one tea kettle, one coffeepot, one churn, one water pail, 
two buckets, one pigging, three crocks, one jug, one tray, one coffeemill, 
two baskets, four cheers, four barrels of corn guessed at, about two dozen 
bundles of flasc, one barrel and about sisc gallons of wiskey init, four 
mid.lings of bacon, one set of plates, four knives and forks, one set of 
teacups and saucers, three tincups, one English read.er and. two spelling 
books, one trace chans, five or six pounds of cotton, three or four pounds 
of laird. abt $209.00 value of inventory. Many other articles allowed 
the widow Nancyann c. Coffee such as 2 beds and bedding household and kitchen 
furniture, stove, 1 cow and. calf, 1 horse, 8 sheep, fuel, clothing, etc. 
to total $302.00 her claim of dower. 

Louisa 

A girl was born to James and Frances bet.ween 1820 and 1825,37 I believe this 
was Louisa who married John J. Lane December 25, 1842 in Miller county Missouri • .54 
Although we lack proof I believe this is the place in Missouri where John and 

Nancy Coffey went in 1841 (see Chapter 13) am that they took John's sister Louisa, 
then 18 years old, W1 th them, Fred Coffey of Kingsport, Tennessee believes55 

that Louisa was a daughter of 'lhOll'las (John's older ~other) but according to the 
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1850 census of Miller c00nty Missouri Louisa was born in 182), too old to be a 
daughter of Thomas who wasn't married until 1828. Also, Thomas didn't go to Miller 

county until 184) and. his old.est daughter was named Caroline. It still remains 

to be proven but I believe this John J. Lane was a grandson of Thomas Lane ( see 
chapter 11). If so, Louisa was a first cousin of John. His father would have to 
be Mordecai Lane, brother of Frances, who was on the 184o census of Miller county 

and had a male child of the appropriate age. Mordecai also lived in Gallatin 

county Illinois in 1830.56 John and Louisa Lane sold some land in Miller county 
in 184857 but they were still there in 18.50 • .58 I could not find them after that 

and they apparently did not come to Oregon in 1853 with John Coffey and Mordecai 

Lane, For additional material on this family see Chapter 11. 

Eli 

The youngest child appears to be Eli, born October 6, 1825,59 He married 

(1) Nancy Russell on June 17, 1852 and (2) Nancy Ellen Foster on October 10, 1872, 
The children of both marriages are given in Chart 10-~ Eli is listed on the 

61 Hamilton county Illinois Militia List in 1861. He lived in the southern pa.rt of 
Hamilton county most of his life. A granddaughter, Mrs. Ray (Janie) SUJIIJl\ers, 

lives at Johnston City, Illinois. 

Some recent infomation causes me to add a postscript to this chapter. 
26 Records of Mildred Pulliam show that William Dean, born October 1799 in Tennessee, 

married (1) Jane Coffey who was born in 1804. Wllliu Dean 1s living next to * 

James Coffey 1n Sangamon county Illinois in 1830 according to the census records. 

In 1833 he is living aaong the Coffey families in the Saline precinct of Gallatin 

county, but in 1835 he obtains land 1n the section just north of 'lhomas Coffey 

(across the line in Hamilton county) and is on the 184o and 1850 census of Hamilton 

county. It seems likely to me that this Jane could well be a daughter of James 
and Frances, in fact their first daughter, born in 1804, Jane is a Coffey family 

ZW1e and 1 t would be appropriate that their first daughter be named Jane. William 

Dean was apparently a son o'f Jacob (Sr.) and Susannah Dean and thus a brother o'f 
Jane who 11arried Archelaus Coffey, Jacob Clay Dean who narr1ed Sarah Lane, and 

Nancy Dean who married Lewis Lane {for latter two see chapter 11). My information 
on William Dean 1s incomplete but it appears that his second wife was Bathsheba 
Jane Durham.26 

* 
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CHART 10 

·;1:'AL DATA OF THE JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEY FAMILY 

James M, Coffey, son of Archelaus and Eleanor (Wade) Coffey 
b, 20 Jul 1776, prob, Amherst co,, VA 
d. 7 Jan 1849, prob, Hamilton co,, IL 
m. 16 Jan 1804 (bond dated 1 Oct 1803), Frances Lane (dau of Thomas & Nancy 

(Dabney) Lane1 b, 22 Jun 1785, N.c., d. 24 Oct 1859, Saline co., IL), Wayne 
co., KY 

childrena 
1. Archelaus {Achilles) 

b. 30 Jul 1806, Wayne co., KY 
d. 10 Mar 1883, Saline co., IL 
m. 2) Apr 1824 Jane (Jennie) Dean, Hamilton co., IL 

2, Thomas 
b, abt 1808, Wayne co,, KY 
d, bef 5 May 1845, Miller co, , MO 
m. 17 Sep 1828 Kezia (Keziah) Varnier (or Varner), Gallatin co., IL 

J. John (see chapter 13) 
b. 22 Apr 1810, Wayne co., KY 
d. 8 Apr 1879, Lookingglass, Douglas co., OR 
m. 13 Sep 18)2 Nancy Snyder, Gallatin co., IL 

4. Ann 
b. abt 1812, Wayne co,, KY 
m. 24 Dee 1834 John Baldridge, Gallatin co., IL 

5, Eleanor (or Elinor) 
b. abt 1814/15, prob, Washington co., IN 
d. after 1900 ? 
m. 17 Mar 1852 James L. Kennedy, Saline co,, IL 

6, Sally 
b. abt 1816, prob. Washington co., IN 
d, abt 18)9-43, prob. Hamilton co., IL 
m. 28 Jul 18'.36 Ewing Flannigan, Gallatin co,, IL 

?, James Wesley 
b, 15 May 1818, Wayne co,, KY 
d. 5 Aug 188), Saline co., IL 
m. 20 Nov 1854 Mary E, M. Kane, Saline co., IL 

8, Lewis P. 
b, abt 1820/1, Illinois 
d. bef 2.5 Apr 1848, Hamilton co., n, 
m. 5 Oct 1842 Nancy Ann c. Laswell, Hamilton co,, IL 

9, Louisa 
b, abt 1823, Illinois 
m. 25 Dec 1842 John J. Lane, Miller co., MO 

10. Eli 
b, 6 Oct 1825, Gallatin co,, IL 
d, 7 Oct 1899, Hamilton co., IL 
m. (1) 17 Jun 1852 Nancy Russells (2) 10 Oct 1872 Nancy Ellen Foster, 

both Hamilton co,, IL. 

'lbere may have been another one - Jane, b. 1804; m. William Dean. 
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CHART 10-A 

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEY1 # 1 ARCHELAUS 

Archelaus "Achilles" Coffey 
b, 30 Jul 1806, Wayne co,, KY 
d, 10 Mar 1883, Saline co,, IL 
m, 23 Apr 1824 Jane Dean (dau of Jacob Dean & b, abt 1805), Hamilton co,, IL 
child:rens 

1, Permelia * 
b, abt 1825, Prob Gallatin co,, IL 
d. after 1 Feb 1890 
m, (1) bef 1844 Charles Samuel Sloan (1814-1863), (2) 13 Dec 1866 Abel Hunt. 

children, 
1, James A, Sloan - b, 1844; m, Malinda Caroline Hunt, 
2, David Sloan - b, 18481 m, Elizabeth Cantrell, 
3, Samuel T. Sloan - 1850-51 
4, William Monroe Sloan - 18.54-87r m. Martha Drusilla Dean 
5, Mary Sloan - m, James Boyd 
6, Melvina Eldine Sloan - m. Jarreth E. Stilley 
7, Jane Sloan - m, Charnel Glascock 
8, Hannah Sloan - m, (1) Perry Hunt, (2) Braxton P, Crawford 
9, Sibelia Sloan - m. Jacob Dean 

to. Paulina Hunt - m. Amon Hmnes Coffey 
2. Paulina 

b. 10 Sep 1826, prob Gallatin co., IL 
d. 26 Jul 1843 (bur Bethel Crk Church, Saline co., IL) ~, 
not married 

3. James Asbury 
b. 18 Nov 1827, Gallatin co., n, 
d. 13 Jan 1879, Dodge City, KA 
m. 27 Dec 1849 Louisa Adelade Ferris Long Carnahan 
childrens 

1. John Gerry - d. 1n infancy 
2. Ma.r,B--b. 13 May 1851, Saline co., ILi d. 1905, Tombstone, AZ 
3, Eben Rice8-- b. 17 Dec 1852, Saline co., IL1 d, 1935, Austin, CO 
4. Phoebe - d. in in:fancy 
5. Irena Ann - b. 12 Dec 1856, Lawrence, KS1 d. after 19351 m. 

John F. Moore 
6. Laura - b, 1859 Humbolt, xs, m, (1) J.P. Soderstrom, (2) F,P. Knight 
7, Amy - 1861, Hmbolt, KS1 m, George Emerson 
8, Eliza.beth - b, Humbolt, KS1 11, Smith Ruble 
9, Lulu - b. 1866, Kansas City (KS?)1 m, 'lbomas Murdock 

4, Sales M. 
b, 15 May 1831, Sangamon or Gallatin co, , IL 
d, 1 Feb 1890 (bur. Bethel Crk ch., Saline co., IL) 
never married 

5, Malvina. (or Melvina.) E. 
b. 31 Dec 1833, Gallatin co,, IL 
d, 18 Jul 1854 
m. 18 Dec 18.51 Asahel (or Ashel) W, Durham 

a Mary md. Louis McIntire, Eben md. Tola Kreigh 
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children: only 1, Sarilda, who md, Robert Marshal Dean a.nd had Bertus A. 
Dean, Melvina Dean Fox, Loretta Deen Hayes, Cora Deen Shaw, & Dora (d. 
young). 

6. Louvica J, 
b. 5 Aug 1836, Gallatin co. , n, 
d. 28 Jun 18)8, Gallatin co., IL (bur. Bethel Crk, ch,, Saline co., IL) 

7, Laura. 
b, 20 May 18)8, Gallatin co,, IL 
d, 3 Aug 1841, Gallatin co,, IL (bur Bethel Crk ch, Saline co,, IL) 

8, Amanda E, 
b, 20 Aug 1839, Gallatin co,,IL 
d, 29 Oct 1839, Gallatin co., IL (bur Bethel Crk ch, Saline co,, IL) 

9, Lawrence Lesenby 
b, 1841 
m. abt 1862 S, Melvina Barker 
childrena (much confusion between family lists & census lists - some 

prob. went by nicknames1 

* 

1. Orella (or Qrilla)-b. 186J/4s m, 20 Jul 1884 William D. Ezell 
2, Riley - a.bt 1864 (age 16 on 1880 census) 
J, Amon Hume - (Harmon on 1880 census) - b, abt 1865/61 m, Pauline Hunt. 
4, Ethan - b, abt 1868 

10, 

11. 

12. 

5, Edith - b, abt 1873 
6. Alley (or Allie) - b, abt 18?6; m. Mathews (was there an Allie and 

an Ollie?? Perhaps Ollie was Ollie Grace and b, 18?1), 
7, Maude Marf - b, Dec, 1879 (birth rec. says she was 6th child); 

m. Randle 
8. Ethel - m, Reeves 
9, John W, - b, 11 Feb 1881i d. 30 Aug 1881 (9th child) 

10. Shelby C. - b, Oct 18821 d, 28 Jul 1884 (could this be Car Coffey?) 
11, Edd - Could this be Edith, b. abt 1873 (see # 5 above)? 

C. A. 
b, 3 Dec 1841 
d. 5 Dec 1841 (or 1844) - bur Bethel Crk ch,, Saline co., n. 
c.E.c. 
b, 7 Feb 1843 
d. 8 Feb 1843 (1:Alr Bethel CJ.it ch, Saline co,, IL) 
John McClernan 
b, 1847 
m. 15 Aug 1869 Mary Glascock, Saline co,, IL 
children1 

1. John Ernest 
2. Nora - b. 1871, m. Toberman 
'.3, George Achilles - b, 18741 d. 1949: m. Julia Lockhart and had 

John Lockhart (b, 1898), May (m. Nickens), and Georgia (m. (1) 
Welch & (2) Camp). 

Phoebe Ann 
b, 16 Nov 1852 
d, 18 Dec 1852 (bur Bethel Ork ch., Saline co., IL) 

CHART 10-B 

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEY1 # 2 TH(lolAS 
'lhomas Coffey 

b, abt 1808, Wayne co., KY 
d. bef 5 May 1845, Miller co., MO 

* 
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m, 1J Oct 1828 Kezia (or Kezia..~) Varnier (or Varner), dau of Peter Varnier (or 
Varner) , Gallatin co. , IL. ~ 

children1 
1. Caroline 

b. 1829, Illinois 
m. Goodwin 
childrena 'lllomas, Christina. E,, Keziah c., another son, and others(?), 

2. Willia.m Allen 
b. 1831/2, Illinois • 
d. Miller co., MO 
m. Mary ''Polly" Wiseman, Camden co., MO 
childrena George, Louisa, Rufus, Keziah c., Caldonia, Sarah J,, 'lllomas, 

James A., Jasper, & another son(?). 
J. Harvey c. 

b. 18)4, Gallatin co., n 
4. Elizabeth A. 

b, 1838, Gallatin co,, IL 
5. 'nlomas M. 

b. late 18)9 or early 18if0, Gallatin co., n. 
6, Sarah J. 

b. 1845, Miller co. , MO 

CHART 10-C 

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEY1 # 6 SALLY 

Sally Coffey 
b, abt 1816, prob. Washington co., IN 
d. bef 1840 (?), or perhaps 1840-4J, prob. Hamilton co., IL 
m. 28 Jul 1836 Ewing Flannigan, Gallatin co., n. 
childrena 

1. Perlina 
b. abt 1837, prob. Hamilton co., IL 

2. Martha E. 
b. abt 18J9, prob. Hamilton co., n. 

3. Poss. a 3rd dau. b, by 1840 (?), 
Ewing (b. 1816, TN);m. (2) 19 May 1843 Caroline Mace, (J) 15 Sep 1843 Mary 
Elinor Cantrell, d. 20 Dec 1846, Matamoras, Mex. 

CHART 10-D 
CHil.DREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEY1 # 7 JAMES WESLEY 

James Wesley Coffey 
b, 15 May 1818, Wayne co., KY 
d, 5 Aug 1883, Saline co., n. (bur Bethel Crk ch) 
m. 20 Nov 18,54 Mary Ellen M. Kane-(b. 11 Jan 18391 d. 11 Jul 1916, Saline co. 

IL, bur Bethel Crk ch,), Saline co., IL 
childrena (poss. others) 

1. Isabella F. Coffey 
b. abt 1855/56 
m, 15 Feb 18?2 John D. Simmons, Saline co,, IL 

2. James H. Coffey 
b. 18 Jun 1858 
d. 27 May 1873 (bur Bethel Crk ch.) 

3, Sarah Elizabeth (Lizzie) 
b, abt 1860 
m. 24 Oct 1880 John c. Ogden 

* 

* 
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4. 

5. 

6. 

7, 

8. 

Mary J. 
b, abt 1862 
m, 6 May 1883 James E, Hargraves 
Samuel M. 
b, 31 Aug 1866 
d, 6 0ct 186q (bur Bethel Crk ch,) 
Robert E. 
b. 19 Dec 1869 
d, 6 Aug 1870 (bur Bethel Crk ch.) 
Lillie M, (female) 
b, 11 Jun 1871 
d, 16 Dec 1872 (bur Bethel Crk ch.) 
Lillian R, (male) 
b. 21 Oct 1873 
d. 4 Jul 1947, Harrisburg, Saline, IL 
m, 20 Jan 1895 Arminda F, Braden, Saline co,, IL 
child.rem 1, Blanche {md, Cecil Pulliam); 2, Beulah (md. James Conrad 

Pemberton), J. Rex (not married); 4. Ray (md, Winnie Tate); 5. 
Arthur (md. Ruth Jones}; 6. Inez (md. Fred.rick Allard), 

9, Whilly (male) 
b. abt 1774 
d. bef 1883 

CHART 10-E 

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEYs # 8 LEWIS P. 

Lewis P. Coffey 
b, abt 1820/21, Illinois 

. d, bef 25 Apr 1848, Hamilton co., IL 
m. 5 Oct 1842 Nancy Ann C, Laswell, Hamilton co., IL 
childrens * 

1. Sarah J. 
b, abt 1845, prob. Hamilton co,, IL 

2. Sophronia 
b, abt 1847, prob. Hamilton co., IL 

3, Louisa 
b, abt 1848, prob. Hamilton co., IL 
d, 1889/90 
m. 1 Dec 1872 John Frank McGill, Hamilton co,, IL 

CHART 10-F 

CHILDREN OF JAMES AND FRANCES (LANE) COFFEYa # 10 ELI 
Eli Coffey 

b, 6 Oct 1825, Gallatin co., n, 
d, 7 Oct 1899, Hamilton co., IL (bur Rector Fork cem., Hamilton co., IL) 
m. (1) 17 Jun 1852 Nancy Russell (b. 27 Jun 18)2; d. 4 Aug 18691 bur Rector 

Fork cem., Hamilton co.), Hamilton co., n, 
childrena 

1, Frances M, 
b, 12 May 1854 (or 1853 ?) 
d, 24 Oct 1862 (bur Rector Fork cem,, Hamilton co.) 

2, Melvina J, 
b, abt 1855/56 
m. 22 Feb 1882 Alexander Frank Laswell, Hamilton co., IL 

3, Louisa Eliza 
b, abt 1857 
m. (1) 22 Jan 1888 Roberts. Gibson, (2) 25 Nov 1902 William .Beachum. 

147 
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4. James A. 
b. abt Jan 186o ~ 
m. Henrietta ---children1 Joseph E. Coffey, Saloma Bootman, Ora B. Coffey, & Lora A. Coffey. 

5. Columbus . 
b. 15 Oct 1~61 
d. 3 Feb 1864 (bur Rector Fork cem, Hamilton co,, IL) 

6. 'lbomas R. 
b. 20 Sep 186J 
d. 15 Feb 1864 (bur Rector Fork cem, Hamil ton co,) 

?. Mary E. 
b. 1866 
m, 6 Oct 1889 William Jack Holland 

8, Samuel M, 
b. 6 Oct 1868 
d, 4 May 1892 (bur Rector Fork cem., Hamilton co,) 

9. Nancy 
b, Jul/Aug 1869 (1870 census) 

m. (2) 10 Oct 1872 Nancy Ellen Foster (b. 10 Nov 18451 d, 15 Apr 1879 (bur 
Rector Fork cem. , Hamil ton co. ) , Hamil ton co, , IL 

children, 
1, Modesta Anna 

b, 18?3 
m. 30 Apr 1899 Thomas Warren McKay, Hamilton co., IL 

2. Sariah 
b, abt 1875/76 
m, 6 Oct 1889 Samuel Lloyd Holland 

3, John Eli ·""') 
b. 24 Jan 18?8 (Birth Bk, A,# 55, Hamilton co., IL) 
d. 22 Mar 1952 (bur Rector Fork cem., Hamilton co.) 
m. 21 Oct 1900 Sarah E. Shaptaw, Rural Hill, Hamilton co., IL 
childrens 

1. Lucille - b. 1901 
2. John Elvis - b, 1903 
J. Janie Evelyn - b, 19051 m. Ray Summers (she has furnished much of 

the material for Eli and his children). 
4. Mamie Ellen - b. 1907 
5. Floyd A. - b. 1909 
6. Resa Ethel - b. 1911 
7. Newman Arthur - b. 1914 * 
8. Othel Leman - b, 1916 
9, Roy Leo - b. 1919. 



CHAPTER 11 

THE LANE FAMILY 

11 
So upright Quakers please 
both man and God:' 

... Pope 
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On August 8, 178) in Bedford county Virginia one Thomas Lane married a Nancy 

Dabney, It was their daughter, Frances who married James M, Coffey as given in the 

previous chapter. Both the Lane and Dabney families were early and numerous in 

Virginia so the particular lines of these 2 individuals are not entirely clear, 
However, I will give what I have been able to find, first, in this chapter the 

Lanes, and in the next chapter the Dabneys. 

'!here were already at least 19 Lane 1mmigrants1 to Virginia by 1666 and many 

others appeared in Maryland2 and in North Carolina 3 before the Revolution. There 

was a Thomas Lane (age 30) in Virginia as early as 161)~ In the early 1700s a 

London merchant5 by the name of 'lhomas Lane did a lot of trading in Virginia. 
There is a possibility that he finally settled there but no proof. There was 

also a 'lhomas and 'lhomas Jr. in Surry county Virginia (more later), and a 1bomas 

in New Kent county in 1704.6 A William Lane came from Newgate to Virginia on the 

ship "Forward Frigate" October 25, 17237 and some other Lanes in the early 1700s. 

There are a number of other Lane records in early Virginia including a Thomas in 
8 Hanover county in 1719, a runaway white servant named Thomas Lane in Caroline 

county about 1744-469 and a 'lbomas Lane a.?ld wife Ann in Spottsylvania county in 
10 

the 1760s and 1770s. 

However, ~l we know of our line seems to come from Quaker records. 11 William 

Lane, son of 'lhomas, married Anne Crew, daughter of John Crew at the Friends Meet­

ing House in Henrico county Virginia November 6, 1733/34. William had been meet­

ing with the Cedar Creek Particulate Meeting (located in Hanover county) at least 

one year when he was married. 'lbe manner 1n which this data is presented suggests 

that William may have been a convert to the Quaker faith. We have no earlier 

record of him in Quaker meetings nor of his father 'lbomas. Perhaps the latter was 

the 'Ihomas living in Hanover county 1n 1719 and. the 'lbomas in New Kent county in 
1704 (Hanover was formed from New Kent county). '!be Crews seem to have been a 

strong Quaker family. John and wife Sarah together with marriages of their child­

ren are listed in Henrico Monthly Meetings, apparently held in Charles City * 
county in the early 1700s. We do not have the birthdates but the marriages were 
as followsa 

1. Sarah - m. 8 Jan 1714/15 Robert Elyson 
2. John - m. 14 Mar 1717 Agatha Elyson 
J. Andrew - m. 12 Feb 1720 Hannah Elyson 
4. Mary - m. 10 Sep 1724 John Ladd 

1.51 



5. Joseph - m. 12 Jun 1?25 Massey Johnson 
6. Jane - m. 28 Dec 1 ?27 /28 John Sanders ~ 
?. William - m. 8 Jul 1?29 Hannah Sanders 
8. Anne - m. 6 Nov 1 ?33/34 William Lane * 
9. David - m. 9 Nov 1733/34 Mary Stanley 

There must have been Quaker meetings ~.e1d at John Crew's house as it is on the map 

(in Charles Cit:, county) provided by Hinshaw of Quaker meeting places in Virginia. 

Most further Virginia records of the Lane family are in the Cedar Creek P.M. 
(see picture), located in Hanover county. 1be minutes of this Particulate Meeting 

mention a 1h0111.as and a Daniel Lane signing a marriage certificate in 1739/4-0. In 

Cedar Creek Quaker Meeting House, Hanover 
Co. VA (Redrawn from Meyer·, Dr. Harold J. a) 

17'.39 William and family requested a certificate to go to Opecken Monthly Meeting 

(Hopewell) in Frederick county and made a second request in 1741. It was granted 

in October 1741 but there is no record that they ever went there. If they did, 
they apparently came back and were probably living in Caroline county while attend­

ing Cedar Creek P.M. in 1764 men they were granted a certificate to go to New 

Garden M. M. (Guilford. county North Carolina). When they arrived there in Feb­

ruar;y 1765 the children were listed as Sa.rah, William, Daniel, Jesse, 'lhomas, 
Marjory, and Mordecai. 'lhe father William and the children Sa.rah, William, Dan­
iel, and Jesse were dismissed (disfellowshipped) for various reasons while living 
there and in 1771 AM and 3 ehilcb:'en ('lhomas, Marjory, and Mordecai) received a 

certificate to go to South River M.M. (Bedford co •. VA, now Campbell co.). 'Ibey 
apparently didn't stay at South River long as they were received at Cedar Creek 

a VA Mag. Hist, Biog. 64(4)14,54, Oct 1956 



M.~. in June 1772, In 1778 Ann went back to New Garden, Guilford county, North 

~ Carolina. From these records it may sound as though Ann, with some of her children, 

is moving back and forth but not her husband William and the rest of the children. 

However, since they had been "dismissed" no record was made of them, Probably the 
entire family moved together except that some of the older children may have been 

married and remained in Guilford county North Carolina when the family moved back 

to Virginia· in 1771. Not much is known about the children other than Thomas. 

Sarah married Benjamin Hancock about 1765. She was dismissed from the New Garden 

M.M. December 28, 1765, probably for marrying Hancock who was evidently not a • 

Quaker. They moved to Wayne county Kentucky between 1779 and 1804. Their child­

ren were, 

1. William 
2. Nancy 
3. John L. 
4. Margaret (Margery) 
5. Sa.rah Gwen - m, William Rains (b. Franklin co., VA), 2 Ma.r 1809, Wayne co., 

KY 
6. Jesse 
7. Benjamin, Jr. 

Benjamin, Sr. died in 1815 and Sarah sometime after that. Sarah Gwen Eancock and 

William Rains had a son Benjamin H, Rains, born December 18, 1816 in Wayne county 

Kentucky and he married Catherine Roberts Wallen November 10, 1869 in Wayne county. 

They had a son Constant Benjamin Rains April 17, 1875 who married Lennie Etta 

Carter July 5, 1905. The latter couple were the parents of Estil E. Rains, born 

May 18, 1906 ~ he was the father of Katherine Rains Buck of Alpha, Kentucky. 

I have no definite records for the next 3 children, William, Daniel and 

Jesse, but these names occur in Guilford county records and I believe they settled 

there, All J were dismissed from New Garden M.M, (Daniel 1769, William 1770, and 

Jesse 1774), but reasons are not given. A Jesse married Hannah Huddleston about 

1803, 'Ibey had the following children a Lydia, Ira, Phebe, Levi, Annuel (Ann), 

Rhoda, Mary, Elizabeth, Rachel, and Susannah am moved to Ohio in 1809, affiliating 
with the Miami Monthly Meeting, It would seem that Jesse, son of William and Ann 

would be too old to be this Jesse so perhaps he is a son of Jesse, William or Daniel, 

As far as I know there is no info:r:mation on the daughter Marjory but the youngest 
son, Mordecai is apparently the one who was received at New Ga.rd.en M.M. from Cedar 

Creek M,M. June 8, 1782. He was dismissed November 7, 1797 for "marrying out of * 

Union (too near kin)". Perhaps he married Susanna Ballard·as she was listed as 

a Lane when dismissed October 3, 1796 for the same reason. 'Ibey settled on Deep 
River (Guilford. county) tut I do not know their child:ren. 



Thomas Lane may have gone to Bedford county soon after the family's return 

to Virginia as a 'Ibomas Lane had 4-00 acres on both sides of Little Whipping Creek 

surveyed there in 1774, and purchased 250 acres on both sides of Phelps Creek 

in 1778. However one or both of these could well be another Thomas (Tommy) Lane 
who was in Bedford county during this time, We know that the Thomas who married 

Nancy Dabney there on August 8, 1783 1s our 'Ihomas Lane, 'lhere were quite a few 

Lanes in Bedford county at the time and it seems likely that at least some of them 

may have been related to Thomas' family, although a definite tie-in is lackillf?. 

When William and AMe and the younger children stopped there in 1771/2 it could 

have been because of Lane relatives, However, it is equally likely that they 

went there to be With Anne's relatives since there are Crews among the Quaker 

famil 1.es of Bedford county and they seem to have a connection to the Crews in 
the area where Anne originally lived. One possible Lane coMection is that 

Cornelius Dabney, not her father but the one who gave consent for Nancy's mar­

riage to Thomas Lane, married a Mary ''Molly" Lane, probably in Hanover county. 

Perhaps she was a close relative of our Lane family. 
12 Floyd B. Layne in his book on the Lane family gives the descendants of 

'Ihomas and Elizabeth (Jones) Lane of Surry county Virginia (Thomas born 1635). 
He had a son 'lhomas, born about 1662 who married Jane Flood, They had a son ~ 

'Ibomas, born 1687-94 in Surry county who married Mary ___ • Among their child-

ren was a son John, born prior to 1721 in Surry county, died 1789 in Bedford 

county. He married (1) Martha Heath and (2) Jane Heath (sister of Martha). Be­

sides a son John Jr. the children included a son 'lhoma.s, born about 17.58. 'lhis 

family was in Bedford county, particularly the portion that became Campbell county 

in 1781-2. By 1789 Thomas had crossed over into Halifax county (Halifax county 

deeds, Bk. 15, P• 430, etc.). This 'lhomas is often referred to as Tommie or 

Tommy in the records. Mr. Layne says he is the one who married Nancy Dabney in 

1783. Perhaps this is because there is only one 'lbomas Lane in the marriage 

records of this time and also because he was unaware that there was another 

'Ihomas Lane in Bedford county. Although it is difficult, if not impossible, 
to separate the two 'lhomas Lanes in some of the records of Bedford and Campbell 
county it seems evident to me that there really were two men by that name there 

in the 1770s - 1790s. 'lhe tax records and some deed records at least show two 

'lhomas Lanes at the same time or only one when our 'lhomas was gone to North Caro­
lina and only one in Bedford when the other one (often called Tommy) had moved 

from the county. '!be most difficult record to reconcile is the deed in Campbell 
county September 2, 1790 in which "'lhomas and Nancy Lane of the county of Campbell" 

sell 50 acres on Little Whipping Creek. Perhaps the other 'lhomas also married a 
Nancy. 



'!he most positive evidence we have connecting our line to Thomas Lane (the 

,-,, Quaker) and Nancy Dabney is a letter 13 written by their grandson, the Rev. Achilles 

(Archelaus) Coffey in 1878. Archelaus claimed to have good knowledge of and as­
sociation with Thomas Lane. Quoting from the letter, "On my mother's side her 
fathers name was Thomas Lane; I think he was cf English descent. He died at nine­

ty six years of age 1n Southern Illinois, He had lived in Virginia, North Caro­

lina and New York, raised in the Quaker pursuasion but finally espoused the Bap­

tist faith, My grandmother on my mother's side was of Welsh descent; her name 

was Nancy Dabney before her marriage. 11 Arebela.us further clarifies this in his 

book14 on the history of the Regular Ba.ptists1 11
,,. my ~and.father••• joined the 

Baptists many years before my birth Q.ao~, was a man of extraordinary mind, and 

lived to be about ninety-siX years of age, He was living in this country @outhern 

Illinoifil at the time the di vision commenced ( spl.i t in the Regular Baptists to 

form the Mission Ba.ptisti) • but died before the separation was complete (]enerally 

conceded to be 18Jz). I had many interesting interviews with him, He spent a 

portion of his time among the Baptists in Virginia and North Carolina, but princi­

pally in Kentucky and Illinois. His name was Thomas Lane." 

If we can accept what Archelaus says then Thomas Lane could have been born 

~ as early as 1'71.J-O or 1?41 and died about 1836 or 183?, I believe the latter to be 
approximately correct but if his birth order in the family is as given in the 

New Garden M.M. minutes, then I doubt he could have been born before 1743. This 

would make him 40 years old when he married. If he spent time among the Baptists 

in Virginia this was probably when he was in Bedford county. Perhaps his Lane 

relatives there (if indeed they were) were Baptist and so influenced him, or 

perhaps the Dabneys were Baptists (I have not been able to find out). The ref­

erence to living among the Baptists in North Carolina could have been after his 

marriage, At least 2 of his children were born in North Carolina (Frances, 1785 

and Mordecai, 178?), One might expect tha.t they would have gone to Guilford 

county where others of Thomas' family 11 ved and where there were some Da.bneys 

who were probably closely related. 15 '!here is no Thomas Lane on the 1784-87 
state census of North Carolina and none in Guilford county on the u,s. census 

of 1?90, However, William, Da.niel, and Mordecai are listed there and perhaps 
Thomas and Nancy with their 2 or 3 children could have been living with one of 

them, al though in each case only one male over 16 is listed. There are 3 'lhomas 
La.nes on the 1790 census of North Carolina, one in Dobbs county. one in Burke 

r county, and one in Stokes county. There is a Thomas Lane on the 1793 tax list 
of Wilkes county North Carolina. OUr Thomas Lane apparently cannot be identified 



from the North Carolina 1790 census or the one in 1800. The Vir~inia census for 

1790 and 1800 are missing but some tax records and other state enumerations a.re 
available. A Thomas appears on tne Bedford county personal property tax lists, 

1787-1?90 so perhaps this is our Thomas and Nancy. They may have gone to North 

Carolina where Frances and Mordecai were born, returrrl.ng to Bedford county in 

time for the 1?87 tax list (the first they are on) but missing the 1?8? state 

census in North Carolina, It is possible they later went to New York as Rev. 

Achilles says as much.13 The 1800 census of New York lists 3 Thomas Lanes. Ours 

does not fit the statistics given for any of the J, Frank Moore mentions, 16 with­

out giving a source other than Achilles letter, that the Lanes got to Kentucky 

(from New York) by rafting down the Ohio river, Lacking evidence to the contrary, 

I prefer to think they were in North Carolina, Virginia, or perhaps eastern Tenn­

essee and entered Kentucky by way of the Cumberland Gap, thus accounting for their 

presence in Wayne county Kentucky in 180J, 17 Why would they have gone to Wayne 

county? Possibly because there were other Lanes and/or Dabneys there at that time. 

Some of the Dabneys there seem to be closely related to Nancy Dabney Lane (see 

chapter 13) but there is no sure connection with the Lanes except for Thomas' 

sister Sarah who married Benjamin Hancock. A John Lane is on the 1802 tax list 

(moves to Tennessee in 1806) and a Jonathan Lane and a William Lane are in Cumber- ~ 

land county in 1799, 'Ihe a.rea of Wayne where 'lbomas Lane settled was taken from 
Cumberland county. 

Thomas Lane is listed on the 1810 and 1820 census of Wayne county Kentucky, 

but in 1827 he sold his 1aru118 there and they followed the Coffeys (James Coffey 

and his wife Frances Lane) to Southern Illinois. 19 I have been unable to find any 

indisputable record. of 'lbomas Lane in Illinois. However, from what has previously 

been given we are sure he was there and that he probably died there about 1836/3?, 

We do find a Thomas Lane living next to the Coffeys and Durhams in the Saline pre­

cinct of' Gallatin county in 1840, 20 but he was only 40-50 years old. As will be 
discussed later I believe him to be Thomas Jr,, the son of our Thomas Lane, 

It is important to distinguish our Lanes from other contemporary Lane fami­
lies in Southern Illinois. A John Lane and wife Elizabeth living in Equality 

township of Gallatin county is probably unrelated and presents no problem in con­

fusing lines. 'Ihe same is true of a John Lane in Hamil ton county from Ohio. How­
ever, a large Lane family settled in Hamilton county 21 in 1818, coming from Sum-
ner county Tennessee, but originally from Craven county North Carolina. The fathers 

name was James (wife Mary Phipps) and his sons were William, Leaven, 'lbomas, James ~ 

Jr, (who was born June 28, 1814 and became a county judge), Lemuel B., and a mar-

ried son Lewis With wife Mary {Prince) and childxen Joel P. and Eliza. James' 

daughters were Sadie, Lavina, Elizabeth and Mary. The family located a few miles 



east of McLeansboro (T 5 3, R 6 and 7 E), Two and possibly J sons of Thomas and 

( Nancy Lane also settled in Hamilton county, in the 1820s, These were Lens, 

Dabney, and 'Ihomas (assuming the latter was their son), but they settled just 

north of the Saline county line (thus near the Coffeys) in T 7 3, R 6 E. An ex­

amination of the marriage, census, and tax :rE=cords of Wayne county Kentucky to­

gether with census and land records in Hamilton-Gallatin-Saline counties Illinois 

helps us to reconstruct the family of 'lbomas and Nancy. 

1. Frances Lane - b, 22 Jun 1785, N,C.; 22 m, 16 Jan 180423 James Coffey, .... , 
·,fa.yne co, KY; d. 24 Oct 1859 of ~opsy 11

, .:.~ Saline co,, IL. Little is known about 

her personally but she can be followed through the moves and activities mentioned 

for James Coffey in the last chapter, 
2. Mordecai Lane - b, abt 1787, 25 N,C,1 m. 7 Nov 181123 Celia Atkinson, Wayne 

26 co, KY; d, prob, bef 1880 Marion co,, OR, He was a private in the War of 1812 * 

in Capt, John Martin's Co,, Col, Wm, Lewis' Regt,, KY Volunteers (assuming there 

was no other Mordecai Lane in Kentucky at that time), On Oct, 9, 1829 he sold 27 

his land in Wayne county (which bordered on land once held by John W, Coffey) and 

moved to Gallatin county Illinois, He is in the latter place in 18J028 but some­

time between then and 1840 he moved to Miller county Missour1 29 where several of 

his children married 30 during the 1840s, The relationship of the 2 census and the 

proximity to the Coffey family identify him as the correct Mordecai Lane, One 
might not think this name common enough to need to distinguish him from others of 

the same name, However, there is a Mordecai Lane on the Bond county Illinois 

census of 1830, 2 in Indiana in 1840 and 185031 (spelled Mordica) and another one 

in Missouri 18JQ-40-50. 32 It appears that Mordica was just another spelling of 

Mordecai a.s our Mordecai was also spelled "Mordica" on the 1840 census. Mordecai's 

son, John J. married Louisa Coffey in Miller county Missouri December 25, 184233 

and this family is on the 1850 census of that county, As was mentioned in Chapter 

10 there is strong circumstantial evidence that this Louisa is a younger daughter 

of James and Frances (Lane) Coffey. '!bus, John J, and Louisa would have been 
first cousins, 

They do not appear on subsequent census or other recrods of Miller county or 

adjacent count1.es as far as I can tell, but Mordecai and some of' his other child­
ren apparently crossed the plains to Oregon in the same wagon train as John Coffey 

in 1853, 34 Mordecai and his wife Celia are on both the 1860 and 1870 census of 

Marion county Oregon but not on the 1880 census. Presumably they had died by that 

time as they were 83 and 80 respectively in 18?0, I have not been able to find 
what happened to the John J, Lane-Louisa Coffey family. Further data on Mordecai's 
family can be found in Chart 11. 



3. Thomas Lane (Jr.), b. 1793-180o26(prob. 1794). There is no proof of this 

one but there are 2 Thomas Lanes in Hamilton county on the 1830 census, or.e 30-40 

and one 20-30. In 1840 there are none there but one, age 40-50 is in Gallatin 

county, 20 3aline precinct living next to the Coffeys and Durhams, and one in Har­

din county, also~ 40-50. In the Bethel Creek church records 19 a Milly Lane 

is received by letter May 1840 from Rector's Fork church in Hamilton county. 

Thomas and Milly Lane are on the 1850 census of Saline·county, but are then back 

in Hamilton county on the 1860 census (but probably living just across the county 

line). The only problem with this Thomas belonging to our family is that the census 

records say born in Tennessee. Of course we don't know what happened to the Lanes 

from 1787 to 1803, with few exceptions, so they may have gone to Tennessee for a 

time. It is also possible the census records could be wrong in stating Tennessee, 

If this Thomas belongs to our family what happened to the 'Ibomas in the James 

Lane family? He may haw gone to Hardin county as a Thomas Lane is there on the 

1840 and 1850 census (wife Jane). He is listed as age 60 in 1850 and born in 

Virginia so this might even be our Thomas. However, I favor the other Thomas 

because of his closeness to the Coffeys in Saline county, It is also quite possi­

ble there was no Thomas Lane Jr. since no definite evidence for him occurs in 

Wayne county Kentucky records. 

4. Nancy Lane, b. 1794-180035 (Prob. not later than 1796-7); m. 5 Mar 181223 

Samuel Moore in Wayne co. KY. The bond and an oath of the consent of her parents 

was given by Mordecai Layne. This family is on the 1820 Wayne county census and 

Wayne county tax lists 1815-1827. 'Ibey probably then went to Illinois. Several 

Samuel Moores occur in Illinois where the Coffeys lived so it is difficult to be 

sure if one of them is our Samuel and Nancy or not. I believe the one on the 1830 
census of S&!lflam.on county living near James and Frances (Lane) Coffey is ours and 

the one on the Christian county Illinois 184o census may be the same. I have not 

found the family in 1850. 'Ibey would appear to have had a son born 1812-1815, 2 
daughters 1815-20, 2 daughters 1820-25, and J sons and 1 daughter 1825-30. 

5. Lewis Lane, b, 7 Mar 1799.36 The situation here is somewhat similar to 
the one with Thomas, 'Ibere were 2 Lewis Lanes on the 1830 and 1840 Hamilton cou­

nty Illinois census but only one seems to belong to the James Lane family. In 

185037 one is age 50, born Virginia, wife Eliza J. 'Ibe other is 56, born North 

Carolina, wife Jane. 'lbe latter is the only one on the 1860 census, listed as 

age 66, A Lewis Lane appears on the Wayne county Kentucky tax lists 1822 to 1827 
am a Lewis Lane provides the bond for a marriage of Jesse Shasteen and Polly 

Kinnett March 21, 1818,23 This Jesse is probably the son of Jesse Sr. and Eleanor 



Wade Coffey Shasteen, hence the Coffey-Lane relationship, The Lewis, born 1799 

~ in Virginia who married Eliza J, definitely belongs to our family. We now knm,36 

that he first married Nancy Dean {a daughter of Jacob Sr. and Susanna Dean) on 

April 17, 1824, Nancy died before 184.5 and Lewis then married Elisa Jane 'ttouisa 11 

Broyles, dau~hter of Fielding and Susan Broyles March 3, 1845 in Hamilton county 

Illinois,38 Lewis was in the Black Hawk war39 but apparently not(?) the one who 

was a Lieutenant in the company of Capt. Arden Bigerstaff. Data for this family 

can be found in Chart 11-A. 

This picture thought to 

be of Lewis Lane family, 

Lewis, right front; wife 

Eliza, far right; son 

Jacob left front and ~1~ 

wife Nancy far left; 

Lewis' daughter Nancy 

Ellen in middle. 

6. According to the 1850 census of Hamil ton county Illinois Sarah "Sally" * 
Lane was born in 1800 in North Carolina. We have no better information than this. 

The Lanes must have moved again from Bedford county Virginia to North Carolina 

sometime between March 1799 and Sally's birth in 1800, It would undoubtedly be 

interesting if we knew the story behind she and brother Lewis' double marriage to 

Deans on April 17, 1824 in Hamilton county Illinois, 'Ihe Lanes had apparently 

not moved to Illinois by this date with the exception of Frances who was married 

to James Coffey. It would appear that Lewis and Nancy alone made the trip prior 

to April 1824, Although there were Deans in Wayne county as early as the Lanes, 

apparently Jacob (Sr) and Jacob (Jr) were not, as tax records and deeds indicate 

they did not arrive until 1826. One can imagine that Lewis and Nancy went to 

visit James and Frances Coffey and they introduced them to the Deans who lived 

not more than a mile or two across the county line. If Jane Coffey married William 

Dean and Archelaus "Achilles" was to marry Jane Dean (on April 23, 1824) the 



connection would be more than justifiably provided. Thus on April 17, 1824 Lewi~; 

Lane married Nancy Dean and Jacob Dean (Jr) married Sally Lane - brother and 

sister married sister and brother. As mentioned above both the Jacob (Sr.) and 

Jacob (Jr.) families moved to Wayne county Kentucky in 1826, but then back to 

Hamilton county Illinois in 1827. This 1s probably the same time Thomas and 

Nancy Lane moved to Illinois. 40 Da.bney Lane and his new wife Cassandra Dean plus 

3amuel and Nancy {Lane) Moore also probably moved in 182?; but not Mordecai. 
41 Jacob Dean (Jr.), more fully known as Jacob Clay Dean died intestate in Hamilton 

county August 2, 1854 and his son, James D, Dean was granted letters of Adminis­

tration October 17, 18 54, Jacob C. and Sally {Lane) Dean• s family is shown in 

Chart 11. 

7, Dabney Lane, b, 1802, N,c, 37, m, J Jan 1827 Cassandra Dean (Dane in record) 

Wayne co. KY, 23 He is probably the "Dabarry" Lane on the Hamilton county 1830 

census except that the age is wrong (J0-40), However, he is definitely there in 

1840 and 185032, but not in 1860 or thereafter, Dabney 1s on the 1825, 6, and? 

tax lists of Wayne county Kentucky and during the last year his property is list­

ed under the name of "J, Coffey", He probably moved with other Lanes in 1827. No 

further information on Dabney has been found. 

A Bradford Lane appears on a marriage bond in Wayne county Kentucky in 1820 ~ 

but there is no information as to how {or if) he is related to our family. Per-

haps one of the Lanes remained in Wayne county and had children there as some 

Lanes are found in later records, notably a Samuel w. who marries in 1838.23 

William Dabney Lane familya 1st row, 1.-r., Elzad.a, Wm. 
Dabney, Cora, Sarah Flannigan Lane, Susana 2nd row, 1.-r, 
Robert, Emily, Lonnie, Ida, and James. 
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CHART 11 

OUR LANE LINEAGE 

Thomas Lane 
b. England (?) 
in 1•v Kent-Hanover, VA, 1704, 1719 (?) John Crew 

b. 1670-80 (?), d. 29 Hey 1762 
• m. Sarah ..--, ------,-------, I --

Thomes Daniel Wllliam Lane 
Lane(?) Lane(?) b. ebt 1707 (?) 9 children Including 

l!I. 6 Nov 1733/34, Anne Crev-----Anne Crew 
Henrico co., VA b. abt 1713-19, New Kent co., VA 

Llvad 1734-64 in Hanoier or Caroline co., VA 

Sarah William Daniel 
b. abt 1735 b. abt 1737 b. abt 1739 
d. after 1815 
m. abt 1765 . 

Benjamin Hancock 
children~ aee text 

m. 16 Aug 1774 
Patients Green(?) 
Guilford co., N.C. 

I 
Prances 
b. 22 .Jun 1785, N.C. 
d. 24 Oct. 1859 

Horlacal * 
b. abt 1787, N.c. 
d. bef 1880 

I 
Thomas Jr. 
(may not belong) 
b. abt 1794 

.Jeaao 
b. abt 1741 

T Nancy 
b. abt 1796 
l!I, 5 Har 1812 

Thomas 
b. abt 1743 

I 
Lewis 
b. 7 Har 1799 
Bedford co.VA 

Saline co., IL 
m. 16 Jan 1804 .Jamee 
Coffey, Wayne co. KY 
children: see chap.IO 

Marion co. ,OR 
111. 7 Nov 1811 
Cella Atkinson 
Way_ne co., KY 

1!1§. ~i::e-s 

S11D1Ue1 Moore d. 10 Sep 1874 
Wayne co., KY Phelps co.HO 

John J, 
b. abt 1821 
Wayne co.KY 
m. 25 Dec 1842 
Louiaa Coffey 
Hiller co. HO 
(see clJap. 10) 

ames 
b. abt 
1843!4 

Thcnnaa 
b. abt 
1845.'6 

Elliiabeth Nancy 
1!1,(1) Jamar, l!I, 19 Jan 
Perry 7/1838 1841 Creed 
or 8 1839,HO T,Blggera 
(2) Fry Hiller co. 
aft,1862 HO 
Marion co.OR 

Wl 1118111 
b. abt 
1847/8 

Lucinda 
b. abt 
Nov 1849 

Others 
? 

2. loeac 
:3. Mary 

. Wllliam (?) 

l!I. 17 Apr 1824 
Nancy Dean 
lamil ton co. IL 

Mary Hali11oa 
m. 9 Har 
1847 Jamer, 
T. Lynch 
Hiller co. 
HO 

another dau 6. 
another son 

See Chart 11-A 

Prlacllia 
m. 10 Nov 1853 
Augustus Hiller 
Marlon co. ,OR 

Elnillne 
m. 5 Oct 1854 
David Kirkpatrick 
Marlon co., OR 

Prances 
m. 11 Oct 1855 
Robert Godfrey 
Harton co., OR 

J 

.James Dabney Dean 
b. abt 1826 
m. 20 Oct 1846 
Nancy Elizabeth 

Lewis 

Lucinda E. Dean 
b. ebt 1830 (?) 
m. 10 Feb 1848 
Moury V:• Le.,(& 

Susan N. Dean 
b. abt 1835 

Marjory 
b. abt 1745 

Sarah (Sally) * 
b. abt 1800, N.C. 
m. 17 Apr 1824 
Jacob Clay Dean 
(1804•2 Aug 1854) 
Hamilton co. IL 

I.Jacob Dean .Jr. 
b. 15 Sep 1825 
d. 15 Oct 1907 
m. 20 Dec 1847 
Hertha Ann 
Johnson 

3.Julle Ann Dean 
b. 18 Dec 1828 
d. 5 Oct 1897 
m. 2 Apr 1846 
Wll ll am Wilson 

Johnson 

Mordecai 
b. abt 174 
m. abt 1796/7 

Susanna Ballard(?) 
Cuti ford co., N,C. 

Dabney 
b. 1802, N.C. 
111. 3 Jan 1827 
Cassandra Dean 
(b. abt 1812) 
"1ayne co. KY 

l. llossannah 
b. abt 1829 
Lewls G. 
b. abt 1831 
Lettl tha .l. 
b. abt 1834 
Thomas II. 
b. abt 1837 

5. Wilt ia V. 
h. abt 1839 

6, Nancy J. 
b. abt 1843 

7. Sarah E. 
Sarah Adeline Deen 
b. abt 1833 

h. abt 1846 
8, Frances L. 

m. 12 Aug 1852 
Nlnlan Edwards Easly 

Nancy Dean 
b. abt 1837 

h. aht Dec 1849/ 
Jan 1850 

I J 

.. 
~~' 



CHART 11-A 

VITAL DATA OF THE LEWIS LANE FAMILY 

Lewis Lane 
b. 7 Mar 1799, Bedford co., VA 
d. 10 Sep 1874, Phelps co., MO; bur Millcrk. cem., nr. Newburg, MO 
m. (1) 17 Apr 1824 Nancy Dean, Hamilton co,, IL (dau of Jacob & Susanna Dean) 
children a 

1. Jacob C, Lane 
b, J Mar 1825, KY 
d, 18 Jan 1880, Phelps co,, MO 
m, 6 Mar 1845 Nancy Neoma Flannigan (b, 1825, dau of Samuel Ewing Flan­

nigan & Nancy Sharp), Hamilton co., IL 
children& 

1, Samuel - b, abt 1847, MO 
2, Nancy Elizabeth - b. abt 1849, IL 
J. William Larkin - b. abt 1852, IL; m, 1J Feb 1873 Mary Elizabeth 

''Polly" Flannigan, Phelps co. MO 
4, James - b, abt 1855-7, IL I m. Tillie Clark I most of children went 

to Calif, 
5, Thursey Ella - b, abt 185~, ILr m. after 1883 John K. Giddens, 
6. Martha J. "Mattie" - b, abt 18621 m, John Vincent. 

2, Susanna Lane 
b. 27 Nov 1829, IL 
d, 23 Nov 1913, Hamilton co., IL 
m, 20 Feb 1848 Lewis Waller (b. 5 May 1828, d, 5 Nov 1899), Hamilton co, 
children& Theresa, Saphronia, William, Nancy Eleanor, Amanda E., Lewis, 

John, Jarret, America "Mark", Richard, Paralee, Martha, Oscar, Thomas. 
J. William Da.hney Lane * 

b, 29 Mar 1835, Hamilton co., IL 
d, 22 Feb 1905, Pulaski co., MOr bur Hopewell cem, 
m, 23 Jan 1860 Sarah J. Flannigan ( dau Robert Harrison Flannigan, b, 

17 Mar 1845, 29 Aug 1907), Hamilton co,, IL (one marr rec has 2j_ 
Jan 186!• 

children• 
1, Nancy Elzada - b, 10 Apr 1862, Hamilton co., IL; d. 1921 Pulaski 

co,, MO; Bl• 17 Feb 1884 David Francis Page, 
2, tonidis 0 Lonnie" Walker - b, 22 Jun 1864, Hamil ton co. , IL f d, 19 

Feb 1930, Pulaski co., MO; m. Elmeda (Emily) Firestine 6 Nov 1892, 
J. Robert Lewis - b, 3 Dec 1866, Hamilton co., n.; d. Dec 1941, Ceres, 

CA; 28 Nov 1897 Cora Ellen Firestine. 
4, William Larkin - b. 22 Nov 18681 d. 22 Dec 1869. 
5, Mary Louisa - b. 6 Feb 1870; d. 30 Aug 1879. 
6. Laura Alice - b, 28 Mar 1873s d, 30 Sep 1879. 
7. Susan Naomi - b. 23 Oct 1875, Phelps co,, MOJ m. Owen Thomas Sneed, 
a. James Marion - b. 6 Oct 18791 d. 18 May 1905. 
9. Ida Caroline - b, 6 Oct 1879 (twin); m. (1) Waller or Walter 

Logan Holloway 9 Jun 1907. 
10. Cora Ellen - b, 11 Feb 1882; m. Norm Craft. 
11. Thersa Emily (Emma) - b. 29 May 18841 m, 29 Feb 1908 Robert E. 

Lee Null. 
12, Martha Safrona Ann - b. 19 Apr 18861 d. 19 Jul 1887, 

4, Laura L, 
b. abt 1837 /8 
d. after 1850 



Thursia E, Lane 
Giddens (dau of 
Jacob c. Lane), 
holding daughter 
3usie A, 1Left 1 

John K. Giddens 
and 2 children by 
former marri~. 

5, Nancy Ellen Lane 
b. 2J Jul 1840 ,Hamil ton co, • n. 
m. 17 Apr 1859 Larkin Cantrell Waller (b, 25 Apr 1833, d, 1928), Hamil­

ton co., IL. 
children1 Sarah Ann, Charles, Porter, Larkin, Erastus "Rassie", William, ~ 

Margaret, Uriah, Emma. 
m. (2) 3 Mar 1845 Eliza Jane "L-:>uisa" Broyles (dau of Fielding & Susan Broyles, 

b, 5 Jan 1825), Hamilton co., IL, 
chlldren1 

1. Jeremiah Ewing Lane 
b, 13 Oct 1847,Hamilton co., n. 
d, 9 Apr 1919, Waynesville, Pulaski, MO 
m. 16 Jan 1873 Mary Abigail Page, Phelps co., MO (she was b, 28 Jun 1849 

Hamil ton co. , IL, d. 11 Nov 1925, Waynesville, MO. ) 
children1 

1. George Washington - b, 20 Sep 1873, Phelps co,, MOs d,in Jan 19.56, 
Waynesville, MOs m, 26 Apr 1905 Cora Miller Duncan, 

2, Virginia Belle - b. 15 Jan 1875ad,51:ec 1926,; m. (1) 13 Mar 1901 
Lemuel Elliott (div), (2) __ Hibbard (div), (3) 5 Feb 1924 
Henry Roach. 

J, Walker Burton - b, 5 Jan 18?71 d, 9 Jul 1891, 
4. Minnie Jane - b, 15 Nov 1879, Phelps co,, M01 d, 2 Jan 1970, St. 

Louis, M01 m. 19 Dec 1912 Champ F.red Gray {div). 
5, Nancy Louisa - b, 12 Sep 1881, Phelps co., MOa d. 8 Aug 19381 m. 

21 Feb 1909 Emmet G. Coogan, 
6, Mary Agnes "Mollie" - b, 6 Dec 1883, Pulaski co., MO; d, 10 Apr 

19341 m, 25 Dec 1902 Houston El.ihue Morrow (b, 18 Apr 1880, Phelps 
co., MO, d, 7 Oct 19:34), children1 
1. Mildred Ruth Morrow, m, William F, Browns 2, Lawrence E. Morrow, 
b, 29 Oct 1906, d. 26 Jan 1946, m, Gladys Sanders, 3, Eunice Helen 
Morrow, m. Hugh G, Willoughbys 4. Opal Lea Morrows 5. Effie Jeanette 
Morrow, m. John Louis McCulloch. 



7. Rebecca Anna. - b. 16 Dec 1885, Fulaski co., MO; d. 21 Jun 1926, Ceres 
CA; m. 10 Oct 1906 Vandiver "Dick" Ber.:y Hill McDonald. 

Aboves Jeremiah Ewing Lane 
family, 1st row 1-r, Nancy 
Louisa, Jeremiah Ewing, 
Mary Agnes, ~ebecca Anna, 
Mary Abigail Page Lane, & 
Minnie Jane. Back, Virginia 
Belle and George Washington 

~• George Washington 
Lane, pointing to tombstone 

of his uncle, Jacob c. Lane 
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Mary Agnes Lane Morrow and husband Houston E. Morrow 
with children Lawrence E. (L) and Mildred Ruth {R), 
about 1907. 

Opal Lea Morrow, 1984 



CHAPTER 12 

TH L DA 8 NEY FAMILY 

DARMF.Y COAT•OF·ARll8 

11

There ,-,ere 
some men of 
dist tncti.on 
amongst them'' 

.. Rev. 
"Ach i 11 es" 
Coffey 
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It was mentioned in Chapter 11 that Thomas Lane married a Nancy Dabney in 

Bedford county Virginia on August 8, 178J. 'lheir grand.son, Rev. Archelaus 

( "Achilles") Coffey states, 1 "my grandmother on my-mother's side was of Welsh 

descent; her name was Nancy Dabney before her marriage. 'lhere were some men of 

distinction amongst them but I am not able to give their history," 3uch a pity 

he did not know at least their names& After much research, today we still do not 

know the names of her parents. 
Althoup:h a book on the marriage bonds of Bedford county 2 says "consent of 

Cornelius, father of Nancy," the actual bonds only say "consent of Cornelius,3 11 

I have taken this to mean that Cornelius could have been a relative, probably 

an uncle, with whom she was staying and perhaps her parents had moved elsewhere 

or were deceased. There are several reasons for this, ( 1) there is also a marriage 

bond (Nov. 3, 1785) for a Nancy Dabney to John Overstreet in which Cornelius is 

listed as her father, (2) In Cornelius' Will (1792)4 Nancy Overstreet is mentioned 

as a daughter. 'Ibis latter family is known to have gone to Illinois.1 (J) as 

evidenced by marriage and deed records there were other (at least one) Dabney 

families in Bedford county about this time. '!here is a Nathan who married Jenny 

Younger (more on him later), 'lhen we have William Dabney who received a patent5 

for 354 acres on both sides of the North Fork of Difficult Creek July 26, 1765. 

He is not a child of Cornelius but could be a brother. In 1791 William Dabney 
6 "of Guilford county, North Carolina" sells to Cornelius Dabney of Bedford county 

174 acres in Bedford county. It is possible that William had moved to North Caro­

lina leaving his daughter Nancy with her uncle Cornelius. Or, he could be deceased 
and this is a son William selling to his uncle Cornelius. In either case, I 

have been unable to find any record of a William Dabney in Guilford or neigh boring 

North Carolina counties. 'lhere was a John Dabney in Guilford county in deed? 

and court 8 records from 1779 to 1784 and also in Rockingham county on the 1790 

census. A Cornelius Dabney was in Caswell county on the same census as well as 
the North Carolina state census of 1786. Cornelius also appears on some Rockingham 9 

8 and Guilford county records, and is mentioned in the Caswell county court minutes 

in 1787 and 1788. We find records across the state line in the Pittsylvania­

Henry counties area for a John Dabney as early as 1769, 10 William in 177211 and 
Cornelius somewhat later (mostly 1780s). 12 Since William Dabney must have been 
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in Guilford county sometime (although not on official records) and had a land 

transaction with Cornelius of Be~ford county, I feel that all of these Dabneys 

in the Gu1lford-Caswell-Rockingha.m1 North Carolina area must be closely related 

to those in Bedford county Virginia (additional reasons will be given later). 
Sometime after her marriage to 'lhomas Lane,Nancy Dabney also went to North Caro-

11na..1J We don't know exactly where but this area would be a good probability 

since Thomas Lane also had relatives in Guilford county, and had himself lived 

there earlier. 14 

There are several mentions of a William Dabney in the Bedford county court 

order books but it may be a younger William. One says he 1s son of Rachael 

Dabney15 and then there is a marriage of William Dabney to Beckey Echols on 

September 4, 179J.2 

Perhaps before we go further with the Bed.ford Virginia and North Carolina 

Dabneys we should back up somewhat to lay the foundation for these families. 'lhe 

most prevalent theory 16 regarding the origin of the Dabneys is that they stem 

from a French Huguenot leader, Agrippa d'Aubigne (1550-1630) through his son 

Constant. It is further maintained that after the revocation of the Edict of 

Nantes (1685) a branch of this family left France and went to Wales. About 1715-
1717 two brothers Cornelius and John d'Aubigne left Wales and came to Virginia, ~ 

settling respectively on the northern and southern banks of the Pamunkey River, 

near the point where the river divides King William and Hanover counties. All of 

the Virginia Dabneys would thus have sprung from these two brothers. 

The above descent, or variations of it is to be found in several books and 

family histories, 17 However, Charles William Dabney in 1937 wrote an article 18 

that gives rather convincing evidence that the Huguenot theory could not be true, 

rut rather a Norman-English origin is instead correct. 'lhis theory proclaims the 

origin to be Sir William d'Aubigne, a knight of Nomandy (an area in France) who 

went to England with William the Conqueror in 1066. The Dabneys (many variations 

of the name) seemed to be particularly strong in Cambridgeshire and Norfolk England, 

'lhe first Dabney in America for which we have record is Cornelius, the inter­
preter to the Queen of the Pamunky Indians. He had a land grant 19 in New Kent 

county (now Hanover) as early as 1664 and is generally thought to have been born 

about 1630-1640. In 1678 he had a wife Edith (Eedeth) and they had at least 2 
sons. 2O Edith apparently died before he did as he is supposed to have married (2) 
Susanna (Swan?)17D before 1686. He died sometime between October 1693 and May 

169421 and Susanna married (2) David Anderson. It is said 22 that Cornelius and 

Susannah had 3 children and then she had 3 children by David. However, I believe 
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there is some confusion here, By Anderson she had a son David and possibly a dau­

~hter who married James Trice (Ruth?). It is usually said that she had a third 

child, ~ary who married Major Thomas Carr. However, Mary was born J:1"1uary 22, 168b 
and most certainly was a Dabney, not an Anderson. Thus, by Cornelius she had 

Mary and Cornelius, the latter born about 1686. A daughter Elizabeth died April 

4 and a son John April 7, both 1688.23 '!heir age at death is not known as we do 

not know whether Edith or Susanna was the mother. 1.:f the boys by Edith, one was 

most certainly James who married Ann Sherwood. by 1690. 24 Capt. George was probably 

another, although not stated as such in any record. He received a land grant 25 
on the same day (25 Apr 1701) and in the same area in Pamunkey Neck as did James, 

Sarah, and Dorothy (latter married William Anderson). James, Sarah, and Dorothy 

are stated as being b'rother and sisters. However, Trist Wood claims 26 that Sarah 

was really a sister-in-law and was the widow of John Dabney lfho died in early man­

hood and she married later that same year (1701) William Winston. He suggests 

that this John Dabney (born about 1665) was not the one who died 1688 but a son 

of a traditional John Dabney, immigrant, brother of Cornelius, Trist Wood further 

states 27 that Sarah was Sarah Jenni~s (not the same one that later - 1721 - marries 

Cornelius Dabney, Jr.) I do not know any bona fide evidence (civil or church 

records) for this, unless Mr. Wood had family papers which he did not mention. I 

am thus basically not accepting his contentions, while at the same time not re­

jecting them, but showing them as possibilities. 

Before summarizing this first generation I need to add that a Benjamin Dabney 

is on the 1704 quit rent roll of King Willia"Tl county, along with James and George. 

Some28 say he was a son of Cornelius the interpreter. At this point lets summarize, 

diagramatically, the first generation of Dabneys in Virginia (refer to Chart 12). 
Some comment on the John Dabney line (right side of chart) is needed. There 

does not seem to be any records of an early immigrant John but there a.re enough 

descendants, or early unplaced Dabneys, to make one believe there was a John. For 

instance, Trist Wood's ancestor, Francis Strother, apparently did marry a Susannah 

Da.bney~9 born about 1698, who was the daughter of a John Dabney. Also, we have 

some early John Dabneys that are probably too early to belong to the Cornelius 

and Sarah (Jennings) Dabney line (see later). Among those are records of a John 

in Hanover county (1733), Amelia county (1?34, and Caroline county (1734). Some 

sources 30 say John (born about 1665) married twice, names unknown, and by the 

first wife he had John III, George of Da.bney's Ferry and Nancy who married Mr. 

Millar of Henrico county. By the second wife he had James "the Powerful". Sup­

posedly John III and James didn't marry and George most probably belongs to Corn­

nelius the immigrant. 18 There is little else I can add on this "John line." 



1?2 

It is generally assumed that Capt. George Dabney I was a son of Cornelius the 
immigrant. He may have been born as early as 1670. He had a son Geor~e born 

169731 and a daughter Elizabeth born 1699. 23 '!here were several other daughters 

but the only other son was William (of Aldringham), It is important to talk about 

the two sons but first let me clear up another problem. Capt. George .:. is ~ ~::,:­

ably confused with the supposed George, first son of the Cornelius Dabney who 

married Sarah JeMings. 'Ihe story goes like this1 Cornelius lived in England 

with his first wife (not named), who was an invalid. He came to Virginia with her, 
a grown son George, and a housekeeper, Sarah Jennings. When the first wife died 

he married Sarah and proceeded to have 3 sons and 6 daughters. I suspect the 

truth is that Cornelius was the son of Cornelius the immigrant (b. 1686) and went 

to England for schooling. He did marry Sarah Jennings in April 1721 in Hanover 

county'.32 but whether or not he had a.n earlier wife we c;i,·,mot as yet establifih, 

If there was a son George it would have to be a different one than Capt. George. 

I have not as yet found one that fits, so for at least the time being I'm ignor­

ing this perhaps mythical George, 
Whether or not there was an original Cornelius and John or just an original 

Cornelius we have at least three second generation lines to follows James, George, 

and Cornelius. 
1. James s TI-.e only child of James for which we have documentary record is 

a female, Nelthan, born 1698~3 However, it is generally accepted that he hnc. a 

son Cornelius, born probably in the 1690s. According to Trist Wood this is the 

Cornelius that married Lucy Winston, However, there is contradictory evidence 

for this (more later). Other than this we don't know anything about James' des­

cendants and perhaps this is wh~re the lines we can't find would fit. 
2, Georges 'Ibis is the best known line and many prominent Virginians come 

through this means. As mentioned earlier there were two sons of Capt. George 

Dabney, George II and William. '!he latter is known as Col. William of Aldringham. 

He was born perhaps as early as 170731 and died between 1765 and 1775 (prob. 1773). 
He married Anne Barrett by whom he had 5 children, 16 William Jr. (1736) who is 
supposed to have married another Anne Barrett, Mary ( 1740) who married ( 1 ) Isaac 
Winston and (2) Edmund Massie, Capt. George (1742) who married Elizabeth Price, 

Col. Charles of Revolutionary War fame who never married, and Samuel who married 

Jane Merriwether. After Anne died William married Susanne Anne George and had 

Robert (or Robin) who married (1) Elizabeth Winston and (2) Elizabeth Christmas, 

Elizabeth who married William Morris, and Susanne who never married. ~ 

'!he son George was known as Capt. George Dabney of the Grove. He served in 
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Dabney's Legion (his brother Col. Charles was commander) as a captain in the Revo­

lutionary War. He was the father of Judge John Dabney who married his cousin 

Susanna. D. Morris. 'Ibey were the parents of John Blair Dabney, author of ".3ketches 

and Reminiscences ..••• 11 or the John Blair Dabney Manuscript. JJ The latter two 

generations were in Campbell county Virginia, partly fo:rmed from Bedford.. Because 

c:~ this some have thought that the Bedford Dabneys were of this line. However, I 

find no close relationship. 

Now lets return to George II, William 1s brother and first son of George I. 

He is George "of Greenville" or "the Ferry" and he married Ann Anderson. They 

had 4 daughters1 Elizabeth who married John Crutchfield, Judith who married Shackel­

ford, Mary or Molly who married Matthew Anderson, and Ann who married Dillard. 

There· were 2 sons1 James who married Judith Anderson and lived mostly in Louisa 

county (father of William who married Sarah Watson and was known as "Brickhouse 

Billy"), and George III who married (1) Grace Smith, (2) ? , and (3) Mrs. Ann 

Nelson Baker. George III lived also at Greenville and is supposed to be the pro­

genitor of the Gloucester Dabneys. He had perhaps 14 children and one of the 

better known ones was Benjamin (1750-1806) who married (1) Martha B. Armistead 

and (2) Sarah Smith who became the mother of the well-knowr. ':'hona.s 3m1th Gregory 

Dabney. Apparently George III was the father of the George who married Susan 

Littlepage Quarles, but Benjamin has been listed as the father too. However, 

it's doubtful that he was married when George IV was born so I go along with the 

George III---- George IV idea. 34 Chart 12-A summarizes the George Dabney line. 

J. Corneliusa 'Ibis is the one who married Sarah Jennings and this seems to 

be my line but proof is lacking. Cornelius is generally considered to have been 

born about 1686 and he died in 1764/5. J.5 His marriage was in April 1721. 32 He 

and Sarah had 9 children (the will lists only 7) as follows, but not necessarily 

in this orders 

a. Cornelius, Jr. - married Lucy Winston. Some36 say it was the Cornelius, 

son of James who married Lucy and some data would fit better if this is the case. 
'lbe Winston genealogy3 7 has either a William or a Ben Dabney marrying Lucy. I 

feel certain they are wrong on both counts. Cornelius Jr. was deceased when his 

father made his will in 17.54. Some say he died by 17:38, others 1745 but perhaps 
it was even later. He had only two known children• John and tfilliam (so11te say 

only William but the will says children). If Cornelius was born sometime after 

1721 (perhaps several yea.rs) it is doubtful if he could have been married and 
had chilcb:-en (at least 2) before 1745, let alone 1?38. For this reason it would 
make more sense if Cornelius was the son of James. Lucy remarried William Coles 
and had several more children. 'Ihe Coles history says Lucy first married William 

Dabney, then corrects itself to say it was Cornelius. One history says that the 
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son William married Philadelphia Gwathmey but the dates don't fit. That William 

was probably the son of Cornelius and Sa.rah (see number c. below). One family 

history says the son John was the John of Appomattox (whoever that was) but then 

says he married Ann Harris, daughter of Col. Harris of Louisiana (Louisa?) 

county. I believe they a.re talking about John of Albemarle (see # b. below). 

We will come back to these two sons of Cornelius Jr. later. However, before leav­

ing Cornelius lets add one things no matter which Cornelius the Cornelius Jr. 

belonged to, it would make more sense if he was born before 1 ?21. 'Ibis is cert­

ainly possible if it were Cornelius the son of James. If it were Cornelius the 

son of Cornelius the immigrant, then we would have to postulate a marriage for 

him before Sarah Jennings. One account 16 has Cornelius Jr. having 3 sons, William, 

John and Cornelius. Assuming James did have a son Cornelius (born in 1690s) and 

his genealogy is, as such, missing, then it's possible that 19th century Da.bneys 

who compiled family genealogies mixed up the children of the two contempory Corn­

elius Da.bneys plus Cornelius Jr. Note the will of Cornelius (married Sarah Jen­

nings) lists only 4 daughters and most genealogies list 6. Perhaps the last 2 

belong to Cornelius, son of James and perhaps he also had sons William, John and/or 

Cornelius. Because of the supposed millions in inheritance 18•38 due descendants 

of Sarah Jennings from her uncle William Jennings of Acton Place, Lornon, many ~ 
descendants spent close to 50 years collecting genealogies in the 1800s. 18 Many 

of these were later lost, and some probably recalled by "memory," It 1s also 

quite possible that some of these were badly confused (where not based on Bible 

records) or even falsified, Apparently the whole idea of a fortune was a fraud. 18 

b. John - I believe this is the one generally called John of Albemarle since 

he lived there for sometime and probably reared most of his family there. He 

married Anna Harris, daughter of Maj. Robert Harris and "Mourning {Glenn) Harris.'.39 

After John died Anna moved to Bedford county. This may be a clue that this line 
is closely related to the Bedford Dabneys. John and. Anna had a son John who is 

often confused with his father. Both have been called John of Albemarle and for 

both it has been said that they married (1) Anna Harris and (2) Margaret Smith. 
'Ihe younger John was born in Albemarle county in 17464-0 and definitely married 

41 Margaret Smith in 1772, They went first to North Carolina (Guilford-Rockingharn-

Chatham counties) about 1779 and about 1800/1 moved to Tennessee, settling in 
Williamson county where he died in 18JO-t. 42 He appears to be the John who was 
a Lieutenant in the Virginia Militia and was at Yorktown at the surrender of 

Cornwallis. 40 John and Anna also had a son Cornelius who also went to the same 

area in North Carolina (plus Caswell county). He married Frances Harris, 
daughter of Tyre Harris, a brother of Anna, and thus his first cousin. Another 
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son of John and Anna, William, supposedly married a Miss Quarles. We don't know 

~ her first name but perhaps it was Jane (we know there was a William Dabney and 

wife Jane in Albemarle county in the 1760s). They were the parents of John Quarles 

Dabney of Campbell county but I have found nothing more on this line. There is 

probably no significant reason here to mention the daughters of John and Anna ex­

cept to mention Lucy who married Thomas McReynolds (1781) in Bedford county, 

there listed as daughter of Anna (John was now deceased). Why would Anna go to 

Bedford county if there were not close relatives there? 

c. William - married Philadelphia Gwathmey and lived and died in King William 

county. 43 Among his children was a Cornelius (1756-1821) who married Elizabeth 

3mith Winston and lived in Louisa county, It should be mentioned that others 

have said that William was the son of Cornelius and Lucy Winston, but in this case 

meaning Cornelius son of James. This is a possibility which I will consider later. 

One source says his only brother was Isaac (not John). 

d. Mary - married Christopher Harris, brother of Anna, 

e, Elizabeth - married Daniel Maupin. 

f, Frances - married John Maupin. 

g, Anna. - married Mr. 'lhompson. 

(h).A daughter who married Matthew Brown~?C Could this have been Sarah who 

supposedly married Benjamin Brown?JB 

(i),A daughter who married William Johnson. 170 

The latter two a.re not in the will of Cornelius (died 1764/5). 
Now to present some problems. First of all, there is another John Dabney 

listed as marrying an Anna Harris (confusion?). He is, I suppose, the John of 

Appomattox16 and perhaps the son of Cornelius Dabney and Lucy Winston. He is 

listed as having as many as 12 children including Garland, Anderson, Tyree, Nathan­

iel, Robert Kelso, a John, and a Cornelius (none of the girls names are known). 

If we are to accept the idea that Cornelius (which ever Cornelius he was) who 

married Lucy Winston had 2 sons, John and William, that takes care of John. There 

are a number of other Johns in the records but we needn •t consider them now. But 

what about William? We have several possibllitiesa (1) he was the William who 

married Philadelphia Gwathmey. If so, then we must account for the William son 
of Cornelius and Sarah Jennings, born probably in the 1720s or 17J0s; (2) A 

William 1n Albemarle bought land from and sold to John Dabney "of Hanover". 44 

'Ihis John was probably the John Dabney of Albemarle who married Anna Harris. But 

1t is said by one source that John and William were brothers. 45 'nle William 

who married Philadelphia Gwathmey (supposedly John's brother) didn't leave King 
William county and died there before the last William deed in Albemarle, 43 
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Also, in the Albemarle deeds William's wife is listed as Jane. If the John and 

William in the Albemarle records were brothers then either the William who mar­

ried Philadelphia Gwathmey was not the son of Comelius and 3arah Jennings but 

rather the son of Cornelius and Lucy Winston, 2£ the John was not the son of Corn­
elius and Sarah. I doubt the latter; the former may be a better possibility. 

Perhaps they were not brothers at all, but rather father (John) and son {William), 

But who was Jane? Could she have been a Jane Quarles? We don't know Miss Quarles 
first name, but remember, William Dabney, son of John and Anna, married such a 

person. And what happened to them? As early as 1771 we find a William in Pitts­

ylvania county 11{1ater Henry). He died in 1779 in Henry county leaving widow 

Anna and a minor daughter Lucy.46 Further study has shown that this Anna was 

Anna Harris daughter of Mary Harris and James Harris of Albemarle county. 47 Anna. 

and William must have married in Albemarle county before going to Pittsylvania. 

Is it possible that this is the same William? Could Jane have died and then Will­

iam married Anna? We should also consider the possibility that William first 

married Jane Harris and then her sister Ann. James and Mary Harris are supposed 

to have had a daughter Jane who married a Dabney.46 However, it would make more 
sense if Jane were a Quarles since then John Quarles Dabney could be a son of 

William. '!here are a number of deeds in Campbell county between Anthony and Anna 

Haden and John Quarles Dabney. Did Jane and William have other children and if 

so who? Did Anna. and William have other children besides Lucy? (there was no will 

and Lucy was mentioned only because a guardian had to be provided.) Is it possi­

ble that some unplaced Bedford county Da.bneys were children of William and Jane? 

For instance, Nathan am Nancy? And what about the William who had a land grant 5 

in Bedford county in 1765? Who was he and what happened to him? Was he the Wil­

liam above or was he the William who sold land 6 there (presumably the same land 

as in the 176.5 grant) to Cornelius in 1791? 'Ihe latter William was then supposed 

to be "of Guilford county North Carolina." However, I can find !!2. records of a 

William Dabney in Guilford county North Carolina. 

'Ihere is a William Da~ney in Bedford co~ty Virginia in the 1790s. He mar­
ried Becky Echols in 1793. In court records 5 he is listed as a son of Rachael 
Dabney, Fanny (Frances?), another umplacEd.Dabney in Bedford county, married 

John Jackson in 1?90. 2 Consent was given by Rachel Dabney. It thus seems like­
ly that William and Fanny were brother and sister but who is Rachael and who was 

her husband? Could Nathan and/or Nancy also belong to this family? 
Before taking up a more detailed discussion of the Bedford county Da.bneys 

and their subsequent migration to Wayne county Kentucky I believe it would be well 

to summarize in a chart the known facts and possibilities of the Cornelius Dabney 
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families, 'lhe reader should at this point study over Chart 12-B in conjunction 

(~ with what has just been written. 

As mentioned earlier, there was more than one family of Dabneys in Bedford 

county. 'Ihe first was William who had the land patent 5 in 1765. We do not know 

who he was unless he is either (1) the son of John and Anna (Harris) Dabney or 

(2) the son of Cornelius and Lucy (Winston) Dabney. At any rate he apparently 

did not stay in the county, but may be the one who was in Pittsylvania county by 

1771 and died in Henry county in 1779, My Nancy could well be his daughter and 

after his death taken by Cornelius (William's supposed brother) in Bed.ford county 

to raise, Or, if William lost a wife Jane in Albemarle county, and before he 

married Ann Harris, one or more of his children could have been taken by Cornel­

ius. Later census records 50 indicate Nancy was born between 1765 and 1775. Other 

children may possibly have been Nathan. (born 1765-177051), Fanny, and William, 

3ince the mother of the latter two is listed as being Rachael they may be from a 

different family. If Nathan belongs to the William who married one or more 

daughters of James and Mary Harris (Jane and/or Ann) he could have been named after 

Nathan Harris, a son of James and Mary. Incidentally, Mary Harris (born 10 Feb 

1729) was the daughter of Major Robert Harris and his wife Mou..."l'"?ling Glenn52 and 

thus a sister to Anna Harris who married John Dabney and Christopher Harris who 

married Mary Dabney, She married James Harris, a cousin, but I have not been 

able to find out to which family he belongs. Some histories list James as the 

son of Maj. Robert and Mourning Harris (born 1722), but I believe the former is 

correct. 

In "Dabneys of Virginia 1117A(which has many errors and must be used with care) 

it is said that Nathan had a brother William and that their father (name unknown) 

had J sons and several daughters but only the names of these 2 were known. Of 

William, the account goes on to say that he lived for a while in Wayne county 

Kentucky and then moved to Indiana. I have not found a. William Dabney in Indiana. 

Also, it says that William had 5 sonsa Benjamin, George, Charles, John and William. 

1hese are the names of the sons of Cornelius of Bedford county except that Corn­

elius should be listed in place of William, It says this William lived in Shelby 

county Kentucky. 'lbere is a William Dabney in Shelby county Kentucky in the 1820s 

but I can't say that it is the same person. 

Cornelius' family is the largest one in Bedford county and we know something 

about it, thanks to Cornelius' will
4 

of 1792, With it plus marriage records, 2•3 
we can come up with the following for his family, 
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Cornelius Dabney-53 
b. bef 1740 (?), prob. Hanover co. , VA ~ 
d. 1?92, Bedford co., VA 
m. Mary "Molly" Lane, prob. Hanover co., VA 54 
moved to Bedford co. abt 1772, Had a. sister Eliza.beth, b. a.bt 174o, prob, 

Hanover co., VA, m. Rev. Samuel Shrewsbury (1736-1785, son of Ruel Shrews­
bury and Eliza.beth Poindexter), d, 25 Oct 1830, Bedford co, , VA, 

was on Bedfol.'d co. tax lists 1782-1792. 
children• 

1, George Dabne,55 
b. 15 Sep 176o, Hanover co., VA 
d, 14 May 1843, Clinton co,, KY 
m. 10 Jan 1793 Eliza.beth Eckhols, Bedford co., VA 
private in Rev. War, later Capt. in VA Militia. 
lived in Bedford until 1804/5, moved to Montgomery co. until abt 1812 

when he moved to Wayne co. KY. 
children included, 

1. Robert A. Dabney - b, 7 Nov 18001 m, Polly. 
2. Eliza.beth Dabney - m. 31 Dec 1822 Anderson Summers 
3, Rebecca - m. 4 Mar 1833 Wesley Owens 
4. George W, 

2. Charles Dabney 
b. abt 1761 (if this is the Charles on the 1850 census of Campbell co. TN) 
d. after 1850 
m. (1) 19 Jan 1796 Luranny m.an1cenship1 (2) 26 Mar 1798 Betsy Hale, both 

Bedford co, , VA 
on 1810 census, Bedford co. 1 not found for certain in Wayne co. KY but 

may be the Charles who was in the 15th KY Reg. in War of 1812 and in 
Campbell co. TN 184o & 1850(census), 

probable child.ren1 
1. Cornelius - b. abt 1800, m. Sarah 
2. 'Ihomas - b. abt 1802, m. Nancy 
J. Benjamin - b. abt 1803, m. Lucy 
4. Charles - b. &bt 1811, m. Ann 
5, James? - b. abt 1822, m. Melinda 
6. William? - b. abt 1825, m. Polly 

3. Benjamin 
b. bef 1760 if 1830 Wayne co. KY census is correct 
d. after 1830 
m. 1 Jan 1795 Nancy Wheeler, Madison co,, KY 
went to Madison co. KY by 1795 - 1n Wayne co. KY by 1801 { tax list) 
children included1 

1. Milley - m. (1) Hancock, (2) 13 Jan 1817 William Chance 
2. Sally - m. William Sturman 9 Jul 1810, Wayne co., KY 
3. Charles - b. abt 1800, m. Edey 

4. Cornelius 
on 1800 tax list & 1810 census of Bedford co. VA {age 26-45), may be 
one who d. in War of 1812 (1814). 

5, John 
b. 1770-80, prob. Bedf'ord co., VA 
d. bef, 1850, Wayne co., KY(?). 
m. 23 Mar 1801 Lydia Jones (b. abt 1776), Montgomery co., VA 
lived in Bedford until 1805-08, Montgomery co. 1808-16, Wayne co. KY by 
18171 was an attorney in Bedford co. Lydia was a midwife in Wayne co. KY. 
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children of John & Lydia, 
1. Nathan - b. abt 1802; m. (1) 14 Dec 1822 Frances Sutherland, (2) 

9 Feb 1859 Mary Calhoun 
2. Robert - b. abt 1804; m. 16 May 1827 Nancy Hancock 
3. Sarah - b. abt 1808; m. ? Aug 1834 Archibald c. Horton 
4. Polly - b. abt 1825; m. 21 Feb 1837 John Jones (one or more dates 

appear to be off here) 
6. Sarah (Sally) Dabney 

b. Sep 1773 
. m. 25 Jul 1791 Stephen Pratt (1764/5 - 13 Mar 1841), Bedford co. VA 
moved to Powells Valley, Knox co. TN abt 1816 - 2 yrs. - then to Wayne 

co. KY - on 1820 census of Wayne co. 
10 children includes 

1. Nancy Pratt - b. 23 Oct 1792; m. Kinnet 
2. Stephen - b. Sep._ 
3. Permelly - b. 7 Sep 1794 
4. Lucy - b. 16 Sep 179_ 
5. John - b. Feb 1800 
6. Cornelius - b. May 1802 
7. Charles - b. 20 Dec 1804 
8. Mark 
9. Milly 

7. Agatha (Agnes) Dabney 
m. 4 Mar 1801 John Kennett, Bedford co. VA 

8. Anna Dabney 
m. 24 Nov 1800 Mordecai McLain, Bedford co., VA 

9. Nancy Dabney 
m. J Nov 1785 John Overstreet, Bedford co., VA. Went to Illinois, 

10. Molly Dabney 
b. 15 A~ 1762, Bedford co., VA 
m. (prob) James Turner 
went to Wayne co., KY abt 1817. 

While discussing Kentucky I should mention the William Dabney on the 1800 
tax list of Green county and the Nancy Dabney on the 1?99 tax list of Cumberland 

county. 'lbe latter married Martin Alexander in Cumberland county Kentucky some­
time in 1001.56 I have no idea who either of these Dabneys were but I mention 

them because (1) the names relate to some we are looking for, (2) these localities 
are close to or later formed into Wayne county, and (3) this was an early time 

for Dabneys in Kentucky. 
We need now to turn to Nathan Dabney, He married Jane (Jenny) Younger in 

Bedford county in 1789, As mentioned he was born between 1766 and 1770. I will 
repeat again, could his father be one of the William Da.bneys? And/or could his 
mother be Rachael Dabney? A ca:reful reading of "Dabneys of Virginia" irriicates 
that his father had married a woman of 'l'uJ:'kish descent (probably by way of France). 
There seems to be no record of this but most traditions have~ basis in fact 
so the possibility should be considered. Miriam Kendall of Laguna Beach, California 

has suggested 57 that this might be TORQUAY (instead of Turkey), a seaport in 
southern England (Devon). I have no further information or evidence one way or the 
other, 
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Nathan and Jane had gone to Wayne county Kentucky by 1E10. They lived on 
otter Creek near Thomas and Nancy (Dabney) Lane. About 1833 they went to Macon 

' ~ 
county Missouri where he probably died 1850 (after June 6) - 1852. All of 
their sons and at least some of their daughters went to Macon county too. Their 

children vere as follows: 59 

1. Sophia - b. 20 Jan 1791 Bedford co. VA1 m. 6 Feb 1812 Wm. Hall, Wayne co.KY 

2. Pemelia (Pamela) - b. 23 May 1793 Bedford co. VA1 d. bef 18631 m. 13 May 
1813 Wm. Garrett, Wayne co. KY; went to Macon co. MO. 

3. Jubal - b. '.3 Jul 1795 Bedford co. VAJ d. abt 18661 m. Mary Phipps. 
4. Rhoda - b. 23 Jul 1797 Bedford co. VA1 d. 1851 Macon co. MO; m. 5 Mar 1820 

Lewis Gilstrap Wayne co. KY; vent to Macon co. MO. 

5. Bluford (Buford) - b. 20 Aug 1799 Bedford co. VA1 d. aft 1880; m. 3 Feb 
1824 Rdbecca Vickory Wayne co. KY. 

6. Elizabeth - b. 7 Oct 1801 VA; m. 9 Dec 1824 John McCain Wayne co. KY. 
7. Tyree - b. 5 Aug 1803 VA; d. 18931 m. Irene Elles. 
8. Jane - b. 2 Oct 1805 VA (?)1 m. (1) 1 Jun 1826 John Frost, Wayn~ co., KY: 

(2) 1833/4 Haley Andrews 
9. Nathan Jr. - b. 29 Feb 1808 VA(?); d. 1877; m. 1834 Kaziah Elles. 

10. Thomas Jefferson - b. 27 Jul 1810 Wayne co. KY1 m. 24 Mar 1837 Cassandra 
Walker, Macon co. MO. 

To analyze all this, in searching for the ancestors of the Bedford Dabneys, 

it seems that we must consider (1) the William Dabney, son of Comelius and Lucy 
Winston, and (2) the William, son of John Dabney and Anna Harris. Either of these 
could have been the father of Nathan and/or Nancy, William and Fanny. I should 

mention here that DE>rothy Wilson of Alamosa, Colorado, a descendant of Nathan, 

has a. letter written by Nathan's grandson in which he states that his grand-

father said that his pa.rents were John Dabney and Ann Harris. 'Ibis doesn't seem 

to fit the facts very well. Perhaps he was (1) mistaken, (2) meant William, or 
(3) "slipped" a generation and it was Nathan's grandfather that was John Dabney 

(married Anna Harris). In any case, how do we tie these Da.bneys in with Cornelius 

(d. 1792)? '!heir presence in Bedford county seems to indicate close relation-
ship as does the permission of Cornelius for Nancy to marry, and the fact that at 
least 3 of Cornelius' sons went to Wayne county Kentucky where Nathan and Nancy 
also went. George, probably the oldest son, was born in Hanover county in 1760 

and came to Bedford at age 12 (1772). Cornelius would have had to have been born 
at least by 1740, perhaps earlier. He married Molly (Mary) Lane, presumably in 

Hanover county. Since 'Ibomas Lane's father William was married at Cedar Creek 
Meeting House (Hanover county) it is possible he and Molly were related, thus 
accounting for the reason the Lane family (and Thomas in particular) went to Bed­
ford county. 
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Elizabeth Dabney (born about 1?40) married Samuel Shrewsbury (probably in 

~ Hanover county) and they went to Bedfcrd county in the late 1760s, Elizabeth 

was probably the sister of Cornelius and possibly a daughter of a George Dabney, 

'Ihe George above (son of Cornelius) refers in his pension application to "uncle 

Samuel Shrewsbury," Now we don't seem to have an Elizabeth, daughter of George 

that hasn't al.ready been accounted for, Nor do we have a Cornelius, son of George 

in our records, Nevertheless, we should keep this open as a possibility, Maybe 

there is some truth to the idea that Cornelius who married Sarah Jennings had a 
son George by a first marriage. 

'Ihe close relationship of the Bedford Dabneys would indicate that the father 

(or fathers) of Nathan, Nancy, William and Fanny might likely be a brother (or 

brothers) of Cornelius. If this is a William then where in our reeords do we 

find a William and a Cornelius that were brothers? ( that have not already been 

accounted for). The Cornelius who married Lucy Winston and died your.g is said 

to have had a son William and (by some) a son John but no Cornelius or Elizabeth, 

Could there have been more children? They would be about the right age. Assuming 

there was a John this is most likely the "John of Appomattox" who had, among other 

children, a Nathaniel and a Tyree (after Tyre Harris), Nathaniel is supposed to 

have died unmarried but the use of these names shows close relationship, Our 

Nathan named a son Tyree, his fMily used the name Nancy freely, and one of 

Cornelius' sons (John) named a son Nathan, If one of our Williams was the son 

of John Dabney and Anna Harris it again shows a close relationship and helps ex­

plain why Anna came to Bedford county to live after John died, 

'Ihe toughest thing 1s to decide who Cornelius of Bedford county belongs to. 

One other possibility exists. Ve said earlier that James, son of the immigrant 

Cornelius may have had a son Cornelius, born perhaps in the 1690s, who may have 

married Lucy Winston, In fact he may have had several children (other than the 

daughter Nelthan of record.) A Cornelius born at this time period would likely 

be too old to be the Cornelius we are seeking but he could be the father .2I. 
grandf'ather of our Cornelius, Perhaps this early Cornelius had a. son George who 

then had children Cornelius, Elizabeth, William, and maybe John or even Nathan. 

It's conceivable that Nathan could have been named after James' daughter Nelthan. 
'Ihe problem is, we have no proof' that James had a son Cornelius or any posterity 

for that matter of fact. It just seems likely that he would have. It's quite 
possible we do not have the substantiating records because they occurred in one 

or more of the counties like Hanover or New Kent where many of the records have 

been destroyed. 
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I believe one more swnrna.rizing diagram would help, Study Chart 12-c. 'Ihis 

one shows what l believe to be the best explanation c:~what we presently kno-w, 

NOTES AND REFERENCES 

1. Letter written by Rev. "Achllles" Coffey to aomo of his children 21 Oct 1878, !!!. Moore, Frank R. The Coffey 
Clan from 1690, Laguna Beach, CA. 1969. 

z. Dennis, Earles. & Jane E. Smith. Marria e Bonds of Bedford count Vir inia, 1755-1800. 1932, 
3. Marr. Bonds of Bedford co, VA (microfilm COl)Y of original : also recor in Deed Bk. 7, p. 343. 
4. Bedford county VA will Bk. 2, p. 89. 
5. VA Land Off. Recs. 36, p. 781. 
6. Bedford co. Deeds & Surveyor's recs. Bk. 8, p. 455. 
7. Guilford co. N.C. Deeds, B-217, C-44 & 53. 
8. Guilford co. N.C. Ct. min, (Plea & Quart, Sessions), 1781-1784. 
9. niese are deed recs. of 1788 (B-249) & 1793 (D-205). 'nle former lists hiai aa being "of Caswell co," John 

Dabney also witnessed a deed here in 1787 (B-19). 
10. Clement, Maud Carter. The History of Pitts!lvania County Virginia. Lynchburg, VA: J.P. Bell co. 1929. 
11. Pittsylvania co. Deeds & Wills Bk. 5, 1767- O, pp. 387-9. 
12. Ibid, Ct. Ords,, Vol 3, p, 47 & Vol. 5, p. 183. 
13. 'nle first t..o children, Frances and Mordecai, were born in N.C. according to census & fam. recs, 
14. Hinshaw, William Wade. Encyclopedia of American Quaker Genealogy. Vol. I, No, Carolina. Baltimore: Gen. 

Pub, co. 1969. 
15. Bedford co, VA Ct. Ord. Bk. 11, p. 14. 
16. Ownbey, Evelyn Jeanette, What Does America Mean to You. Hiatory and Genealogy, Part II, Number III, pp. 

1-31. Chicago. 1942. 
17.A. Dabney, Williaai H. Sketch of the Dabneya of Virginia with aoaie of their Faaiily Records. Chicago: S.D. 

Childs & co. 1888. 
B. Saiedes, Susan Dabney. Memorials of a Southern Planter. Nev York: James Pott & co. 1890 
c. Miller, w.H. Risto and Genealo ies of Ehe Families of Hiller Woods Harris, Wallace, Ma in Oldham, 

Kavanaugh, an Brown. l O. 
D. Miller, Alice Davia, A Synopsis of the Dabney Family of Virginia. in Report of the Huguenot Soc., Found­

ers of Manakin. VA. Yearbook D l. 1924. 
18, Dabney, Charles Williaai. 'nle Origin of the Dabney Family of Virginia. in 'nle Mag. of Hist. & Biog. Vol. XLV, 

No. 2. Apr. 1937. 
19. VA Land Patent, Bk. 5, p. 370, 6, p. 114 (& others). See also Nugent, Kell M. Cavaliers and Pioneers, 

Ab1tracta of Virginia Land •Patents and Grenta. Vol. 1. Baltimore: Gen. Pub, co. 1969, 
20. Letter from Corneliua Dabney to Col. Francis Morrison of the Royal C0111111i1aion to Virginia, quoted in Ref. 18. ~ 
21. He was a member of St. Peter'• Vestry in New Kent co. (the mo1t ari1tocratic pariah in Virginia) and attended 1 

a meeting 25 Oct 1693 but was replaced(due to death) on l May 1694 (reported by Charles Williaai Dabney in 
ref (I 18 who say■ he was an Engliahaien end • member of the Church of England.) 

22. Barria, Malcolm Hart. Old Nev Kent County• Some Accounts of the Planter, Plantation■ and Places in Ring 
William County. St. John's Parish, V. II, West Point, VA. 1977, 

23. 'nle Ve1try.Book and Register of St. Peter's Pariah 1 Nev Rent and Jaaie1 City Counties 1684-1786. 
24. Shown by a land indenture in Rappahannock co. 30 Dec. 1690, 
25. A complete listing of these ta given by c.w. Dabney in ref. (I LS. 
26. Dabney, Charles Williaai. Dabney Correction, VA Mag of Hi1t & Biog. Vol 46, p. 161. 
27. Wood, Trist. Early Winston. Tyler'• Quart. Mag. Vol. 20, pp. 99-102. 1938. 
28. Selden, Edna Mae, Dabney frCJ111: Virginia Faaiiliea. Richmond Times-Dispatch Mag. 15 Oct 1939. 
29. Spencer, Mary Lavina Strother. The Genealogy of the Strother Family and Some Allied Faaiiliea. 1927. 
30. Pecquet du Bellet, Louise. Soaie Prominent Virginia Faaiiliea. Baltimore, Gen. Pub. co. 1976. Al10 ■ea Selden 

( I 28 above). . 
31. Dabney, Charles William. Colonel Charles Dabne of the Revolution• His Service ea Soldier and Citizen. 

VA Mag of Biog. & Hi1t. Vol. 51, pp. l -199. 9 3. 
32. A Charles William Dabney is supposed to have seen & copied the aiarr. rec. in the Hanover co. ct. house some­

time bef. the records there ware destroyed by fire in 1865. It stated "ordered that it be recorded on the 
_ day of April 1721, Cornelius Dabney late of England intermarried with Sara Jennings or Jennena alao of 
England." Thia was in the Hanover co. VA 1st min. Bk. 

33. Dabney, John Blair. Sketches and Reminiscences of the Dabnef and Horris Families. Also known aa The John 
Blair Dabney Manuacript."Written with his 01111 hand for his c Udren". 1850, 51 pp. COl)ied by Mr. D1bney S. 
Lancuter of Richmond VA, 1942, 

34, References for this material include Is 16, 17A & B, 18, 22, 31 and the following: 
A. Anderson, W.P. Anderson Family Records. Cincinnati. OH 1936. 
B . ._, _____ The Descendants of William Overton and Elisabeth Waters of Virginia and Allied Families, 

Cincinnati, OH 1938. 
35. Hi ■ will was dated 26 Oct 1754 & proved 7 Feb. 1765 {n Hanover co. Entries in the Vestry book of St. Paula 

Pariah prove he was living up until at least 1764, 
36. See ref. 22 & 26 (C.W. Dabney quoting Trist Wood); also: Crenshaw, Mrs. A.D. Dabney of King William County 

Virginia. VA Genealogist. pp. 3-7 
37. See eapecially: 

A. Winston, Bettie B. Winston Family Genealogy, VA Gan, Soc. Quart. 15 (4): 142-8, 1977 & 16(1): 18-21, 1978. 
B. Valentine Papers, Vol. IV. Winston Family, pp. 2369-2379. 

38. Doughtie, Beatrice Hackey. Documented Notea on Jennings end Allied Families, pp. 23-27. 

39. 

40. 

41. 
42. 
43. 

See ref. Is 16, 17A, l7C, 34B, & Miller, William Harris. ::S=fli:.;l=-;em:=:jen~t=to=::,.:.H:.:i~s.;t:::.o~i-.&~G~e;::n;ea;l~o~i;,::e~s.,;:.o!.f~t!:!h!,:e~F,!!am!!!!.il~i::,:e2a 
~o~f-.H:--i~l~l~er-r=, ,'!'Wood--::-:ris~•r-H_a_r_r_i_s_.,_.wa_l_l_a_c_e_,_.Ha__.._i_n ... , ....... o_ld..,h_,em......,,:...;;;Ka~van=au=i;.;.z....:.an;;.;;;..B;;.;TOWR,=,;;, in Ma ison co. KY· Hist. Gene a . 
Richmon ICY. 1909. 
Lynch, Louise Gillespie, Our Valiant Men. Soldie?"S· and· Patriots of the Revolutionary War who lived in Wil­
lianson County Tennessee. 1976, 
McDonald, Cecil D. s-e Virginia Marriages, 1700-17~. Seattle, WA 1973. 
Haya, Mr1. Feliz Burnard & Hr1. Helen Devis Duke. Willimuon County Tennessee Wills end Marriages. 1949. 
See ref. # 36, Crenahew. 



44. The Ed~ard Pleasant Valentine Papers, Vol. I. Pub. by the Valentine Museum, Richmond, VA, pp. 396-429. 
See also Albemarle co. Deeds, Bks. 2-4. 

45. Woods, Rev. Edgar. Albemarle Councy in Virginia. 
46. Henry co. VA Will Bk. I, p. 65 (1779); Ct, Ord. Bks. May 1779-Apr. 1783. 
47. Harris, M,H, A HistoR' of Louisa Count¥ '✓irfnia, Richmond, 19J6, 
48. Burgess, Louis A. V rg1nia Soldiers o l77 . 
49. Harris, M.H. A History of Richmond county Virginia. Richll10nd, 1936. 
SO. Nancy has only been located on the 1810 and 1820 ~ensus (of Kentucky). 
51. 1810, 1820, & 1830 census of Wayne co, KY & 1840 census of Macon co. MO. 
52. Bloesser, R. The Martins: They Speak for Themselvea: also see ref. 17C & 34B. 
53. Data for the children & grandchildren of Cornelius has been taken from marr, census & cem recs. of the res• 

pective counties, especially Bedford co. VA & Wayne co. KY. For Charles' family most recs. are in Campbell 
co., TN. 

54. Corr. fr. Gayle Blankenship, Poquoson, VA. She has Elisabeth Dabney b, abt 1740, Hanover co. VA, dau of George 
Dabney (no proof), 111. bef. 1763 Samuel Shrevsbury • came to Bedford co. abt 1769. Children: 
1. Dabney - b. abt 1763, d. 1803, 111. 13 Oct 1786 Elizabeth Sinclair. 
2. Rhoda - b, abt 1764, d, 1851, m. 1786 John Buford. 
3. Samuel Jr, - b. abt 1765 (?), d. 1835, 111. Mary Dickinson. 
4. John - d. 1835, 111. 1793 Martha Dickinson. 
5. Nathaniel - b. 1770; m. Nancy Board 12 Mar 1792. 
6. Ruel • d. 1801, n.111. 
7. Elizabeth• 111. 8 Nov 1791 Benjamin Turner. 
8. Nathan. b. 4 Feb 1774, d. 2 Sep 1834, Ill, 10 Dec 1806 Nancy Hancock. 
9. Joel - b. 18 Aus 1778, d. 5 Mar 1859, 111. 28 Nov 1803 Sally Dickinson. 

10. William• m, 23 Dec 1799 Rhoda Pate. 
11. Simeon. 

55. O'Brien, Bayne Palmer. Dabney Family Bible Record. in VA Gen Soc Quart 14(2):54. Apr. 1976. Also see 
pension rec of George Dabney. 

56. Wells, J.W. The History of Cumberland County Kentucky. 
57. Personal corr. 28 Nov 1983. 
58. Dates derived fr. agreement made 6 Jun 1850 & filed 1852 ln Macon co. MO between Nathan Sr. & Nathan Jr. 

for former'• care by latter until his death. 
59, Data fr. Laurele White, Macon, MO. 
60. Pera. corr. 17 Jan L984. 

Cornelius Dabney (the interpreter) 
b. abt 1630-40 in England 

CHART 12 

GENERATION ONE 

d. 169314, New Kent or King William co.VA 
111. (1) Edith and came to VA abt 1660 
children: 

l. George (knovn as Capt. or Gent.) 
b. abt 1667-1678 
d. 1730-34, King Willi81D co. VA 
m. Elizabeth ___ _ 

2. JSJDeS 
b. abt 1670 or earlier 
m. by 1690 Ann Shen.ood 

3. Dorothy 
m. Yilliam Anderson 

(4) .Sarah 
m. 1701 William Winston~ -
d. bef 1732 
children: 

1. Isaac Winston 
bap. 12 Apr 1702 

r -➔ 2. William Winston 
b. abt 170314 

--

I m. (2) Susanna (Swan? • dau of Thomaa Sven) 
? I children: 

f r (5) John 
l.f d. 7 Apr 1688 

'- (6) Elizabeth 
d. 4 Apr 1688 

7. Cornelius, Jr. 
b. abt 1686 
d. 1764/5 

-

m. Apr 1721 Sarah Ann Jennings, dau of Charles Jennings 
8. Mary 

---

?? 

John Dabney (older brocher?) 

son John 
b. abt 1665, England 
111. Sarah Jennings, dau of 

Peter Jennings 
d. abt 1699 
Sarah then md. 

?-r--
childr•n of John'& Sarah 

l, John III 
b. abt 1690 
~ent to sea & not heard 
from again 

2. Susannah 
b. abt 1698-1701 
m. Francis Strother, 

bef 1721 (prob. 1720) 

b, 22 Jan 1688 
d. 7 Sep 1748 
111, 1704 Maj. Thoma• Carr (1678- 29 Hay 1737, son of Thomas Carr (b. 1655) from England, and Mary 

Garland). 
(9)? Benjamin 

Sus1111na 111. (2) David Anderson 
children: 

l. David 
2, a dau. • Ruth? 

m. James Trice 
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CIIART 12-A 
TIIE CF.ORGF. DABNEY FAMILY 

Cornelius or .John 

----- -----Capt. George Dabney 
b. abt 1667 ( • 1678) 
d. 1730-34 (w.d. 24 Oct 1729), Klng Wllllam co. VA 
m. Elizabeth ____ _ 
chlldren 

I I I 
I 

I I I 
George II (of the Ferry) Mary 
b. abt 1697 m. 
d. abt 1783 

Pettus 
Susannah 
m. Thomas 

Pettus 

Judl th 
m. a Pettus 

also T 

Ellubeth 
bap 11 Nov 
1698 

I 
Sarah 
Ill. Col wm. 
Wlneton (? 
confusion 
wlth Sarah­
wm.Wlnston 
on Chart 10) 

Wllllam ( of Alddnp;ham) 
b. abt 1707 
d. abt 1773 

m. Ann Anderson 
chl ldren 

I 
I 

Elizabeth 
b, abt 1730 
d, ebt 1749-50 
m. John Crutch­

field 

I 
George III 
(of Dabneya 
Ferry or 
Greenvllle) 
b. abt 1734 
m. (1) Crace 
Smlth, (2)? 
(3) Ann Nelson 
Baker• 9 
chlldren by 
3rd wt fe, 14 
11,ltpgether 

oraer) 

Note: One dau md. 
Stephen Pettus• may be Mary, Judith 
or another unknown dau. 

I 
Judi th 
m. George 
Shackel­
ford 

Elh:abeth 
m. Rev. 

Christopher 
Johnson 

I 
Mary 
(Holly) 
m.Hatthew 
Anderson 
b. 27 Aug 
1748 

Glcely 
m. Maj. 
Thomas 
Shelton 

I 
Ann 
m. Dillard, 
or Samuel 
Anderson 

Ann 
Anderson 
m. Thomas 
Harden (not in 

I. Benjamin 2. Ann, 111. 

Samuel Anderson 
3. Elizabeth 

m. Matthew 
Anderson? 
d. abt 1725 

m. (1) Ann Barret, dau of 
Dr. Charles Barret and 
Mary Chlswell 

I 
Jamee 
b. 6 Jan 1735 
d. 13 Nov 1803 
m. Judlth 

Anderson 

Mary 
b. 27 Jan 
1777, m. 
Edvard 
Hallam 

Wllllam,Jr. 
b. 1736, d. 
aft. 1806 
m. Ann Bar­
ret, dau of 
Charle11 
Barret II & 
Mary Lelgh 8 

children 

Hary 
b. abt 1740 
d. 1835 
m. (l)abt 
1758 Iseac 
Wlnston(no 
chlldren}, 
(2)Edmund 
Hassle IT 
9 children 

7. Lucy C. 8. Elizabeth 
d. 1801 unmd. m. (1) Lynn 
9. Jane Shackelford 
d. 1835 unmd. (2) Wllllam 
10.Catherlne Pollard 

Cspt. George (o.f 
the Grove) , b. 
abt. 1740-2, 
d. 1824 
m. Elizabeth Price 
chi Jdren: 
l. WI 111 am, m. 
Hehitable llylton 
2. George (n.m.) 
3. Mary 
4. Nancy (Ann) 
m. Judge Alexen-

der Stuart 
5. Haris (n. m.} 
6. John, d. 1814 
m. Susanna D. 

b. 1757, d.1806 
m. (1) Marthe 
Armistead, (2) 
Sarah Smith 

ID. Camp 
4. Wllllam 

Charity 
m. Samuel 

Todd 

Wllllam (Brick House Billy) 
m. Sarah Watson 

m. Seaton Grantland 
11. Chiawell, b, 24 Jun 1791 
d. 1865, m. (1) Nancy Norvell 
(2) Hrs. Nancy Wyatt, (3) Hrs 
Elizabeth Lee 

Horf's 

5. Gracey 6, George IV 
7. Mary b. 25 Har 1770, 

d. 31 Dec 1827, m. 1792 8. Dr. James 
b. 1778, m, 
Eliza Perrln 
10. Edmond 

Susannah Littlepage Quarles (16 Child.) 
9. Mary, d.s. 

12. Maj. Thomas 
(of Dorrell) 

11. Judlth, d.s. 
13. Cecllia, b. 7 Oct 1788 

m. J. T.C. Wiatt 
b. 2 Jul 1786 14. Nelson 
m. (1) Lucy Walker 
(2) Mary E. Tompkins 

Susanne 
n.md. 

a Some say Rev. Robert Barret & wlfe Elizabeth Lewis, 
but they apparently had no daughter Ann while Charlee 
II & Mary Leigh did. 

m. 2 aft.1753 Susanne Anne Ceor e 

Elizabeth Robert or Robin 
d. abt 1820 m. (I) Elh:abeth 
m. Wllllam Winston, (2) 17 
Horrh Dec. 1782 Eliza-

Suslnna 

beth J. Christmas 

D. l. '11tomas 
Horris 2. Dr. Samuel 

3. Charles 
4. Francia 

J 

s. 
6. 
7. 
8. 
9. 

John Blair Dabney 
(1793-1868) 

Samuel Col. Chari es 
b. 14 Apr 1752 b. 171,4 
d. 1798 (or 1812) d. 15 Dec 
m. 4 Feb 075 Jane 1829, n.md. 
Merriwether 

I 
Will lam 10 . .John 
Richard 11. F.llzabeth 
Robert Lewis 12. HI ld1·ed 
Edmund 13. Mary .Jene 
George 



CHART 12-B 

ntE CORNELIUS DABNEY FAMn.lES 

Cornel11.1S Dabney 

2nd llife Susanna ------ ----First llife Edith 

I I 
Cornelius, b, 1686 James, b, abt. 1670 

m, Sarah Jennings, 1721 

children, 

111, Ann Sherwood, abt. 1690 
I 

I 
1, Corneli\18 - d, by 1745?1 m. Lucy Winston? ~-------~Cornelius, b, 1690s; m, Lucy 

.... ...._. . _ • - Winston? 
.... _ ---. 

~ildren1 - • 
,-,1, John (of Appomattox?), 111, an Anna Harris? 

2, 111111am-d, 1767 King llm, co, I children include Garland, Anderson, Tyxee, 
m, Philadelphia Gwathmey ~ _ • Nathaniel, John, Cornelius and Robert Kelso, 

- ~- 2, William (may be two different Williams) 
.,, J m, (1) (Jane?) Quarles - • - •+John Quarles Dabney 

J, John - b, abt. 1724?1 d, abt. "' 
1 

or Jane Harris 
17681 l!I, Anna Harris _.,, (2) Ann Harris~Lucy 
Children, - -- I also, £ram one of these lliws, poss, children, 
1. IIU11am - - Nathan, Nancy, others? 
2, John - 1746-18:301 111, Margaret 

Smith, to N,C,, TN 
3, Cornelius - m, Frances Harris 
4, Sa.rah - 111, 'lh0111as Waller 
5, Mar,' - Ill, 'l'hOlllaa Minor 
6, AMIL - 111, Henry Ter.z:111 
7. Elizabeth - m, Bernard. Bro1111 
8, Susan - 111, Themas Harr1s 
9, Lucy - m, Th0111as McReynolda 

10, Rebecca - m, ThClllas ll~n 
11, Nancy - 111, John Hwrter 
12, ___ - 111, Flournoy 

4, Mary - m, Christopher Harr1a 
5, Elizabeth - Ill, Daniel Maupin 
6. Frances - 111., John Maupin 
7, Anna - 11, ___ 'lhompson 

1-J, 
I 
I 
1-4. 

I 
I 
I 

? Conieliua ? of Bedford co,? 

? Elizabeth 
? m, Samuel Shrewsbury 

to Bedford CO, 

____ Lines that are known or 
quiw probable 

, Lines that are likely true 
8, ? Sarah ? - 111, ? Benj81111.n Brollll+- -➔1-5• Sa.rah ? ----- Possible lines 
9, ? m. Vm. Johnson.,_ - - - --J-6, ___ ? il .., / 

~------. Either or poss1bll1t1es 

CHART 12-C 
POSSIU DESCENT OF BEDFORD COUNTY lWIHElS Fila. CORNELIUS THE IMMIGRAJIT 

Corneli1.1S - son of Cornelius the 111ml1gcant-------. 
or son of James 

......... -;// I 
., - .,.. / I 111, Lucy W1natoa.........._ John - 111, >.ma Harris ? . 

Ge~ ,,,, I --......... 
: ' ' / / / John Vlll1am 

I 
Quarles I 1111118111 - 111, 

1 ,,,-... , / (of Appomattox) 111. (1, Jane Harris?) 
Elizabeth Cornellua I , Anna Harris, who 111. 
111, Samuel m. Mary Tyre (2) Anthony Haden 

I 
1, John Quarles Dabney 

I 
I 
I 

18.5 

Shrewsbury Lane Nathaniel Rachel 
Robert Kelso 
John 
Cornelius 
le others 

Nathan 
b, 1765-70 
111, Jane 
Youngor 

Nancy 
b, 1765-75 
Ill, 'lhomas 

Lane 

Lucy 11111181!1? I 
le others? ~ 

William Fanny 



CHAPTER 13 

.ON THE OREGON TRAIL-

JOHN COFFEY AND NANCY SNYDER 

Together with some notes on other 
Coffey families that were Oregon 

Pioneers 

I -• ~ , ,-
;t , -

ti 
Go west young man?" 

,,,Horace Greeley 

-r ... - -.. 
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1 John Coffey, born April 22, 1810, was apparently the third child cf James 

and Frances (Lane) Coffey. Nothing is known of his early life except the moves 

of his parents which were described in chapter 10. It may be that he served in 

the Black Hawk war2 in 1832 as there was a John Coffey who was a private in the 

company of Captain John G. Adams mounted volunteers, 5th Regiment commanded by 

Colonel James Johnson of the Brigade of Mounted Volunteers of Illinois Militia. 

He was enrolled at Pekin April 27, 1832 and mustered out of service at the mouth 

of the Fox River May·27, 1832 (1 month service). Since John is a common name and 

there were a number of other Coffeys in the state it is impossible to be sure 

whether or not this was our John. 
John's marriage to Nancy Snyder September 13, 1832 in Gallatin county 3 

was solemnized by Rev. Jacob Dean whose daughter Jane married John's brot:ier 

Archelaus. According to our family records 1 Nancy was born December 1, 1815 in 

Virginia, but nothing further is known about her. '!here were no Snyders in Galla­

tin county at this time. Perhaps John met her when they lived in Sangamon county. 

'!here were 4 Sn!_ders listed there on the 18 JO census: Henry, John, Jonas, and 

Logan c. but· I have not been able to connect her to any of these. There was also 

an Aaron Vandever and a George Vandever. '!his may have been the maiden name of 

Nancy's mother, since this was the name of John and Nancy's first boy. There 

were Snyders in nearby Franklin county but again I cannot connect them with Nancy, 

Numerous Snyders (3nider) are found on both the 1810 and 1820 census of Virginia, 

mostly in the counties in and along the Shenandoah Valley where a number of German 

families settled, coming down from Pennsylvania. (Snyder is probably originally 

Ge:man. ) '!here were also several Vandi vers in Hampshire county Virginia ( now in 

West Virginia) in both 1810 and 1820. 'Ibis is in the same general area. '!here 

is al.so a Vand~ver and a Vand2ver on the 1820 Virginia census in other counties. 

John and Nancy settled in Gallatin county, obtaining a 4o acre land ,n-ant 
4 in 1835 located in the same area as the other Coffeys.(see picture, page131.) 

Their first 4 children were born there. On September 20, 1841 they sold their 

40 acres and apparently went to Missouri. We know only that at least the next 2 

children, Julia Ann and Eli, were born in Missouri, but we don't know where, It 

is possible tha~ they went to the same area that John's brother Thomas went in 

~ 1843 (Miller county),and then returned to Illinois after 'lhomas died in 1845. 

However, we have not been able to find any record of John in Miller county. Two 

189 
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neighboring counties, Camden and Pulaski, where court house fires destroyed early 

records, are possibilities since Thomas lived close to these county lines, 5 An­

other indication that John likely went to Miller county ~issouri is that his uncle 

~ordecai Lane, who previously lived in Gallatin county Illinois, had ~one to 
6 Miller county by 1840, and his sister Louisa married Mordecai's son, John J. Lane 

there on December 25, 1842 (see chapters 10 and 11). 
The family was back 1n Illinois at least by 18487 and they were on the Hamil-

8 ton county Illinois census in 1850, I could find no deed record for them in 

Hamilton county so they may have lived with relatives, By December of 1852 they 

were back in Missouri, 9 but this may have been in a western county where they were 

preparing for the trip across the plains. The family record says only that'~hey 

moved from southern Illinois to Missouri joining a wagon train and crossing the 

plains in 1853~10 It is unfortunate that we do not have a record of their jour-

ney as they undoubtedly had many interesting adventures, Most wagon trains did 

not leave ~issouri before early April and since the Coffeys arrived in Oregon on 

August 12, 1853 the trip probably took about 4 months. Most wagon trains -took long­

er than this, some 5 to 6 months, Although some wagon trains began at 5t. Joseph, 

Missouri, most apparently assembled near Independence, probably the beginning of 

the original Oregon Trail. l 
There are a number of diaries and other accounts of this 2,000 mile trip, 

including several that took place in 1853, From them12 we can probably recon-

struct events that might have happened to the Coffeys on their trip. Most 

families started with two wagons and two team of oxen. 

less than 25 to well over 100 in the munbcr of wagons. 

Wagon trains varied from 

The Coffeys were probably 

fortunate in having two older sons, one nearly 20 and the other almost 16, to 

help out, Most pioneers brought extra cattle and horses and had to bring enough 

supplies to last for months. Many brought furniture and other household and 

faming materials, In some cases some of these had to be dumped along the trail 

as difficulties set in. Fording streams was often difficult and sometimes took 

several days. At the deeper ones they made bridges from ropes they brought along. 
Going up and down mountains was sometimes haroer. Most who were not sick had to 

walk to lighten the load and men assisted the oxen in pushing on the wheels to 

get the wagon up the steep and rutted trails, Coming down, trees were often tied 

on the back of the wagons to slow them down. 

Indians were sometimes problems but most accounts from 1853 do not indicate 

serious problems. 'lbe Indians were generally honest traders whereas white men at 

posts along the way were more likely to be the early versions of our modern 

"scalpers. 11 
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itbile the family lived in }:issouri a son was born, E:11 D. Accc,rd.1~ to census r records57 he was born about 1844. It is interesting that on the Coos county 

Oregon 1855 census roll he is listed as "Elijah. ,..58 There seems to re no further 

record of him after the 1860 census so he must have ,Ued sometime soon after that, 

perhaps while the family was living in Cysterville, Washirnz:ton. 

The next child for whom we have any record is Win£ield W., lx>rn about Nov­

ember 1848 and died in Novemrer 1849 in Hamilton county Ill1nois. 59 It would seem 

that there might be a child between Eli and Winfield. The family record used by 

Chester Coffey to compile his history says that John and Nancy had"12 children, 7 

boys." Then it lists 7 boys but only 4 girls, I suspect a girl was born about 

1846 and she died at birth or soon thereafter, perhaps UMamed. There is no 

record to confirm this. 
The last child to be born before leaving Illinois was Mary Jane, evidently 

born in late 1850 or early 1851. 60 3he first married John Sloan in Douglas county 
61 July 27, 1874, '!hey had one daughter, :Janey E, I could find no record to show 

whether he died or the marriage was disolved, At any rate Mary married Arthur 

11cCarty January 24, 187761 and they had 1 son, Eli H. On the 1880 census Mary 

Jane was living at home and had the 2 children, but was listed as marrie,1. What 

happened to Arthur McCarty I don't know but Mary Jane apparently reverted to the 

use of the name Sloan since when she married William w. Kirk in Morrow county on 

April 14, 1889 she used the name "Mary Jane Sloan. 1162 I do not know if they had 

other children, but there doesn't seem to be a record of any, She was nearly 39 
years old when she married W.W. Kirk. The latter, born May 4, 1828 in North Caro­

lina, died near Lexington October 21, 1912. He had been previously married and 

had several children, probably all grown at the time of the marriage. When -Mary 

Jane died is not known wt it was evidently before 1900 as W.W. Kirk was living 

in the home of a married daughter when the 1900 federal census was taken, and is 

listed as being widowed. Mary Jane's son Eli Howard McCarty died in Heppner 

December 18, 1918 of pneumonia, 63 
The next child was John Archilles Winfield, The 2 middle names were un­

doubtedly for (1) his oldest uncle, Archelaus (John's family spelled it Archilles), 

and (2) his brother Winfield who died as an infant. In the records his name appears 

in various forms but often as "J.A.W." He was born in December 1852 somewhere in 

Missouri and was thus an infant when the family took the long trip west. The 

fcU!\ily record says 1851: 7 but all census records and John's own statement in his 

father's probate record indicate it was 1852, He was living at home, taking care 

of the farm when his father died in 1879 (age 26), He was appointed the adminis-
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trator3 1 and faithfully attended to the settlement of the estate, In the spring 
64 ~ 

of 1883 he applied for a timber culture homestead in Morrow county, having 

spent the previous year with his brother Vandever in Weston. 65 The ~orrow county 

homestead was sold in 1892. 66 He also bought Vandever's 102 acres in Clackamas 

county in 1886 and sold it in 1889, 67 but there is no indication he ever lived 

there, Although he probably farmed in Morrow county he had other interests. First, 

he was in the hardware wsiness and then he was a newspaper publisher, On March 

20, 1890 he sold his half interest of the "ha.rd.ware stock, tin ware, stoves, cut­

lery, agricultural implements, timers tools, and merchandise" of the business of 

Gilliam and Coffey located on Main street in the town of Heppner for a total sum 

of $3100,00, 36 On the 16th of October of the same year he bought the Lexington 

newspaper called the "Weekly Budget," moved all material to Heppner and without 

missing an issue came out one week later with Volume 1, Number 1 of the •"Morrow 

County Record, 1168 This must have been Heppner's first newspaper as one county 

history doesn't even record it but lists a later date for the first newspaper. 

The paper was apparently short-lived and J,A.W, may have left Morrow county in 

1892. 'lhe listing of heirs in his mother's probate record simply says after his 

name, "P.O. address unknown," 

On April 26, 1900 John was committed to the Oregon State Hospital with a 

diagnosis of •iacute melancholia, 1169 He was committed from Yamhill county and his 

occupation was listed as carpenter, In 1903 he was discharp:ed 0 to Camas Valley," 

This must have meant into the care of his brother Thomas who 11 ved there. Ap­

parently he remained around Douglas county the rest of his life wt died essent­

ially unknown and unclaimed by his family. His death occurred on March 10, 1931 

in a Roseburg hospital and he was wried the next day in the county cemetery where 

indigents are wried. 70 The death certificate 71 also listed him as an indigent 

whose residence was Camas Valley and whose occupation was "laborer-farming." 

John A,W, never married and it appears as though the stigma {in those days) of 

having been in a state hospital may have caused his family to disown him, Chester 

Coffey says 37 his mother told him that "great uncle John was a school teacher and 

lived around Salem," I could find no indication that this was ever so. A pos­

sible explanation is that this was a family cover up~ perhaps family tradition 

slipped a generation or two. It might be remembered from chapter 10 that James 
Coffey (John A,W. 's grandfather) had a brother John who was a school teacher and 

lived around Salem, Indiana. Chester also says he was told that John A.W. was a 

large man, about 6 ft, 6 in. Since the same thing was told about Vandever and we 

have seen how that was somewhat of a "tall tale", it is probable that John was more 

like 6 ft, or so. There were not many people in those days as tall as 6 ft. 6 in, 
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The ycungest son of John and ~ancy was named Thomas Wesley. The ~iddle name 

must have ~en for his uncle Ja~es Wesley Coffey (see chapter 10). According to 

the death cert1ficate 71 he was born 3eptember 27, 1854. This would have been 

while they lived near Fort Orford (then Coos county). The 1860, 1870, and 1880 

census records confirm the year. However, the fa.mil y record.s 37 say 1855, but as in 

the case with John A,W, I believe this was an error, beinF- wr~tten down some years 

later by a relative who did not live close to either John or ·Thomas. 

Thomas married Amanda E. Coon June 27,1878 in Douglas county and they lived 

at Camas Valley and are buried in the Martindale cemetery there along with most of 

their children, 72 Amanda (born May 18, 18,54) died 3eptember 19, 1903 and as far 

as we know Thomas never remarried, He famed until 1929 and probably moved soon 

after that to Portland where he died 3eptember 2, 1939 at the house of his daughter 

Mildred {Mrs. Leonard L.) Johnston 71 (or perhaps Lillian), lhe probate record of 

his mother Nancy in 1893 lists him as living at Eight-Mile (r>:orrow county), How­

ever, it is probable that this address was meant for John A,W, (and John's "P.O. 

address unknown" was meant for Thomas), There are no deed or other records to 

indicate that he ever lived in Morrow county. 'Ihe list of children are given in 

Chart 13. The son Fred went to Arizona and later Los Angeles where he was a 

~ photographer for Los Angeles newspapers in the late 19J0s-early 1940s, but nothing 

further is known about him. 

According to family records 10•37 John and Nancy had a daughter named Louisa. 

She is listed last of the 4 girls in the family record, indicating she was the 

youngest (the boys are apparently all listed in order of birth as are the other 

girls,) The 1857 census roll of Clackamas county lists two females under 10 

(one is Mary Jane) but the 1856 roll lists only 1. 74 There is no later census 

mention of this female. I believe this was Louisa, born 1856/57 and died i11 

infancy, This then accounts, as near as we can, for the 12 children. 

Before concluding this chapter I should make mention of a few other Coffey 

families that came to Oregon in the early days. It is surprising just how many 

were here, and I shall omit a discussion of most of them, but a few families 

have caused some confusion and should be mentioned. 

Proba.bly the earliest Coffey family in the Oregon Territory was that of 

Nebuzaradan Coffey, son of Joel and Martha (Step) Coffey. (see chapter 7). He * 

and his family came from Pike county Illinois with William and 3tephen Porter in 

1848. 75 All of his married children also came except Thornas who came later. 

They settled near Aumsville in Marion county and remained there the rest of their 

lives, although most of the childxen moved out from there. See Chart 13-A for 



200 

vital data on this family. 76 

Another Oregon family referred to in Chapter 7 was that of Joel Coffey, 77 a 

son of Chesley Coffey, Jr. (1755). Joel, born June 15, 1789, married 3arah 

Mackey April t9, 1818 in Maury county Tennessee. Joel and Sarah moved to Boone­

ville, Cooper county, Missouri (He is listed there in the 1830 census). Sarah 

died there in 1850 (she was born in 1795, the daughter of William Lewis Mackey 

and Elizabeth Ashbrook, both of Rutherford county, North Carolina). In 1852 Joel 

brought his children to Oregon. They first settled at Vancouver (now Washington) 

where Joel died December 10, 1855. 'nlere were 10 children but a number of them 

must have died young. 'nlree of the children are wried in a family plot with 

Joel in Camas, Washington. The most noteworthy of their children are the twins 

Terral M. and Alexander L., born March 1.5, 1831. lbey both went to Umatilla 

county Oregon and lived not many miles from my ancestors, James B. and Ma.ry E. 

Coffey. To make matters more confused, after Terral died there are 2 marriage 

records of "Mary E. Coffey. 11 Both seem to be for Mary E. Patterson Coffey, 

widow of Terral. The latter was a very prosperous farmer near Fendleton and his 

brother Alexander r.ecame the county surveyor in Adams county Washington. 'The 

known data for this family is given in Chart 13-B. 

A third Coffey family that came to Oregon, but not so early, was that of Dr. ~ 
Robert Coffey, a. well-known physician in Portland. 78 He and his wife Clarissa • 

were cousins and both descended from 'Ibomas Coffey (1742) whose history is given 

in chapter 4. Robert and Clarissa's line79 is as follows: 

Thomas Coffey & Sally Fields--William Coffey & Annie Boone~Daniel Coffey & 
J. Clarissa Estes 

Calvin Coffey &: Mary Greene J, 
~ Drury D. Coffey 

Coffey & Martisha Estes & Harriet Collett 
t I 

Robert c. Coffey---f!ld.--Clarissa Ellen Coffey 

Patterson v. 

Patterson Coffey settled in Douglas county Oregon80 whereas his son Robert 

went to Portland. Other children of Patterson were James Alexander, Rose, Vanda, * 
and Ada. 

There are records of several other Coffeys in Oregon r.efore 1900 but the 

lines to which they belong are not well known. Some even came directly from 

Ireland as did the Edward Coffey family which settled near St. Paul in Marion 

county in the 1850s, the James Coffey - Hannah Harrigan family who were in 
Salem in the 186o-?0-80 era, 81 and the George and Bridgett Coffey family of 

Benton county. 82 
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CHART 13 
VITAL DATA OF THE JOHN AND NANCY (31~YDER) COFFEY FAHILY 

John Coffey 
b. 22 Apr 1810, Wayne co., KY, son of James Coffey and Frances Lane 
d. 8 Apr 1879, Look1ngDlass, Douglas, OR 
m. 13 3ep 1832 Nancy Snyder (b. 1 Dec 1815, Virginia), Gallatin co., IL 
children: 

1. Vandever Lee Coffey 
b, 26 Oct 1833, Gallatin co,, IL 
d. 2 May 1909, Beech Creek, Grant, OR 
m. 5 Jan 1871 Rebecca J. Wright, Marion co., OR 
no children 

2, Miles Coffey 
b. abt 1835, Gallatin co., IL 

3, James Bluford Coffey 
b. 11 Oct 1837, Gallatin co., IL 
d. 3 Jul 1924, Adams, Umatilla, OR 
m, (1) 19 Oct 1862 Mary Ann Mccorkle, Marion co .. O'R 
chtldren: 

1, George F. Coffey 
b. 20 Jan 1864, Howell, Marion, OR 
d, JO Jun 1912, Medicine Hat, Alberta, Canada 
m. 5 May 1886 ~arah Frances Phillips, Albany, Linn, OR 

m. (2) 16 Jul 1866 :•:a:-y ~lizabeth Bolin, Salem, Marion, OR 
children: 

1, Mary Ann (Anna) Coffey 
b. 1 Apr 1867, Scio, Linn, OR 
d, 20 May 1946, Portland, Multnomah, OR 
m. 2 Feb 1892 Frank Baker, Freewater, Umatilla, OR 

2. James Eldy (or Eldo) Coffey 
b. 27 Sep 1868, 3cio, Linn, OR 
d. bef 1870 

J. Albert Mc Coffey 
b, 18/19 Jul 1870, Scio, Linn, OR 
d. 24 Mar 19.58, Pendleton, Umatilla, OR 
n.md. 

4, Nancy Bell Coffey 
b. 24 Jul 1871, Silverton, Marion, OR 
d. 1 Jul 1942, Portland, Multnomah, OR 
m. (1) 25 Dec 1890 William Henry McFarland, Linn co. OR 

(2) Benjamin Franklin (Tex) Barnett 
(3) Wallace M. Frisby 

5, lea Coffey 
b. 26 May 1873, prob, Marion co, OR 

6, Lee Alford (or Alfred) Coffey 
b. 26 Jul 1874, Marion co., OR 
d, 18 Jun 1950, Yakima, Yakima, WA 
m, (1) 11 Jan 1898 (div) Minnie Swanson, Walla Walla, WA 

(2) Etta -----• 
7. Amer Wood Coffey 

b. 8 Jun 1876, Marion co,, OR 
d. 31 Dec 1958, Yakima, Yakima, WA 
m. (1) 19 May 1900 Essie Swanson, Walla Walla, WA 

(2) 1930 Mary Hamilton 
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8. James Orval Coffey 
b. 5 May 1878, LookingF,lass, Douelas, OR 
d. 4 Dec 1962, Lindsay, Tulare, CA 
m. (1l JO Jan 1898 (div) Iva May Johnson, Walla Walla, WA 

(2 abt 1910 Carrie B. 
(J Evelyn Violet Surby 

This is p.;randfather of the author of this book. 
9. Alonzo (Loney or Lonie) Coffey 

b. 6 Mar 1880, Scio, Linn, OR 
d. 18 Dec 1951, Monroe, Snohomish, WA 
m. JO Apr 1900 Carrie Kane, Walla Walla, WA 

10. Lulu Coffey 
b. 12 Sep 1881/2, Scio, Linn, OR 
d. JO Jan 1948, Ilwaco, Pacific, WA 
m. (1) 22 May 1899 Andy Barker, Walla Walla, WA 

(2) Dumont; (3) __ Jacobson 
11. Leona (Ona) Coffey 

b. 6 Nov 1883, Scio, Linn, OR 
d. 9 Aug 1964, KeMewick, Benton, WA 
m. 20 Dec 1898 James Harrison Overturf, Walla Walla, WA 

12. Lester B. Coffe,Y 
b. JO Jul 1884/5, Scio, Linn, OR 
d. abt 1889, Morrow co., OR 

13. Thomas Webster Coffey 
b. 23 Feb 1891, Walla Walla, WA 
d. 16 Jan 1966, Portland, Multnomah, OR 
m. 1 Apr 1915 Lois Evalyne Bartlett, Pendleton, Umatilla, OR 

4. Martha Ellen Coffey 
b. abt 1839/4o, Gallatin co., IL 
d. abt 1861, prob. Clackamas co., OR 
m. 8 May 1856 William Arthur, Jr., Clackamas co., OR 
children, 

1. Mildred A.F. Arthur 
b. 1857, Clackamas co., OR 
m. 5 Oct 1875 w.s. Allen, Yamhill co., OR 

2. Martha Josephine Arthur 
b. 1859, Clackamas co., OR 
m. 5 Dec 1876 Harvey c. Neal, Linn co., OR 

J. William C. Arthur 
b. abt 1861, Clackamas co., OR 
m, 29 Aug 1880 Emily H. Yocum, Yamhill co., OR 

5. Julia Ann Coffey 
b. 10 Oct 1841, Missouri 
d, 25 Nov 1928, Portland, Multnomah, OR 
m. 24 Dec 1861 Joseph A. Hughes, Clackamas co., OR 
children, 

1. John L. Hughes 
b. 1868 
d. 1960 

2. Minnie V. Hughes 
b. abt 1877 
m. King 

3. Sam ~Hughes 
b. abt 1879 

4, Richard D, Hughes 
b. abt 1881 



6, Eli D. Coffey 
b. abt 1844, Missouri 
d. after 186C & bef. 1879 

7. Daughter, !laE.e unknown 
b. abt 1846 

8, Winfield W. Coffey 
b, abt Nov. 1848, Illinois 
d. Nov, 1849, Hamilton co., IL 

9. Mary Jane Coffey 
b. abt 1850/51, Hamilton co., IL 
d. bef, 1900, Morrow co., OR 
m. (1) 27/28 Jul 1874 John Sloan, Douglas co., OR 
children: 

1. Nancy E. Sloan 
b. 1875, Douglas co., OR 

m. (2) 24 Jan 1877 Arthur McCarty, Douglas co,, OR 
childrena 

1. Eli Howard McCarty 
b. 13 Nov 1877, Douglas co., OR 
d. 18 Dec 1918, Heppner, Morrow, OR 

m. (3) 14 Apr 1889 William W. Kirk, Morrow co., OR 
no children 

10. John Archilles Winfield Coffey 
b. Dec 1852, Missouri 
d. 10 Mar 1931, Roseburg, Douglas, OR 
n.md. 

11, Thomas Wesley Coffey 
b, 27 Sep 1854, Coos CO, OR 
d, 2 Sep 1939, Portland, OR 
m, 27 Jun 1878 Amanda E. Coon, Douglas co., OR 
childrena 

1. Lillian L. Coffey 
b. June 1879,Douglas co., OR 
d. 1956 
m. (1) Gilpin, (2) Johnson or Johnston 

2, Sarah "Sa.die" Coffey 
m. McMillan 

J. Mildred Coffey 
d. Oct 1970 
rn, (1) Dugan, (2) Johnson or Johnston 

4. Fred L, Coffey 
b. abt 1881 

205 

5. & 6, Two children, sex and names unknown, bur. at Martindale cem., 
Camas Valley, OR, 

12. Louisa 
b, abt 1857, Clackamas co., OR 
d. abt 1857, Clackamas co,, OR 
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CHART 13-A 

THE FAfiILY OF NEBUZARADON COFF"!i:Y 

Ne blzaradon Coffey 
b. 29 Aug 1789, Wilkes co. , N. C. , son of Joel Coffey & Martr.a :3tep. 
d. 20 Jan 186?, Aumsville, Marion, OR 
m. 11 Sep 1310 Elizabeth Easley (b, 15 Aug 1790, dau of Wm. Easley & 3a.rah 

Ann Lester), Cumberland co,, KY, 
Children1 

1. Cassandra Coffey 
b, 23 Aug 1811, Pilot Knob, KY 
d, 18 Jan 1885, Marion co,, OR 
m. 1 Jan 18'.34 Joseph Monroe Blackerby, Pike co,, IL 
children1 J, William C,, Thomas Richard, Sidney G.,Marcus D,L., Elza M,, 

Arthur Frank, & 4 who d, in infancy, 
2. Martha Coffey 

b, 7 Jul 1813, Cumberland co., KY 
d. 17 May 1903, Marion co,, OR 
m. 4 Oct 1849 William Porter, Marion co,, OR 
child.rans Henry Clay, Sarah Louise, & Mary Jane. 

3, Thomas C, Coffey 
b, 17/27 Oct 1815, Kentucky 
d, 1 Jul 1859, Marion co., OR 
m. 26 Apr 1838 Luciller Jane Baker, Pike co,, IL 
children: Ghalan 3,, Mary E. ,Emily, Sydney J. John J.H., 3arah L., 

Elizabeth F., and Greene M, 
4. Mary "Polly" Coffey 

b. 27 Jan 1818, Kentucky 
d, 1870, Oregon 
m. 24 Apr 1838 Walter H, Tucker, Pike co., IL 

* 

children a Elizabeth J., Martha, German J., Henry C., Thomas J., & Elmer E. 
5, Sarah Coffey 

b, 1 May 1820 Sinpson co,, KY 
d. 20 Nov 1848, Marion co,, OR 
m. 26 Nov 1840 William Porter, Pike co., Il, 
childrena William German, Elizabeth Nancy, John Hancock, Sidney Reese, 

6. Catherine Jane Coffey 
b, 13 Nov 1822 
d. 13 Feb 1850, Marion co,, OR 
m. 1 Sep 1844 Stephen Porter, Pike co,, TI, 
children: Nancy Louisa, David A,, John Thomas. 

?. Sidney J, Coffey 
b, 19 Apr 1825. Kentucky 

8, German J. Coffey 
b, 17 Nov 1827, Kentucky 
d. 1874, !•:ar1on co, 1 OR 
m. ?iary rargaret Smith 
children& Mary L., John J.C., Denton Darby, Edith, Ellen, Tecumseh 

Sherman, Frank Nebuzarad.on. 
9. Elizabeth Coffey 

b. 8 Mar 1830, Kentucky 
d. 1 Nov 186J, Lane co., OR 
m. 1? Oct 1850 William Wilshire Bristow, Marion co., OR 
children& Iola N., Edith Clyde, Adaline c., Darwin. 

* 

* 

* 

* 



10, Denton D, Coffey 
b, 28 May 18)2 
d, 8 Mar 1851 

11. Lowisa Coffey 
b, 22 May 1834 

Joel Coffey 
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CHART 1)-B 

THE FAMILY OF JOEL COFFEY 

b, 15 Jun 1789, Wilkes co., N,C, (son of Chesley Coffey, Jr. & Margaret Baldwin). 
d. to Dec 1855, Vancouver or Camas, WA 
m. 19 Apr 1818 Sarah Mackey, Maury co., TN 
children1 
1. William Coffey 
2. Chesley Coffey 
3, Derrind.ia Coffey 
4, Alexander L. Coffey 

b. 15 Mar 1831, Booneville, Cooper, MO 
d, 8 Aug 1913 

5, Terral M, Coffey 
b, 15 Ma.r 1831, Booneville, Cooper, MO (twin of Alexander) 
m. Mary E, Patterson 

6, Mary Louisa Coffey 
b. 1833, Booneville, Cooper, MO 
d. 1922 
m. Webster Abbott 

7, Elizabeth Angeline Coffey 
b, 8 May 1836, Booneville, Cooper, MO 
d, 12 Apr 1905 • 
m. Lewis VanVleet 

J other children, d. young. 

* 
* 

* 

• 



r 1. WILL OF THQViAS POWELL 

APPENDIX 
A 

In the name of God Amen I Thomas Powell of the Parish of Citingburg in the 
county of Essex and the Colony of Virginia being very sick and perfect memory 
b~essed and :praised by Almight God for the same doth make this to be my last 
will and Testament in manner and form following. 
First I commend. my soule into the hands of Almighty God who gave it homeing by 
the meritorious death and passing of our blessed Lord and 3avior Jesus Christ 
to receive full remission of my sins and a joyful resurrection at the last day 
and my body be decently and christianly buryd at the descretion of my executors 
hereafter named and as for ye worldly goods God has lent me I nl.l and bequeath 
them as followth. Imprimis. 

It is my will that my land be divided in three equal parts and that my two 
sons Place Powell and Thomas Powell have each of them one third part of the land 
and forthwith after the departure of my said wife out of this life the third part 
of my land decend to my sonne William Powell. And it is my will that my land 
bequeathed as aforesaid to my sons Place Powell and Thomas Powell decend after 
their or either of their decease upon the heirs of their body lawfully begotten 
& for want of heirs that then it decend upon the next of my name and lineage 
and soe from heirs to heirs till both my name and lineage be extent. 

Items I give unto my son William Powell halfe of my female cattle and all 
their male increase and my will is that the male go to those persons that hath 
the education of my son William Powell until he shall come of the age of twenty 
one years and furthers 

Itema I give unto my daughter Frances Powell two cows called Rose and Nanne 
with their increase. 

Itema I give unto my sonne Honnor Powell and my daughter Elizabeth Salmon 
and my daughter Ann Coffee each of them one shilling and as for the rest of my 
estate and the other ha.lf of my cattle I will and bequeath it to my loving wife 
Mary Powell as long as she remains a widow or decease out of this mortal life 
then it shall be divided equally between Place Powell, 1homas Powell, Elizabeth 
Salmon, and Anne Coffee. Also Place Powell and Thomas Powell and my son-in law 
John Salmon be executors of this my last will and testament hereby nullifying 
and making void all former wills by me made at any time. Signed sealed and 
published as witness whereof I have hereunto sett my hand and seale this second 
day of March Anno Dono 1700. His 

Signed sealed and published in 
the presence of us 
Edward Coffee 
Sarah Miller 

2. WILL OF EDWARD COFFEY 

1homas X Powell 
Mark 

Proven by oaths of the Witnesses in Essex 
County Virginia ye 10th day of April 1?01 
and truly recorded. 

Testes Frances Merriweather 
Cl. Cur. 

In the name of God Amen I Edward Coffeey being in bedd of sickness but in 
perfect sense and membry thanks bee to God I Edward Cofey do bequeath this to 
bee my last Will and Testamenta -- I leave all my land to my two suns John 
Cofey and Edward Cofey to be divided at 16 years of age if the mother of them 
be ded otherways att 18 years of age. I also give one cow and her increas to 
my daughter·Marther Cofey att ye age of 16 or att her mothers deth also one cowe 
yerling to my sun John Cofey and her increas. All the tenables stock and bock 
I g1 ve to my wife Ann Cofey till her deth but if she marys then every one of my 
children to have their parts as they come of age, and after ye deces of my wife 
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all tenables to be equall divided between my six children John Cofey, Edward 
Cofey, Marther Cofey, Ann Cofey, Austes Cofey and Elizabeth Cofey. 

As witness my hand and seall this 14th day of Feary 171.5/6. 

Samuel Edmondson 
Themety 3eleven 

nis 
Sdward X Cofey 

Marie 

At a court held for Essex County on Tuesday ye 20th day of Novr 1716, 
The above last Will and Testament of Edward Coffey deed. was presented & proved 
by the oath of Ann Coffey his wife & Exex. therin named & also by ye oaths of 
3amuel Edmondson and Timothy Seleven the evidences thereto & is ordered to be 
recorded & is recorded. 

Tes, Thomas Herman DC Cur. 

Essex County Virginia Deeds & Wills# 14, page 669. 



AFrENDIX 
B 

I. Abstract of will of Robert Mayfield, .5r, Dated 3 Dec 1714, probated 16 Aug 
1715. Essex county Virginia. 

To wife 5arah ~ayfield all land and movable estate during life. C·ne 
shilling each to sons: Robert !-!ayfield, AbrahaJ!l :•iayfield, John ::ayfield and 
Isaac '':ayfield. To son Jacob ~ayfield all land at decease of wife. One shillinf 
each to dau~hters : Catherine Grep,ory, Jane Graves, Anne Conneley. 

Ext'x and Exor wife 3arah and son Rotert 
Wit: Daniel Hayes 

Cornelius 3ale 
3igned Robert X r-:ayfleld 

Proved by oath of 3arah Mayfield, widow, Executrix, etc., 16 Aug 1?15 

II. Will of James Graves, Essex county Virginia. 

In the name of God Amen I James Graves of perfect sense and memory thanks 
be to the Almighty God who gave it me hoping through the merits of Jesus Christ 
to receive the sa.ile at the last day to enjoy eternal bless, I reccomend my bodey 
to be buryed in desent and Christian manner according to the discretion of my 
E:~ecutor hereafter named, 
Item I give & bequeath unto my loving wife Jean Graves all my real & personal 
estate to her & her heirs for ever and I do constitute and appoint my loving 
wife Jean Graves my whole and sole Executor of this my last Will & Testament 
revoking and dissannuling all other wills & Testaments herefore by me made as 
Witness my hand this 10th day of January 1724, 

James Graves 
Sealed and Delivered in the presence of us 

Test John Munday 

her 
Hannah X Graves 

mark 

At a court held for Essex county on Tuesday the 20th day of April 1725 the above 
Last Will and Testament of James Graves deced was presented in court by Jane 
Graves his Executrix who made oath & was also proved by the oaths of John Monday 
and Hannah Graves the witnesses thereto & subnitted to reuord. 

Test W. Beverly, ClCur. 

III, Will of John Graves, Essex county, Virginia, 

In the name of God Amen I John Graves of the County of Essex & parish of 
St, Anne am sick & weak of body but of sound pfect sence & memory thanks be to 
God for it knowing that it is appointed once for all men to dye I do comit my 
body to the Earth & my sole to God that gave and after my Debts & Legacies are 
paid I give my Estate as followetha 

I give unto my well beloved wife Hannah Graves my plantation where I now 
live dureing her life provided she does not marry againe but if she dos marry 
again it 1s my will that the land at her marriage shall go to my son James 
Graves and his heirs Lawfully begotten of his own body but if my son James dye 
without having any child of his own then it is my desire that ye Land shall go 
to my son Benjamin Graves & his heirs for ever. 

I further give to my Daughter Martha Graves one Cow & Calf to be pa.id at 
the day of marriage, I further give to my Daughter Ann Graves one Cow & Calf 
to be paid the day of ma'r'?'i~ I further give to my daughter Jean Graves one 
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cow a~d Calf to be paid at the day of marriage & as for ye rest of my personel 
estate I ~ive it to my loving wife Hannah Graves, durin~ her natural Life and 
at her decease it is my desire that my personel estate that I give to ~Y wife 
for Life that it shall be equally divided amongst all my Children at her decease, 

I further Consitue & appoint my well beloved wife hole & sole lxec-l;rix of 
this my Last Will & Testament revoking and disannuling all other wills and 
Testaments heretobore by me made, 

51gned & Sealed in psents of us 

September ye 4th 1719 

Robt, Elliott 
John Munday 
Johannah (J E) Elliott, 

John Graves (Seal) 

17 May 1720, Presented in Court by Hannah Graves. Proved by Robt. Elliott and 
John Munday. 

IV, Will of John Coffey. Albemarle County Virginia, 

In the name of God, Amen. 'Ibis thirty-first day of March 1774 I John Coffey 
of Albemarle County and Parish of St, Anne's in the Colony of Virginia, yeoman, 
being weak in body but of perfect mind and memory, thanks be given unto God; 
'Iherefore calling unto mind the mortality of my body and knowing that it is ap­
pointed for all men once to die, do make and ordain this my last will and testa­
ment. That is to say, principally and first of all I give and recommend by soul 
unto Almighty God who gave it, and my body I recommend to earth to be buried in 
a decent manner at ye discretion of my executors, nothing doubting but at the 
General Resurrection I shall receive the same by the Almighty power of God, As 
touching such worldly estate as it hath pleased God to bless me With in this life 
I give arn devise and dispose of the same in the follow1.ng manner and forms 

Imprimis, I order that my just debts and funeral expenses be first paid out 
of the whole. 

Item. I will and bequeath to my sons, James and William Coffey, to each of 
them five shillings sterling. 

Item. I lend to my dearly beloved wife, Jean Coffey, during her widowhood 
the rest of my estate, real and personal, and at the end of her widowhood to be 
equally divided among the rest of my children, viz.a 'Ihomas Coffey, John Coffey, 
Edmond Coffey, Reuben Coffey, and Benjamin Coffey, Winifred Moran and Betty Field 
and the above estate to be sold at said time. 

Item, I order 'Ihomas Coffey and Benjamin Coffey, my executors, and I do 
hereby utterly disallow, revoke and disannul all and every other former will and 
testament, legacies, and bequests and executors in anywise before named and be­
queath, ratify, and confirm this and no other to be my last will and testament. 
In witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and seal the day and year above 
written, 

Signed, sealed and delivered by the said John 
Coffey as his last will and testament in the 
presence of the subscribers, Chas. Patrick and 
Alex'r, Craig 

John Coffey (Seal) 

Presented to Court & proved by oaths of Witnesses at Albemarle March Court 1775, 
'Ihomas & Benjamin Coffey qualified as executors. 



AFFENDIX 

C 

I. Will of Thomas Coffey. Wi:~es county, North Carolina. 

In the name of God, Amen. I, Thomas Coffey, of wilkes County and 3tate o: 
North Carolina, being of sound mind and memory do make and ordain this my last 
will and testament, viz: 

First, I commend my spirit to God who gave it and my body to the grave and 
as to my worldly property, both real and personal, that shall remain :. ·'-t,-- "·Y 
just debts are paid, I lend it to my beloved wife Sarah Coffey for her use during 
her nat.:ral life or widowhood and what refllains after her death or the end of her 
widowhood. to be equally divided aMonr,st my children, viz: my dau. Elizabeth Allen, 
my son John Coffey wife and children, my son Thomas Coffey, my son James Coffey, 
my dau. '.\~ary Coffey, my son 3mith Coffey, my dau. Patsy Dowell, r:.y son tlilliam 
Coffey, my son Reuben Coffey, my son Elijah Coffey, my dau. 3ally 3tewart, my 
son Lewis Coffey, my son Larkin Coffey, and my son W. Caleb Coffey. Provided 
never the less that if my said wife should marry a~ain that then and case she 
shall have an equal share with one of my children. 

I here by appoint two of my sons, viz: 3mith Coffey and Nilliam Coffey ex­
ecutor of this my last will and testament. 

31gned, sealed and delivered in the presence of us the 29th day of February 
A.D. 1825. 

Witness: Larkin Coffey 
Martin Coffey 

Proved at October term 1825 on oath of 
Larkin Coffey, Smith Coffey and 
William Coffey 

Thomas (X) Coffey 

II. Will of james Coffey. Wilkes County, North Carolina. 

In the Name of God Amen. 
I James Coffey of Wilkes County and 3tate of North Carolina. 

being sick & weak in body; though of sound and disposing mind and memory; and 
callin~ to mind that it is ordained for all rnen to die; do make and nominate this 
my last will and testament,Vizt 
First I recommend my soul into the hands of Almighty God that gave it. And my 
body to be buried in a desent manner at the discretion of my executoTs. And as to 
what worldly goods that pleased Almighty God to bless me with I give and despose 
of that in the following manner (To wit). 

~ . 
It is my will and desire that my loving wife Elizabeth Coffey tne whole of 
my Estate both real & personal (that shall remain after paying my just debts 
and furneral expenses) during her natural life. 

Items! give and bequeath to my daughter Betty Whitesides, my son John Coffey, 
my son James Coffey, my son Reuben Coffey, my son Abious Coffey, my son 
Ely Coffey, my son Rise Coffey, my daughter Martha Durram, my son Joel 
Coffey, my son Lewis Coffey, and the heirs of my son Archelus Coffey; the 
whole of my estate both real and personal of all kinds whatsoever, that 
shall remain after my just debts and funeral expenses shall be paid: to 
be equally divided amongst them at the decease of my wife Elizabeth Coffey 
'!hat is to say allowing all the heirs of my deceased son Archelius Coffey 
jointly a part equal to one of my children and __ of ___ equal share 

my own chillren. 
I do nominate and appoint my son John Coffey and my son Reubin Coffey execu­
tors of this my last will and testament and do hereby disannul all former 
wills and ratify and confirm this to be my last will and testament; in 
witness 'Whereof I have hereunto set my hand and seal this thirteenth day of 
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Septerr.ber in the yea:r of our Lord One Thousand Seven Hundred and Ei~.hty Six. 
His 

Signed Sealed :pu:,lished and declared James X Coffey 
in presence of mark 
Wm. Lenoir 
Feter Holt 
Benjamin Coffey 

State of North Carolina 
Wilkes County October 1786 

The within Will was duly 
___ in open court by 
oath of William ---Esq. a subscribing witness 
there to and ordered to be 
recorded. 

Teste. Wm. Lenoir 



The Author 
~larvin nale Coffey 

1984 
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213 

illlliu Allen 146 
Wlll18111 Benj&1111n 52 
Y.illiam ColUJ11ous ~? 
ii1111~ H,H, 119 
ll1111ain M, 5J 
William S, 101 
William Saunders 103 
illlliam Sr, 93 
llill1ain Trilrible 50 
William W, 52 
llllliain ila.1.d 119 
lilllis 101 
iiilson 47-8 
Winfield 197 
iiinfield W, 197, 205 
Wini:f'red 41 J6, 41, 43-4, 212 
llinnefred (Ureney?) ~ 
'ilnnie 47 
Woodson 99 
ilyatt 99 

Za.cheus 50 
Zidner 102 



INDEX 
2 - Surnames Other Than Coffey 

ABBOT!', ile bater 207 
ADAMS, John C, (Capt.) 189 

:~ary 52 
Nancy 44 
Robert 120 

ALEXANDER, Martin 179 
!Unerva 76 

ALLEN, Charlotte 118 
David 47, 51, 62, 74 
Elizabeth 213 
Hannah 4, 62, 69, 74 
Willi8111 115 
w.s. 204 

AllDERSON 45 
Ann 173, 184 
David 170-1, 183 
Joshua 45 
Judith 173, 184 
'!.ary 171 
Matthew 173, 184 
iluth 171, 183 
3allie 45 
Samuel 184 
'Iba.nkt'ul 70 
William 171, 18J 
Winnie 45 

ANDREWS, Haley 180 
ARMIS'mAD, !-!a.rth& 173, 184 
ARNET!'. Jacob 45 
ARNOLD, Forrest J4 
ARTHUR, Albertis 196 

Catherine 196 
Josephine 196 
Martha E. 193 
~ildred. A,F. 196, 204 
Milton 196 
William 196 
William Jr. 196, 2o4 
William Sr, 196 
Will111111 C, 204 

ASHl!ROOK, Elizabeth 200 
A'lKINSON, Celia 157, 162 
AULD, Lou (or Lori) K, 1J8 
AUSTIN, David 25 

Miss 86 
Susannah 25 

BAKER, Mrs, Ann Nelson 17J, 184 
Frank 203 
Luciller Jane 206 

BARl(Eil, 3. !-!el vina. 145 
BALDWIN, Margaret 1011 207 
BALDRimE, John 4, 137, 143 
BALLARD, Susanna 153, 162 
BALLEJICER, Elizabeth 125 
BAJl1CER t Andy 204 
BARNEffl, Mic 70 

Nancy 4, J61 4J, 46 
BARRET!' 1 Ann(e J 184 

Charles (Dr,} 184 
Charles n 184 
Robert (Rev,) 184 

BARTLETI', Lois Evalyne 204 
BEACHtJM, William 147 
BEARD, Polly 102 
BEASLEY, El llanda. 52 

BECK, George 120 
BELL, Jane 44 
BICE!ISTAFF, Arden (Capt.) 159 
BIGCERS, CJ:eed T, 162 
BIG<;S, Isabel 71 
BISHOP, Harvey 121 

Margaret 121 
William 71 

BLACKERBY, Arthur Frank 206 
Eliza M, 206 
Joseph Monroe 206 
J, William C, 206 
Harcus D,L, 206 
Sidney C, 206 
'Dlomaa R1cha%'d 206 

.BLADEN, Mrs. 50 
Bl.AIR, Polly 101 
BLANKENSHIP, Luranny 178 
BOLIN, Mary Elizabeth 5, 203 
BOLING, Diantha UJ, 119 
BONHAM, c. Philip 52 

Jeanne Sn~ 52 
lDOHE, Mr, 

Annie 47 t 200 
Daniel 37, 61, 66 
Hannah 47 

B00TMAN, Saloma 1118 
ll0RK I June 59 
.BOYD, J11111es 144 
BRADEN, Aminda F, 147 
BRADFORD, Henry (Col,) 74 

Mary 62, 74 
Sa.rah "Sally" 4 1 62, 6J, 68, 75 
Hrs, 71 

BRAWNER, Jesse 70 
BRIJX.E, John 44 
BRINLEY, Amelia 114 
BBISTOV, Adaline c, 206 

Darwin 206 
Edith Clyde 206 
Iola N, 206 
William Wilshire 206 

BROWN,121 
Benjamin 175, 185 
Bernard 185 
Matthew 175 
Napoleon B, 121 
Sally 101 
William F, 164 

BROILES, Elisa Jane "Louisa" 159,164 
Fielding 159, 164 
3usan 159, 164 

BRYAN, Ann Penelope 95 
BRYANT, Catherine 44 
BUCK, Katherine Rains 15J 
BUCHANAN, J, H, 48 
BUCKNER, Jane 84 
BULLEN, Isaac SJ 
BURGER, Elizabeth 45 
BURKETl', Mary 102 
BURSIJE, Rachel 125 
BUHPO, Lucinda 51 
BYLES, Carolyn 51 

CALHOUN, Mary 179 
CALLOWAY, Larkin 
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CAMP 145, 185 
CAMPBELL, Eliza 51 

Joel 46 
John 46 
Martha 53 

CANTRELL, Elizabeth 144 
Mary Elinor 1J8, 146 

CARNAHAN, Louisa Adelaide Ferris Long 
144 

CARLAND, A,B, 71 
CARR, 'DlClllas (Maj.) 171, 18j 

Thomas 18J 
CAR'IEH, Dorcas 4, J4, 43, 45 

HODrJ' BJ 
Lennie Etta 15J 

CASE, Laxton 71 
CA'mSBY 20 
CAUGHEY 12 
CHADWICK, Nancy 102 
CHAFFIN 139 
CHANCE, William 178 
CHAPMAN, Roy 52 
CHENAULT, 3tephen 25, 28 

William 25 
CHESLEY, Miss 100 

Dan 100 
Marga.rot 100 
Phillip 100 

CHISWELL, Mary 184 
CHRIS'IMAS, Elizabeth 172, 184 
CLARK, Lou Mina Jane 52 

Nancy 76 
Tillio 163 

CLEVELAND, Absalon 85 
Alexander 6, 22, 28, 57, 69, 81-4, 

86-8, 90 
Alexander Jr. 82-4, 87-8, 90 
Alexander Sr, 82, 84, 86, 87 
Anica 83-4·, 90 
Anna 84 
Ann(e) BJ, 90 
Benjamin 82, 85-7, 90 
Benjwun (Col,) 25, JS, 60, 66, 

87-8 
Betty 84-5, 90 
Dorcaa or Dorothy 82, 86, 90 
Edmund James 81, 83-7 
Ell BJ, 88, 90 
Elizabeth 4-5, 21, 4J, 57, 67, 

70, 81, 83-5, 87-8, 90, 111,119 
Fanny BJ 
Frances 83, 86 
George BJ 
Grace 4, 22, 28, 35, 82, 86, 1001 

103, 190 
Hannah BJ 
Henry Wilson 83 
Jack 90 
Jacob BJ, 86, 90 
James BJ, 90 
Jane 86, 98, 100, 102 
Jemima 85 
Jeremiah 81, 83, 86-7, 90 
John 4, 22, 28, 81-7, 90 
John ('Devil') 85 
Johnston 83 
Lazkin 84-, 86, 90 



CL2'r::J..A.>;D, Cont, 
i-:ar,sa.ret 83-4, a1-a 
Martha 83-5, 90 
:-!ary 83-5, 90 
~icajah 811 66-7, 90 
~,ildred 8J 
Mille 83 
:111ly 83-4, 90 
!'!oses 81 
Nancy 86, 90 
Oliver 51, 83-4, 88, 90 
ra.tsey (Fatsy) 83-4, 86, 90 
Fa.tty 84, 86, 90 
Folly 83-4 
Reuben 84, 86, 90 
i!obert 85-6, 88, 90 
i!oger 6, 62, 8708, 90 
3a.lly 90 
3arah Ann 84 
'.lilliam 81-4, 86-8, 90 

CCBB, ~!a.rtha Fa.tricia 99 
CCBTHACH 12, 14 
CO:!!HTHAICH 91 12, 14 
COE, ElvL.--a 120 
CCGHILL, James 19 

:-largaret 20 
~ary 20 

COLES, llilliam 173 
COLLE:'IT, Eliza.beth 49 

Harriet 200 
CCW,A.'i (CC~Al1), 3a111uel 44 
CC!illELY, Anne 211 
CCCCAli, Emmet G, 164 
CCCK, '11ola. 114 
CCON, Amanda. E:, 199, 205 
CCi!Rt'M 71J. 
COVELL, Merritt L, (Capt.) 113 
COIIEY 12 
COX, Benjlllllin Sr. 119 

Nancy 119 
CRAF'I', Norm 163 
CRAIG, Alex'r 212 
CRAIN, 3aliluel 46 
CRA'iir'CRD, Braxton 144 
CREEL 28 
CREIGHTON, John 195 
CRE'J, Andrew 151 

Anne 5, 151-2, 162 
David 152 
Jane 152 
John 151-2, 162 
Joseph 152 
1-!ary 151 
Sarah i51, 162 
ll1ll1am 152 

CRISF, Myra 48 
CRO!liE:LL, OU ver 88 
caoss, Mary Ann 75 
CRl.."!P'i'CN, Ja.i:es ~ 

Jesse 71 
ilirJ.fred 37, 49 

CRIJTCHFIELD, John 173, 184 
CULLGi, Richam Northcraft 64, 76 

3helby }!oore 64 
CURTIS , Rice 82 

'Sal:iue l 52 
llllliam J, 48 

CIJ11TSINGER, Beulah 52 

DABNEY, Ap.tha. {~es) 179 
And~r,o:i 175, 185 

::lAE?."EY, Cont. 
Ann l?J, 178, 184 
Anna. 175-7, 179, 185 
::ienjamin 171, 173, 177-8, 183-4 
3luford (Buford) 181 
Catherine 184 
Cecilia 184 
Charity 184 
Charles 177-8, 184 
Charles II 184 
Charles (Col.) 172, 184 
Charles William 170 
Chiswell 184 
Cicely 184 
Cornelius 154, 169, 170-8, 180-1, 

183-5 
Cornelius, Jr. 171, 173-4, 183 
Dorothy 171, 18J 
Edey 178 
Edith (Eedeth) 170-1, 183, 185 
Ed.'!lond 184 
Elizabeth 171-3, 175, 178, 180-1, 

183-5 
Fanny 176-7, 180-11 185 
Frances 175-6, 184-5 
Carland 175, 185 
George, 171-2, 177-8, 180-1, 184-5 
George II 172-3, 184 
George III 17J, 184 
George IV 173, 184 
George li. 178 
Cracey 184 
Isaac175 
James 1?1-5, 178, 181, 183-5 
James (Dr.) 184 
James (the Powerful) 3 
Jane 176, 177, 1801 184 
John 169, 171, 173-9, 180-1,183-5 
John III 171, 183 
John (Judge) 173 
John Blair 173, 184 
John Quarles 175-6 
Jubal 180 
Judith 173, 184 
Lucy 175-8, 185 
Lucy G. 184 
Lydia 179 
Maria 184 
Mary 171-2, 175, 177, 183-5 
Mary or Molly 173, 184 
Mary Jane 184 
Melinda 178 
Hildred 184 
Milley 178 
Molly 179 
!fancy 5, 129, 143, 151, 154-5, 

169, 170-1, 176, 178-9, 180-1, 
185 

Nancy Ann 184 
9athan 169, 176-7, 179, 180-1, 

185 
Na.than Jr, 180 
Nathaniel 175, 181, 185 
Nelson 184 
Nelthan 172, 181 
Penielia (?amela.) 160 
Folly 178-9 
Rachael {Rachel) 1701 176, 185 
Rebecca 178, 185 
Rhoda 180 
Richard 184 

~:~"!, Cont. 
Robert 179 
Robert (Robin) 172, !24 
!lobert A. 178 
Robert Kelso 175, 185 
Robert Lewis Lc4 
3ally 178 
3uuel 172, !61J. 
Samuel (Dr,) 164 
Sa."'&h (Sally) 179 
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Sa.rah 171, 1i4-5, 178-9, 183-5 
Sophia 180 
3usan 185 
3usanna.(h) 171, 183, 185 
Susanne 172, 184 
Thomas 178, 184 
Tho111as (}'.aj., of Dor:o.11) 134 
Thclllas Jefferson 180 
Thomas 31111 th Gregory 17) 
Tyree ('!'yre) 175, 180-1, 185 
William 169, 170, 172•9, leC, 

181, 184-5 
William Jr, 172, 184 
:.Uliam (Col,, of it.l.d!-ingham) 

172, 184 
William ('mckhouse 3illy') 

173, 184 
DALTON, Matilda 52 

Tandy 53 
, Timothy 5J 

D Au1llC:llE, Agrippa. 170 
Cornelius 170 
John 170 
William {Sir) 170 

DAVIS 120 
Demoriah 71 
Isaac 70 

DAWSON, John 125 
DEAN, llertus A, 145 

cassandra 160, 162 
Cora 145 
Dora 145 
fat1U:r 1 J1 
Jacob (Rev. & Sr,) 133, 1)7-8, 

140, 144, 159-60, 162, 1a9 
Jacob Clay 1ll0, 160, 162 
Jacob Jr, 159, 160, 162 
James D. 160 
James Ila.bney 162 
Jane 4, 13J-4, 1~, 14J-4, 

159, 189 
Jennie 143 
Julie Ann 162 
Loretta 145 
Lucinda E, 162 
!-!a.rtha Drusilla 144 
Melvina 145 
Yancy 1~, 159, 160, 162-J 
Robert Ma.rsha.ll 145 
3arah Adeline 162 
Susan N, 162 
Susannah 133, 140, 159, 162 
William 1~, 143, 159 

DENNY, 3alnuel 115 
DEPEW, Edward }!, 121 

::na. 121 
DICK, Betsy 70 
DILLARD 173, 184 
;:)C?,'ELSCN, ~'.a.ry 96-7 
OOOLIKC (DULIN) Robert 21, 28 

Thomas 21 
liilliam 21 
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OOOLITTLE, Margaret SJ, 88, 90 
DCWELL, George 48 

James (Rev,) 47 
Patsy 213 
Polly J7, 48 

DUCKETl' 120 
DUCAN 205 
DULI?,'G (see also DOOLING), WU11am 

2.5 
DtlMONT 204 
DUNCAN t Cora Miller 164 
DURHAN 51, 131, 156, 1.57 

Asahel (Ashel) II, 144 
Bathsheba Jane 140 
Elizabeth "Betsy" ?2 
Hannah 24, 28 
J&IIIGS 72 
Jane 134 
John 72 
Louisa 76 
Martha 60, 213 
Mastin 4, 58-9, 60, 66, 69, 72 
Molly 72 
Sally 72 
Sarilda 145 
Selah 72 
William 138 

DYE, Philena 119 
DYER, Fred 49 

Henderson 116 
Joel Amerson .51 
Mary Abby {Polly) 50 

EASLEY, Elizabeth 99, 206 
Ninian Ed.wa:i:d.s 162 
Vill1am 206 

EAST, Marguet 196 
ECHOLS, Beclcy 170, 176 

Elizabeth 1 78 
ED!ONISON, Dolly 58 

Dorothy "Dolly" 70 
Mr, 73 
Samuel 210 
Sa.rah 75 

ELAM, Burnett 72 
Buzrell 75 

ELLES, Irene 180 
Kaziah 180 

ELLIOTl', Johannah {J ,E.) 212 
Lnuel 164 
Robert 212 

ELLIS, Elizah 120 
James o. 120 

ElLYSON, "8&tha 151 
Hazmah 151 
Robert 151 

EMERSON, George 144 
ESTES, Clarissa 200 

Martisha 200 

FAIRCHILD, Ebenezer 72 
FAULKNER, Emanuel SO 

Mary 51 
FERGUS, 3ally SJ 
FERGUSON, D&lUah 47, 59 

SalJ.y SJ 
FIELIER, Sa.rah 97 
FIELDUC, Sally 4.5 
FIELDS, Richard. J6, 40 

Reuben 40 
3areh (Sally) 4, J6, 40, 43, 

47, 200 

FIELD:!, Cont, 
'lhomaa 4, 40, 66 
WU11am 40 

FITZGERALD 45 
Asbury 45 
Perry 45 
Tildy 45 

FIRF..STINE, Cora Ellen 16J 
Elmeda (Emily) 163 

iLANNICAH, Ewing 4, 138, 14J, 1116 
Martha E, 138, 1116 
Mary Eliza.beth "Polly" 16J 
Nancy Naoma 163 
Perlina 138, 1116 
Robert Harrison 163 
Samuel Ewing 138, 16J 
Sarah 160 
Sarah J, 164 

Ft.COD, Jane 154 
Ft.OURNOY 185 
FORTNER, Kenneth 45 
FOSTER, Nancy Ellen 4, 1401 143, 148 
FOX, Melvina Dean 145 
fflANKLIN, Ba.mot 85 

Bernard 84, 8.5, 90 
Isaac .SO 
Lawrence 82 
Meiehaclc 85 

FRISBY, Wallace M, 203 
FRY 162 
FULLEN, Jahn .SO 

Joseph Woody 121 
.FULLIRG, .Rachel 49 

GARLAND, James Jr, J8 
Kary 183 

GAHNER, Polly 69, 74 
Vincent 6o, 61 

GARRETT, William 180 
GAULT, Effie C. 121 
GAY 120 
CE?r:mY, Benajah 86 

Mary 86, 90 
GEORGE 120 

Susa.nm Anne 172, 184 
GIBSON, Robert S, 147 

Mary 20 
GIDDENS, Jahn K, 163-4 

Suaie A. 164 
'lhursia E. Lane 163 

GD.BREATH, Elizabeth 101 
GILES, Betsey 116 
GILLASPIE, DaVid as. 90 
GILLIM, Benmtt 84 
GD.PIN I Hr, 205 
GD.STRAP, Lewis 180 
GLASCOCK, Charnel 144 

Mary 145 
GLAZE, Maggie 120 
GODFREY, Robert 162 
GOLD, Ann 49 
GOODNICHT, Sarah 48 
GOODWIN, Christ11111, E, 1116 

KelZiah C, 1116 
'lhomaa 146 

GORDON, Adam 94 
GRAGG, William SO 
GRAHAM, Anna El1za. 119 

Ira 51 
GRAHTLAHD, Seaton 184 
CRAVES, Ann 321 211 

Benjamin J2, 211 

GRAVES, Cont. 
Elizabeth 95 
Hannah 28, 31-2, 4J, 211-12 
James 6, 31-2 1 43, 211 
James Garland 38 
Jane (Jean) 4,6, 24-5, 28, 31, 

32, 43, 57, 69, BJ, 100,104, 
113, 211 

John 6, 28, 31-2, 211-12 
Martha 32, 211 
Mary as, 90 
Sarah 71 
'lbomaa ( capt, ) 31 
V1ll1am 85 

GRAY, Ch11111p hed 164 
GREEN, Mary 200 
CJIEGORY, catherine 211 
GRIFFIN, Abby Dyer 43, 49, 51 
GRUB, Elizabeth 45 
GUDDE, Irene lberesa 52 
GUTHRIE, Esther 121 
GUM, Adam 125 
GVA'll!MEY, Fhiladelphia 174-6, 185 

HADEN t Anna 176 
Anthony 176 

HAGLER, Eve Gertrude 71 
HALE, Betsy 178 
HALL, Jar:ies (Capt.) 137 

Vil11am 180 
!WtPTON, James (capt.) 135 
HANCOCK, Benjamin 153, 156, 162 

Benja:iin Jr, 153 
l!enjamin Sr. 15J 
Jesse 153 
John 153 
Margaret {Margery) 153 
Nancy 153, 179 
Sarah Gwen 153 

HANSFORD, Nancy 10J 
HARBERT, Joseph Ba.Uey 114 

Mary B, 121 
!WU!ORD, Adelia 121 

Adeline 121 
~s 114 
Alphonzo H. 121 
catherine 113 
catherim Low 120 
Charles :a. 122 
Eleanor 114, 122 
Elincr Adeline 122 
Elizabeth Adelaide 122 
George C. 121 
George v. 121, 122 
Hezekiah Mosby 114 
H,ii, 121 
Ione 121 
J11111es Coffey 121, 122 
John 112, 114, 119, 121 
John W. 121 
Joseph Bayley 114 
Laura. 121 
Mahala 121, 122 
Mahala Cass.andra. Helen(Hunt)122 
Margaret 121 
Martha Ann 121, 122 
Mary "Polly" 4, 112-4, 119, 121 
Mary B, (Harbert) 121 
Mary Bayley 114 
Mary Jane 122 
Mary Margaret 122 
Matthew UJ-15 
Matthew Adolphus 121 



ilAIUlCRD, Cont, 
:~a.tthev B, 121 
~a.tthev L, 1201 121 
Moses G, 121, 122 
Nancy 121 
!:ancy A, 122 
?a.tsey U4 
Richard H, 122 
Robert A, 114 
Sarah J, 121 
Susannah 114 
Vlllillll 4, 1141 1211 129 
111111u D, 122 
1111118111 E, 122 

HARLOW, John 103 
HAMIS 121 

Ann 174, 176-7, 185 
Anna 174-?, 180-1, 185 
Christopher 175, 177, 185 
Colonel 1?4 
Frances 174, 184 
JUies 176-7 
Jane 176-7, 185 
Mourning (GleM) 174, 177 
Mary 176-7 
Simpson 96 
'lhous 185 
Ty%9 174,181 
Robert (Maj,) 174, 177 

HARGRAVES, Jues E, 147 
HA'l'TY, Susannah 133 
HAWKINS, Betsy 54 
HAYES, Daniel 211 

George v. 52 
Jesse 52 
Kathryn E, 52 
Loretta Dean 145 
Nancy 4o, 52 
Folly 4, 38, 52, 103 
'lb0111as 44 
illl1am Da.niel 52 

HAYS, Eliza.beth 101-2 
Naomi 49 

HAZELRIGG, John 84, 90 
HEATH, Jane 154 

r.artha 154 
HEllllRIX , Na.than 122 
HENRY, Ida Mae 52 

Mr, 90 
HIATl', Isa.belle 52 
Hilll!ORD 164 
HICKMAN, Francis 22 
HILL, Nicholas 17 
HIIIIMAN, Jane 102 
HI?SHAII, John 45 
HIFSHIRE, John .53 
Hisa.n, Mr, 72 
HOLLAND, Samuel Lloyd 148 

Wlll18lll Jack 148 
HOLLOWAY, Waller or Walter Logan 

163 
HOLT, Feter 214 
HOPPER, Jane 45 
HORTON, Arehibald C, 179 
HUBBARD 28 
HUDDLES'OON, Ha.Mah 153 
HULL, Polly 48 
HUKPHBEY, Polly 4o 

Vin11'red 4o 
HUNT, Abel 144 

James A, 121 
Malinda Caroline 144 

HUNT, Cont, 
Paulina 1114-5 
Perry 144 

HUNTER, John 185 
HYLTOl,, Mehita.ble 184 

IRELAND, Rebecca 17 
William 17 

ISRAEL, Arminta. 71 
Caroline 71 
Celia 71 
Elizabeth 71 
James 71 
James Monroe 71 
Marvin Belson 71 
!Ucha.el Jr, 58, 71 
Micha.el Sr, 71 
Montervil.le Ma.rvi.n 71 
Sarah 71 
'illllard 58, 71 
Willard Ali'red 71 

ISAACS, Ra.cha.el A, 76 
ISBELL, Sara Ann 76 
ISLER, Mary catherine 73 

JACKSON, And.rev 97 
John 47, 176 

JACOBSON 204 
JENNIM.S, Charles 183 

Peter 183 
Sarah 171-6, 181, 183, 185 
Sarah AM 18J 
William 174 

JEWELL, George Washington 73 
JOHNSON, Christopher (Rev,) 184 

Edwazd BJ, 87 
Iva Kay 204 
Kathryn 52 
Martha Ann 162 
Massey 152 
Mr, 90, 205 
Sally as, 90 
llllliam 175, 185 
William Wallace 52 
William Wilson 162 

JOHNS'OON, Luonard L, 199 
Lillian 199 
MlldJ:ed 197 
Mr, 205 

JOLLIFN, John 17 
Mary 17 

JONES, Arm-ew Jackson 76 
Elizabeth 71, 154 
John 179 
Josephine 52 
Ira 120 
Lydia 178-9 
Na.0111i 120 
Russell 71 
Ruth 147 
Susan A, 121 
'lh0lll8S Jefferson 76 

KAJIE, Carrie 204 
Mary E,M, 4, 138, 143, 146 

KEL3EY, AM1e 101 
KENDALL, Balley 95 

James 95 
Jess 95 
Jesse 95 
John 95 
Mary 95 

KENNEDY, Ellenor 1J8 
James L, 4, 1J8, 143 
~1r1wn 179 

KEN?ii::'rl' (KINNET) 179 
John 179 

KETRON, Alice .52 
KILBREATH, Elizabeth 101 
KIMLER, Charles E. 120 
Kim, Minnie v. 196 

Mr, 204 
KINNETl', Polly 1,58 
KIRK, ll,ll, 195 

wu1i11111 w. 197, 205 
KIRKPATRICK, David 162 
KNIGHT, F,P, 144 

Mary 102 
KREIGH, Tola 144 

LAMBERTI{, George 20 
Mrs, Joyce 20 

LANE, Ann 129, 151-4 
Annuel (Ann) 153 
.3radtord. 160 
Celia 157 
Cora 160 
Cora. Ellen 16J 
Da.ba.rry 160 
Da.bney 157, 160, 162 
Daniel 152-J, 155, 162 
Eliza 156 
Eliza J, 158-9 
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Elizabeth 1,53-4, 156, 162, 178 
El.zada. 160 
Eziiiline 162 
Emily 160 
family 131 
Frances 4,5, 119, 1291 136, 
138, 140, 143-7, 151, 155-9, 
162, 189, 20'.3 
Frances L, 162 
George Washington 164-.5 
Hossa.Ma.h 162 
Ida 160 
Ida Caroline 163 
Ira 15J 
Isaac 162 
Jacob 159 
Jacob C, 16J-5 
James 156, 158, 160, 162-J 
James Jr, 156 
Jwnes Marion 163 
Jane 158 
Jeremiah Ewing 164-5 
Jesse 152-3, 162 
Joel 1.56 
John 4, 154, 1,56 
John J. 139, 140, 143, 157, 

162, 190 
John Jr, 154 
Jonathan 156 
Laura Alice 163 
Laura L, 163 
Lavina 156 
Leaven 156 
Lemuel 156 
Lettitha 162 
Levi 153 
Lewis 14o, 156-9, 160, 162-J 
Lewis G, 162 
Lonides ''Lonnie" Walker 163 
Lonnie 160 
Lucinda 162 
Lydia 



LAllE, Cont. 
~arjory 152-J, 162 
Martha J, "Kattie" 163 
Martha 3ofrona Ann 163 
~a.ry 153, 156, 162, 184 
Mary Agnes ":-lollie" 164-6 
~ary Louisa 163-5 
Mary Melissa 162 
Mary or Molly 154, 178, 180 
Mary- Abigail Page 165 
Hilly 158 
MiMie Jane 164-5 
Mordecai 140, 152-J, 155-7, 160, 

162, 190-1 
Nancy 154-5, 157, 159, 160, 162, 

180 
Nancy Dabney 143 
Nancy Elizabeth 16J 
Nancy Ellen 159, 164 
~ancy Elzada 163 
Nancy J. 162 
Phebe 15'.l 
Priscilla 162 
Rachel 153 
i!ebecca Anna 164-5 
Rhoda 153 
Robert 160 
Robert Lens 16J 
3adie 156 
Sally 160 
Samuel 16J 
3amuol w. 160 
3a.rah (Sally) 140, 152-J, 156, 

159, 162 
Sarah E, 162 
Sarah Flannigan 160 
3usan 160 
Susan Naomi 163 
Susannah 153, 163 
'lheresa Emily (Emma) 163 
'lhomas 5, 129, 1:,6, 1ll0, 143, 

151-8, 160, 162, 169, 170, 
180, 185 

'D'lamaa Jr. 151, 156, 158, 162 
'lhomas H. 162 
'lhursey Ella 163 
Tcmiie (Tolllllly) 154 
Virginia Bell 164-S 
Walker Burton 164 
Willilllll 5, 151-6, 1621 180 
iiillia V, 162 
illlllam Dabney Lane family 

160, 162 
llilliam Larkin 16J 

LASWELL, Alexander Frank 147 
Celia Ann 52 
Nancy Ann C. 41 1J9, 14J, 147 

LAYNE, Floyd. B, 1.54 
LEE, Mrs, Elizabeth 184 
LEEPER, Kary 105 

Mrs.M1r1811l 47 
LEICH~ Mary 184 
LENOIR, William 214 
LESTER, James 102 

3a.rah AM 206 
LEWIS, Elizabeth 184 

Moury V, 162 
Nancy Elizabeth 162 
William (Col,) 157 

LI!COII, Martha Cleveland 86 
LINVILL, Francis 71 
LISENBY, Melrose 71 

LITI'ON, Elizabeth 51 
George 51 
Malinda 51 
Mary 51 
William 51 

LCQCETT, Richard 103 
LCQCHARD, Julia 145 
LOFTIN, Bennie Lou Coffey 40, 52, 

.54 
Robert 52 

LOW, C&therine 114 
LUCAS, Ann 24 

Elizabeth 28 
Jane 20 

LUNCH, 3ally 70 
LIISIC , Mary 102 

Samuel 73 
L 'XMAN, Calvin 51 
LYNCH, Anna 102 

James T, 162 
William 102 

MACE, Caroline 138, 146 
MACKEY, Sa.rah or Sallie 101,207 

Sa.rah 200 
William Lelfis 200 

MALONEY, Janie (Jennie) E. 120 
MARCH, Helen 66 

Tilllothy 66 
HARSH, Nell 59-60, 72 
MARTIN, George A. 81 

John (Capt.) 157 
MASSIE, Edmund 172,184 
MATHEWS 145 
MATHIS, Aley or AU:r 851 90 

Alie1t 85 
MATHEY, Waneta Coffey 47 
MAYFIELD, Abrah11111 211· 

Anna 211 
Catherine 211 
Isaac 211 
Jean or Jane 6, 31-2, 211 
Jacob 211 
John 211 
Mary 51 
Robert J1, 211 
Sa.rah J1, 211 * llilliam 49 

HAuPIN, Daniel 175, 185 
John 175, 185 

MCAlexa.nder, Elizabeth 125 
James 111 

MCCAIN, John 180 
MCCANN, Mary (Molly) 851 9() 
MCCARTY, Arthur 19?, 205 

Eli Howard 19?, 205 
MCCLAIN. John 101, 180 
MCCORKLE, Mary Ann 5, 203 
MCCOBMICK, Catherine 44, 10'.l 
MCCULLOCH, John Louis 164 
MCDONALD, Charity SO 

Harriet SO 
Vandiwr 'Dick' Berry Hill 203 

MCFARLAND, 11111111111 Henry 20J 
MCGILL, Jchn Frank 147 
MCHENRY, James 60 
MCINTIRE, Edllin 119 

Louis 144 
MCKEE, Ma:ry 3. 121 
MQCINNEY, Mary Ann 114, 121 
KQCINSEY 39, 54 
MCLAIN, Mordecai 179 

:1C1ILLAN,Jo McDowell 102 
!-!CREYNCLDS, Themas 175, 185 
MCilILLIAMS, Elizabeth 90 

John 84, 90 
MEADOilS, Margaret 71 

Zerllda Emerine 76 
MEREDITII, 3arah 98-9, 101 
MERRiilEMR, Jane 172, 164 
MILLAR, Mr. 171 
MILLER, Alice 114 

Augustus 162 
Celia ?1 
Elijah 51 
Levi J5, 46 
Patience Jane 77 
Sarah 209 

MILLS, Amerson B. 51 
John 20, 60 

MINOR, Thomas 185 
MITCHEL, Jubal 45 
MONROE 45 
MORAN, Nicholas 4, J6, 43 

ilinifJ:ed 212 
MORELAND 50 
MORGAN, William H. 122 
MOODY, Ar.dl:ew 102 
MOORE, Alley 60, 63, 73, ?6 

3idant "Biddy" 4 1 6J-4, 69 1 76 
Frank R. 115, 1)4, 156 
Jessie 59, 60, 6J, 7J, 76 
John F. 144 
Mildred (Millie} 60-1, 69, 76 
Milley 4 
Mollie 59 
Nancy 160 
R. Ivey .59 
Samuel 158, 160, 162 

MORRIS, Milley 4, 60, 691 72 
Susanna D, 17J, 184 
VUliWII 241 281 172, 184 

MORRISON, Elizabeth 71 
MORROW, Effie Jeanette 164 

Eunice Helen 164 
Houston El.ihue 1641 166 
Lawrence 164-5 
Mary A«nes Lane 166 
Hildred Ruth 164-5 
Opal Lea 164, 166 

MULLINS, Sarah 54 
MUNDAY (MONDAY) 211-12 
KURlXXX, 'lbOlllas 144 
MURRELL, Elizabeth J61 40 
MOSELY, Edward 17118 

John 18 
Vill18111 20 

MOSS , Dorothy 23 

NASH, Ala;r (Elsie) 52 
Ellen SJ 

NEAL, Harvey C. 204 
NEIL , Gil bJ:a1 th 49 
NICHOLAS I Cynthia J. 51 
NICKENS, Mr. 145 
NICHTI!CALE, Kary (Polly) 44 

Mathew 44 
NIELL, Milrth& K, .50 
NORVELL, Nanc:r 184 
NULL, Robert .c:. Lee 163 

OATI'S, Joshua 76 
Sophronia 77 

O'COEHTHAIGH 9, 12, 14 

7 



O'COfflY 9, 12, 14 
O'CCWHEY 9 
O'COIIHIC 9, 12 
OODEN, John C, 146 
OSBOURNE, Elizabeth 4, 33, 43, 44 
OVERSTREET, John 169, 179 

Nancy 169 
o·IERTtJRF, James Hamson 204 
OVEN, Joseph 72 

\lashington 72 
OVENS, Wesley 178 

PAGE, Da.vid Francia 163 
"'ary Abl.gail 164 

PATERSON, Mary E,200, 207 
PATRICK, Charles 212 
PEACOCK, John C,C, 102 
PE~!Bc:RTON, James Conrad 147 
FENDLEY, Nancy 47 

Thomas 71 
?El<U:Y, 3etsy 40 

3a.lly 4-0 
FERRIN, Eliza 184 
FERSWCER, Eliza ~!atllda 119 
PERNSTEINER, Florence 71 
PERRY, James 162 
?E:TER."IAN, T1Jilothy 98-100 
P:':ffiT, Francis 49 
PETI'US, Stephen 184 

ThOlllas 184 
PHE:Li'S, Nancy 103 
Phillips, Sa.rah Frances 203 
PHIPPS, Mary 156, 180 
PID;EON, Rachael 93 
PLACE, Francis 19 

Mary 6, 19-21 
PLATTE, .Amelia Jane 122 

Della 122 
Eldora Ella 122 
James H, 122 
John 114 
John A, 122 
Jonathan 114 
Lewis 122 
Merit C, 122 
Samuel 114 
Samuel Leonard 122 
V1lllam 114, 122 
Vllli11111 H, 122 

POINDEXTER, Elizabeth 178 
POLLARD, William 184 
POR'raR, calvin Reese 98 

David A, 206 
Eliza El!leline Coffey 98, 100 
Elizabeth Nancy 206 
Henry Clay 206 
Jchn Hancock 206 
John Th0111as 206 
Mary 98 
K3.ry Jane 206 
Nancy Louisa 206 
Sarah Louise 206 
31dney Reese 206 
3tephen 199, 206 
Wllli11111 199, 206 
William Gel'!llan 206 

PO!ffl!AN, George 44 
PCUND, Francis 71 
POWELL, Alllbrose 21 

Ann(e) 6, 18, 20-1, 24, 28, 43, 
82, 84, 209 
Elizabeth 19, 20, 209 

POWELL, Cont, 
Frances 20, 209 
Francis 19 
Ha.rriet E, 48 
Honorias (Honor) 20, 209 
Howell 20 
John 19-21 
Nathaniel 19 
Place 20, 209 
ThOlllas 6, 18-20, 209 
ThOlllas Jr, 201 209 
Thomas (Major} 21 
William 19-20, 209 

PRATT, Charles 179 
Cornelius 179 
John 179 
Lucy 119 
Mark ·179 
Milly 179 
Nancy 179 
Perrnelly 179 
Stephen 179 

PRESLEY, Milley 6, 28, 81-2, BO 
PRICE, Elizabeth 172, 184 

Jane 121 
PRillCE, MIU')' 156 
PULLIAM, Blanche 139, 147 

Cecil 147 
Mildred 138, 140 

QUARLES, John Dabney 185 
Kiss (Jane?) 176, 185 
Susan Littlepage 173, 184 

RADCLIFFE, Jeff 39, 52 
RAGSDALE, Rebecca 45 
RAINS, Benjamin H, 15J 

Constant Benjamin 15J 
Estil E, 15J 
Vllliam 15) 

RAMSEY, Ga tie 52 
Janie Lydia 52 
Joseph Love 52 
Sally 73 

RANDLE, Mr, 145 
RANSON, Horace S, 119 
REEVES Mr, 164 
RHEA, Benjamin JS, 46 
RICE, Elizabeth 4, 60-1, 69, 74 
lllawm30N, Nancy 4, 34, 45 
RIDGE, Mary J, 51 
RIFPE, Christopher 44 

Elizabeth 44 
Tabitha (Rife) 44 

RIPPETO, Polly 44 
ROACH, Henry' 164 

'Dlomas 45 
ROACHE, Mrs, Mary E, (Beach?) 75 
ROBBINS, Elizabeth 54 

Mar~t 54 
ROBERTSON, Elizabeth 71 
ROCKET, Sa.rah 49 
RONE, Clarcline 48 
BOPER, ThClll&S 50 
ROSS, Mary Ruth 114 
RUBLE, Sluth 144 
RUCKER, Colby 40, 52-3 

Elizabeth 40, 52-J 
Mar~t 53 

RUE, Sally 59 
RUSSELL, Nancy 4, 43, 140, 143,147 

SALE, Cornelius 211 
SALMON, Ann 24, 28 

Anthred 24, 28 
Elizabeth 209 
John 20, 209 

SANDERS, Dicey 48 
Gladys 164 
John 48, 152 
Hannah 152 

SAUNDEllS, Ma.ry 99, 101-2 
SCALF, Henry 23 
SCOTT, Sa.rah (Sally) 4, J?, 43, 

49, 6o 
SEALEY, Martha 98, 100 
SELEVEN, Ti?:lothy 210 
SEXTON, Jacqooline 57, 60, 72 
SHACKELFORD 173 

George 184 
LYM 184 

SHAPTOW, Sarah E, 147 
SHARP, James 49 

Nancy 138, 16) 
SHARR, Herschel 51 

Noreva 51, 105 
SHASTEEN, Elizabeth 116 

Jesse 114-16, 122, 125, 1.58 
Jesse Jr, 116 
Jesse Sr. 1.58 
Mar~t 116 
Polly 116 
ThClllU 116 
William 116 

SHAW, Cora Dean 145 

225 

SHENAULT, Miss 4, 100 (see Chenault) 
Nancy )6 

SHELTON, 184 
SHERWOOD, Ann 171, 183, 185 
SHOCKLEY, Enos SJ 

Rebecca 53 
i'ainright 53 
Will111111 53 

SHREWSl!URY, Ruel 178, 18J 
~uel 178, 181, 183, 195 
Dabney 183 
Elizabeth 183 
Joel 183 
John 1BJ 
Nathan 183 
Nathaniel 183 
Rhoda 183 
31Jileon 18 3 
llilliam 183 

SDICOX:, Lou Ellen 52 
SIMPSON, Mary 71 
SDIMONS, John D, 146 
SIMS, William (Capt,) 24, 2B 
SI?l,LE'IDN, La Vina. 70 
SLOAN, Charles 132, 135 

Charles Samuel 134, 144 
David 144 
Hannah 134, 144 
James 134 
James A, 144 
Jane 144 
John 197, 105 
Melvina Eldine 144 
Mary 144 
Mary Jane 197 
Mr, 1)6 
!lane::, 197, 205 
~uel T, 144 
3ibel1a 144 
William Monroe 144 
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3111TH, Elizabeth 4, J6, 43, 471 54 
Elizabeth Ann (Griffin) 77 
Crace 173, 184 
James 86, 90 
Margaret 48, 174, 184 
Mary Margaret 206 
Mr, 71 
3arah 95, 173, 184 
'lh0111as J6 

3MOQC, Martha 50 
SNEED, Eldri~ 139 

Owen 'Ihamas 169 
31:Il:lll:R, Henry 189 

John 189 
Jonas 189 
Logan C, 189 

SNYDER, Nancy 4,5, 143, 189, 203 
SNOOORASS , Bradford 52 

Jeanne 40 
M, Jeanne 52 
Susan J, 122 

SOIERSTRQI, J,P, 144 
SPAJUO!AN, HardJlllan 46 

Henderson 46 
STACEY, Pet:ey M, 76 
STALSWOJITH, Samuel 45 
STAHLEY, Mary 152 
STANSBURY, Charlotte 49 
STAPP, Abraham 2) 

AlrahaZII Jr, 23 
Amster 24, 28 
Dorothy 23 
~lizabeth 24, 28 
~ ... 24, 28 
James 23, 24, 28 
Jacob 2) 
John 24, 28 
Joseph 23, 24, 28 
Joshua 4, 23, 28 
Joshua Jr, 24, 28 
Martha 2) 
Rebecca 23 
lluth 23 
'lhomaa 24, 28 
William 23 

STARNES, George W, 51 
S'mEL, John 46 
STEP, Joseph 98 

Martha 98-100, 199, 206 
STEPP, Exa Saphroni& 51 
STEVABT, John Allen 120 

Sally 213 
Samuel 'lh011188 48 

SmLEY, Jar.z:eth E, 144 
STOCKARD, Euphy 101 
STOCKTON, Elizabeth 70 
STONE, Mrs, Ama.1lda Jane Hudson 77 
STORY, C&roline 47 
STRJJ!CE, Abner 71 

Abraha:I 71 
Abraham Alloway 59 
Archelaus 71 
Archelaus Alloway 58, 71 
Da.vid 58, 69, 71 
David A, J2, 111 
Ila.Yid Alloway 71 
Elizabeth 71 
Ellen 71 
Hannah Alloway SO 
Ian Macleran 71 
John 71 

STRANGE, Cont, 
Larkin 71 
Levi 71 
Lewis 71 
Lewis llllson 71 
Mary 71 
Samuel Archelaus 71 
Sa.rah Alloway 76 
Winston 71 
William 71 
Zou Ellen 71 

STRoTHER, Francis 171, 18) 
STUART, Judge Alexa.nder 184 
STURMAN, William 178 
SlJolMERS, Anderson 178 

Janie 139, 140 
Noah 76 
Ray 140, 148 

SOOTER, Sally 72 
1b0111&8 72 

SURBY, Ewlyn Violet 204 
Slll'HERLAND, Frances 178 
SUTl'ENFIELD, Mrs, Sophia 73 
SWAN, Susanna. 183 

'lhClll&S 18) 
SWANSON, Essie 203 

Minnie 203 
SVEE:T 5) 
SWENSON, Peggy 45 

TATE, Charles 115 
Polly 101 
Samuel 61 
Winnie 147 

TAUL, Micah (capt,) 64 
TA'XLOR, John 82 
TETER 120 
TERRILL, Henry 185 
THCMPSON, Laura McFarland 97 

Mr, 175, 185 
THIJtAS, Catherine 95 

John 71 
Mr, 95 

TlLLER, Frances 58, 71 
Stanley 71 

TOllEBMAN, Mr, 145 
TODD, Samuel 184 
TCMPKINS, Mary E, 184 
TRICE, James 171, 183 
TRIPP, Wllliam Mrs, 11) 
TROGDEN, Elvira 46 
TRO'l'l'ER, Wllliam 115 
TROUSDALE, Jane 97 
TUCICER, Ellller E, 206 

Elizabeth 206 
German J. 206 
Henry C, 206 
Martha 206 
Martha "Patsy" 103 
1bOUB J, 206 
Walter H, 206 

TURPIN, Illtlllah 1 O 5 
TURNBOW, AndJ:ew 101 

James 101 
TUllNER, James 179 

VANDERVORT, Wm, B, 120 
VAllllEVER, Aaron 189 

Georgu 189 
VARNIER (VARNER), Keziah (Kezia) 

4, 1)7, 14), 146 
Peter 137, 146 

VANVLEET, Lewis 207 
VERMll.LION, Martha 101 
VICKORY, Rebecca 180 
VINCENT, John 163 

WADE {WAID), 126 
Abigail Hardwick 125 
Alexander 125 
Ballenger 125 
Qiarlty 125 
Clary 125 
Ila.Yid 125 
Dawson 125 
Eleanor 4,5 16, 69, 111, 119, 

125, 143 
Elizabeth 111, 119, 125 
Hannah 125 
Jane 125 
Jeremiah 125 
John 5, 1111 1191 125 
John 3r, 125 
Lucretia 125 
Mary 125 
Pearce 125 
Priscilla 125 
'lhomas 115 
Rachel 125 

VAIES, John 125 
WALKER, Cassam:lra 180 

John Wesley 121 
Lucy 184 
Robert 62, 74 

WALICUl', Sally 71 
Mr. 71 

WALLEN, Catherine Roberts 15) 
WALLER, Amanda E, 163 

America ''Mark" 16.3 
Charles 164 
Emma 164 
.Enatua "llassie" 164 
John 16) 
Janett 163 
Lukin 164 
Lukin Cantrell 164 
Lewis 16.) 
Ka.rguet 164 
Martha 16.) 
Nancy Eleanor 16) 
Oscar 16) 
Pa.ral.ee 163 
Porter 164 
Richard 16) 
Sa.rah Ann 164 
Sophronia 163 
1heress 16) 
1boma.s 163, 185 
Uriah 164 
William 163-4 

WAMPLER, 'lheresa So 
WARREN, 'lhomas 185 
WATSON, Sarah 17), 184 

Susannah 104 
WEAKLY, Hannah 95 

Mr, 95 
WEATHEM,Y (MATHEHLY'?), Nancy E, 

(Mary?) 75 
WEBB, James 51 

Kelly 122 
Stephen 122 
Tyre 50 

WEIKE, Adelaide 71 



WELCH, Mr, 145 
WELOON, John R, 120 
\/EST, Lamar 58 
WHEELER, Nancy 178 
i/HISANAND, Mary 51 
WHITE, I. 125 

Milly 90 
WHITIS, Alma 72 
WHITES1DE(S), betty 213 

James 70 
Joel 70 
Jonathan ,58, 70 
Mary "Polly" 70 
Robert 57, 58, 69, 70 
Thomas 58 
William 4, 58, 70 

WHITSE'l'T, Nathan 52 
ll!A'lT, J,T,C, 184 
IIILKINS, George 121 

James 121 
Jemillla 121 

l(ILLIAKS, Margaret 90 
l(ILLOOOHBY, Hugh G, 164 
WILSON, Catherine 49 

Dorothy 180 
Hannah 47 
Margaret 84 
Rachel 50 

IIILHOIJT 28 
WINSTON, Elizabeth 172, 184 

Elizal:eth Si:iith 175 
Isaac 172, 183, 184 
Lucy 172-3, 175-7, 180-1, 185 
William 171, 183 
William (Col,) 184 

WISEMAN, Mary "Polly" 146 
III'n!ERSPOON, Jane 99 

Katherimt 99 
VOI.ff.:, Lydia 52 
WOLFORD 101 
VOOD, Mr, 10 

Trist 171, 172 
WOODSON, Tucker 65 
WORSHAM, Mary Ann 77 
IIRIGHT, Lyndon 195 

Ma.rt1n 76 
Rebecca J, 195, 203 
Sum:ers 73 

VYATT, Mrs, Nancy 184 

YELL, Alex 75 
Y0CUt, Emily H, 204 
YOUNG, Eleanor 113 

Elizabeth 119 
Jacob 113, 119 
Jacob H, 119 
Henry 112 
Henry c. 119 
Irenius M, 119 
Mary A, 119 
Sanh E, 119 

YOUlCER, Jenny 169, 185 
JILJIII (Jenny) 179 
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To 

JAMES B. COFFEY .... 

VOL. 2 

ANCESTORS* 

By 

MARVIN D. COFFEY 

*Full title of book is "James Bluford Coffey, His Ancestors and Des­
cendants in America. Volume II - Ancestors'" 



Preface 

The original book, published in 1984, has been out of print for sometime 
now and since the demand for it still seems strong I agreed to reprint it. At 
first I thought it would be sufficient to add a few pages of updates 
<corrections and new information>, However, the more I got into it the more 
new information I found, Many correspondents sent me a great deal of 
information and I discovered that the amount of new information sent by these 
and others to the Coffey Cousins Clearinghouse was also tremendous. I also 
found it advisable to go back and do some census research, I have gleaned from 
the pages of the CCC Newsletter, as well as information sent to me all that I 
felt could reasonably be substantiated at this time. Much was left out as I 
could not be certain of its source, veracity or appropriateness, I have felt 
to do this so that most of what is known could be found in one main source as I 
have thought this would be most useful to the majority of the Coffey Cousins. 
I take responsibility for what has been included and apologize to others if I 
have left out something that they feel should have been included, I want to 
emphasize that my book has always had an emphasis on ancestors, not 
descendants. Therefore, I have not included all material on descendants sent 
to me, To do so would take a multi-volume work, As a rule of thumb I have 
tried to add to lines in the original book where I could bring them up to about 
1850 <when possible>, figuring that most people can get their own line back to 
near that point. For some correspondents I have put in their direct line 
complete to them, and I admit I haven't always been consistent in such 
treatment. I don't mean to offend anyone, it's just that I've done this over a 
period of time and consistencies don't seem to lend themselves to that 
procedure very well. 

In this supplement I refer directly to the original book by listing the 
chapter, then the page, and then some area or name on the page. These are 
indicated by asterisks found in the side margin of the reprinted book with 
which this supplement is bound, Thus, as one is reading the book they will be 
alerted by an asterisk in the margin to a correction or addition in the 
supplement. I think this should not prove to be too inconvenient for the 
reader. Those who have the original book and obtain only the supplement may 
have a little more inconvenience and may want to read from the supplement to 
the book, rather than as mentioned above, I realize it would have been more 
convenient for the reader if I had started all over and just revised the book, 
but I no longer have the energy and health to do that. I believe this 
supplement should be a great help to many people, That is not to say there 
will be no errors and material left out, That seems unavoidable, but I do 
encourage any reader to write me about any of the information. I would love to 
be proved wrong any any hypothesis which I cannot now substantiate; but you 
must offer proof! 

We must always remember that a family history is never complete - we only 
gather and/or prove it in phases. Nevertheless, I believe this book together 
with the supplement is the most complete treatment of the Virginia Coffeys and 
their descendants in existence, I have not tried to document any of the 
Coffeys coming into the northern states, nor any that immigrated during the 
1800s. That is for someone else to do. Here are most of the Colonial Virginia 
Coffeys of the 16 and 1700s and thousands of their descendants who went to 
southern states and then to the west. I hope you find your ancestors here. I 
always welcome your letters. 



TOO LATE TO INCLUDE 

Katie Dunn has a partial autobiography of her great grandfather, Alfred Alfonso 
Coffey who was a son of Elijah Coffey (seep. 13 of Supplement and p. 48 of 
book. > I had him 1 isted as Alphonso. In this "autobiography" he says his 
mother's maiden name was Heulme. I, as well as other genealogists, have always 
listed it as Hull, Either we are all wrong or Elijah was married twice, A.A. 
Coffey also says he married in 1857 Julia Dawkins, daughter of John Dawkins and 
Mary Wheeler. 

Bennie Loftin thinks that her Benjamin Coffey< 1808-1867> and Nancy Hayes <dau. 
of Thomas Hayes and wife Sarah> had a first son Thomas, b. ca. 1828 and then a 
son John. Note on p. 21 of the Supplement that I didn't have either of these 
two sons but rather I show the first as Richardson, b. ca. 1833. If she is 
correct then the latter may be the third son. 

William Edmondson Coffey, son of Henry Bradford Coffey <p. 31 of Supplement> 
was b, in Wartrace, TN, md. 1871 Nancy Louisa Daniel at Cedar Bluff, AL, They 
were the parents of Chisolm Rice Coffey c 1885-1935> who is the father of 
Lillian Coffey Neighbors of Annistan, AL. 



CHAPTER 1 

Overview 

Third row: John Coffey md. Mary, prob, Strange <see notes for p. 70> 

James Coffey md. Mary <Molly) Moore <see notes for p. 59) 

Ambrose Coffey md. <3> Polly, prob. Garner <see notes for pp. 60-61) 

PAGB 6 

James Coffey, b. 4 Jul 1729 

James Graves and Jean Mayfield are prob. not the parents of John Graves (see 
notes for pp. 31-32>. 

PAGBS 9 AND 12 

CHAPTER 2 

Ancient Origins 

Frank Crosswhite has made an intelligent and interesting study of the 
etymology of the names Coffey - O'Cobhthaigh - Cobthach. His research adds 
additional <or alternative> meanings, notably fiduciary or treasurer and a 
provident man. His essay was printed in CCC March 1989, pp. 6-10 and is 
recommended to all interested in the origin of the Coffey name. 

Another spelling of Coffey in Ireland was <and apparently still is> 
0' Cofaigh. 
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CHAPTER 3 

Early Coffey Ancestors 

PAGE 17 

In the years since the first printing of my book< 1984) we have learned 
very little more about Edward Coffey or his origin. In the September and 
December 1990 issues of CCC Newsletter Frank Crosswhite has given a lenghthy 
and intelligent, if somewhat speculative, account of what may have been 
Edward's origin and status in relation to Edward Mosely. He gives a rather 
persuasive argument that Edward was not a "wild goose", fleeing Ireland because 
of persecution, nor was he an indentured servant in the sense of one paying 
back his passage to the colonies. Rather, Frank argues that he may have been 
indentured as an apprentice and through his work for Edward Mosely he probably 
became an overseer on the Mosely plantation, responsible for signing the 
"master's mark." If he started as an apprentice he might have been an orphan 
and with at least some parentage in Virginia before 1690. While I admit this 
is a possibility I must draw the speculative line at this point as there is no 
evidence for it. Although Coffey genealogists have long thought of a John 
Coffee <b. 1621, arrived 1637> as the first Coffey ancestor in Virginia <an 
error copyied many, many times> we have seen that this John Coffey is purely 
fictional, Also, the equally popular idea of a John Coffey around 1650 married 
to Mary Jolliffe and/or Rebecca Ireland has no bas is in fact. I have leanred ~ ... 
that there is often~ truth in family traditions, and have wondered what the 
source of this Coffey-Jolliffe or Coffey-Ireland marriage might be. I have 
searched for records to substantiate it but have found none. If any reader 
ever does find such a bonafide record I would like to know about it. Unless or 
until such information is verified Coffey genealogists should stop using John 
Coffee< 1621 or 1650) as the first Virginia Coffey and/or ancestor of Edward. 
We still must say that, as far as factual evidence is present, Edward was 
probably the immigrant ancestor, whether directly from Ireland or from England 
<many from the British Isles sailed from Liverpool>, and that he was a servant 
of Edward Mosely <although perhaps as an apprentice and later as an overseer.> 

As a sidelight it should be mentioned that Edward did own other land 
(besides Mosely's Quarter to which he didn't have clear title>. On 7 February 
1706/7 he bought from Augustine Smith 118 acres on Branches of Occupation Swamp 
for 2360 pounds of tobacco. On 11 November 1?14 he sold this land to John 
Barbee. 

PAGB 18 

Frank Crosswhite has pointed out <personal correspondence> something I 
knew but failed to include concerning the date for the will of Thomas Powell. 
March 10, 1700 would really be 1701 under the modern dating system <before 1750 
the calendar changed on March 25>. However, this does not really change my 
supposition that John and Edward, twins, were born in 1700 <actually between 
February 14, 1699 <o.s.> and July 16, 1?00 <o.s. & n.s.>. It would be common, 
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if they were born before March 25, to give the year as 1699/1700, but under the 
new or modern system we would say 1700. Note that I have narrowed their birth 
to a five month period of time <Feb. 14 to Jul 16). Thus Edward and Ann were 
not married later than 1699. 

PAGE 22 

Next to last paragraph: The Cleveland mentioned here was a Baptist minister 
located on Lower Creek in Burke co., N.C. 

Last Paragraph: Cleveland <b. 1782), son of Benjamin and Leah, md. Matilda 
< 1850 census) and had a dau. Frances, b. 1831. 

PAGE 23 

First paragraph: This is apparently the same James Coffee who was on the 1782 
tax list of Montgomery co. He was the father of Margaret Coffee, b. 1775/6 in 
Virginia and md. l Jan. 1794 in Montgomery Co. to Moses Beavers. James was 
deceased at this time and the surety for the bond and witness was Thomas 
O'Bryan who had md. Jane Coffey in 1787. Was Jane the wife of the deceased 
James? Thomas O'Brian's will in 1821 lists Margaret as his step daughter. 

William Coffey <son of Peter> and family: see notes for p. 97 

Second paragraph: Daraleen Wade has suggested that the names Isaac, Isaiah and 
Zarrah all belong to one man, Nebuzaradan, son of Chesley and Jane <seep. 102) 
I believe she is correct. The names are used in deeds, etc. for land in one 
general area. 

Second paragraph: It is probable that the full name of Jesse was Jesse 
Cleveland Coffey. Another indication that Jesse belongs here is an article 
from a book <name and source unknown> which states that Jesse was a relatiive 
of John Cleveland's wife <Elizabeth Coffey) who was a sister of Edward, Jr. 
Jesse and Col. Ben Cleveland were first cousins and had land grants on the same 
day in 1787 in Pendleton Dist., S.C. Both Jesse and Ben Cleveland had 
petitioned for land in Franklin co., GA in 1784. Jesse was also an executor of 
Col. Ben's will and in this will Col. Ben. says Jesse Coffee is his relation. 
<Will Bk. A, p. 76, 10/21/1806, ?Pendleton Dist. S.C.). Also, in a book about 
Towns co., GA (title unavailable) it mentions that among the descendants of 
Edward Coffey< 16-- -1716> was Benjamin Cleveland'ana·also Gen. Edward Coffee 
of Rabun co., GA < a son of Jesse>. • 

.. 
Jesse is probably the "Captain Coffey" who was head of a Militia District 

. in. 'iH-lke.s C?O·, N. Q. tn 177& throug!l 1782. He probably also was at Boonesboro, 
KY in 1777. Estate records in Pendleton Dist., S.C. show that Jesse d. there 
prior to 12 Oct 1807 and his son Cleveland Coffey.was a co-administrator. 
Jesse's wife was undoubted! y "Nancy". A deed executed in ·iao l shows Jesse and 
Nancy as co-signers. (above info. largely irofu Jbhn Coleman of Marietta, GA.> 
Nancy is head of family on the 1810 census of Pendleton ~~~trict, S.C. The 
fact that Ann Coffey is 1 isted as head of household in 102·0 should not be 



troubling when one is aware that at that time Nancy was a diminutive of Ann and 
both were used interchangeably. 1 have found this to be true in another of my 
family lines about the same time period. The records of the Shoal Creek 
Baptist church in Oconee co., S.C.< 1796-1853> show that on 30 Jan 1808 Jesse 
Coffey had been deceased. His wife Nancy is mentioned <no date> as dismissed. 
John Cleveland was the pastor of this church and many Clevelands are mentioned. 

The family of Jesse Coffey is< information from several sources but 
largely from John Coleman, James M. Coffey, Jr., and "Sketches of Rabun County 
Georgia History".>: 

l. Cleveland, b. bef 1780, perhaps as early as 1775, Wilkes co., N.C.; md. 
ca. 1806 Martha ?Brown, Pendleton Dist., S.C.; d. 1843, Rabun co., GA. 
Children were: <a.> Joel William, b. 1807, md. Elizabeth Ann Moore <another S.u.~c,S1 
source says Martha Virginia Epperson>. There is some confusion here as there 
may be a Joel William b. 1824/6,; Cb> Elizabeth, b. 1810, md, Thomas Garrison; 
< c> Jesse, b. 1812, md. Elizabeth Thompson; ( d) Jane, b, 1815, md. Cannon 
Stephens; <e> Illai <or Ilai>, b. 8 Har 1814, md. Martha Permilia Isbell; <f> 
Ira, b. 1818, md. Jane Hiller; <g> Ivory, b. 1820; <h> Isaiah, b, 1822; < i) 
Nancy, b. 28 Aug 1825, md, William Semore York. 

2. Bashaba <Barshaba, Barsheba?>, b. 15 or 28 Mar 1782 S.C., md. 1810 
William Jones d. 1878/9 Rabun co. GA; children were: Nancy< 1802>, Mary c 1803>, 
Jesse <1805>, John <1807>, Sarah< 1809>, Moses< 1810>, Andrew< 1812>, Lewis 
Nea 1 < 1814 >, Elizabeth < 1816 >, Hal inda < 1818 >, W il 1 iam < 1820), Lucinda < 1822 >, 
Bashaba < 1824), Patsey < 1825> and poss. Henry. Mary Hethcoat is a descendant 
of Bashaba and William Jones, 

3. Sally, b. 1787 

4. John, b. 1790-1800, md. Winifred Neville, d. 1822, Rabun co. GA 

5. Joel, b. ca 1791 <or ?1799>, md. Martha Cobb, d. 1849, Rabun co. GA 

6. Edward, b, 29 Sep 1793, md, Elizabeth Neville, d, 1858, Rabun co. GA. 
He was given the title of General for his part in the campaigns against the 
Cherokee. He was sheriff in Rabun co. 1831-36 and a senator in the Georgia 
Legislature< 1841/2 and 1855-58 -d. in office.> His chilldren were: Ca> Sarah, 
md, Franklin A. Bleckley, <b> Eliza, md. Dudley Singleton, and <c> Margaret, 
md. Edmund Singleton. 

7, Nancy, b, ca. 1795/97, never md, ? 

,, a,1l11l '"~' PaMJ D;,➔ ~.c. 
~~~8. Elijah, b. 1.-&&i, md. Nancy Owens 
-/ 1t"\ \t'ol M11► 1-;s q,L, ~11.'//,·c, 

~/' 9, Elisha, b!11&e-2 <twin>, md, Mary <Polly> White/1.alld aaa a~.~Mary 
Frances who md. George Robert Reid. A descendant is George Fain Black of / 
Houston, TX c.'1, 1. j o ~ 111 /1141 i- a. ; .r •O l 1111 I,;~, .. /2 J11N /fl't' /ff -~oA/\7/l',J Mlta-1 ~It J/111 ,.,,. It ld t rH II 

~. "1:J/,'c 
J,.rA111ebAl11:w 

"· $11►" h All Al',, , PAGE 24 ~-E"t:2-Pl'o~tJ.. (' .. A"'-'' 

l
. e,,",. . r"• ,rt fl& p, Stapps: It shou d be noted that Joshua and Martha's son Joseph was the father ~ 

of Martha Stapp (or Stepp> who md. Joel Coffey <seep. 98). 
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Chris 
Lucy Stapp 
latter was 
projected. 

Bailey of Bristol, CT feels that the death date on the toombstone of 
Wilhoit, dau. of Joshua Stapp, Jr, makes it quite possible that the 
b. 1720-25, agreeing in considerable measure with what I had 
Any concerned with the Stapp line may wish to consult him. 

Elizabeth Stapp, b. 1729, md. William Morris (1722-92> in 1746, Organge 
co. VA, <He founded the first permanent settlement in the Kanawha Valley.> A 
descendant is Catherine "Cam" Marshall of Miami, FL. Her father, George 
Preston Marshall< 1897-1969> was a founding father of professional football 
<noted in Canton, OH Professional Football Hall of Fame.) 

Page 27 

Reference# 8: After the first "ibid" it should read "also, Essex co. VA 
Deeds & Wills, Bk. 14, pp. 669 & 189." 

Page 28 

Number 1, John Coffey: Recently I have seen various correspondent's 
records that have a middle initial "B". I have no idea where this originated 
and since I have never seen it in any record I choose to leave it out. I think 
any middle name among Irish or Scotch-Irish at that time period is highly 
improbable, 

CHAPTER 4 

The Graves and the John Coffey Families 

Pages 31-32 

Kenneth Graves of Wrentham, MA is compiling a book on the descendants of 
Captain Thomas Graves of Virginia. He feels that the research of Sue Davis, 
formerly of Benton, AR, but whereabouts now unknown is reliable enough to 
extablish that Thomas Graves' son Francis had a son John by a first wife <name 
unknown>. Francis later <bef. 1678) md. Mrs. Jane Maguffey. John md. Johanna 
CHarinah) and,they were the parents of Jane <Jean> Graves who md. John Coffey. 
Kenneth Graves feels that James, who I had listed <somewhat questionably> as 
the father of John, was really his son. This James would still be the one who 
md. Jean Mayfield. 

Assuming the data collected by Sue Davis is correct CI haven't seen it> 
then the following would be the descent from Capt. Thomas Graves who came to 
Virginia on the "Mary and Margaret" in 1608 and settled at Jamestown. 

Capt. Thomas Graves, b. abt 1580, md. Katherine Crasher <last name from 
Vivian Zollinger of Gosport, IN>. 



Children: 
1, John, b. not later than 1616 
2. Thomas 
3. Ann 
4. Katherine 
5, Val inda 
<ts 3,4 & 5 from Vivian Zollinqer> 
6. Francis, b. ca. 1630, d. bet Aug 1691, md. < l> unknown, 1 child: 

John, b. 1675-78 (or prob. earlier>, d. 1720, md. ca 1698-1702 
Johanna (Hannah> -------. 
Children: 

1. James 
2. Benjamin 
3. Martha 
4. Ann 
5. Jean or Jane, md, abt 1728 John Coffey 

md. <2> Mrs. Jane Maguffey who had previously been md. to a Mr. 
Haguffey and had children John and Jane and perhaps Elizabeth. 
If so, the latter had already married a Hr. Davenport by 28 Nov. 
1678, or Elizabeth could have been from another marriage of Jane 
to a Mr. Davenport. 

Children of Frances and Jane: 
1. Francis, Jr. 
2. Richard 
3. Thomas 

Bes ides Kenneth Graves and his "Graves Fami 1 y Newsletter", references for ~ 
the above include "Genealogies of Virginia Families" - from the William & Mary 
College Quarterly Historical Magazine, Vol. II, Gen. Pub, co., Baltimore, 1982, 
and articles <same ref.> by William M. Sweeny "Captain Thomas Graves and Some 
of His Descendants", pp. 732-42, and Mrs, P.W. Hiden, "The Graves Family of 
Essex Co." pp. 743-745 ff. Wi 11 iam Cooper of Irwin, TX thinks that the 
language of "Adventures of Purse and Person" by Virginia Meyer & John Dorman, 
1987, p. 330 would indicate that John <and Jane) Maguffey might have been 
adopted by Frances and the John who md. Hannah was not a Graves at all but 
really Haguffey. Kenneth Graves answers this on P. 120 of his Graves Family 
Newsletter, Oct 1993 in which he says there is no evidence that John was 
adopted by Francis. He further points out that John is placed as a son of 
Francis not by direct documentary evidence but by circumstantial evidence and 
excluding all other possibilities. This is the principle of inductive 
reasoning and is often used in establishing genealogies and I support the 
principle, when it is carefully applied. For the time being I prefer to say 
that Kenneth Graves appears to be correct, but I will reserve further judgment 
until his book comes out or until we obtain other evidence. 

Line 5 under Graves Family: change that to than, 

Page 33 
Osborn was still in Amherst co. VA on the 1783 tax list. 

Page 34 
The missing p, # in line 9 under John Coffey is 39. 



Page 36 

First paragraph, last line: Jordan Coffey is still an unknown as to his 
parentage. However, a number of his descendants have been "found" due to the 
research of John and Mary Ann Taylor of Richmond, VA. They have done 
considerable research on the descendants of those who settled at "Coffeytown" 
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in Amherst co. VA, a place now called Alto. Jordan was b, ca 1780 and md. 21 
Mar 1803 Elizabeth Rippetoe in Amherst co. At that time he listed his guardian 
as Benjamin Fitzgerald and early in life goes by the last name of Fitzgerald, 
The Fitzgeralds and Rippetoes are tied into the families of William and Edmund 
Coffey (sons of John and Jane <Graves> Coffey> by marriage. Some of the 
descendants of Jordan feel he is a son of William or Edmund. Since our 
knowledge of these families may not be complete, this or several other 
intriguing possibilities could be the case. One is that Jordan was an 
illigitimate child of a dau. of Benjamin Fitzgerald with a Coffey (William?> 
being the father. Whatever the truth it seems that Jordan must be related 
somehow to the Edward - John line. The children of Jordan are Hudson, 
Elizabeth, John, William, Susanna Jane, and possibly Schylar, Nelson and Henry 
<the latter haven't been proven to be his biological children>. The reader is 
referred to John Taylor, CCC# 49, pp. 15-18, Dec. 1992, and the Taylor's 1993 
excellent book, "The Coffey Family Settlers of Coffeytown, Amherst County, 
Virginia." 

Winifred Coffey: Husband Nicholas Moran was the son of John Moran <will 
recorded Nov. court 1776, Albemarle co. VA> and wife Sarah. <children Joshua, 
William, Nicholas, Elijah, Ann, Eletra <?>, and Sarah Coffey>. Nicholas d, 
1805, Amherst co. VA (Will Bk 4, p. 184>. Winifred's death & final account 
dated 27 May 1823, Nelson co., VA, Children of Winifred and Nicholas were: 

1. John Cleveland, b. 1 Jan 1763, d. 20 Aug 1825, KY 
2. Elijah, md, 1793 Mary Mitchell, Amherst co. VA 
3. Martha "Patsy", md. Mr. DeMasters 
4, Jane, md. 1791 Ezekiel Campbell, Amherst co. VA 
5. Sarah <Sara)md. 1800 James Campbell - dau. Elizabeth md. John Smith, g.g. 

parents of Jane Stuart Smith of Jefferson City, TN 
6. Nicholas, Jr., md. 1799 Sally Cartwright, Amherst co. VA 
7. Dau., perhaps Nancy who md. James Tilfore. 

Page 37 

Top: For further discussion of Jesse, Winifred and family see notes for p. 49 

Middle: Thomas' son William was in the War of 1812 and his wife Ann (age 70> 
made application for Bounty land 23 May 1856, Caldwell co. N.C. 

Bottom: Although Reuben <son of John & Jane> was not in the Revolutionary War 
he was a patriot, providing supplies in 1781 <see DAR Nat. # 683168>. Reuben's 
son Reuben was in the War of 1812 in East Tennessee < 18 Dec 1813-6 Mar .1814, 
War with Creek Indians), An application for Bounty Land was made by Reuben 13 
Apr 1851 (gave age as 80). Another application made by Naomi Coffey <age 76, 
widow> on 22 Feb 1854 (both applications made in Monroe co., IN> Application 
says he d. in Monroe co. <not Owen co. as I gave on p. 49). A third 
application was made by Naomi <near 80 years> on 8 Jun 1857, Monroe co. IN. 
She must have been b. in 1777. Reuben, Sr.'s son Elijah had the first Baptist 
Church meetings in Owen co. in his home, 
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Page 40 

More recent information indicates that H. Marcus Coffey is, on his father's 
side, a descendant of Reuben <not Benjamin> & Sally Scott through their son 
Jesse who md. Margaret Edmiston or Edmundson>. See also note top. 50. 

Elizabeth Coffey & Thomas Fields: The will of Thomas was probably misread in 
regards to James Crumpton. It should be Jane Crumpton. Jane Fields md, 
Hezekiah Crumpton. They were the parents of Winnifred Crumpton who md. Jesse 
S. Coffey <p. 49>. 

Page 41 

Ref. 22 & 23. See also Bk H, pp 19, 87, 242, & 316. 

Page 44 

Jesse: It seems probable that Jesse was md. only once - to Elizabeth "Tabitha" 
Riffe. Tabitha seems to be a nickname. A grandson, Peter B. Riffe writes in 
"Romance and Marriage" that they had 10 children. Wayne Trout of Mangum, OK 
shows 11 <without including Sally>. Perhaps two died very young. I then show 
the fol lowing: 

1. Mary "Polly", b. 25 Apr 1808, d. 29 May 1842, md. 12 Har 1829 Jeremiah 
Vardaman. They had? children. 

2. Tabitha 
3. Christopher Riffe <C.R.> 
4. Nathan, md. Mary Leveridge 
5. Hillie, md. 1830 Benjamin Dawson, Jr, 
6. Minerva, md. J.H. Slaughter and went to Texas in 1853 <nr. Anna, TX> 
7. Richard Nightengale, md. Sallie Portman <not to be confused with one of 

the same name who was his uncle>. 
8. Jesse, Jr. <or Jesse P. >, md. Tabitha Slaughter and is said to have gone 

to Texas in 1853 (along with Minerva and J.H. Slaughter>. Robert W. 
Johnsey of Dallas, TX is a descendant of Jesse, Jr. through son James 
Perry Coffey and his dau. Ella C. Coffey Johnsey. 

9. Hannah, md. James Coulter 
10. Martha Frances, md. George Dawson 
11. Osborne. Randy Kimler of Groves, TX says that his middle name was 

Nightengale. His dau., Annie Robb md. L.C. Kimler, g father of Randy. The 
"History of Lincoln County Hissour i" < Goodspeed, 1988>, says that Osborne 
was the second child of Jesse and b, 4 Feb 180?, Casey co. KY. 

12. Sally ? 
Marriages listed above are from "Men, Women, Events, Institutions, Lore of 
Casey co. KY", p. 174. 

Jesse d. 18 Jul 1850, Casey co., KY, He was a Captain in the War of 1812 
<some say Colonel, but this title was probably conferred later.> His widow 
(2nd wife Sally Sims who he md, 8 May 1846> made application for Bounty Land in 
1850 and she was listed as age 50. Jesse is mentioned as an extensive dealer 
in hogs. He and his wife were members of the Missionary Baptist Church. 
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Elizabeth: Husband Christopher Ca brother of the Tabitha who md. Jesse Coffey, 
Sr.> was first md. to Agnes Spears by whom he had 10 children. Elizabeth and 
Christopher had only three children: Peter B., Leannah and Christopher. 
Leannah md. Jesse Coffey Portman, her first cousin who was a Baptist preacher. 
Their dau. Elizabeth who md. John Henry Trout was the g g mother of Wayne Trout 

Patsey: Married George McWhorter Portman <not George McWhorter as given in a 
D.A.R. record>. Their children were: Cl> Jesse Coffey, (2) John Clayton, <3> 
Dr. Bailey, <4> Patsy, <5> Matthew, <6> George, <7> Betsy, (8) Osborn, <9> W.A. 
and Richard Nightingale. 

Matthew: He was in the Kentucky Militia of the War of 1812. 

Richard N. <assumed to be Nightingale>: b. ca 1795 <"Annals of Platte County, 
Mo." says in Amhersst co. VA, but we don't know when Osborne went to Kentucky.> 
He d. 16 Nov 1867, Camden Point, Platte co., MO. He had a Bounty Land 
application in 1850 in Madison co. KY for War of 1812 service and an additional 
application was made 10 Apr 1855. He was a private in the Company of Capt. 
Jesse Coffey. 

Page 45/46 

Children of Meredith: 
#1 John: Kathy Eppard of Carterville, MO has b.d. ~ Oct.; d, 1870-76 

McDonald co., MO <previously lived in Hamilton co., TN>. He was one of 
the first white settlers in McDonald co. MO, Some correspondents have 
recently used "D" as a middle initial, but as in the use of "B" in the 
John who md. Jane Graves, I have seen no source showing that be had a 
middle name or initial. By Rebecca Ragsdale he had at least two children 
<l> Meredith, b, 1822, and a female, b, 1824. This Meredith md, Eliza­
beth Hopper in Tennessee and did not move to McDonald co. until ca. 1850. 
There he d. after 1880, 
John's 2nd wife, Jane Hopper was b, 1812, N,C,, dau of John Hopper, b, 
1789 (CCC Mar 1983, p. 8). John & Jane were md. ca 1840 and had the 
following children: < 1) John H. < 1841>, <2> James M. < 1842>, (3) Henry 
<1845 - one source does not list a Henry but gives a Nancy for this date 
(4> Mary Jane< 184718>, <5> Rice C. < 1850>, (6) Sarah Elizabeth< 1853>, 
<7> Mira Lucinda (1856-8). 
Apparently John's son Meredith md. Elizabeth Hopper about the same time 
John md. Jane Hopper. Meredith's children (as per Tom Bunch of Alvin, 
TX> were: < l> Elizabeth (ca 1841), <2> William Harrison (ca 1842/3; md. 
Hilead O.>, C3> Josiah A. C 1846>, <4> Madison <ca 1848>, (5) David (ca 
1849; md. Paralee Clark>, <6> Rebecca <ca 1854), and <7> James M, <ca 
1856). Josiah was b. 18 Mar 1846 in Hamilton co. TN and d. 5 May 1913. 
He md. Elva Tennessee Clark and their dau. Florence Bell Coffey (b. 1870> 
who md. William Henry Bunch was the g g dau of Tom Bunch, Bertha Jeffers 
Husband Joe of Ewa Beach, HA descends through William Harrison, Larry 
Coffee of Noel, MO descends through the David Coffey above. 

# 2, Anna, b. ca 1799, but 1850 census age 47; md, 11 Dec Nelson Arnett 
<aI\Cestors of Don Simpson of Caldwell, ID>, moved to Pulaski co. MO, 
children: < l> Nelson< 1823/4) <2> Mira< 1826), (3) Andrew< 1831>, <4> 
James (1833), <5>Appaline C 1836>, C6)Ally Ann 1838>, and C7> Amanda E, 
< 1840), 
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#3 Dorcas: b. ca 1802 < 1850 census> 
#4 James: Others give the wife's name as Sarah Jane Fielden. Betty Ann 

VanderWegen of Union, WA gives the marr, date as 5 Feb and the children 
as: <l> Joel Henry C 1827>, <2> Dorcas Ann< 1829>, (3> Martha J. < 1830/1>, 
<4> Elizabeth< 1834>, <5> John <'?1832>, <6> Mahala< 1837>, <7> Calvin 
<1839, (8) Mary "Molly" <1842>, (9) Henry Aquilla (1847) and James A. 

< 1851>. These are also given in a chart by the late Thomas Roach but it 
is a great difference from the Inventory of Estates and Wills record I 
have given. 

#5 Joel: Betty Ann VanderWeggen has last name of wife as Grugg_. 
#6 Mira: moved to Coffee co. TN, d. 1849 White co. TN 
#7 Un-named male Coffey, b. ca 1811, d, in infancy 
#8 Eliza: b. ca 1813, d. 1854, Gibson co. TN 
#9 Rice: b. ca 1815, Granger co. TN; children: < 1) Meredith, b. 14 Jun 1840, 

<2> Adaline, b. 1843, (3) Solomon, b. 1844, <4> Deborah, b. 1848, <5> 
John, b. Mar 1850, (6) Elizabeth Ann, b, 6 Feb 1854, 

#10 Mahala: b. 29 Mar 1820, md. 11 May 1833, d. 29 Sep 1876 Phelps co. Mo 
<ancestor of Elizabeth Welch, Columbus, OH>. She had dau Lovena. 

#11 Mary: b. 30 

Page 46 

Possible children: Sally 
The 1810 census of Grainger co. has Benjamin Ray, not Rhea. Information ~ 

on the 1850 census of Pulaski co. MO indicates that Rav is probably correct. 
Sally had son Sterling & daus. Jane <or Jincy) & Lucinda, 

Jenny (or Jane> Coffey who md. Levi Miller probably had a dau. Sarah as 
shown by Grainger co. TN Ct, of e & QS, Vol. 2, p, 289 where Meredith Coffey is 
appointed guardian of Sarah Miller "one of the minor heirs of Miller, 
now deceased". <not dated but ca. 1809). Jenny also prob. had son Noah. She 
went to Pulaski co. MO. 

Chart 4-C, Edmond: His will was dated 23 Sep 1807 and proved 25 Jul 1808. 
Inventory of estate, p. 20, Nelson co. VA Will Bk. A. 

Soni 1, Edmund <or Edmond) S, was in War of 1812, d. 18 Mar 1855, Nelson 
co. VA; widow Matilda Coffey made application for Bounty land 12 Apr 1855. He 
and wife Tildy had a son Joseph C. Coffey, ancestor of James E. Coffey of 
Alexandria, VA. 

Son# 2, William, b. ca. 1772, had son Garland, b. ca, 1800 in VA, md. 
Nancy Coffey Cb. ca. 1805, VA>, a dau. of Reuben G. Coffey <son t 3> and Nancy 
Giles <md. 5 Sep 1801 Amherst co. VA>, Garland & Nancy Coffey <double cousins> 
had son Jesse C./R. Coffey, b. 12 Jan 1833, md. 27 Dec 1853 Nancy F. Loney 
Allen. Jesse & Nancy were parents of Allen F. Sherman Coffey, b, 27 May 1866, 
Rockbridge, VA, who was g g father of John Burnett of Delphos, OH who is also 
descended from Edmond through his dau. Mary "Polly" < #6) who was b. ca. 1782 & 
md. John Steel!,, 

Son# 3, Reuben also had a dau, Sarah J. who md, a William W. Coffey <Ref: 
Fred J. Coffey, Stuarts Draft, VA, CCC Dec '84, p. 8. Reuben's will dated 23 
Sep 1845, proved 24 Nov 1845, Nelson co. VA 

# 5 Nancy md. ~ Sep 1817 Jed Campbell, Nelson co. VA. 



11 

Page 47 

# 2 John: Dau. Eliza may be the one who md. John Allen l Sep 1818, Wilkes co.NC 
"Cassey" Coffey md. John Crisp 25 Jul 1818 - could this be Casandra? - no 

husband listed for her in Thomas Coffey book. Wilson md. Malena Coffey <p.48), 

t 3 Thomas, Jr.: There is some controversy about his birthdate - "The Heritage 
of Watauga County, N.C.", Vol. 1, gives the year as 1777 and Gertrude Isaacs of 
Banner Elk, NC has 31 Aug 1778. I am tentatively leaving it as traditionally 
recognized: 1767. His first wife, Margaret was apparently b. ca. 1798 and d. 
ca. 1825. 

First child was Joshua, b. 1 May 1821, d. 18 Jan 1891, md. < l> 1 Nov 1842 
Rebecca Shepherd. Their 9 children were: Cl> Adeline C 1844>, md. Alfred Wyatt; 
<2> Mateldia < 1846>, md. Isham Patrick; <3> Drewy S, < 1848>, md. Sarah Wyatt; 
<4> Alice Cca. 1852>; (5) Mary< 1854>, md. James Hanes; (6> Martha< 1856), md. 
Lewis Hanes; (7> J. Rufus< 1860), md. Martha Kilby; <8> Perry< 1862), md. 1887 
Nancy Hanes; (9) Franklin Cb. 19 Feb 1867, d. 14 Jan 1949), md 1888 Fannie E. 
Hurchison. Joshua md. <2> 1 May 1880 Rebecca Eveline Wyatt. They had only 2 
children: Cl> John Peyton, b. 1 May 1881, d. 12 Jun 1954, md. Jennie Elizabeth 
Hartin, and <2> Thomas Joshua< 1883>, md. Laura Elizabeth Parsons. John P. 
Coffey & Jennie Hartin had 10 children of whom Treva Mae Coffey who md. Harry 
G. Houpe sent the above data. They live in Morganton, NC. Treva also lists 
Thomas, Sr. as "Thomas J. Coffey" - the first time I have ever seen a middle 
initial or name for him or any of the children of John & Jane <Graves) Coffey. 
As mentioned earlier, it would have been highly unusualy to have a middle name 
among these people at this time period. Without further evidence I would 
question it's veracity. 

Thomas' dau. Sallie, b. ca, 1823, md, James Holden; they had a son James 
Joseph Holden, b. 1846. 

Thomas' first son by Nancy Pendley was Perry, b. 1826, who had a son Robert 
Gilliam, b. 1884, who md. Mary Huskins and was the father of Roy, Sr. who in 
turn was the father of Roy, Jr, The latter & wife Donna live in Telford, TN 
and spell their name Coffie. Perry served in the Civil War (Union). His first 
wife, Minerva d. at age 31. Her children were< 1) Gabriel< 1845), (2) William 
Harrison< 1847>, <3> Milus < 1850>, <4> Linville <1854>, & (5) Minerva< 1856). 
Perry md, (2) ca. 1864 Sarah Berry< 1844-1910), Their children were< l> Sam 
C 1865), <2> James J. < 1868>, <3> Margaret "Maggie"< 1870>, <4> John Wesley 
< 1871>, <5> Nancy< 1874>, <6> Mary< 1876>, <7> Julia< 1879>, <8> Robert Gilliam 
C 1884). All children were probably born in Washington co. TN Clater Union>. 

Treva Houpe's chart shows that the second son, Asbury J., was b. in 1826. 
If so he may be a twin to Perry. Asbury's wife was named Sarah. 

# 4 James: He d. in Wilkes co. N.C., not VA, Children were< 1) Thomas, md, 22 
~v Sep 1823 Nancy Barlow Cb. 1804/7) & had children Ca> Isabella <1823>, <b> 
~~ Calvin< 1824>, md. Serena White, son Henry Milton <ancestor of Karen McLemore>; 
~} 
~ <c> Larkin< 1831/2), md. Sara Pendley; Cd> Sophronia C 1834>; Ce) Thomas 

-}'[,v < 183517>; (f) Nancy< 1837>; & (g) John< 1838/9); <2) James, Jr. md, Mary 
~ ~ Keller; <3> Lovancy md. Jonas Kellar; C4> Marvel Cb. ca. 1820/2), md. Nancy 
v ~ - Pendley <not the Nancy Pendley that Thomas Coffey, Jr. md.); (5> Eli, b. ca, 

1813; (6) Myra md. George Laney; <7> Louisa - as in book. One source for the 
children of Marvel gives James (ca. 1846), Vanra <ca. 1847), Mary <ca. 1848), 
Jane <ca. 1851>, William <ca. 1853), & Sophia Cea. 1855>. The 1850 census of 
Caldwell co, N.C. has ?Granville Cage S>, ?Louisa or ?Sarah Cage 2>, and Mary 
Cage 11/12>. James Coffey, age 78, is living with them. Some genealogists 
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have said that Harvel went to Har ies co, HO and his wife was Rachel Boone. < CCC ·~. 
Dec '92, p. 13>. The list of children is entirely different from either of the 
above lists. This had to be a different Marvel Coffey as he md. Rachel Boone 2 
Feb 1813 in Burke co. N.C. and would have been older than James' son Marvel. 
Since Banjamin Coffey was bondsman could he have been the father? We don't 
have a complete list of Benjamin's children <see notes for page 54 for more on 
this.> 

# 5 Mary "Pol 1 y": Md, Wilkes co. NC, Son Wi 11 iam < b. ca. 1812), md. 15 Aug 
1829 Margaret Robbins Cb. 1816), children: < l> Elbert Cb, ca. 183'7>, <2> Elijah 
Cb, ca. 1839>, <3> Larkin Cb. ca. 1841, killed in Civil War, <-4> Bartlett Cb. 
ca. 1842), <5> Cornelius Cb. ca. 1846>, <6> Thomas Cb. ca. 1849>, C?.-10.> 
others b. aft. 1850? <see Thomas Coffey book, p, 7 for them & all spouses.> 

Son Austin: b. ca, 1800. Thomas Coffey book shows wf. as Betsy Hawkins, but 
Wilkes co. Harr. recs. say "Sally Hawkins" and 1850 census lists wife as Sarah, 
b. 1800; children: C l> Elizabeth "Bettie'' < b. ca. 1829), C 2> Louisa < b. ca 
183112>, <3> Edmond or Edward Cb. ca. 1833>, <4> Joshua Cb, ca. 1835>, <5> 
Shuford <b. ca. 1837). See Thomas Coffey book for marriages. According to 
Robert Corneilius Coffey of Pomona, CA, Austin md. < l> Sally Gardner, 1819, 
Burke co. & then Sally Hawkins in 1822. Son Joshua was father of Thomas Calvin 
Coffey Cb. 1856>, md, Mary Houston, went to Missouri in an ox cart. Robert C. 
Coffey is a descendant. 

Son Eli jab < b. ca. 1808), md, 1 Jun 1831 Elizabeth "Betsey" Robbins, no 
children. Betty Ann VanderWegen also lists a dau. Eliza. 

# 6 Smith: Md. Hannah Boone, dau of Jesse. William (#2 at bottom of page> md. 
Anna Boone, a sister of Hannah. Of Smith and Hannah's children: -~ 

Squire md. 24 Dec 182-4 < l> Nancy Moore, <2> 2 Oct 1828 Ella or Alley Webb. 
Morgan md. Elizabeth Day; children: Leland, Hannah Land, Harriet Barnes, 

Elizabeth Kilpatrick, Louisa Derreberry, Sally Kilpatrick, Sarah Bryson, Mary, 
Milly, Joseph M., Athan & Boone. Marilyn Minshull is a descendant of Leland. 

Athan, b, 27 Jan 1820, md. Mary "Polly" McGuire, Their son Athan N. "Bud" 
md. Venia Patton & moved to Towns co. GA, 

Sarah "Sallie" md, 28 Oct 1829 William Puett. 
Leland md. Myra Day. 
Isaac md. Sallie Estes. 
Millie <or Mila> md. < l> Wiley Stanley, <2> John Tritt 
Smith, Jr,, b. 1832, was in Civil War, lived in Cherokee co. NC 

Sarah <Sally> Fields Coffey d. 21 Nov 1828. 

# 2 William: Wife Annie, a dau. of Jesse & Sarah CMcMahan> Boone, d. 16 Jan 
1876. Children: 

cl> Daniel, b. 12 Nov 1805, d. 21 Jan 1862, md. 11 Sep 1834 Clarissa Estes 
Cb. 18 Jul 181'7>; children: Ca> Emily Cb. ca. 1836>, Cb> Drury Cb. 23 Apr 1838, 
md. 25 Aug 1859 Harriett Collett>, Cc> Martha E, <b. 5 Sep 1839, md. 12 Oct 
1858 Elijah L. Moore>, Cd> Sophronia <b. 20 Oct 1841, md. 28 Jan 1864 Henry C. 
Coffey, son of McCaleb & Elizabeth Coffey>, <e> Jonah <b. 9 May 1843>, <f> 
Israel < b. 19 Apr 1845>, < g> Julia < b. 3 Aug 184?, < h> Hezakiah < b. 29 Mar 
1852>, < i> Celia Cb. 7 Nov 1855>. 

<2> Wilborn <Wellborn in Bible>, b, 14 May 1807, d. 25 Nov 1897, md. 2 Jan 
1832 Sarah "Sallie" Cottrell Cb. ca. 1812>, children: Ca> Rufus (b, 17 Nov 
1832>, d. 7 Dec 1902, md. Harriett Moore - b. 3 Hay 1835, <b> Milton Cb. ca. 
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1834, d. 1863 Gettysburg, PA>, Cc> Myra ( b. ca. 1836, md. Robert Shearer>, < d) 
James (b. ca. 1839>, <e> Grayson <d. 1863 Gettysburg, PA),<£> Minerva <b. ca. 
1845, md. Rev. John Nelson>, <g> John Calvin Cb. 30 Apr 1848, md. Nancy Tuttle, 
<h> Finley P., b. 30 Apr 1848, <twin of ~ohn Calvin>, md. Mary Elizabeth 
"Battie" Tuttle>, < i > Caroline C md. J. R,ichard Moore>. 

<3> Gilliam, b. 21 May 1810, md. < 1) ·Mary "Polly" Moore (b. ca. 1820>, 
children Ca> Harvey N. Cb. ca. 1838, md. Jane Cochran>, (b) William Cb. ca. 
1840>, Cc> Harriet (b. ca. 1844, md. James Blair>, (d) Celia Cb. ca. 1847, md. 
John Estes> <e> .Adeline Cb. aft 1850?, md. John Gragg. Gilliam md. <2> Susan 
Moore Green Gragg, child: Hillie, md. Bessie McLean. 

(4) Celia, b. 29 Jun 1813, md. Hezakiah Curtis. 
(5) Calvin, b. 30 Sep 1819, d. 2 Apr 1847, md. 16 Oct 1838 Mary Green <b. 

2/2, 1820>, children: <a> J. Harrison Cb. ca. 1840, md. Charity Moore>, Cb> 
Alexander (b, ca. 1842, killed in Civil War), <c> William (b. ca. 1844, killed 
in Civil War, Gettysburg>, Cd> Patterson V. Cb. ca. 1846, md. Martisha Estes 
< see p. 200>. 

William's widow Anna made application for Bounty land in 1856. She stated 
he d, at Mulberry in NC and that they were md. 18 Oct 1804 in Burke co. 

Birthdates for William & Anna's children are from a Coffey Bible in possess. 
of Miriam Leeper of Manhattan, KS. 

Page 48 

Reuben d. 22 Feb. 

# l Alfred Martin might be the Martin Coffey who was a teacher in Owen co. IN, 

~ # 2 Albert had a son Wesley who md. Laura J. Howe in 1865. 

Elijah: Moved to Rabun co. GA and d. there. Children were: 
1. Joel Anderson< 1819>, md. Charity. 
2. Minerva <ca. 1820>, md. a John Coffey. 
3, Newton H. (1824>, d. single, 
4. Starling< 1829>, md. Nancy Cannon. 
5, Alphonso Cl831>, md. Julia Ann Dawkins. 
6. Elvira < 1836). 
7. Milton (ca. 1838>, d. young. 

Sally: Children: 
l. Thomas Stewart, md. Sally Caroll, no children, moved to MO, d, 1899. 
2. Martha Stewart, md. James B, Marler, also moved to MO. 
3, John Stewart 
4, Theodore Stewart, not married, confederate soldier. 

Lewis: D. 28 Feb 1854; children: 
4, Richard L., b. 7 May 1835, md. 3 times <see Thomas Coffey Book, p. 4>, 

attended law school at Indiana Univeristy, became a judge, a U.S. Marshall and 
a State Senator. His son William Lewis was a prominent banker who md. Rosa B, 
Clark and was the father of artist Alton Powell Coffey. All three generations 
lived in Brown co. IN. 

5, Jasper H., went from Indiana to Missouri where in 1862 he md. China F. 
Culp. According to the Thomas Coffey book he md, <2> Sally Morgan, He was a 
minister of the Gospel, 
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Page 49 

# 7 Jesse S,, d. 8 Oct 1858, Pickens co. GA; Children: 
1. Thomas W., b. ca. 1823, d. bef 1850, md. Eliza Roper. 
2, Larkin D., b, ca. 1824/5, md. Temperance Granitt. 
3. Lewis Elbert, b. ca. 1826, md. Hetti 
4, Wi 111am R., b. ca. 1829, not md. 
5. Eli C., b. ca. 1832, md. Frances Elizabeth Bradford. 
6. Hart in Van Buren, b. ca. 1834, md. Frances Millicent Pettit 24 Feb 1859, 

Pickens co. GA.; md. <2> Orpila J. ? 
7. John Gordon, b. 24 Aug 1840, GA, d. Feb 1920, Pickens co., md. Mary 

Monroe Pettit 21 Aug 1859, grandparents of John Clayton Coffey <recently 
deceased> who md. Mary C. < lives in Dallas, TX>. John Gordon had 14 children 
<see CCC Dec '81, p. 5.> 

A great deal of work has been done on Jesse by James H. Coffey, Jr. of 
Atlanta, GA. His father was James Martin Coffey, Sr. < 1887-1964>, the son of 
James Elbert Coffey< 1860-1928>, the son of John Gordon Coffey< 1840-1920>, the 
son of Jesse S. Coffey and wife Winnifred Crumpton <or Compton>. Another son 
of John Gordon was Hartin DeWitt Coffey< 1881-1943> who was the father of John 
Clayton <J.C.> Coffey C 1911-1992>, mentioned above. He and his wife Mary also 
worked extensively on this line. A 3rd son, Raymond Lucious <Lucas> <wife 
Fannie> was ancestor of Frank W. Duvall of Hartselle, AL. 

The problem with Jesse is that he was not included in Thomas' will and 
Lawrence Coffey< in the Thomas Coffey book> said he died young. However, we 
know of no other Jesse that would fit this particular time period and the 
intermarriages and other tie-ins with the Crumptons and Fields would suggest 
it. It has been theorized that Lewis, son of John and Mary "Polly" Coffey < p. 
70> could have md. early enough and had a son Jesse by 1798/9. We don't have 
Lewis' marriage date or the birth date of his first child, but it appears to be 
later and he is not known to have had a son Jesse. This problem has been 
discussed further in a short essay by the previously-mentioned James M. Coffey, 
Jr. of Atlanta, GA. It should be mentioned that if this Jesse is the son of 
Thomas then either his b.d. on his toombstone < 19 Jul 1799> or the b.d. of 
Thomas' next son Larkin< 18 Feb 1800) is wrong <only 7 month span>. It would 
appear to be the stone that is wrong since it also says he was 59 years, 11 
months and 20 days old when he d. 8 Oct 1858. That would translate into a 
birth on Oct. 18, 1798 and would agree more colsely with the 1850 census which 
listed him as age 52. I will only add that inductive reasoning and the absence 
of other data allows me to accept Jesse S. as the son of Thomas. 

Footnote k on p, 49 should be omitted; Jesse is in Forsyth co. in 1840. 

# 9 McCaleb: Md. ~ Feb 1828; children: 
1. Thomas Jefferson, b. Dec. 1828, md. Mollie Greer, children: Elizabeth 

<Council>, Margaret <Rambo>, & Stewart (md. Mrs. Sanborn>. 
2. Charles Lewis, b. 18 Sep 1830, md. 6 Jan 1853 Emily Coffey,dau of Daniel; 

children: Julia A, <md. James Hartley>, Jane E. (md. Hayward Powell>, 
3. Sarah A,, b. ca. 1832. 
4. John, b. ca. 1834/5, 
5. Mary Lou, b. ca. 183? 
6, Margaret E., b, ca. 1838/9, d. 17 Sep 1873, not md. ~, 
7. Henry C., b. 31 Dec 1841, md. 28 Jan 1864 Sophronia T. Coffey, dau of 

Daniel; children: Charles and Lawrence. 



8. Martha E., b. 25 Aug 1840, d. 13 Jun 1927. 
9. James F., b, ca. 1844. 

10. Frances Caroline, b. ca. 1846, md. David J. Farthing. 
ll-13, Rachel M,, Julia Jane & Laura Louise <d. age 4), apparently all b. 

aft. 1850. 
The above is from the 1850 census of Burke co. NC and Betty Ann VanderWegen. 
Here there is no mention of the Wm. Columbus and Buddie as given in the 
.. History of Watauga County". The Thomas Coffey book mentions Wm. Columbus and 
two infants that d. unnamed. See this book for other marriages. Buddy 
apparently d. age 2. 

Reuben Coffey, Sr.: He d. 1813, not 1818. 
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# 2 Reuben <Jr.>: He md. in Burke co. NC <not Wilkes> and moved to Carter co.· 
Tennessee ca. 1803. He was drafted into the War of 1812 while living in TN. 
About 1821 he moved his family to Monroe co. IN where he d. (not Owen co.> in 
1851. He was listed as age 80 (b. 1771?) when he made application for Bounty 
land 14 April 1851. His widow, Naomi, made similar application 8 Jun 1857, C:: 
Monroe co. IN, "near 80 years." Naomi Hays was the dau. of T-hama.-Hays and 6'oJ..?< 

Sarah Dyer <Ref. Kathryn Johnson, Charles Moreland, CCC Sep '91, p. 6.> Shed, 
in 1857. 

Pages 49-50 

Charles Morleland of Whittier, CA informs me that the proper order of the 
children of Reuben and Naomi <Hays> Coffey is: 

1. Temperance, b, Dec 1797, Wilkes co, NC; md. 16 Jul 1817 William Moreland, 
Carter co., TN; children: <a> Alfred, d. 24 Sep 1847 <Mexican War>; md. 14 Aug 
1838 Mary B, Freeman, Owen co. IN;i«b> Lawson H., md, 10 Mar 1842 Margaret 
Billings, Monroe co. IN; <c> Matilda";""'b. 10 Aug 1823, TN, d. 20 Mar 1867, 
Whitehall, IN; md. 14 Jan 1841 Jesse C. Williams, Monroe co. IN; (d) Nancy Ann, 
b. 14 Feb 1831, d. 21 Apr 1871, Whitehall, IN; md. 7 Feb 1850 Greene co. IN; 
<e> Elizabeth, md, 14 Sep 1843 Allen Kiser, Monroe co. IN; <f> Celia, md. 8 Oct 
1846 William Calvin Mefford; Cg> John D., md. 16 Aug 1850 Nancy B. Christy, 
Greene co. IN; U.~ A1'nH. la 37 dll-1 1838, .!, 88 Har 1986. • Children of 
Temperance furnished by Carla Moreland Burkett (descendant of son Alfred). 

2, Celia, b, ca. 1799, Wilkes co. NC; md. James Simpson Sharp, Monroe co.IN 
Children: <a> George W., (b) Mary S., <c> Nancy Ann, <d> Jasper N., <e> Sarah M 

3, Hiram B,, b, 30 May 1802, d. 9 Nov 1889; wf. Charlotte b, 30 Apr 1810, d, 
12 Jun 1877; children: Ca> Tillman, (b) Tabitha, <c> Granville, <d> Deniza, <e> 
Elisha, 

4, Nancy, b. ca. 1805, Carter co. TN; md. John T. Fullen, Monroe co. IN 
5. Alfred H., b. 18 May 1809, Carter co. TN; md. Rachel Fullen; children: 

Sarah H. and Reuben <prob. others>. 
6, Deniza, b. 1812, Carter co. TN; md. William Mayfield, Monroe co. IN; 

children: James B, Isaac W, Sarah E, Margaret and Jesse. 
7, Isom, b. ca. 1813, Carter co, TN; md. Martha Smock, Monroe co. IN; 

children: Lavisa, James, Mary, Martha, John Gibson and Sarah. 
a. Minerva, b. Jan 1814 <Noreva Sharr says b, 1812?>, Carter co. TN; md. 

Gilbreth Neill; children: William, Naomi & prob. others, 
9. James W., b. ca, 1817 < 1850 census, but grave marker says 13 Jun 1819, d, 

17 Apr 1885; md. Theresa Wampler; children: Temperance 
10. Thomas R,, b. ca 1819 < 1850 Census>, Carter co. TN; md. Sarah Rocket, 

Monroe co. IN; children: Eliza, Laura, Sarah and Neoma. 
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Page 50 

The order of birth of the children of Reuben Coffey and Sally Scott is not 
entirely agreed upon. Some say Jane <listed as# 12 on p. 51> was b, 1774, 
which if true would make her child I 3. Also, that She md. Benjamin Webb, not 
James Webb. Mrs. Elizabeth Chadwell of Pharr, TX, a descendant has Jane b. 
1768 < d, aft. 1850> and md, to Benjamin James Webb, b. 13 Sep 1760, d. 1827 
(both d. in Overton co. TN>. These dates would be very early for a child of 
Reuben and Sally unless Jane was the oldest child. Mrs, Chadwell admits some 
of the dates may be off. I am temtatively listing her as b. 1774 and 3rd in 
the family. Their children were: 

1. John C,, b, 30 Hay 1788 Ashe co, NC, d. 1860170; md. ca. 1839 Elizabeth 
Ward. 

2, Nancy, b. ca. 1790, NC, d. ca. 1839; md. Reuben Hast. 
3. Sidena, b. 21 Mar 1792, Ashe co. NC, d. 1830/40; md. 1815 James Horton. 
4, Elizabeth, b, 25 Har 1794, NC, d. 8 Mar 1874; md. Hubbard Johnson, 
5. Thomas Crittenden, b. 20 Jun 1798, Ashe co. NC, d. 14 Aug 1875; md. < l> 

Jane Simpson; father of Solomon Webb who came to Jasper co. MO. 
6. Elijah Clauson, b. 17 Jan 1802, Ashe co. NC, d. 20 Oct 1859; md. Feb 1823 

Martha Jane Johnson. 
7. James Crittenden, b. 22 Apr 1803, NC, d, 15 Apr 1873 of rabies in Jasper 

co. MO; md. Clarissa Curtis(1.grandparents of Elizabeth Chadwell>. 
8. Patsy, b. ca. 1810; m~. Jesse Brown 
9. Daughter, b. ca. 1812; md. John Johnson 

Child# 4 (of Reuben and Sally <Scott> Coffey: Elizabeth B. 
B. 30 Jul 1776, d. 5 Mar 1868, Greene co. IN; md. John "Moccasin" Green, as 

proven by the estate settlement of her father Reuben Coffey. Children: <a> 
Jane, Cb> Elijah, b. 4 Nov 1800, d, 15 ·Jul 1882; md. Mary Moody; < c> Abel, b. 
ca, 1802, md. Mary Gragg; Cd> Amos, b. 29 Apr 1804, d, 28 Jul 1870; md, Sena 
Estes; <e) Nancy, b, ca. 1806, md. James Coffey; (f> Sarah, b, ca. 1808, md. 
William Coffey who d. in Civil War; < g> Silas, b. ca. 1810, d, 12 Apr 1914; md. 
Susan; Ch> Daniel, b. ca. 1814, md. Elender; Ci) Jesse, b. ca. 1816, md, 
Mourning; < j) Mary "Polly", b. ca. 1818, md, Alfred ,Bz::p_wn; <k> Thomas, b, ca. 
1822, md. Sarah. 

There seems to also be some disagreement about the order of the next three 
children of Reuben & Sally. I will here follow the order given by Betty Ann 
VanderWegen, viz: Elijah, Joseph, Jesse. 

Child# 5: Elijah 
Vital data as in book except Noreva Sharr has m. date as l Sept. Wife Polly 

b. 17 May 1787, dau Joshiah Dyer & Sarah, Additional items on children: <a> 
Lucinda, b, Globe, Burke co. NC; <b> Allen md. 17 Jun 1830 Susan Basket, Monroe 
co. IN; <c> Alfred, b, Globe, Burke co, NC, md. 25 Feb 1830 Susan K. Caivins, 
Monroe co, IN; <d> Amos D,, b. Globe, Burke co. NC; md. 11 Feb 1834 Martha K, 
Neill, Owen co. IN; Ce> Noreva Sharr has "Louisa Jane" instead of Jane Louisa; 
md, 8 Jan 1832 Elisha Stansbury, Monroe co. IN; <f> Albert H:_, md. Owen co. IN; 
<g) Joel, md. Owen co. IN, had 3 children; <h> William Trimble, d, 8 May 1904, 
Owen co. IN; <i> Wiley Hubbard, d, 19 Mar 1879; (j) Malinda C., md. ~ May, Owen 
co. IN; <k> Nancy E., b. 27 Sep. 
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There were at least 4 children of Amos D.: Andrew Noble, Albert, Martha Ann 
and Mary L. Andrew Noble Coffey, b. 22 May 1844, Green co. IN, d. 13 Jan 1917, 
md. 9 Oct 1876 Angeline Mercy Rogers, settled in Tecumseh, Nebraska; they had 
only l child, Arthur Marion, b. 2 Aug 1881, md. 26 Nov 1904 Mary Marie Boone & 
their son Arthur Noble< 1905-1985> was the father of Victor Lee Coffey of 
Fresno, CA <md. to Phyllis Ann Maxam>. Another son, Keith Howard (md. to 
Phyllis Wright> lives in Sun City, CA, Emma Coffey, wife of another son Lowell 
William sent me descendants on this line, but they, along with those sent by 
the others mentioned, were too numerous to include in this book which is 
primarily devoted to ancestors. The other son of Amos, Albert, lived in 
Arkansas and died during the Civil War. The daughter Martha Ann was b. ca. 
1837, perhaps in Owen co. IN. She md. 7 Sep 1854 William Osburn Harrah, Green 
co. IN. A descendant is Betty Neimeyer of Fresno, CA. The other daughter, 
Mary L. md. a Mr. Shepard and lived in Louisville, KY. $,t.,-- C.C.C iJ, 7 

Child# 6: Joseph 
B, ca. 1785, d. ca. 1835, md. Isabella Lindsay <Linsey>, Children: I am here 

following the order given by Betty Ann VanderWegen. 
( l> Margaret, b. ca. 1804/5, d. 1897, md. James ~ Webb, children: < a> 

James C. < 1832-1890), md. Susan Elizabeth Coffey; (b> Mary Jane <1834?-1863>, 
md. Thaddeus Braswell; <c> Joseph Hilton< 1838-1913>, md. Nicey Gragg; <d> Noah 
< 1839-1904>, md. Sara Eliz. Key; <e> Margaret Legrand, md. Jesse Gragg. 

< 2> Enoch, b. 14 Jun 1806 < 1809?>, d. 3 Oct 1893, md. < l> 15 Dec 1831 
Prudence Gragg, <2> Martha (Coffey?), (3) 3 Jun 1882 Fannie Sims. Children 
<apparently by Martha>: <a> Sylvester Levi, b. 3 Dec 1836, (b) Mary Jane 
(Polly>, b. 25 Jul 1838, d. 4 ,Jan 1920, md. J. Thadeus Braswell; < c> Sara A. 
<Sally>, b. 1 Jun 1840, d. 21 Jul 1916, md. Johnson Gragg; <d> Joseph W,, b. 23 
Nov 1842, md. Grace Gragg; Ce> Elizabeth, b. 22 Jul 1845, d. 26 Feb 1931, md. 
Patterson Coffey; Cf) Martha L,, b. 7 May 1848, d, 2 Mar 1942, md. Harve Clark; 
< g> Margaret P. "Meg", b. 13 Oct 1850, md. Felix Welch. 

<3> Elisha "Lish", b, ca. 1812/14, d. ca 1860, md. Ann , children: Lewis 
<b. ca. 1834>, DeCalb Cb. ca. 1839>, Mary <Hannah?>, b. ca. 1843. 

<4> Sarah, b, ca. 1814, md. Larkin Calloway, children: <a> Emeline, b. ca. 
1833, ( b) Isabelle, b. ca. 1835, Cc> Jane, b. ca. 1840, < d) Nancy, b. ca. 1843, 
<e> Samuel or Sampson, b. ca. 184415. There may have been a son Giles, b. 1831. 

<5> Zachariah <not Zacheus, although this is how it is in the 1838 Burke co. 
NC Court of Equity petition of heirs>, b. ca. 1817, d. 1870-80, md,, Margaret 
Coffey, dau of Jesse, thus 1st cousins. I have seen considerable variation 
concerning names of children but 1 am following those given by Betty Ann 
VanderWegen. 

Ca) Martha Serena "Renie", b, 12 Mar 1837, d. 26 Apr 1920, md. Leason 
Gragg. 

< b> Cleveland, b. ca, 1841, d. ca. 1850 
<c> David, b. ca. 1842, d. 23 Dec 1861 in Civil War camp of typhoid fever. 
(d) Jesse Patterson, b. ca. 1843, md. < l> Elizabeth Coffey Cd/Enoch>, <2> 

Mary "Polly" Allison. 
< e) Delight, b. 1842? 
( f > Coll is, b. 1845 
<g> Joseph R., b, 2 Dec 1850, d. 5 Hay 1936, md. 19 Sep 1869 Nancy 

Elizabeth Gragg. 
<h> Aletha (Althea?>, b. ca. 1852, 
<i> Raban Scott, b. 15 Apr 1853, d. 16 Jun 1933, md. 8 Jan 1874 Margaret 

Elizabeth Hollander. 
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<j> Julius Calvin, b, 5 Jul 1855, d, 9 Nov 1936, md. < I> 5 May 1878 Lavina 
W. ••Jeanie" Del 1 inger, md. < 2> 5 Jul 1899 Clarissa Adams. 

<k> Eldalana <Lando>, b. ca, 1858, md, Mary Austin, 
< l> Elizabeth, b. ca. 1859, d. 1940., md. Joseph Dellinger. 

<6> Nancy, b. ca. 1816, Burke co, NC, md. William Gragg, children: Indiana, 
Taylor H., & Edmond. 

<7> Matilda <minor in 1838) 
<8> Luchia <or Lincia), also a minor in 1838). 
<9> Bryce, b, 5 May 1824, Burke co. NC, d, 7 Apr 1910, Caldwell co, NC; md, 

Susannah <Bookie> Gragg, children: 
<a> Joseph Burgess, b. 4 Jul 1851, d, 14 Jun 1920, md. 26 Jan 1876 Mary 

Lagustia "Polly" Gragg. 
< b> Eliza Jane, b. 1 May 1853, md. 25 Jan 1877 John Estes. 
< c> Thomas, b. 16 May 1856, d. 22 Sep 1914, md. 27 Mar 1881 Margaret 

Cordelia. Gragg ... 
<d> Shelva, b. 12 Aug 1858, d. 1868-70 in house fire. 
<e> Sarah Elizabeth <Betty>, b. 13 May 1860, d. 1910, md. 3 Jan 1887 

Theodore M, Webb, 

Child # 7 Jesse: 
B, 1775-80 <Sarah Rowe of Yuma, AZ says 1771>, d, 31 Jan 1840, Burke co, NC; 

md. Margaret < Nancy> Edmiston Cb. ca. 1780-90); children: 
1, Sarah "Sally", b, ca 1804 <some say 1802>, NC, d, aft. 1870; md. ca 1819/ 

20 Nathan Green, son of Jeremiah Green & Mary Wiseman, prob. in Ashe co. NC. 
They lived most of their lives in Jefferson co, TN. He d, 1838. Their son 
Jeremiah J, Green, b, 1829, Jeffer5on co. TN, was the ancester of Sarah Rowe. 

2. Reuben, b. ca, 1806, killed in Civil War, md. Rachel Hayes, children: <a> 
Jesse Calton <or Carlton> "Calt" or Kelt••, b. l Apr 1821, d. 18 Aug 1904; md. 
Nancy Reins <or Revis>, children: < 1) Matilda, b, l Jul 1849, d. 2 Apr 1927, 
md. George Washington Coffey; <2) William, b. 6 Mar 1850, d. 5 Mar 1925; (3) 
Jane, b, 6 Feb 1853, d. 24 Oct 1931, md. 29 Aug 1871 Anson Harrison; <4) 
Thomas, b. 1 Jan 1855, d. 17 Dec 1915; Lucinda "Lou", b. 1861, md. 20 Sep 1878 
Jesse Coffey; ( 5) Rachel Lorinda, b. 10 Nov 1856, d, 14 Oct 1934; < 6> James, b. 
Apr 1862, d. 23 Feb 1924, md. Mary Coffey. "Calt" and Nancy were the 
grandparents of Owen Coffey of Blowing Rock, NC. This family has lived in that 
area for close to 200 years. 

<b> Ransom, b, 1829, d, 26 Hay 1909, md. Delphia Hartley, 
Cc> William, b, 1833. 
(d) John, b. 1837. 
Ce> James, b. 1838. 
Cf> Lou <Lucinda?>, b. 1840, md, a Reins, bro, of Nancy. 
Cg> Millie, b. 1845, 
<h> Eliza Jane (Jenny>, b, 2 Nov 1848, d, 30 Oct 1936, md. 28 Jun 1867 Wm, 

Ray. 
3, William Clayton, b, ca, 1808, Burke co, NC, d, ca, 1860/5, Caldwell co. 

NC; md. Sarah Green, dau of Jesse's sister Elizabeth; children: Ca> Silas C., 
b. ca. 1835, d, 3 Jul 1893; md, Eleanor <Blender?> Greene; children: William 
Pinkney "Pink" ( 1857-1942), Martha Jane C 1859-1900), Francis "Richmond" C 1863>: 
Mary "Emma" <ca 1866>, David Columbus "Lum"< 1868-1942), Silas <ca 1868>, 
Rebecca S. <ca 1878>. 

<b> William Clayton, Jr., b. ca 1838, Ashe co. NC, d. 1919, md, Mary 
Adeline Curtis, ~ 
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<c>George Washington, b. ca 1841/3, Ashe co. NC, d. 19 Nov 1912, md. 
Matilda A, Coffey, children: William L. < 1867>, Eliza Jane< 1869>, Jesse 
Carlton Cca 187011>, John A. < 1872>, Sarah E. < 1874>, Silas C. 1876), Thomas F, 
< 1878), 

<d> Jesse Patterson "Pat", b. ca 1845, d, ca 1924, md. Phebia Matilda 
Curtis. They were the parents of Myra Angeline C 1871-1938> who md. McCrourie C. 
Johnson who in turn were parents of Myra Christine Johnson. She md. William 
Columbus Auton and they were parents of William Johnson Auton of Monrovia, MD 

< e) Eliza A, "Louisa", b. 6 Jul 1848, d. 24 May 1924/5, md. Jesse M. 
Hartley, children: John C, (ca 1869), Maggie (ca 1871), Thomas N, <ca 1873), 
William J. <ca 1877>, James W, <ca 1879>. 

(f) John, b. ca 1851 

4, Cleveland, b. ca 1810, md. < l> Susan Hayes, d. 1839, children: 
<a> Andrew Jackson, b, 1833 Ashe co, NC, md. (1) Louisa Jane Hutchinson, 

< 2) Rachel Imas. 
< b) William W., ca 1834, killed 1864 in Civil War, md. 1 Aug 1854 Galina 

E. Shouse. A descendant is Marcus Coffey. 
<c> Thomas Y., b. ca 1835. 
< d) Martha. 
<e> Susan Elizabeth, b. 31 Mar 1839, Thornhill, TN, d, 1 Sep 1925, md. <l> 

James C. Webb Cs/Tyre>, <2> Aaron McGinnis. 
Cleveland md <2> 11 Nov 1839 Malinda Coffey, dau of George; children: Ca> 

George H. <ca 1841>, Cb> Margaret E. Cca 1842>, Cc> Nancy M. <ca 1844>, Cd> 
Frances L. <ca 1846>, <e> Daniel P, <ca 1849>, <f> Lily? Cleveland & Malinda 
lived in Grainger co. TN. 

5. Jesse T., b. 16 Jun 1807/8, d. bef Dec 1847, md. Lettie Collins, 
children: Ca> Sarah, Cb> Mary Jane, md. Wyatt Hayes. 

6. Mccaleb, b, ca 1814, md. Sara <Sally> Hayes, children: 
(a) Thomas Minerva, b. 1939, d. 31 May 1863 (Civil War). 
<b> Cornelius Jones, b, May 1840, d. 10 Feb 1917, NC; md. < 1) 1 Jul 1866 

Martha Gragg, two children: Thomas H., md. Annie Penly>, John Finley, b. 2 Feb 
1877, d. 1953 (both NC>. Marie Ryals is the dau. of his son, John Stewart 
Coffey. Cornelius md. <2> Sarah Hodges, children: Rufus, Gwyn, Charles, 
Elbert, Emma, Hattie, Irene. Cornelius was also a Confederate soldier. 

<c> Mary J., b. 1841 
Cd> Jesse F,, b. 1842, d. ca 1864 in Civil War. 
Ce) John E., b. 1844, d. 1863, Battle of Chancellorville. 
Cf> Sarah E., b. 1844, 

7, Margaret, b. ca. 1816, md. Zachariah Coffey, son of Joseph, for children 
see Zachariah, page 17. 

8. Austin, b. 1818 Burke co. NC, d. 1865, Civil War: taken prisoner; 
kidnapped while sleeping; md. Mary Blalock, children: 

<a> William M. <Keith> Blalock (s/Mary>, b. 21 Jun 1836, d, 11 Aug 1913, 
md. Malinda Pritchard. 

Cb> Margaret, b, 22 Aug 1845, d. 4 Dec 1931, rod. Thomas A. Wright. 
Cc) David, b. 25 Aug 1853, d. 30 Dec 1930, md. < l> Kate Grimsley, <2> 

Caroline Coffey. 
<d> Thomas Avery, b. 3 Jun 1856, d. 21 Dec 1917, md. Louise E, Gragg. 
Ce) Jesse Fillmore, b. 22 Oct 1858, d. 22 Aug 1931, md. < l> Mattie E. 

Story, <2> Harrell Coffey, <3> Harriette Melissa Calloway 
9. Mary Jane, b. 1827, a. 11 Apr 1859 (accidently killed when grinding corn 

and clothes caught in machine>, md. Reuben Dellinger. 
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10, Nancy, b. ca 1825, Ashe co. NC, md. Burton Gragg, children: <a> Martha 
Cb, ca 1844, md. Grindstaff?>; <b> David (b. ca 1846>; <c> James (b. ca 1848, 
md. Jane Frnaklin?>, <d> Jesse <b. 12 Feb 1850. 

Child i 8 of Reuben & Sally: James D. 
There is some question as to whether James belongs in this family. He has 

always been included here by various Coffey researchers, but he is not 
mentioned in the Burke co. NC Estate papers of Reuben Coffey when heirs made 
petition. For now I am continuing to leave him here, but we should be on the 
lookout for any possible proofs, one way or the other. 

B. 23 Oct 1786, Globe, Burke co. NC, d. 27 Oct 1868, Owen co. IN <may be 
older than Jesse if both dates are correct and James really belongs here. 
Md. Hannah Alloway Strange, prob. the dau of Abraham Alloway Strange as shown 
by the latter's will dated 10 Oct 1814 in Caldwell co. NC. Since the name 
"Alloway" was used for all the Strange children for several generations, and 
the name Abraham was frequently repeated, it is difficult to say to whom this 
Abraham A. Strange belonged but and "educated guess" would be Edmond Alloway 
Strange. David A. Strange of San Rafael, CA and Frnaces L. Tiller of Kansas 
City, MO are the best authorities I know on this family. Blanchard's 1884 
"History of Owen County, .... " says James d, 1869 <not 1868>. Notes concerning 
his children< in addition to those on pp. 50-51 in the book> are: 

1. Archelaus: children: <a> infant, deceased, <b> Sally Ann <ca 1836>, <c> 
James David< 1837-1899>, md. a 2nd cousin, Martha Jane Coffey< 1841-1893>, dau 
of Isom Coffey & Martha Smock; <d> John W. <ca 1842>, <e> Jonathan (died young> 
<£> William A. (ca 1845>, Cg) Noah W. (ca 1847>, Ch> Zachariah <ca 1849>, < i> 
Joseph M., (j) George M,, & Ck) Levi W. Latter three b. aft. 1850, 

3. Abraham: md. Sally Green in Ashe co. NC & had children: Ca> Hannah E, <ca 
1837, < b> Mary S., < c> Thomas A,, < latter two prob. twins, b. 18419 < d> Minter 
L., & Ce> Sarah Jane (b. aft. 1850?>. 
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5. Riley md. Tabitha J. ca. 1849/50'? <b. 19 Jun 1827, d. 25 Feb 1901, 
Elletsville, Monroe co. IN, 

6. John Davidson, had a son James <b. ca, 1846) by first wife Mary Whisanand 
and a son William Cb. Aug 1849> by his second wife Mary A. Mayfield. There 
prob. were others. 

Child# 9: Nancy: no further information. 

Child# 10: William H. 
Wife Mary b. ca. 1788 NC, according to 1850 census. 
Son Silas b. ca. 1825 according to 1850 census <could this be a mistake?> 

~ • ' /I'/ d e cc - (> __,_v) n n,,-b .-.AAJ 
Child t 11: Thomas,~~. NC, ma, 4 Jan ~c. After 
1820 they moved to Meigs co. TN and between 1841 and 1850 to Webster co. MO 
where they d, and are buried. They had 12 children: 

:r.--4.Ji3~1 C 1812), (2) Robert< 1817>, <3> Michel W. C 1817>, <4> Leven Stokes 
( 1819>, (5) < 1820>, (6) Elizabeth< 1822), (7) Thomas< 1825>, <8> Frances 
H, c 1827>, (9) Edward . -~---- < 10> George N. C 1832>, C 11> Nancy Ann (1834>, 
( 12> Joseph A, < 1836). 1ec-.--=--o0...ti.__Pp, 8-9. ~ 



Child t 12: Benjamin 
It ha~ been said that his name was really Joel Benjamin, but I have seen no 

document with this name. 
1. Jesse d. 1855, Gentry co. MO. 
2. Lawson: Obituary says b. in Owen co. IN <this may be rather early for 
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the family to have moved to Indiana>, The obit. further reports that his first 
wife, Mary "Polly" Adeline Litton, d. in 1857 after giving birth to two boys 
and he then md. 15 Aug 1858 Eliza Ann Campbell. They had 8 children, 5 boys 
and 3 girls. They later moved to Gentry co. MO. 

3. Nancy: b. Monroe co. IN, md. in Owen co., d. in Monroe co. 
4, Sally Ann: Rebecca Walker of Cathlamet, WA has 25 Jan 1830 for her b.d . 

. and Ruth Huff of Bloomington, IN has 1832. The latter has her first husband as 
• J,.: Kingston Litton; both have marr. date as 1849. - ~ / ,...,,..~.vv,i.:i)-4_.4--' , 
/ • ' 5. William: b. Monroe co., md. Monroe co. IN / 

6. Milton: Ruth Huff has b,d, 1835, Monroe co., d. 1915 Gentry co. MO. 
7. Matilda Catherine: Ruth Huff has herb. 1827 Monroe co. IN. 

Child t 13: Sally 
There seems to be no proof that I am aware of for her being a child of 

Benjamin, but has been listed more from tradition. Perhaps someone has further 
information on her?? 
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For a more complete analysis of this family one should read Bennie Loftin's 
excellent book, "Lizzie's Legacy and Our Coffey Cousins". Some specific 
corrections and/or additions from my book, pp, 52-54, are as follows: 

Was Benjamin's wife Polly a dau. of Qagcge He,es. \he Ria 111 ul i rnaE,. uatoca'A u~g 
else llBM ·h IIS & SfH?? I think this it flli"Eilkiabl,.. 
C 4;{./.. /I I Tho s. h do -I-, lf"3o 

Child# 1, Ausburn or Ausborne: children other than Thomas Jefferson and 
James Madison <b. 20 Nov 1834, d, 1886, md. 1857> included Wiley <ca 1831), 
Elias <ca 1833), John A. Cea 1837), Adison A, (ca 1840>, & Tilman A. (ca 1846), 

Child t 2, Colby: Mary Ann Speldle Wilson of Pond Creek, OK is a direct 
descendant of Colby. Besides William the children of Colby were< 1) Rebecca 
< 1830>, <2> John <ca 1831>, <3> Susan <ca 1836), <4> Theresa Ann< 1838), (5) 
Matilda Cea 1840>, C6> Elizabeth (ca 1845), & <7> Ausborn <1848). 

J-IFJ~e.s i1a Tk9. ◄ s 
Child t 3, Benjamin: Wife Nancy~b. ca 1803; children:n< 1) Richardson <ca 

1833>, <2> Elizabeth (ca 1835), (3) Ransom <ca 1837>, <4> Calvin <ca 1839>, <5> 
Calton (ca 1839 - twin>, <6> Manul <Manuel?> <ca 1842>, <7> Perry <ca 1844), 
(8) Ausburn Cb. 1846, md. Nancy Ann Phillips Barnett, not Celia Ann Laswell>, 
49) Mary J, <1848-r, & (lQ) Sanh l'tJJiUc!I (es 18&1>, 

:,,,,._Jl (J :.t., .Iuv-.- ~ 
Child# 5, John: Wife Alsy b. ca 1811; children: ( l> 

Mary <ca 1842>, <3> Dicy <ca 1844>, <4> John <ca 1845>, 
William <ca 1841>, <2> 
& <5> Naauel <ca 1847>, 

MIJ~Vel 
Child# 6, Elizabeth: children by Nathan Whitsett were Nancy E. C 1840-1915 

md, Carter Dalton> and Sarah < 1842-1873, md. Charles Wolfe). Children by George 
Hays Cother than William Daniel) were C 1> Matilda Jane <1847-1934, md. Charles 
Wolfe after the death of Sarah>, <2> Mary (b, ca 1850), (3) Hamilton< 1856-
1906, md. Elvira Register>, <4> James Simon ( 1858-1918, md. Rachel M. Register> 
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Besides Kathryn Johnson another descendant of this line is Bonnie Culley, 
editor of CCC, and still another is Elba Palmer of Malta Bend, MO. 

Readers may also want to review "Residents of Grainger Co. TN, 1850", CCC 
Sep '88, p. 10. 
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Child# 7 (of John): Sarah Lucinda had children Roda <ca 1843>, ?Leamit <ca 
1847>, & Barret <or Bennit> <Feb 1849>. 

Child# 8: Margaret, age 22 on 1850 census, 2nd wife of Isaac Bullen, age 43, 

Child# 9: ~illiam, wife Ellen Cdau of Dice Nash>, b. ca 1825; child James b. 
ca Apr 1850. 

George: d. aft, 1870. 
# 1, Myra, b. 10 Apr 1812 6 d. 16 Jan 1871. She & John Hipshire were 

parents of Maleta Cb. 1824> who md. William Wolfe 30 Jul 1839 (Ref. Shirley 
Harper, Bonita, CA whose husband is a descendant>. Other children were Martin 
<ca 1833>, William T. <ca 1840>, Wiley Cea 1842>, & John <ca 1845>. 

I 2, Thomas. There is a Thomas, age 38 on the 1850 Grainger co, census, a 
single man. 

# 3, Delphia. Children included< l> Ally Cea 1838>, <2> William N. <ca 
1839>, <3> Green <ca 1840>, <4> Colby <ca 1842), (5) Hiram <also ca 1842), <6> 
Emeline <ca 1845> & poss. Minerva Cea 1836>. ~ 

#-4, Mary A .. Husband was Carter Jackson "Jack" Dalton; Mary b. ca 1815; 
children: < 1) Lucretia <ca ,,1834), (2) -Louisa Cb. ca 1836, md, James P, B_ullen>, 
<3> Perlina Cb. ca 1837, md. 1857 James Madison Singlet-on>, C4).Abner.<ca 1845> 
<5> Mahaly <ca 1848>, <6> Delpha <b. 1850, md. James McAnally>, (7) Sarah Hulda 
md. Perry Shockley. 

# 5 William. For children see Sarah Lucinda above <child# 7 of John>. 

# 6 Elijah. Children included< l> Austin <ca 1840), <2> Hilly (ca 1841>, <3> 
Mira <ca 1843>, <4> George <ca 1843>. He also had sons Ambrose, Samuel & Lacy. 

# 7 Matilda. Ch-ildren included< l> Carter <ca 1838>. <2> Lacy <ca 1839/40>, 
<3> Adeline Cca.1843>, C4> Pleasant <ca 1846>, CS) Archer <ca 1848), Dorothy 
Johns is a descendant of this line. 

I 8 Malinda. She may have been the eldest Cb. 1806 according to one source> 
She was 2nd wife of Cleveland Coffey, son of Jesse, son of Reuben <2nd cousins> 

t 10 Emeline, b. ca 183213. 

Bennett Coffey. He was in the War of 1812 <CCC Sep '88, p. 9.> 

# 1 Caswell, md. to a Nancy in 1850. Children then were William< 1831>, 
Sarah C 1838>, Joel (1840>, Rebecca <1842>, Arona< 1846> & Nelson <?Helson>, 
1848. 



Another son may have been Collins, b. 1809, d. 1864, MO; md. Sarah Hinkle. 

I 4 William: <PAGE 54> 
Mary "Polly" Coffey was his first wife and they had i children < not 3): 

1. Austin, b. ca 1800, md. 24 Oct 1822 Sarah "Sally" Hawkins < not Betsy>. 
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She was b. ca 1800/04, dau of Joshua Hawkins & Dorothy Beam. They had 5 
children: <a> Edmond, md. Jane Mathey; killed in Civil War; <b> Oliver Shuford, 
md. Martha Turnmire; prob, also d, in Civil War or soon thereafter; <c> Sarah 
Louisa, md. Nimrod Storie; (d) Joshua, md. Selena Storie, sister of Nimrod 
(both <c> & <d> prob, went to Missouri>, Robert Coffey of Mira Loma, CA is a 
descendant of Joshua; (e) Elizabeth "Betty", n. m. 

2. Eliza, b. ca 1805, md. Samuel Hawkins, brother of Sarah, Wilkes co. NC: 
Ca> son, b. ca 1827, prob, d. 1830-40; <b> Mary, b. ca 1829, md. Cl> by 1860 
Monroe Coffey, <2> ca 1883 W.G. Lewis, a Methodist minister; <c> Martha, b, ca 
1833, md. 9 Feb 1858 Hugh Day, Jr. 

3. Elijah, b. ca 1807, md. 1 Jun 1831 Elizabeth "Betsy" Robbins, sister of 
Margaret, Wilkes co. NC; d. 1860-69 <Elizabeth d. 1870-79>. No children. 

4, William, b. 5 May 1812, md. Margaret Robbins Cb. ca 1816, dau of Thomas 
Robbins & Mary Morphew>, d. 8 May 1893 <Margaret d. 26 Apr 1882, both Caldwell 
co. NC>; had children, names unknown. 

Second wife of William "Sr," was Margaret Robbins, dau of Reubin Robbins & 
Jane Turner. Children: 

5. John Wilkerson, b, ca 1831, md, 11 Nov 1856 Mary Lindsay Robbins Cb. ca 
1823), sister of Margaret & Elizabeth in #s 3 & 4 above. Their children include 
(a) Elijah M,, b, 28 Sep 1856, d, 2 Mar 1933, md, Amanda Caroline Dobbins <note 
Elijah b. bef parent md. - poss, error?>; Cb) Margaret A., b. Oct 1858, md. ca 
1869 Joshua Rufus Robbins; <c> Jethro, b. 1860/61; <d> James, b. 1863/4; <e> 
Julia, b. ca 1868. 

6, Nancy, b. 15 Aug 1832, md. 20 Nov 1855 Joshua Melvin Hawkins, Caldwell 
co. NC (Joshua b. 8 Sep 1822, son of Henry & Sarah (Gilbert) Hawkins.) Nancy d. 
27 Jan 1892 & Melvin d, 30 Jun 1878; children: <a> Calvin Henry, b, 5 Jan 1857, 
md. Martha Pipes; <b> Delia C., b. 12 Sep 1858, md. Samuel Pennell; <c> 
Margaret, b. Jan 1860, d. May 1860; <d> George W., b. 23 Nov 1861, md. Julia 
Day; <e> Jesse F., b. 29 Apr 1863, md. Sallie Turnmire; Cf> Larkin Luther, md. 
Etta Pipes; Cg> John C., b. 5 Jan 1868, n.m., d. 13 Dec 1945; <h> Sarah E., b, 
21 Apr 1870, md. Rufus Robbins. <All of above from John O. Hawkins, Lenoir, NC> 

t 5 Jesse. I have no evidence for a Jesse here and think there prob, was none. 

t 6. Jane. This marr. occurred on 22 Aug and the bondsman was Benjamin so 
perhaps this is the Jane, dau of Benjamin. 

# 7. Ann. Cleaveland Coffey was bondsman (not Benjamin>. To me this throws 
some doubt on who was her father. 

i 8. Sarah, I may have the wrong Sarah here. A Sarrah <Sarah?> Coffey md. 2 
Jun 1807 Isaac Masy <Macy?) and Benjamin was the bondsman. However, this was 
in Burke co. <not Wilkes> so may be the other Benjamin <husband of Leah), Also 
see notes for page 102, James & Sarah Coffey. 

Two possible sons of Benjamin might be Marvel Coffey who md. Rachel Boone and 
James Coffey who md. Susana Pitman. See notes for p. 47, The children of this 
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Marvel were< l> Hrs. Wm. Moss; <2) Lavina, md. Isaac W. Odom; <3> Elizabeth, md 
Wm. Petty; <4> Temperance, md. James Orr; <5> Irwin <or Irvin), md. Nancy 
Hughes; <6> William Brazeal; <7> Squire, md. Drusilla Parker; & <8> Campbell, 
md Caroline Eads. This family first moved to Qayne co. KY, later McMinn co. TN 
and then went to Missouri in 1835. 

Could Susannah Coffey who md. Henry Cook 26 Jul 1816 in Burke co. <William 
Pitman, bondsman> be another dau. of Benjamin? Or, did James Coffey die and 
then Susannah <Susana> Pitman Coffey marry Henry Cook? 

Chapter 5 

The James Coffey/Elizabeth Cleveland Family 

Page 57 

I have recently seen correspondents using the name James Erwin Coffey. I 
have never seen the name Erwin used in any record involving Rev. James Coffey 
and do not know of its source. Again, I must say that a middle name for any 
Coffey of this time period is highly unlikely. I choose not to use this name 
unless someone can show me a proper source. 

Page 59 

Michael Gibbons of Lenoir, NC has amply shown that James Coffey, Jr. was 
married to Mary "Molly" Moore, dau. of Jesse Moore, Sr. & Alley Johnson well 
before 1790 <James had l son under 16 and 2 dau. in 1790 <census>. He d. in 
Jan. 1795 <or poss. late 1794> as letters of administration of James' estate 
were granted to Mary and her father Jesse on 27 Jan 1795 in Burke co. Court of 
P & Q Sessions. James was a Justice of the Peace and clerk and Elder in the 
Yadkin Baptist Church. Mary md. <2> bef 1803 James Gilbert. Shed. ca 1842. 
James & Mary's children were: 

1. Archelaus, b. ca 1784, d. prob. bef. 1830; md. Martha Durham<?>. 
2. Elizabeth, b. 17 Jan 1786, d. 28 Dec 1859; md. Laney Estes. Their g. 

dau. Nancy Hartisha Estes< 1849-1910> md. Patterson Vance Coffey< 19 Sep 1845-2 
Mar 1911>, son of Calvin Coffey who was son of William Coffey 6 Annie Boone 
<seep. 47 and also p. 200). Besides Dr. Robert Coffey, another son of Nancy 
Estes 6 Patterson Coffey was James Alexander Coffey, b. 4 Jul 1872, g. father 
of Constance Baarsch of Edina, MN. 

3. Alley, b. 23 Mar 1790, d. 25 May 1851, md. Richard Baker. 

Page 60 

Descendants of Reuben, other than the first generation, are not given here 
or on p. 72 since Jacqueline Sexton's book on the Coffeys of Wayne County 
Kentucky details these to a great extent. 
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Pages 60-61 

The confusion expressed on pp. 60-61 about the third wife of Ambrose Coffey, 
her remarriage and the relationship of John Mills bas apparently been solved by 
Harold Elrod of Old Saybrook, CT. Without giving all the details let me say 
that Mr. Elrod has studied all appropriate court records and used some 
inductive reasoning to shed light on what are the probable facts. One point is 
central: the clerk in the 1826 deed record evidently made a mistake in listing 
"Polly" Coffey twice. The one which is the wife of John Mil ls should be Ally. 
The family is then as follows <compare with p. 73): 

Ambrose Coffey md. <3> sometime before 1818 Polly <prob. Garner>. He d. by 
Sep. 1818. Polly remarried 7 Jul 1821 James McHenry. Corrections to and re­
ordering of the list of children of Ambrose & Millie Moore given on p. 73 are: 

1. Alice "Ally", b. 1788, d. aft, 1850; md. 19 Mar 1804 John Mills, Wilkes 
co. NC. 

2. Elizabeth "Betsy", b. ca 1790; lived in Warren co, TN. 
3. Jesse, b. 1792, d. 14 Feb 1835, Warren co. TN; md. ca 1819 Ann Amelia 

Hackett of Rhea co. TN. Jesse built the first brick house in McMinnville, TN. 
Children: <a> Patrick Henry, b. 16 Sep 1821, d. 27 Feb 1895; Cb> Chatham, b. 14 
Dec 1825, d, 6 Mar 1889, ancestor of Reams Goodloe, Ormond Beach, FL, who sent 
most of this material from a family Bible; <c> Elizabeth, b. 3 May 1828, d. 4 
Apr 1859; md, 24 Feb 1853 Howard Mercer Black; <d> Ann Amelia, b. 1830, d, 1867 
md. David Coleman Smithson; <e> Andrew Jackson, b. 9 Aug 1832, d. 19 Dec 1855, 
n.m.; (f) Alexander Smartt, b. 10 Feb 1835, d. 24 Mar 1909; (g) Jesse H., b, 10 
Feb 1835 <twin), d. Jul 1835. 

4. Hiram, b. 1795. There is another Hiram for which we have been unable 
to account. He is the ancestor of Willard Duncan, a frequent contributor to 
CCC <see Dec '92, p. 6>. The use of similar names and places tends to connect 
him to the North Carolina Coffeys but that connection has never been made. 

5, America, b. 1801, d. 1872. She was also in Warren co. TN <at least for 
a time). 

6. Myra or Mira (also went to Warren co. TN>. 
7. Thomas Jefferson. 
8. George Washington 
9. James Madison 

10, Holland, d, ! Oct 1846 (killed by Charles Galloway>, Red River, TX. A 
good source of information on Holland is .. Holland Coffee of Red River" in The 
Southwestern Historical Quarterly LXIX <2>, Oct. 1965. He md. Sophia 
Satter£ ield. 

11. Mildred <could have been b. earlier?> 

Page 61 

The information concerning this Ambrose Coffey is not complete but a great 
deal of new information has come forth in recent years which allows us to put 
together a semblance of this family. There was a query in The Virginia 
Genealogist, Vol. 15, # 12, p. 156 in which an Ambrose on the Loudoun co. VA 
Tithables of 1769 is mentioned, The spouse is given as Ailsy. If this is the 
same Ambrose, then he must have been b. bef. 1759. Some evidence this might be 
the same person is that 2 sons of Ambrose named daughters Alcey <son William> 
and Alsa (son Ambrose). Allowing for spelling these could all be the same 
name. 
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Records of this Ambrose appear in a number of counties in Kentucky in the 
late 1700s and early 1800s. Some of this is due to changing county boundaries 
but some must be due to family or individual movements. At least 4 early 
Coffeys are probably children of Ambrose. One is William who according to the 
1850 census of Morgan co. KY was b. in 1785. However, if Elijah, living next 
door in 1820, was his son <according to family tradition of Laura Lefler, Sandy 
UT> then he must have been b, earlier. Elijah is 16-26 on the 1820 census, md. 
with a dau. under 10 and age 52 on the 1850 census of Greenup co. I believe 
Elijah was another son of Ambrose, Sr., b. ca 1798, and thus a younger brother 
of William. 

Another son of Ambrose, Sr. was probably Ambrose, Jr. who, according to the 
1850 census of Greenup co. was also b. in 1785. I suspect William was the 
elder of the two, b. prob. ca 1785, and Ambrose, Jr. may not have been b. until 
1789 (record of Carol Brown of Apopka, FL who says he d. in 1852.) She says he 
was b. in Bourbon co, However, the 1830 census <Morgan co.> and the 1840 
census <Greenup co.> would indicate a slightly later birth. Thus we have to 
place his b. in at least the range 1785-1791. Another indication that William 
was older is that he, as a Baptist minister, performed the marriage of Ambrose, 
Jr. and his first wife Lucinda Day 8 Nov 1812 in Floyd co. (unless, of course, 
this was a 2nd marr. for Ambrose, Sr.>. The last census in which the elder 
Ambrose appears is 1820 <Montgomery co.>. He has at least 2 male children 
still at home, the youngest 10-16, and a wife over 45. I believe Lucinda Day 
must have been the first wife of Ambrose, Jr., but that shed. bef, 1850 as his 
wife is shown in the 1850 census as Margaret. 

William Coffey md. Elizabeth Lacy sometime bef, 1810, On the 1810 census 
they had one male under 10 and 2 females <also under 10>. In 1820 they had 4 
males under 10, 2 females under 10 and 2 females 10-16. Elijah Coffey md. 
Peggy Patrick 30 Jan 1819 <William performed the ceremony). He md. twice, the 
2nd wife being Elizabeth Bowen. The fourth probable child of Ambrose, Sr. is 
Sarah who md. James McGuire. 

One correspondent had difficulty finding the deposition of Ambrose that I 
cite in the book. This is because, although it took place in 1809 it wasn't 
recorded untill 1812 <Deed Bk, I>. 

With the still somewhat sketchy information that I have it would appear that 
this family would be as follows: 

Ambrose Coffey, Sr. 
B. ca. 1759 <or prob. earlier?>, Dublin, Ireland, d. aft 1820, KY; md. Ailsy 

or Alcey (last name unknown>. Came to VA as a boy about 10-12 and apparently 
sold into servitude. We do not know if his parents came to the Colonies or had 
been deceased at this time. By 1775/6 he was a soldier stationed in Fincastle 
co. <Now Kentucky> Virginia, The specific site was most certainly Ft. 
Boonesboro. By 1777 Fincastle became Kentucky County and in 1780 it was 
divided into 3 counties, Jefferson, Lincoln & Fayette and became a state in 
1792. Ambrose was in Fayette co. and as other counties were created he was 
also listed in Bourbon and Montgomery counties, He is apparently the Ambrose 
on the Montgomery co. of 1820 so perhaps d. there. As far as is presently 
known his children were: 

1, William: b. ca 1785, prob, Fayette co, KY; md. bef 1810 Elizabeth Lacy. 
Children: Ca> Male, b. bef 1810, may have d. young, not on 1820 census; 

(b) female, b. bef 1810, maybe Nancy who md. David Canard 9 Oct 1823, 



unless this Nancy is a sister of William and thus another child of Ambrose; 
<c> female, b. bef 1810, maybe Alcey who md. 10 May 1825 Elijah Brown, 

Morgan co. KY; 
<d> Mason, b, 1811, Morgan co. KY; md, 22 Jan 1834 Martha Ferguson, 

Floyd co. KY; children: Cl> William Wallace <5 Oct 1835-1913; md. Elizabeth 
Ball 21 Mar 1857 & were ancestors of Thomas Nixon, El Cerrito, CA, <2> Richard 
< 1838>, < 3 > Emily < 1840>, < 4> Nancy C 1845>, < 5> Isaac c 1847 >, < 6 > Amos C 1848, 
Morgan co.), <7> Mary< 1848), <8> Sarah< 1861>, & <9> Rebecca< 1866); 

<e> ?Emilie who md. 17 Jun 1832 Samuel Patrick, Morgan co. KY; 
(f) Wiley J,, b. ca 1815, md. Elizabeth Brown <b. 1826> 24 Jun 1838 in 

Morgan co. KY; children: < l> Harry< 1840), <2> Emily< 1843>, <3> William 
< 1843>, <4> Daniel < 1847>, <5> Mary E, < 1851>, <6> John W. <31 Apr 1853> & (7> 

James (5 Oct 1856) - all in Morgan co. KY; 
<g> two other males b. 1810-1820; 
Ch> Sarah "Sally .. , b, 1821, d. 1862, Md. 1839 James Bruton Williams, 

Morgan co. KY - went to Washinton co. AR, then Williamson co. TX - Shonna 
Lawhorn of Sweetwater, TX is a descendant; 

(i) Nancy, b. 4 Jan 1827, if this is the Nancy who md. William "Big 
Bill" Patrick & ancestors of Carol Ramage< 1850 census of Morgan co. would 
indicate 1829 > ; 

(j) ?Eliza, b. ca 1829 <according to 1850 census>, md. Mr. Canan; 
Ck> Amos D., b. 1829, md. Nancy Jane Williams <prob. both living with 
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his parents at 1850 census), children included: < l> Eliza, b. 1851, md. Boomer 
Ben Montgomery; <2> David, b. 9 Jul 1857, Morgan co. <IGI>, or 1852 (Carol 
Ramage> if this is the David who md. Nancy Brown & were parents of James Daniel 
Coffey, b. 30 Apr 1872>; <3> Rosetta Belle, b. 1859 Magoffin co. KY, md. 1876 
Isaac Newton Hammond. 

It is certainly possible that all of the children listed for William may not 
be his; some of those b. aft. 1820 might belong to Elijah Cor Ambrose Jr. ?> 
since we do not seem to have a very complete list of the children of Elijah and 
his first wife. William was a prominent Baptist minister of Low Gap Church, 
Burning Springs Association and moderator for 20 years. He closed his long 
ministry in 1856. 

2, Ambrose <Jr.>, b, ca 1787-91, Fayette co. KY <Carol Brown says Bourbon 
co.>, d. 11 May 1852, Greenup co. KY; in War of 1812 <Pvt. 10 Regt.-Boswell's, 
KY Militia>; md. < l> 8 Nov 1812 Lucinda Day, Floyd co, KY, <2> Margaret; 
children: < a> Reuben, age 36 on 1850 Greenup co. census, wife Emily & children; 
<b> Ambrose <III>, age 26 on 1850 Greenup co. census, md. with children; <c> 
William, b. Dec 1825, living at home on 1850 Greenup co. census; (d) James, b. 
ca 1828, md, ca 1850 Lydia < b. 1827>; < e} Rolla, b. ca 1829 ( g g father of 
Frances Dunn of Rancho Palo Verdes, CA>; Cf) Alsa <female), b. ca 1832; <g> 
Cynthia A., b, ca 1834; Ch) Susan, b. Oct 1837, d. 12 Aug 1907, md. Cl) ca 1855 
John<?> Johnson, C2> ca 1860 Ransom Williams. Susan & first husband were 
ancestors of Carol Brown of Apopka, FL. 

3. Elijah, b, ca 1798/9, ?Montgomery co. KY; md. < l> 30 Jan 1819 Margaret 
"Peggy" Patrick; children: Ca) a female, b. 1819/20 < 1820 census); Cb> Ambrose, 
b. 1825 <IGI>, but 1824 according to 1860 census; md. 19 Jul 1852 Nancy Stacy, 
Morgan co. KY, children: Teletha, Andrew, Margaret, Elijah, William C. & prob. 
others; <c> Jesse, b. ca 1833 < 1860 census> or 1834 <IGI>, md, < l> 28 Dec 1852 
Margaret Williams, <2> 24 Aug 1854 Louisa Rudd, children: 
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co. 

< l> William, b, 1855 <'?>, may have d, bef 1870, 
<2> James Monroe, b. l Sep 1856, Morgan co. 
<3> Ambrose <Abraham on 1880 census of Magoffin co.>, b. ca 185718, 
<4> Samuel H., b, ca 1859/60; md. 3 Oct 1878 Sarah F. Burges, Magoffin 

<5> Garrett, b. ca 1861/2 <Jarette on 1880 census & may be Jarad Coffey 
who md. Rhoda Oney 21 Sep 1887, Magoffin co.> 

<6> Charles M,, b. ca 1865/6 
<7> John M., b. 1870 
<8> Sarah, b. ca 1872 
<9> Nancy, b. ca 1874 

I have no record of other children of Elijah & Peggy. He md, <2> Elizabeth 
Bowen; children: 

<a> Angeline< 17 May 1854> 
Cb> Delpha (26 Jul 1855-29 Jul 1855), Morgan co. KY 
<c> Elijah B. <9 Sep 1856>, Morgan co. KY 
<d> LuAnn C 12 Jun 1858, Horgan co. KY> - Ludenna on 1860 census. 
Ce> Caroline <24 Jul 1859, Morgan co.> - prob. Louisa Caroline. 
Cf> William <ca 1862> 
<g> Joshua <ca 1864>, g g father of Laura Lefler, Sandy, OT. 
All children b, in Morgan co. KY 

4. Sarah, b. prob. bef. 1800, md. James McGuire. 

5, There may have been another son, b, bef, 1800 who md. a Mary and d. 
bef 1840, The 1840 census of Mason co. KY has a Mrs. Mary Coffey with 2 male 
children and 3 female children. In 1850 she is listed as age 58 with children 
Lilian<?> 24, Martha 22, John 19 & George 17, all b. Kentucky. 

I have not been able to place the Reuben Coffey who rad. 1834 Nancy Cooper in 
Morgan co. KY. He could be an unknown son of William or he could be the 
Reuben, oldest son of Ambrose, Jr. Cb. ca 1814), Nancy being a first wife. He 
was md. to an Emily in 1850 <Greenup co. census>. I have also not place John 
L. Coffey who md. Rebecca LeMasters 1836, and Irena Coffey who md. Perry Cooper 
1837, both Morgan co. 

Page 62: Asbury Madison Coffey was b. 25 Jan <not Jul>. 

Page 69: James Coffey b. 24 Jul 1729, Elizabeth Cleveland Feb 1727 <Bible rec.> 

Page 70: John Coffey's wife Mary probably had a maiden name of Strange as she 
and John's entire family Caswell as John's parents and several generations of 
Stranges> are given in the Bible record of Isabel Strange. Her husband Lewis 
A. Strange was a son of Archelaus A. Strange <1780> and Elizabeth Coffey 
Strange< 1782>. The latter was a dau. of John and Mary <Holley in Bible rec.> 
Coffey <seep. 71>. Mary was probably a dau. of Edmond Alloway Strange. <also 
see note under p. 50), The Strange Bible gives John Coffey's b.d. as 15 Jan 
1751. 

# 1, Levi, was md. in Wilkes co, NC. 
# 2, Lewis Coffey's wife was probably Elizabeth <marker in Old Suwanee 

Baptist cem., Gwinnett co. GA., beside Lewis>. Although the marker for 
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Elizabeth says shed. in 1853 it probably should be 1833 <6 March). The marker 
for Lewis indicated a d.d. of 29 Nov 1853. Elizabeth was b. 22 Nov 1778 in VA. 
Children: 

l, Gilbert, md. Mary and went to Choctaw co., MS. 
2. Loany <daughter>, b. ca 1806, NC. 
3. Chaney <daughter>, b. 11 Apr 1808, NC, d. 1897; md. 24 Dec 1835 

Gallatin Stevens. 
4. Edmond A., b. 3 Mar 1810, Wilkes co. NC, d. 29 Aug 1895, Aubrey, Denton 

co., TX; md. 1830 Dianah H. Bagby <b. 27 Jan 1811, NC; d. 1889, AL.> 
5. Sarah "Sally", b. 1 Sep 1812, NC; d. 5 Nov 1893, Fulton co. GA; md. 5 

Nov 1833 Jesse Brawner, Jr. 
6. Webster, b. 11 Mar 1820, Wilkes co. NC; md. Lurane 
7. Catherine, b. 1831, GA. 

Edmond and Dianah had 12 children, the eldest being Edmond Bagby Coffey, b. 
l Jun 1831 in Gwinnett co. GA, d. aft. Jun 1863; md. Melissa Jane Elizabeth 
Sewell. Their dau. Sarah Malinda (30 Sep 1856, AL> md. Joseph George Smith. 
This couple had 12 children among whom was Claudia Stella Smith (b. 7 Dec 1883, 
md. John Henry Gossett> and Minnie Viola Smith <b. 28 Feb 1888, md. James 
Franklin Yates>. The former's son Cody Gossett (b. 14 Oct 1904> md. the 
latter's dau. Mattie Yates Cb. 31 Oct 1921> and they were the parents of 
Sherlene Whisenant of Blountsville, AL. 

The other children of Edmond & Dianah were: 
2. Elizabeth Ann "Betsy", b. 27 Aug 1832, d. 1877; md. Elisha Trimble 

Walker. 
3. Loaney, b. 7 Mar 1834, d. 1894; md. William Woodward. 
4. Benjamin L., b. 3 May 1836, md. L.M. Shields. 
5. Sarah Caroline, b, 16 Nov 1838, d. 28 Aug 1883; md. John W. Tidmore. 
6. Webster G., b. 20 Jan 1840, d. 2 Feb 1911; md. Louise <Lovisa> E. 

Tidmore. 
7. Aurelius, b. 9 Mar 1842, d. 7 Jan 1918; md. Grance Penelope Hodges. 
8. Thomas Arvil, b. 30 Jun 1843, d. 19 Mar 1917; md. Hannah Henson. 
9. James Madison, b. 4 Jun 1845, d. 28 Jul 1922; md. Elizabeth Susan 

Caddell. 
10. Eliza Jane, b. 18 Oct 1847, d. 11 Sep 1915; md. John Boone McKinney. 
11. Martha, b. 23 Jan 1850, d. 1920; md. Perry Dailey. 
12, Chaney Evergreen, b. 18 Dec 1852, d. 1920; md. Richard Nixson. 

Those interested in this line should also see Gene Brewington's book, 
"Edmund A. Coffey and Some of His Descendants." 

Page 71 

# 3, Sarah d. in Buncombe co. NC & is bur. in the Israel family cem., 9 mi. 
so. of Asheville, NC. 

I 4, Elizabeth: add "and Elizabeth Wilson" aft. Abner Alloway Strange and 
then close parenthesis. The b. & d. dates refer to Archelaus Alloway Strange. 
Change b.p. from Fluvanna co. VA to Wilkes co. NC. The marr. was in Wilkes co. 
also. Footnote g - David Strange now lives in Petaluma, CA. His father, Ian 
Maclaren Strange d. 9 Apr 1990. David Strange has considerable information on 
the Strange family which might be of interest to others of this line. 

I 5, William, wf. Sarah b. ca 1796; according to some her maiden name was 
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prob, Penley or Pendley, but James M, Coffey of Atlanta, GA thinks it was 
Compton/Crumpton, dau of Hezekiah Compton/Crumpton & Jane Fields who were also 
parents of Winnefred Compton/Crumpton, wife of Jesse Coffey <p. 49), Jane was 
a sister of Sally Fields, wife of Thomas Coffey. 

# 7, Celia, md. 15 Jul 1810 Hart in Smith, Adair co. KY. 

# 8, Nancy: Wilkes co. marr. bonds lists! Sep <not 10). 

Pages 72-3: Children of Reuben. 

t 2 Sally, should more properly be listed as Sarah. As noted she md. Joseph 
Owens who owned 200 acres near Reuben Coffey in Burke co. NC. Sarah's sister 
Anna md. Joseph's brother, Simeon Owens <not Washington Owens, as given>. Both 
Joseph and Simeon were sons of Samuel Owens, a constable in Burke co. who d. 
there in 1811. His 2nd wife, Rebeckah, was prob. the mother of Joseph & Simeon 
(info. fr, David Streets, Black Mountain, NC.> 

# 8 01 iver, should be Charles 01 iver Coffey, b. 1793, d. 1889, and wife Mary 
Sally Ramsey. They were parents of Almira Coffey C 1826-1905>, the paternal g. 
g. mother of Louis H. Newbrough of LaMesa, CA. 

# 9 Austin C, md. 19 Jan 1819 Sally Garner < was called "Elizabeth">, Burke co. 
NC, moved to Putnam co. HO where on the 1850 census he was listed as age 50, 
she as age 53. Their son Austin, Jr., b. ca 1830, md. l? Sep 1868 Eliza 
Goldsby in Adair co. HO. James Coffey who also md. there in 1852 <to Sophia ..-:~ 
Cibanon> may also be a son of Austin, Sr. 

Page 73 

The changes for Chart 5-E were made with others on pp, 60-61 

Page 74 

Asbury Madison Coffey wa b, 25 Jan <not Jul>. Changes for children: 
1. Rufus, b. 6 Sep 1830, children: <a> Alexander B. and Cb> Robert R. 
2. Alexander B, <LT.>, killed 13 Apr 1864, Civil War. 
3. Ellen B., b. 1835, md. Corum; children: Ca> Alfred, Cb) John, < c> Willy. 
4, Mary Cleveland, b. 19 Jan 1837, d. 11 Oct 1930 Beaverton, OR; n. md, 
5. Tipton H.; children: <a> Maggie. 
Sa.Hamilton; no information. 
Sb.Preston Warren; no information. 
Sc.Frances, b. 1843. 
6, Henry B,, d, 26 Oct, Beaverton, OR; md. Della; children: <a> Asbury, <b> 

Mary. 
7. Rachael Frances, d. 17 Jul 1933; md, Robert Hales Walker; children: <a> 

Archibald A., <b> Mary Louise, <c> Lauretta Grace, Cd> William B., <e> Robert 
C. Archibald and wife Ora Priscilla Crowley had Robert Hales Walker. The 
latter and wife Clarissa Ann Vashaw had Rebecca Jane Walker of Cathlamet, WA. 
It will be noted that Asbury probably had 10 children and possibly 11 < latter 
unknown>. 
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Page 75 

Additions to children of Rice Coffey: 
3, Henry Bradford (Col.), b, Wilkes co. NC, wife born ca 1809, or 22 Dec 

1807 according to one source; md. 6 Oct 1825; children: Ca> Elizabeth <ca 
1831>, Cb) Richard <ca 1833>, <c> Jane (ca 1834>, (d> Elvira <ca 1836>, <e> 
William Edmondson, b,26 Feb 1838, Cf) Mary <ca 1840>, <g> Martha <ca 1842), <h> 
Garland (ca 1845>, < i> Isham Cea 1849), and poss. Wiley D. Lillian Neighbors 
of Anniston, AL is a descendant of <e> William Edmondson. 

4, Mary, b. ca 1808 < 1850 census> in NC; md. James Kendal(l>; children; <a> 
Heuma <ca 1825>, <b> Arcana, <c> Nancy Z, 

6. Alexander Hamilton: children: 2 dau, names unknown, Rice (ca 1834>, & 
Michael A, <ca 1837), 

7, Martha's husband was Alec Yell & they had at least 1 child: Betty, 
8. Benjamin had at least 1 child: Mary Anne. 
9, John Reid: children: Six of which four reached maturity: <a> Mary Eliza 

< ca 1852), < b> Sarah "Sally" Bell, ( c) John Benjamin, < d> Clark Maclin. Was 
Charles one who d, early? Poss. b. 1850. 

Page 77 

# 10 Thomas Coleman, d. 9 Dec 1890; wf. Polly Ann d. 25 May 1856, age 25 yrs., 
7 mos., 24 days. <NOTE: These dates do not agree with a marr. date of 1839!} 
Daus. of the above wife were Amanda< 13 Apr 1851>, Ollie <25 Mar 1853), Mary W. 
(30 Jun 1855), & Sarah Elizabeth Cd. 14 Jun 1847, age l yr., 6 mos., l day>. A 

~ son of Thomas Coleman was James Marshall Coffey, d. 17 May 1907. 

CHAPTER 2 

The Cleveland Family 

Vikki Lyn Cleveland of Salem, IL who is editor and publisher of the 
Cleveland Family Chronicles and plans to publish an encyclopedia of the 
Cleveland family kindly reviewed this chapter for me. Many of the corrections 
and/or additions shown here are ones she gave me. 

Page 82 

Frank Crosswhite, who shares Cleveland lines, feels that Roger Cleveland's full 
name might have been Roger Alexander Cleveland and that at times he might have 
gone by his middle name <be says some records are in one name and some in the 
other>. This would explain the statements that the first Alexander was an 
Englishman by birth. 

Alexander, SR.'s wife Milley should of course be listed as Mildred "Milley". 
Some confusion has been shown to exist, at least with one reader, on the list 
of children. The five listed. here are not all of their children, just those 
listed in the Abingdon Farish Register. The remaining children were born after 
the family moved from Gloucester co, to Spottsylvania co,, as pointed out at 
the top of p. 87. 
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Page 83 

Vikki Lyn Cleveland says that it is true that this Jacob was a son of Jeremiah. 

Children of Alexander Cleveland, Jr.: 
I l James, b. ca 1732, wife was Frances Hickman. 
# 2 Eli: correct spelling in 2nd line - "exaggerated". 

Page 84 

# 3 Alexander, b, 1737, md. < l> Sarah Ann Harrison, <2> Bridget Harrison. 
# 4 John, b. ca 1740. 
# 7 Ancarithia "Anka" or "Ankey", b. ca 1760. 
# 8 Elizabeth, d. 4 Jan 1846 - did not marry John McWillians. 
I 9 Wi 11 iam, md. Margaret "Peggy" Wilson 14 Apr 1788, Loudoun co. VA. 
t 10 Milly, b. ca 1755. 
# 11 Mary, b. ca 1746, md. Edward Johnson 
# 12 Martha, b. Albemarle co. VA, d. 18 Apr 1849, MO., md. a cousin, Bernard 

Franklin, Jr., son of Bernard and Mary <Cleveland> Franklin. 

Third line from bottom: the name should be Martha "Patsy", not Patty. 

Page 85: Children of John & Elizabeth <Cleveland> Coffey: 

# l Mary: Vikki Lyn Cleveland has an unverified source that gives her death 
as 11 Nov 1805. 

The confusion with the Bernard Franklin who md. Martha Cleveland was 
explained on the previous page. According to an article by Rev. Silas Emmett 
Lucas on the Cleveland Family in "Leaves from the Family Tree" and reprinted in 
CCC Dec 1988, pp 7-8, Mary & Bernard Franklin had 7 sons and several daus. 
Besides Bernard, Jr, these included a Jeremiah and Jesse. The latter was 
governor of North Carolina in 1820. He was b. 4 Mar 1760 & in 1777 he 
volunteered for the continental army and was commissioned a lieutenant in 
Washington's Army. He later served at King's mountain and received the sword 
of British officer Capt. Ryerson, Jesse md, Meeky Perkins. He d. 1823. 

i 2 Benjamin: According to "Virginia Biography" he was b, 26 March, not 
May. One of these must be a typegraphical error, but which? He md. ca 1758? 
Mary Graves. A sister of Mary might have been Sarah Graves, b. ca 1740 who md. 
Michael Israel. Their son Michael Israel, Jr. md. Sarah Coffey <seep. 71 of 
book). Sarah Graves <and Mary if they were sisters> may have been a dau. of 
Joseph Graves who d, 1774 <see "The Graves Family Newsletter", Vol 16, no. 91, 
p. 19, Feb. 1993>. Of Benjamin's children Absalom md. Patty Harrison, John was 
"Devil John", b. ca 1760 <see confusion under John, below>, and Jemima, md. 
James Wiley. However, Jemima was illegitimate and not the dau. of Mary 
<confirmed by a letter in the Draper papers>. Benjamin d, in a part of South 
Carolina that later became Georgia. 

it 3 John: See above paragraph for the confusion about "Devil John" and his 
correct birth year. Rev. John had a son Benjamin, md, Margaret Holland, their 
son Jeremiah, md. Clara Isbell, g.g.parents of of John Vandiver, Stone Mt,,GA. 

# 4 Elizabeth: The 1742 birthdate is supposedly from a family Bible, as 
reported by P.H. Gillaspy in CCC Sep 1983, p. 3 and CCC Sep 1989, p. 7. 
However, the Bible can no longer be located and one individual says she was b. 
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after 175u, plus a tamiiy group record from the LOS Library 1n SLC says 175j. 
e.H. ~illaspy now believes the date 1s most probably 1752 and gives several 
important reasons tor accepting this date (see CCC Sep '89, p. 7 tor details,. 
The marr. date oi Elizabeth & David is prob. closer to 1770 <eldest child b. 
1771>. David Gillaspy d. 24 Mar 1813. Among their children were: (a) Benjamin 
G., Elizabeth, and David, b. 1781, d. 27 Jul 1836, md. Jane Brown. 

# 5 Robert: There should be quotation marks around the nickname of his 1st 
wife "Aley". He had 18 children by the two wives \The DAR has accepted Wm. 
Johnson Cleveland, b. 1768-1775 1n Wilkes co., as a son of Capt. Robert.> His 
Will only lists wife Sally, sons Pressly, Harvey, Larkin, Jeremiah & Eli and g. 
dau. Patty Cleveland (proven 1812). The Cleveland family in East Tennessee is 
descended from Capt. Robert Cleveland, This includes Presley, b. 1779, Wilkes 
co. NC, d. 1861 in TN, md. Elizabeth Johnson, and Eli, b. 1781, d. 1854 in 
Sweetwateer, Monroe co. TN, md. 1803 Polly Ragon. Eli was a noted Baptist 
preacher in East Tenn. 

Page 86 

# 6 Reuben, b. ca 1752, Orange co. VA; son John md. Elizabeth ? 
# 8 Larkin: Vikki Lyn Cleveland has info. that he d. in Oconee co. SC 6 is 

bur. at Tugaloo Baptist Church, Fair Play, SC. 
# 9 Should be Martha "Patsy", although one often sees it in records as 

"Patty". Her father John willed his land to her and her children Betty and 
Aust in Smith. 

Vikki Lyn Cleveland says she has heard from several of the Micajah line and 
they are certain he belongs to Alexander and "Milley" <Presley> Cleveland. 

Page 87 

According to P.H. Gillaspy Elizabeth Cleveland Coffey d. 17 Apr 1826. If she 
was b. Feb. 1727 she was 10 months short of being 100 years old when she died. 
Hence the statement "she died when about 100 years old" seems to be fairly 
accurate. 

Vikki Lyn Cleveland has the same birth date for Jane Cleveland as I have, 1725, 
Frank Crosswhite believes Jane is the dau. of John Cleveland & Elizabeth Coffey 
His contention comes primarily from letters written by Elijah Coffey, a g.g. 
son of Jane Cleveland through Joel Coffey, in which he states she was a sister 
of Col. Cleveland, These letters were written in 1873-4 when he was quite 
elderly and he may have mixed up the family relationships. My belief is that 
if Jane was a ·dau. of John Cleveland she would probably not be old enough to be 
the mother of Joel Coffey. Joel was· prob. not b. later than 1748. Since 
Elizabeth Coffey and John Cleveland were not md. until 1734, Jane, if their 
dau., wouldn't have been b. bef. 1735 and it's doubtful she would have md. and 
had a child (Joel> at age 13 < 1748>-. We know from Bible records that Jane md. 
Chesley Coffey, Sr., the marr. prob. taking place ca 1745-48. 1 prefer at this 
time to stick with ca 1725 for a b.y. of Jane and that she was a dau. of 
Alexander Cleveland, Sr. The family of Jane & Chesley ace discussed on pp. 98-
103 and the probable origin of Chesley on p, 100 and supplementary notes for 
this page. 
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Page 88 

V1kk1 Lyn Cleveland's comment on the Cromwell story is that most h1stor1ans 
scotf at it and Cromwell was supposedly too ~uritanical to have an extra­
marital atfair, However, she doesn't rule 1t out on that basis ,nor would I> 
but mentions that some say that if the story is semi-true, Elizabeth was more 
than likely the mistress at Kinq Charles, I prefer to consider it fiction, but 
Col Ben, not being so puritanical, enjoyed it and publicized it among his 
relatives. 

Page 90 

Vikki Lyn Cleveland's corrections on the chart: 
Jeremiah \son of Alexander, Sr.}, b. ca 1711; she has no rec. of him having 

a son Jeremiah, 
Micajah, son John "Jack". 
Children of John & Elizabeth: Larkin md. Frances Wright; last child, Martha 

"Patsy". 
Children of Alexander, Jr.: 

Mary, b. 1746, md, Edward Johnson 
"Anca", b. ca 1760 
Milly, b. 1755 
Alexander, b, 1737, md. \ 1, Sarah Ann Harrison, \2J Bridget Harrison 
John, b. ca 1740 
Anne. 
James, b, ca 17J2 

Chapter 7 

Other Coffey Families 

Page 93 

Bottom two lines: According to Jack Coffee of Baton Rouge, LA John b Rachel had 
a son Joseph who md. Naomi McKinley. They in turn had sons John & William. 
Jack may be descended from this line \CCC Sep 1993, p, 11>. 

Pages 94-95 

Don Ruth Merritt of Grants Pass, OR says that the Peter we are here 
discussing is not the one transported from Newgate. A King George county court 
order presents him for abusing his servant girl and put under a peace bond for 
a year and a day. Thus, if he had a servant girl he probably could not have 
been a bond servant himself. I have agreed with this reasoning, 

According to records of Kathy Coffee Simmons, Boerne, TX, Peter Coffey was 
b. 1705. According to Betty Earl, Peter's wife's last name was Drummond, No 
source tor this was given. Peter d. in 1771 & Susannah ca 1795, both in Prince 
Edward co. VA. Both were b. in Ireland according to most researchers, although 
Gene Brewington says he was prob. b. in Virginia. Since the above court 
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records show he was in King George co. in 1730-31 and since he later sold land 
he had in Westmoreland co. <ca 1748 while living in Amelia co.> it appears that 
bis movements were ( l> Westmoreland co., (2) King George co., <3> Stafford co., 
<4> Amelia co. <Prince Edward co. taken from Amelia co, in 1753-4>. As noted 
in the book (bottom p. 94> the Overwharton Parish Register of Old Stafford co. 
shows he was there from the early 1740s until at least 1745. 

Third paragraph, p. 95: Hannah md, James Weakly. Shed. a widow in 
Montgomery co. TN in 1814, 

Next to last paragraph on p, 95: Peter, Jr. md, Sarah Smith 14 Nov 1773 in 
Granville co. NC. A DAR record(# 464661> says Peter md. Sarah Smith in 
Gloucester co. VA <wrong?>. This record also says he d, aft. 1820 and his son 
John was b, 8 Jan 1782, not 3 Jan. The seven daughters of Peter & Sarah were: 

1, Elizabeth, b. 1775, md, < 1> ~har les Daniels, < 2> T, Ligan, A descendant, 
Carlton Dillard says the 1st husband was Cummingham Daniel and that her name 
was Jane Elizabeth, They were md, ca 1791 <CCC Har '88, p. 4), 

2. Nancy, b. 1778, md. < 1) Abram Heard, <2> James Kennedy. 
3. Susannah, b. 1780, md. T. Randall. 
4. Sarah, b. 1784, md. William Harris. 
5. Mary, b. 5 Mar 1789, md. Henry Gibson, 
6. Cynthia, b. 5 Feb 1791, md. Thomas Stocks. 
7. Martha "Patsy'', b. 9 May 1793, md. George Heard. 
The son Joshua was b. 1786, 
The other son, Gen. John Coffey & wife Ann Penelope Bryan had 8 children: 

John, Peter, William, Columbus, Jackson, Bryan, Sarah, & Susan. Peter, b. 1813 
in Hancock co. GA md. Susan Ann Rogers & they had 9 children: John A., Joshua, 
Susan, Feter, Columbus, Sarah, Penelope, Jackson, & Shelton, plus 3 others 
whose names were not given \"Georgia Genealogical Gleanings" as reported in CCC 
Sep '93, p. 12. 

Last paragraph and on top. 96: The lineage of Elizabeth Graves as given in 
Ref. 12 appears to be correct, but to make it more complete I give the 
following: Capt. Thomas Graves & wife Katherine Croshaw <or Croshor>: John 
Graves & wife Miss Ferrin: Ralph Graves & wife Rachel Croshaw: Ralph Graves & 
wife Unity White: Henry White Graves & 1st wife Mary Jones Q.L 2nd wife Mary 
Williams <prob. the latter>: Elizabeth Graves, She was b. 1741/2. 

Fage 96 

Thomas Graves Coffey: Another DAR record <551072> lists his birth as 4 Dec 
1769 & Mary b. l Aug 1774. It also adds two other daus. to Joshua - Nancy, b. 
4 Dec 1776 & Elizabeth, b. 20 Nov 1778. Thomas Graves had a dau. Elizabeth who 
is the g g g g mother of Myra Terrell (CCC Sep '91, p. 3). He also had a son 
Richard Smith who md. Sarah Fielder 22 Jul 1822 <b. 21 Mar 1800), They had 12 
children. 

William: Again, some list his birth as 1764, but this must be in error for 
r-" the same reason gi van fo'r Thomas Graves Coffey ( in the book>. 
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Page 97 

William Coffee, son of Peter Coffee, Sr. was the father of Rev. Joshua 
McCallister Coffee, b. 29 Sep 1789, Buckingham co. VA, d. 3 Oct 184t, Warren 
co. TN.; md, 10 Jan 1810 Jane Trousdale; children: < l> William, <2> Nancy, <3> 
John Trousdale lb. 14 Dec 1818>, <4) James Ernest, <5> Lucinda M., <6> Thomas 
Stocks, <7> Mary Jane, <8) Franklin B,, <9> Brown S. & < 10> Francis McAllister. 
John Trousdale Coffey was a colorful & prominent individual. The April 1983 
issue of Missouri Historical Review has an excellent article about him which 
CCC reprinted< in part) Jun 1983, p. 4. 

Other children of William Coffee were: 
2. Abner, b. 24 Dec 1768, d. 1838. 
3, Oise, b. 13 Nov 1770 
4, David, b. 6 Feb 1775, Bedford co. VA, d. 1822 Smith co, TN; md. 4 Nov 

1801 Sytha Meadows. 
4, Eady, b. 26 Aug 1778 
5, Tildy, b. 12 Feb 1780 
6, Agnes, b. 29 Nov 1782 
7, Pleasant B., b, 22 Mar 1785, md. Judith Meadows. 
The children of David were l l> Malinda, <2> Mary, <3> William, l4) Martha, 

(5> Joel, <6> Joshua, <7> Stockard Watkins, & (8} Nancy T. This Joshua ( 1810-
1890>, b, Smith co. TN, d, Stanislaus co. CA, was the father of Joshua David 
< 1839-1915> who was the father of John Taylor< 1870-1973>, the father of Peyton 
Joshua <1900-1987>, the father of Carol Coffee of Houston, TX. The latter says 
William Coffee was b. in King George co. VA & d, 1798 in Buckingham co. VA. He 
further states that Peter Sr. was b. in County Cork, Ireland & d. in St. ~ 
Patricks Parish of Prince Edward co. VA, 

The Joshua Coffee <age 55> on the 1950 census of Bedford co, VA with Mildred 
<54), Pleasant <21>, Sarah< 18>, Lemuel <27>, and Legan lLogan?> l25> must be 
the Joshua A, Coffee who was son of Abner< 1768). 

Further information on the Peter Coffee line may be obtained from Gene 
Brewington's excellent little book entitled, "Peter Coffee And His Descendants" 
Another book, just published and which I haven't seen yet is "The Family ot 
Peter Coffee" by Samuel J, Coffey <CCC Dec 1993), I understand that Carol 
Coffee is also working on a book on the Peter Coffee line. 

John Coffee md. Mary Donelson who d. in 1871. Their Children were: < l> Mary 
Donelson< 1812-1839), <2> John Donelson ( 1815-1837>, l3) Elizabeth Graves l 1817-
1838), \4) Andrew Jackson< 1819-1891>, <5> Alexander Donelson l 1821-1901>, <6> 
Rachel Jackson< 1823-1902>, <7> Catherine< 1826-1881>, <8> Emily< 1828-1829,, 
t9) William< 1830-1903> 6 < 10> Joshua ( 1832-1879> 

Last main paragraph: Although there is no indication Rice Coffey was a 
cousin of Gen. John Coffee through the Coffey line, we can now say that through 
the Graves line he was a 5th cousin of Gen. John's mother, Elizabeth Graves. 

Page 98 
Martha Step <Stepp, Stapp> was the g dau, of Joshua Stapp & Martha Coffey 

through their son Joseph who md. Kathrine Witherspoon lnot Elizabeth Lucas as 
given by Henry Scalf). 1 
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Page 99 
Children of Joei: 

1, Joseph: Is this the Joseph b. 1784 in NC & moved to Russell co, KY as a 
young man, md. Jane Graves c b, ca 1786>, dau of Thomas Graves of VA C she was 
from Fayette co, KY>·?? They moved to Christian co. KY in 1831. He d, 1834, 
she in 1861, If so, he would of course not be the first born (perhaps ca 
6th?>. He is not in Joel's will but, Hrs, Porter lists him as a member of this 
family, 

2. Cleveland: Probably was the oldest child, at least the oldest son, 
Children: 

a, Kitty is mentioned first in the list of children in the guardianaship 
granted her mother, but if so she would probably be close to 20 years of age, 
thus may not be the first child, I have a note that indicates "Kitty" was a 
nickname and her real name was Celia (this is all unverified>, 

b,George W., b. ca 1802 in KY, md. Nancy ------<b, ca 1806, VA>, Children: 
< l> Franklin <ca 1831>, <2> Martha <ca 1835>, <3> Jane <ca 1838>, <4> Nancy C. 
<ca 1840>, <5> Sally M, <ca 1843>, <6> George B. <ca 1846), & <7> Mary S. <Nov. 
1849). 

c. Humphrey, md, Lucinda ? 
d. Elijah: The 1850 Russell co. KY census lists him age 47 (but prob. b. 

late 1806); wife Maria <actually Mariah, dau. of Eli & Mary Coffey <p. 101), 
the marr. occurring on 18 May 1826>, b, ca 1803/4; children <l> Mary E. (ca 
1834), <2> Mariah Ann (ca 1836>, <3> Robert Pierce (ca 1839>, cousin Stanton P. 
(son of Eli> Cb. ca 1822>, and a Mary <ca 1832> who may also be a cousin. 
Elijah & Mariah are also known to have had a dau. Emeline <Emily> who md, John 

~ Hunter Grider, the ancestors of Charlotte Slinkard of Fort Lauderdale, FL>. 
e. Walton, b. ca 1810 KY, md, 2 Oct 1837 Margaret Green <b. ca 1813); 

children: (1) Catherine (ca 1838), C2> Green <ca 1840>, (3) George <ca 1844), 
f, Lincy or Jincy <latter name given in the guardianship>. No info, 
g. Cleveland - no further info. 
h. Martha "Patsey", md. 23 Dec 1813 Gabriel Hays, Jr. Their son Elzie md. 

Mary Ann '!Polly" Coffey, dau. of Eli 6 Mary Coffey < see p. 101>. It would seem 
that she may have been the oldest child, All the others were minors and at 
home when their father died. 

3, Catherine - no further info. 
4. James: b. 11 Feb 1774 <according to Edwin R, Coffee, CCC Sep '86, p, 7), 

He prob, md, (1) 27 Aug 1796 Sarah Wyatt, Green co. TN. The two oldest 
children, Sally, b, 18 Mar 1799 & Wiete <prob. Wyatt>, b. 18 Dec 1800, were by 
first wife, Children of James & Betsy were: <a> Langston <ll Aug 1807), Cb) 
Logan McMill in < b, 25 Oct 1809 KY, d. 1865, TX <murdered>, md, Mary "Polly" 
Ragland Cb, ca 1815>, <c> Seliny C?CeliaJ Cb, 27 Jun 1812>, <d> Lucy <b. 18 Sep 
1814), Ce> James Cb, 13 Jul 1816>, (f) William <b. 7 Oct 1818>, <g> Cleveland 
Cb, 24 Apr 1823>, & Ch> Woodson Cb. 27 Oct 1825). The latter moved to Alabama 
with cousin Joel Coffey & wife Mary Knox, and then on to Texas. Logan had a 
son Mansel (1839-1891) whose son Woodson ( 1862-1953) was the g father of Kathy 
Coffee Simmons, Boerne, TX. 

5. Joel - no further info. 
6, Jane - see Joel Coffey, son of Nebuzaradon <p. 102> 
7, Celia, b. ca 1777 C 1850 census), prob. md. 13 Mar 1800. See Fielding 

Coffey under Nebuzaradon <p, 102> for further info. 



~. Hathan, md, Sarah Meredith i Nov 1806. She was the dau. ot Daniel 
Meredith & Hannah Cook. They migrated to Pike co. IL ca 1829 and both d, 
there, she on 26 Dec 1853. Children: 

a. Martha Bagby, b. 8 Jan 180&, md. 18 May 1826 Charles M, Benbrook. 
b. Woodson Rickets, b. l Oct 1809. 
c. Elizabeth Graham, b. 27 Apr 1811. 
d. Meredith Washington, b. 3 Har 1813, md. 24 Jul 1836 Eliza Hutchison: 

served in Black Hawk War in Illinois in 1832. 
e. Joel Woodson, b. 5 Mar 1815. 
I. Daniel Franklin, b. 18 Apr 1817, md. 4 Aug 1842 Elizabeth Conner. 
CJ, Hannah Jane, b. 19 Har 1819, md. 12 Apr 1835 Wi 11 iam Wells. 
h, Kiz ia Katherine, b. 9 Jan 1821, md. 19 Har 1840 Archibald Campbell. 
i. Thomas Chelton, b. 11:1 Dec 1822, md. ll, 11 Jun 1848 Rebecca J. Daigh, 

l l.> 'l Oct 1851 Helen L. Brower. 
,. Eliza Emeline, b 10 Mar 1825, md. 28 Nov 1850 John Porter, 
k. James Cleveland, b. 31 May 1827: 
1. Sarah Ann, b. 4 Feb 1829, md. 15 Nov 1863 Charles Tomlinson. 
m. Nathan James, b. 12 Jan 183 l. 

All children were b. 1n Simpson co. KY except the last who was b. in Pike 
co. IL , source: Janice Meredith, 'l'ulsa, OK & "Pike County Illinois History" by 
Jess H. Thompson. Note: for James Cleveland, Danie Richard Coffee <see CCC Sep 
1992, p. 4, has Ed. Cleveland who had a son Wm. Madison who had a son William 
Wilburn, the father of Danie Richard. 

Page 100 

It appears that Coffey researchers who are descendants of Chesley Coffey 
have generally agreed with my conclusion that Chesley was a son of Edward, Jr. 
and an unknown first wife. Frank Crosswhite has hypothesized that she might be 
a dau. of a Chesley Martin. He has found Martins-Graves-Chesley-Coffey 
associations in Virginia and No. Carolina, and 1n a later generation a Chesley 
Martin in Pittsylvania co. VA. This might help account not only for Chesley 
but the unknown Mart in \ b. 1762 > who has been suspected of being another si:m of 
Chesley. I can only add that I have no further information as to who was the 
mother of Chesley. 

Incidentally, Frank Crosswhite says he has some evidence tnot stated in his 
correspondence) that Chesley went by the name of ''Jesse" & was very 1 ikely the 
"Capt. Jesse Coffey" who has been described as "the right-hand man" of Col. 
Beniamin Cleveland. I have no evidence for or against this idea, but see my 
earlier discussion of Jesse <notes for p.23 in supplement p. 3>. 

Page 101 

Children of Chesley~ Jane \Cleveland> Coffey: 

Mary, b. Sep 1758, d. 24 Aug 1843, Maury co. TN; md. ca 1787 John Gilbreath 
(b. 6 Jun 1768 in VA, d. Nov 1850>. Both are bur. in Gilbreath cem,, Maury co. 
TN. Children: 

I. Andrew Gilbreath, b, 1788, S.C.; md, 1811 Mary Richards. 
2. James Gilbreath, b. 1792, prob. Greenville Dist., S.C .. ; md. 1816 

Elizabeth Baker. 
3. ,Jane Gilbreath, b. 2 Oct 1795, prob. Greenville Dist., S.C., d. 2Z Apr 

1852, Maury co., TN: md. Leonard Morrow. ·-i 
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4. John Gilbreath, b. Sep 1799, Green co. KY. 
Loree Gilbreath Miller of Fort Worth, TX is a descendant of James through 

son Wm. Henry "Billy", son John Chesley & son Haywood "Gustine" Cher father>. 
She also descends through Chesley Coffey, Jr. & Margaret Balwin through dau. 
Gracie Coffey who md. Andrew Turnbough or Turnbow. 

Another son of Chesley, Sr. & Jane might be Martin, 1762. See notes for p. 
100 and for information on this family see notes for p. 103. I rather doubt 
that Jesse Cleveland Coffey or a Jesse Coffey or a Cleveland Coffey belonged to 
this family, but the final word is not in yet. One wonders if their might have 
been other daughters. It seems likely that one or two children might have been 
born between Joel and Salathiel, or between Salathiel and Chesley, Jr. What we 
think we know about the early history of the Chesley-Jame family could be 
turned upside down if we were to find some important new documents. The reader 
should understand that what I am giving here is what I think the family looked 
like, based on the best evidence we now have. 

Children of Salathiel: 
1, Newton: Moved to Adair co. KY 1805/6, to Bond co. IL 1817, & to 

Montgomery co. IL 1818. Ruby Buck of Sacramento, CA says that Newton did not 
found the town of Hillsboro, he just donated the land for the county courthouse 
This may be, but early histories are not clear on this, nor whether the town 
even existed when he donated 20 acres in 1823, The latter seems like a large 
parcel of land just to build a courthouse. At any rate, he was a great 
benefactor of the town & county. Children: 

a. Cleveland Salathiel, b. 1803, Wilkes co. NC, d. 1892; listed as age 52 
in 1855 when he made application for bounty land <Black Hawk War> and age 70 in 
1873; md. 1836 Harriet Louisa Green and had a son Newton. Cleveland S. stayed 
on the farm near Hillsboro, Montgomery co. IL. 

b. Martha, b. 1804, md. 1821 John Reavis. 
c. Ruth Elizabeth, b. ca 1805, md. 1825 M. Reavis. 
d. Thomas L., b. 1809, md. Nancy Bradley & went to Jackson co. IA bef 1840 

and then to California for the gold rush in 1849. A dau, Sarah Coffey Fugate 
is the ancestor of Darlene Clark. 

e. Nancy, b. 1810, Adair co. KY, md. 7 Feb 1831 Thomas Wiley. 
f. Colbert L., b. 1811, d. 1849, md. < l> Catherine, (2> 1847 Milly Davis. 
g. Murry, d. when almost grown. 

2, Eli: His estate was probated in 1834 in Russell co. KY & his wife Mary 
was enumerated in Russell co. through 1870. Thus, although some of his 
children went to Illinois, he probably never did. Mary is prob. the Polly, age 
66 on the 1850 Russell co. census with children Polly Ann, 22, b. KY and Reuben 
20, b. KY. Other notes regarding children: 

a. Mariah, b. 17 Jan 1802, md. Elijah Coffey, son of Cleveland & Jane 
Coffey <see note for p. 99>. 

b. Will is, b. 2 May 1804, KY, md. 25 Mar 1828 Violetta "Lotty" Haynes < b. 
ca 1805 VA>, children: <l> Nebuzaradon <ca 1831), (2) Teckly (ca 1833>, (3) 
Sarah <ca 1835), <4> Mary (ca 1837), (5) Jackson <ca 1839>, (6> Lotty E. (ca 
1841>, (7) Nancy Cca 1843> & (8) James e. or C. <ca 1845>. Went to MO. 

c. Elizabeth. Margaret Welsch is a descendant. 
d. Salathiel, b. 20 Apr 1812, d. 29 May 1892, Collin co. TX md. Cl> 20 Aug 

1835 Nancy Dunbar, children: < l> Jesse S., b. 14 Aug 1837, <2> Leticia <ca 
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1839>, lJ; Mary "Polly" Ann <ca 1841>, (4> William (ca 1843>, <5> Harriet ,ca 
1844>, <6> Milton Wolford (ca 1846> tancestoc of Deborah Hare of Ardmore OKi, 
< 7 > Zachery ( ca 1849>, < 8> Nancy Jane, b. 22 Jun 1851, d. 1946. Jon Czarowitz 
is a descendant of Mary. Salathiel md. <2> 10 May 1854 Mrs. Mary Ann Ballew. 
children of 2nd marr: <9> Margaret, b. 9 Mar 1856, d. 20 Nov 1930, md, John 
Kerby, ( 10> Josie, b. 28 Aug 1859, d. 1925, md. George D. Kerby, < 11> Ster Iino 
P., b. 6 Jun 1862, d. 21 Sep 1944, md. Ida E. Roundtree. 

e. Sirena (or Cyrrena>, b. 9 Aug 1814, d. 23 Nov 1866; md. 21 Sep 1834 
Dar ias Carnpbe 11. 

f. Nathaniel Jackson "Nathan", b. 3 Jan 1817, Russell co. KY; md. 17 Jan 
1842 Mary Nancy Carter (see also notes for p. 103>. He was a Baptist minister 
in KY, TN & IL. and he performed the marr. of his brother Newton Eli <Ref. 
Connie Platt, Eugene, OR>. He d. 16 Aug 1899, Tice, Menard co. IL. A son was 
James Hardin, b. ca 1856, Sangamon co. IL; md. Amanda Wilcox; ancestors of 
Donna Lee Coffey Cross of Emden, IL. 4f/oD 

g. Stanton Presley, b. 5 Dec 1819, md. 27 Jun 1841- Mary C. Saufley. He was 
a g g father of Lyla Stegall Roberts. It\.\.~~ e 1( (1 kl.J /fS:-o ~ 

h. Wi 11 iam S., b. 10 Jul 1821, md. 4 Sep 1845 Martha Johnson. 
i. Newton Eli, md. 1841, <CCC Mar '85, p. 6>. 
,. Mary Ann, b. 4 Jul 1827, d. 14 May 1869, md. 2516 Mar 1854 Joseph Elzie 

Hayes. Anna Casse 11 is a descendant. R:~11 Cu "=¥ 6::,G1&1t Z1 l R!z<e 
k. Reuben, b. 10 Feb 1830, living with bro. Salathiel in Texas in 1860. 
l. l?> Franklin, b. ca 1803 KY, d. 1862 Russell co. KY. Was he a son of 

Eli & Mary? - some names suggest it. Children on the 1850 Russell co. census 
were< l> Eliza (ca 1830>, (2> Willis <ca 1832>, <3> John (Ca 1835>, 14) 

Cleaveland <ca 1837>, <5> Lucy A. (ca 1840>, <6> Bonaparte <ca 1844>, <7> ~ 
Permeta (ca 1845>, & <8> Margaret L. <May 1850>. A marr. bond in Russell co. 
1858 shows Frankl in marrying Martha "Patsy" McGuire c b. 1814, d. 1870-80>. 
This would be a 2nd marr. for Franklin. Also, there is a marr. bond Franklin 
furnished to Willis Coffey to Marry Nancy E. Wolford in 1827. Could this be 
Willis, son of Eli? It would be a first marr. for Willis as he marr. Violetta 
Haynes in 1828. 

4. Salathiel <son of Salathiel), b. ca 1782 <age 68 on 1850 census of Adair 
co. KY, b. NC>, md. Mary "Polly Blair ~also see notes for p. 102 for comparison 
with Salathiel, son of Nebuzaradoni. On 1850 census she is listed as Mary, age 
60. Others in household are Susan< 17>, John A. < 12>, James Simpson <31>, Mary 
<29>, N. E, <female, age 7>, M.E. <female age 5> & Robert <2>. One might 
deduce that the last 3 <at least> were children of James S. & Mary. Another 
known child was Dicy, b. 15 Jun 1825, Adair co. KY, md. < l> Mi 1 ton Simpson, 
Adair co., < 2> 28 Nov 1880 Elza Blair, Winterset, IA. Elza d. 1886 & Dicy 12 
May 1912, Madison co. IA. 
Children of Chesley Jr.: 

1. Nathan, d. 1858, Maury co. TN, md. El i'Zabeth Gilbreath < d. 1846, age 63,. 
Children: 

a. Calvin, b, 5 Jul 1805, Adair co. KY, d. 10 Jan 1885; md. Elizabeth f-
1

1 N f 
Wilcoxon -t"'"-eur Kilb Psst -a-~-esent" hes Elizabeth Fin~>. She was b. 13 J1..1n 
1809, d. 8 Nov 1882. Janet Hessong Tepera of Lake Ridge, VA is descended from 
Calvin throui;ih son William F. < 1830-1964>, his son William Daniel< 1860-1936>, 
his dau. Clara Gertrude< 1888-1950> who md. Herbert Edgar Evans, their son 
Chester William Evans C 1907-1930>, his dau. Kay Ann Evans who md. James Wilson 
Hessong, the parents of Janet who is md. to Gary Steven Tepera. She is also 
descended from Mary Coffey Cdau. of Chesley, Sr.> through she and John ...ai.1 
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Gilbreath's dau. Jane. Calvin & Elizabeth were also parents of Calvin J. ( 1839-
49> and Virginia Isabella< 1853-60>. 

b. Nancy, b. 1806, d. 1827, md. George Alexander.. 
c, Isaac N., b, 1807, 
d. Margaret, b. 1809, md. John Davis. 
e. Mary, b. 1810, d, 1826, 
f. Hugh G., b. 1812. 
g. Lucinda, b. 1813, md. Morgan Ross. 
h. Jane, b. 1815, md. Hillman Williams. 
i. Jacob, b, 1817, d, 1841. 
j. Nathan E., b. 1819, d. 14 Sep 1847, Mexican War. 
k, Sarah, b. 1820, d, 1896, md, Franklin B, Hackney, 
l. Caroline, md. John Todd. 
m. William M., b, 1823, md. Betty Ann Oakley, 
n. Franklin J. 

Nathan md. <2> Eupheme <b. ca 1807> - on 1850 census, Maury co. TN, 
2. Mary "Polly", b. 5 May 1779, md. 17 Apr 1800 John McClain in Knoxville, 

TN. He was b. 26 Feb 1776 <Don Mathes says b, 1763>, Charleston, SC. Children: 
a. Joseph, b. 2 Aug 1801, d. 27 Apr 1833, md. 11 Oct 1827 Susannah Hurt, 
b, Isaac, b. 16 May 1803, d. 20 Aug 1861, md, 6 Oct 1824 Catherine Stapp, 
c.Robert M., b, 26 Oct 1B05, d. 5 Aug 1889, md. 24 Dec 1833 Judith K. 

Hayden. 
d, John Jr., b, 22 Oct 1807, d, 14 Jul 1898, md, 19 Nov 1840 Abigail 

Shores. 
e. Margaret Ann, b, 20 Dec 1809. 
f, Mary, b. 20 Mar 1811, d, 26 Sep 1846, md. 26 Dec 1837 Lewis Hatch or 

Hitch. 
g. Melissa Felicia, b. 20 Mar 1811 <twin>, md. 23 Dec 1834 Robt, Madaris. 
h. Daniel Clark, b. 15 Feb 1813, d. 1891, md. 24 Dec 1838 Eliza Hinman. 
i, Sarah, b, 23 Jun 1815, d. 11 May 1903, md. 23 Dec 1838 Ashal Hinduean. 
j. James, b. 18 Nov 1818, md. Julydia B-gler. 
k. Chesley, b, 18 Feb 1821, d. 19 Jun 1866, md. 10 Sep 1846 Nancy A, 

Browning. 
1. Edwin W., b, 4 Jan 1824, d. 1891, md, 20 Oct 1846 Marian Roberts. 

Probably all of the children were b. in Mair co. KY: The family moved to 
Pike co, IL in 1838 but Isaac, Robert and Edwin later went to McLennan co, TX 
<all info. from Margaret Lay, Ft. Worth, TX. 

3. Isaac: "Our Kin, Past and Present'' by Delma Turnbow Freeman says Isaac 
md. Martha Meece. If so, he must have been a young !!!s!l• not a young boy, when 
murdered. 

4, Gracie <md, Andrew Turnbow>: children: 
a. Joe, md. a Wilson. 
b. Chesley, md. Sabra Rose. 
c. Landon? 
d, Hickland? 
e. John B. 
f. Nancy, md. Wm. Gilbreath, 
g, Feliciana, b. 1821 Maury co. TN, md, Henry J. Johnson, went to Pope co. 

Arkansas. 
6. Felicia <md, James Turnbow>: Thelma Mathis who is a descendant says her 

name was Nancy. Perhaps both are correct. Children: 
a. Nathan, b, 1813, md. Elizabeth Buckner, 



b, Andrew, b, ltj2 l, md. Sarah Spa in, 
c. Wm. Claiborne, md. Sarah Mattews. 
d. Mar9aret, b, 1817, md. Parish Sims. 
e. Gracy, b. 1819, md. Martin Harrison Johnston. 
t. Nancy, b. 1824, md. John Bailey. 
c;i. Mary, b, 1826, md. C. N. Lafferty. 

Descendants ot Felicia include Pat Bennett and Marion Buraess, 
9. Landon: children listed in 1850 census of Giles co. TN are: 

a. Martha, b. ca 1822, 
b. George B.W., b. ca 1830. 
c. Harrison, b. ca 1832. 
d. Lucinda, b, ca 1833. 
e. Cleavland, b. ca 1838. 
f. Clavinda, b. ca 1840. 
a. Felix G., b, ca 1842. 
h. James K., b. ca 1845. 
1. McCord E., b. ca 1847. 
i. Mary, b. ca 184&, 

Wife deceased? 

Page 102 

Top paragraph: Some of this family moved further south to Mississippi ~prob. 
those in Jefterson co.> 

Children of Nebuzaradon: 
1. Joel, b, 1774 NC, d, 1822 KY, wf. Jane also b. ca 1774 < ?>. Children: 

a. James, b. 1795 l 1850 census of Russell co. KY would indicate 1800>; md. 
Mahala Coffey (dau. of Fielding'?>, b. 1803. Their children were< 1, Anderson 
H., b. 1829, d. 1860-70, md. 1851 Mary Ann "Nancy" Wheat & had a son Cyrus 
Christopher <b. 1854>, md. 1877 Emelina Parthena Wheat, ancestors of Shireen 
Baysore, Jacksonville, Fl; (2> Martha, b. 1831, md. Andrew Gains; <3> Mary 
Louisa, b. 1832, md. Dr. William D. Baugh, <4> Matilda Evaline. b, 1833/4, md. 
John Holt, ( 5> Cyrus R., b. 1836, md. Nancy J. 

b. Celia, b, ca 1804, d. single. 
c, & d, There !!!fil!_also have been a dau. Martha & a son Fielden? 

2. Sarah: A James Coffey and wife Sarah, both b. ca 1803 in TN are on the 
1850 census ot Grainger co. TN. The location and dates would fit better into 
the Benjamin Coffey family <see notes for p. 54>, but the names of their 
children :fit better in the Nebuzaradon family: Joel < 1827>, Martha J. 1 1830, 
Elizabeth <1834>, John (1836i, Mahala <1838>, Calvin <1840), Mary <1842> & 
Agnilla ( 1848>. Certainly this Sarah would have been b. too late to be a dau. 
of Nebuzaradon, but might be a dau. of one of the sons of Nebuzaradon, Chesley, 
Jr., Joel or Salathiel. I am not placing this family here, iust discussing it 
at this point to see if some reader might recognize it and place it properly. 
Again, it could well belong to the Benjamin Coffey line. Apparently 
Nebuzaradon did have a dau. Sarah, but we still don 1 t have any factual 
information about her. 

3. Mary "Po 11 y", md. 14 Mar 1801, Green co. KY. 
4. Fielding: His estate was probated in Russell co. KY. Children: 

a. Thomas H., md. Viletta --------



b. Mahala, md. James, son of Joel & Jane (above>. 
c. Elizabeth, Sealy <Celia) & Louis: no further info. 
d. Fielden, b. 26 Jun 1827 KY, d. 25 Aug 1900, bur, Atchison, KS; md. 6 

Apr 1854 Sarah Jane Chapman, Davies co. MO <she was b. 1839 Davies co. MO & d. 
30 Oct 1908.) Children: <l> Calvin, b, 6 Mar 1855, md. Mary E. Jackson; <2> 
Elizabeth, b. 25 Jul 1857, md. 25 Jul 1880 James Matterson Crosswhite; <3> 
Meredith, b. 18 Mar 1859, Davies co. MO, d. 17 May 1938, Kansas City, KS, md. 
1898 Mary J. Hegarty; <4> Thomas, b, 27 Nov 1861; <5> Jane, b. 12 Mar 1863, md, 
Dave Beaman; <6> George W., b. 6 Nov 1864; <7> David C., b. 1866, d. 28 Nov 
1912; (8) Martha B,, b, 1868, d. 1949, md. Edwin B, Barber; (9) Mary A., b. 
1872, d. 21 Jul 1936; < 10> Lulu S., b. 1875, d. 1910, md. Christensen; < 11> 
Samantha, b, 5 Mar 1877, md. Burd Fletcher. Mary Margaret Coffey Wilcox of 
Lenexa, KS is descended from Fielden's son Meredith through his son James 
Delbert ( 1902-1983 & wife Mary Catherine Harmon, 

e. Other children of Fielding listed by Frank Crosswhite are "Ike" and 
Martha, 

f. The youngest child listed as Allen was probably Alice. The census 
gives her name as Aley. She was b. 1824 & d. 23 Nov 1858 <all in Russell co.) 
and at death date was listed as Fielding's dau,. However, there was an Allen 
Coffey in Russell co. md. to Perlina <or Palina> Staton> 30 Oct 1831. This 
Allen sold land in Russell co. in 1835 to Martin Coffey who had md. Mary 
McGuire in 1830. There is also reference to land of a John Coffey and to that 
of Elijah Coffey, supposedly the Elijah son of Cleveland who md, Mariah, dau of 
Eli. Does this Allen and Hartin belong here or in one of the related families? 

5. Salathiel has been confused with Salathiel, son of Salathiel <p. 101>. 
Margie Coffey of Columbia, KY <see CCC Dec 1992, p. 9) claims that Salathiel 
son of Nebuzaradon md, Mary Blair and thus the other Salathiel must have md. 
Anna Lynch. However, Daraleen Wade's excellent article on "Sorting Salathiels" 
in CCC Sep '93, pp. 9-10 tends to give credence to my statement that Salathiel, 
son of Nebuzaradon md. Anna Lynch and Salathiel, son of Salathiel md. Polly 
Blair. We note again here that Eli Coffey had a son Salathiel who md. Nancy 
Dunbar. 

6. Ananias (Nias>, b. 12 May 1785 <Bible rec.>; md. 24 Aug 1809 Jane, dau of 
Alexander Hindman, Green co. KY. There is some discrepancy about the marriage 
date as well as the birth of the first child, Nancy, listed as 11 Apr 1809. 
For a partial resolvement of this problem see Daraleen Wade's commentary in CCC 
Dec '91, pp. 4-5 and also Margie Coffey's answer in CCC Sep '92, p. 11. 

a. Nancy, b. 11 Apr 1809, d. 14 Oct 1845, md. 28 Feb 1829 David Rodgers, 
Green co. KY. 

b. Zidner, b. 15 Jun 1810, d. 23 Jul 1869, md. 20 Jan 1831 Marganna 
Keltner; Children: Cl> William, ca 1833; <2> S.A. (female>, ca 1835; <3> John, 
ca 1836; <4> Ardena, ca 1838; <5> Thomas, ca 1841; <6> Elizabeth, ca 1842; <7> 
Robert, ca 1843; <8> Sophia, ca 1844; <9> Ellen, ca 1845; Andrew Jackson, b. 
1846, d. 1928, father of Cassius Coffey< 1884-1972>, father of Raymond Coffey 
< 1928 - >, father of Margie Coffey of Columbia, KY; C 10> M. Qoffey (female>, ca 
1849. Daniel Elliott of Mt Vernon, IN descends from Zidner & has a great 
amount of information on this line. 

c. Cabeius <Cabicus, Cabinis ?>, b. 6 Nov 1811, d. 17 Dec 1878; md. 17 Nov 
1834 Pauline Orr, dau of Peggy Hindman Orr Cb. 18 Jan 1817, d. 18 Jan 1888. 
They were 2nd cousins. <Ref. incl. CCC Dec 92, p. 9 & CCC Sep 92, p. 11), They 

(_,,... moved to Cass co. IL. 



d. Harriett, b, 17 Mar 1813, d. 15 Oct 1875; md. 6 Oct 1830 Robert Hopkins 
( 1810-18731, According to Brenda Wood they were first cousins, 

e. Mary "Polly", b. 14 Dec 1814, d. 15 Feb 190 l; md. .2 Dec 1829 John 
Richard Keltner~ 1804-1900>. 

f. Eliza, b. 10 Oct 1815, d. 1911; md. 16 Jun 1857 Steven Stone. 
g. Marshall Lock, b, 28 Apr 1819, d. 5 Jan 1903; md, 16 Dec 1850 Jemina 

Silky. 
h. John David, b. 16 Sep 1821, d. 1859; md. 30 Nov 1852 Sereptia Chambers. 

Grace J. Harry <CCC Dec 89, p. 2, lists a son Ananias, b. 1846 <prior tom. d. 1 
i. Emily "Eliza" Jane, b. 7 Aug 1824; md. 16 Mar 1854 Barry Green Coomer. 

This family moved to Pike co. IL. Ref. incl. CCC Mar. 90, p. 3 & Dec 92, p. 4. 
j, Louisa Caroline, b. 26 May 1827, d. 11 Aug 1897; md. 14 Dec 1854 Larken 

Gowen, Adair co. KY <Bk, 3, p. 134>. Brenda Wood, Chandler, IN is a descendant 

7. Hays <or Hayes>, wf. Mary b. ca 1798: children: 
a. Fielding Gatewood, b. 1819, d. 1881; md. 14 Dec 1847 Sarah Jane Hughes 

~b. ca 1828>. Their 1st child, Victoria, was b. ca 1849. They were parents of 
Green More Coffey< 1867-1950> who with 3rd wf. Alice Hae Brown were parents ot 
Elizabeth Faye Coffey who md. David R. HcOuilling & live in Indianapolis, IN. 
She has Hays listed as "Nias Hays", but I believe there must be some contusion 
here with# 6 above .. Ghena Crider of Elizabethtown, IN is Fay's sister and J. 
F, Coffey of Jamestown, KY is her brother. Gene Cofiey of Indianapolis is 
another desc. of Fielding uatewood. Faye lists the other children of Hays as: 

b. America< 1825>, md. James Rogers. 
c. James L., ~ 1828>, md. Susan --- . 
d. Bernet ha t 1833,. -~~ 
e. Hays, Jr. l 1836 >, md. Louisa Ell is. 
t. Mary Ann ( 1838,, md. Edwin Parrigan <Arthur Hadley in CCC Mar 87, p. l~ 

says that she md. 18 Oct 1867 Richard Hadley--was this a 2nd marr. ?? 

No iurther info. on children Betsy, Ruth, Louis or James <see book for these,. 

Nathan ~offey's children: 
4. Joel, d. 23 Aug 1850, Danger£ ield, Titus co. TX: md. Mary "Polly" Knox 

tb. 3 Aug 1798, d. 6 Dec 1874, Richland, TX> in Pulaski co. KY <marr. bond 
lists his name as "Joseph"> Joel was a Pvt. in the War of 1812 from Kentucky & 
son Cyrus applied for his bounty land 17 Dec 1853, Titus, co. TX. They moved to 
Alabama and later to Titus co. TX. Mary was the dau of John Knox who was b. 
nr. Beltast, County Antrim, Ireland & came with his parents <James Knox & 
Elizabeth Craig> 6 brothers & sisters to Charleston, SC ca 1761. John md. 
Elizabeth Eoff of SC on 13 Feb 1789 in Madison co. KY. Mary was b. there. 
Children of Joel & Mary were: 

a. Julia, d. 1897, md. Dr. Wiley, Shreveport, LA. 
b. William, md. Amanda Ellison. 
c. Lucilla, md. Mr. Bridges. 
d. Elizabeth, md. John Peacock <also see book, p, 102>. 
e. Amanda, md. William Peacock. 
f, Cyrus, b. 21 Jul 1825, AL, d. 22 Feb 1966; md. Mary Ann Matilda Gibson. 
g. Sara Jane, b. 1828 (or 1834?>, d. 1912 San Saba, TX, n.m. 
h, Nathan, b. ca 1829, AL. 
i. Addison, b. ca 1838, AL, d. ca 1913. 
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r-
i j. John, b. ca 1840, AL, d. 1857, TX, n. m. 

k. Mary, b. ca 1842, AL. 
There were three other boys who d. in infancy. 
Cyrus had a dau., Alice Eugenia, b, 26 Sep 1853 who was the mother of 

Ethel Sparks Siders of Montclair, N.J. who compiled most of the above in 1941. 
This material was furnished by a niece of Ethel, Alice Cook Matheny who lives 
in the Applegate Valley of Southern Oregon. 
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4 5, Elizabeth: Descendant Bob Glasscock lists her death as 1868, 

Other children <or grandchildren> ot Chesley, Sr. & Jane: 
An Elizabeth Coffey of Wilkes co. NC md, V. Ephraim Allison (b, ca 1775 in 

Wilkes co.) Apparently she was related to Nathan, Jesse, Absolom, Nebuzaradon 
and Cleveland <"Pearce, Bartlett, Mattews, Smart and Allied Lines" by James 
Alonzo Matthews, Jr.). Thus she must belong to the Chesley line but I haven't 
discovered just where. This family moved to Missouri, finally settling near 
Booneville, Cooper co. This is of course where Joel, son of Chesley, Jr. went 
from Maury co. TN <seep. 200> so perhaps she belongs in the Chesley, Jr. 
family. 

A James Coffey and wife Celia, reportedly both b, 1780 in North Carolina, 
had children: Ca) Elizabeth C 1797-1860>, <b> Cely< 1802-1857), Cc> Wilbourn 
<prob, the one on the 1850 Green co. KY census, age 39, wf, Elizabeth & 8 
children>, Cd> Joel, b. 1819, md. Permelia Haynes 31 Jul 1836 <note: one source 
has Nathaniel Jackson, son of Eli marrying Permelia Haynes on that date, but in 
the notes for p. 40 you will see that he is listed as marrying Mary Nancy 
Carter. Because of the confusion here I am tempted to speculate that James 
might have been another son of Salathiel, Sr.>, <e> Cyntha, who md. G. W. 
Southerland. Joel & Permelia's children were Martha< 1838>, Logen <ca 1843> & 
Quintas C 1844>. The latter had a dau. Permelia who md. Hubert F. Kerns, the 
father of Lloyd Kerns. 

Hartin Coffey 

There are three Martins on the 1840 Russell co, KY census. Daraleen Wade 
says the one who died of consumption there 24 Jun 1855, age 54 <Martin W.> was 
a son of Joel & Helly (or Hetty> Coffey, but we don't know who they were. Was 
this Joel a son of Martin by a first wife (before Nancy Phelps>? The dates are 
a little tight but it may be possible, Helly or Hetty was evidently a nickname 
but for what? Another possibility is that this Martin was a son of Joel (son 
of Nebuzaradon> & Jane <dau of Joel, Sr.>. One source says they had a son 
Mart in. < see p. 104 of book>. 

Martin Coffey, b. 1804, must be a son of Martin, Sr. & Nancy Phelps, but he 
is not the Martin md. to Nancy Cundiff in 1825 in Wayne co. KY <bond dated 7 
Dec 1825) if George Willis Coffey, b, 1821 is his son, Some have thought that 
Nancy Cundiff was a 3rd wife of Martin, Sr. but I know of no evidence for it. 
Perhaps this Martin is the one who md, Darius -----<see later), George Willis 
Coffey md. Rebecca Ann-------- in KY and they were the parents of: 

( 1> William F. < 1842), <2> Reuben George< 1847>, (3) Sarah Ann< 1851) or 
Sarah F. C 1850>, <4> Hartin "Hart" C 1855>, CS> Nancy J.F. C 1856>, (6> James R. 
< 1858>, & <7> Laura B. < 1860> <CCC Dec '88 p. 6, Phyllis Coffey White and p. 9 
Jim Roach, El Reno, OK.>. 



Martin l 17621 & Nancy Phelps had a dau. Mary "Polly" Ann, b. 16 Sep 1799 KY. 
d. 24 Aug 1881 Warren co. IL., md. Henry Meadows ( 1798-1838> Wayne co. KY. 
·rhey had ( l > a son James Meadows l 11 Nov 1825,, fat her •Ji Donna Ann Meadows , 12 
Jun 1855J, the grandmother of Judy White CCCC Jun '92, p. 6>. Kaye Weakley 
Stanley of Wichita, KS is also of this line. Other children were: 

(2> Nancy, 1819-42>. md. Wm. Frank George; (3> Andrew ( 1820-1820>; i4> 
Jane, 1821-37>; (51 Martin C. ( 1822-90>, md. Mary Scott, Catherine Berry 
Reynolds; ( 6 > Elizabeth ( 1823-39 >; ( 7 & 8> twins: Martha ( 1825-1906 >, md. 
Dennis Clark; & James V. t 1825-1911>, md. Mary Ann Armstrong; <9> Maty c. ( 1827 
-1881>, md. ,lames McDowell Crawford; l 10> Sarah Jane c 1829 KY - 1881 IL,, md. 
Patton Johnson 11824-1889>; < 11> Henry Winfrey< 1831--1896), md. Ann ,Jemima 
Reed; l 12 1 Althea l 1833-1924 >, md. Joseph Henry Murphy; l 13 > Artemess iah 
"Artie"< 1836-1919>, md. Josiah Snyder; < 14> John G. < 1838?-1840>; < 151 Erastus 
l 1842-1882>, md. Mary Rosetta Purdy; < 16) Thomas < 1845-1916>, md. Mary Jane 
Brown; l 17 & 18> infant twins, b. 1840 or 49, survived 1 day. 

At least three sons of Martin, Sr. & Nancy Hansford are known: 
1. James, b. 7 Sep 1818, Russell co. KY, md. Martha "Patsy" Tucker, d. 

1897, Lincoln co. KY; children: 
a. William M., b. 1838, md. Rhoda Holt. They were parents of Thomas 

Coleman Coffey, b. 1872 who md. Li 11 ie Della Alley. Their son Wi 11 iarn Herbert 
Coffey, b. 1900, IN, rnd. Gladys I. Rike <Reich>. Their son Richard H. Coffey 
lives in Boulder, CO. 

b. Francis Marion, b. ca. 1841, Jamestown, KY, md. 1865 Permel ia Jane 
Hughes, d. in Kansas. 

c. Moses, b. 6 Aug 1843, Russell co. KY, md. 21 Sep 1865 Margaret 
Catherine Goode. He d. 26 Dec 1902, Lincoln co. KY. A dau. Lucy< 1881-1967} 
md. Terry Mobley, grandparents of Vince Mobley of McMinnville, OH. 

d. George Alfred Caldwell, b. ca 1845 
e. Albert Galatin, b. 29 Dec 1847, md. 1869 Annie E. Campbell, Lincoln 

co. KY. They are ancestors of Susan Gallo of Northridge, CA 
f. Henry J,, b, Mar 1850. 
Other possible ones: 
g. Mi 11 ie Ann, b. 1854, md. 1878 Richard A. Goode, Lincoln co. KY. 
h. Nancy "Nannie", b. 1857, md. 1878 John Ragan, Lincoln co. KY. 
i. Sarah Elizabeth, b. 1861, md. 1878 John W. Higgenbotham, Lineal n co. 

KY. 
J, Robert B. <no info.> 

2, Golson Wilson, b. ca 1822 KY, d. 1906, Lexington, OK, md. bef 1845 
Rebecca Ann Shackleford. Their son William F. 1b. 27 Jul 1844 KY> was the g a 
orandfather of David W. Coffey. They also had a dau. Martha N. (b. 1853, d. 
Nov? 1857 of burns, Russell co. KY. Still another child was Reuben G., b. ca 
1847. 

3. Andrew, b. ca 1824 KY, md. 29 Jun 1844 Sarah Bernard <b. ca 1827>; 
children: <a> John W., b. ca 1845; <b> James W., b. Mar 1850; prob. others 

4, John C., b. ca 1828 <prob. a son of Martin, Sr. & Nancy Hansford). 

Lucinda Ri99ins, age 21, d. in Russell co. 26 Nov 1856 & listed as dau. of 
Martin & Darius Coffey. Is this the Martin b, 1804? If so, other children may 
be (a) Benjamin, b. ca 1832; (b} John W., b. ca 1835; (c> Sarah A., b. c3 1837; 
(d> Christian, b. ca 1838; Cd> Mary I., b. ca 1840; Ce> Hartha, b. ca 1845: Cf) 
Mandy O., b. ca 1847 & < g > James A. , b. Apr 1850. _," 
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Because of the use of the name Albert Galatin Coffey in the Martin family I 
am speculating that Albert G. Coffey of Jamestown, KY, b, 1800 and constable of 
Russell co. KY at age 25 must belong to this family, prob. as another son of 
Martin, Sr. & Nancy Phelps. 

Hugh Coffey: 

This family is still a bit difficult to straighten out. "A Reed Family in 
America" by Forrest F. Reed, 1962, was about the only account we had for some 
time. Since then many descendants have come forth with information, some of it 
conflicting. I'll start with the early records and try to progress up into the 
1800s. 

In CCC Jun '84, p. 6 Robert Cornelius Coffey of Pomona, CA reported that he 
found a record in Ireland that said "Hugh Coffey went to the Colonies in the 
1600s". He gives no further details. Most accounts start with the idea that a 
Hugh Coffey came from Ireland to Virginia (perhaps Maryland first> about 1725 
or 1730 and settled first at Harper's Ferry <now in West Virginia>>, later 
going to Augusta co. where he d. 1766/7. However, there must have been an 
earlier Hugh since the records of Northumberland co. VA mention one there in 
1705 and be is prob. the same person in neighboring Lancaster co. who Jane 
Mason passed her land to in 1711 as a premarriage agreement (both previously 
married). Hugh died there in 1717 (inventory of estate). Hugh had a son John, 
b. 1707 by the marr. bef. Jane. Apparently at the time of the marr. to Jane 
this John was apprenticed to a shoemaker, but showed up several years later to 
help procession the land of Hugh. Perhaps this Hugh was the father of the 
Harpers Ferry - Augusta co. one or else there was more than one migration of a 
Hugh to the Colonies. "Irish Settlers in America", Vol. 2 by Michael O'Brien, 
1979, lists a Hugh Coffey in 1746 in what is now Roanoke· co. VA as being a road 
builder. This is somewhat south of Augusta co. so may be another Hugh, but it 
is possible the Augusta Hugh went there to help build a road, while still 
maintaining his home in Augusta co. 

Hugh's wife was named Mary but we do not know the names of his children ,but 
John, b. ca. 1730 is supposed to be one of them. Some accounts have him b. in 
Augusta co. and later going back to Harper's Ferry before going to South 
Carolina. Others say he was b, at Harper's Ferry. I suspect the Harper's 
Ferry idea is a mixup and carryover from where Hugh lived for a time, and that 
John went from Augusta co. to So. Carolina, but I have no proof. At any rate 
we know he md. Susannah Watson and bad at least four sons: 

1, Henry, b. 1748 in VA,, md, Mary-------, dau. Margaret 1771. See "Reed 
Family" for further info. He was a Captain in Rev. War. 

2. Hugh <called Sr.>, b. 13 May 1750, VA, d. 26 Apr 1827 in Lancaster co. SC 
He md. Agnes Montgomery <b. 15 May 1755, d, 10 May 1839>. He was a Rev. War 
veteran and is said by Joyce Evetts to be a grandson of the immigrant Hugh (she 
has 1725 for the latter's arrival, but see my discussion above>. Children: 

a. Hugh, Jr., b. ca 1770, d. in Maury co. TN, 1840 or later; md. bef. 1793 
Margaret Moore <also b. ca 1770?>; children: < 1) Mary, md. 1809 Thomas Caskey, 
Lancaster, 6.C., moved to Maury co. TN; a son, T. W. Caskey was a minister for 
the Christian Church near Spring Hill, TN.; <2> Jincy, b. 1799, Mecklenberg co. 
NC, md. John Reed; C3> Susan, md. Samuel Stephenson, moved to Maury co. TN; (4) 
Hugh M., b. 14 Jul 1802, Lancaster co. SC, went to Maury co. TN as a child and 



later became a Baptist minister; d. TN; md. < 1, Obedience McGaugh - had 10 
children. md. <2> Martha A. Stewart - had 11 children. 

b. John, b. ca 1772, d. bef. 1816 '?; md. Esther Givens ( b. ca 1775 >; 
children: ( l> Agnes Nancy ( or Nancy Agnes), b. 1795, d. 1883 at Florence, 
Wi 11 iamsl.ln co., TX; md. 12 Dec 1811 Samuel Caskey, Lancaster co. SC. Beulah 
Dannelley and Thomas Dannelley are both of this line; a son was John Coffey 
Caskey, b. 1814; <.2> William G., b. ca 1797, md. Feb 1822 Elizabeth Bradshaw; 
children: <a> Jane, b, ca 1825; <b> Agnes, b. ca 1829; <c> Martha, b. ca 1833; 
<d> Franklin, b. ca 1835; <e> Sarah, b. ca 1838; <3> Hugh Wiley, b. ca 1799, 
md. Jane -----, children: < a> John, 1833; < b> Mary, 1839; (c> Nancy, 1841; t d1 
Samuel. 1842; <e> Joseph, 1844; <f> James, 1846; <g> Elizabeth, 1849 <Maury cl.l, 
1850 census>; < 4> Samuel W., b. 1801. Jeff Coffey of San Antonio, TX is also 
of the John & Esther Coffey line. 

c. Mary, md. Mr. McWhorter. 
d. Henry, b. 1787 <a large gap in years here - perphaps other children 

were b. in between.>, d. 1876; md. ca 1820 Rebecca Ellen Kirk, Lancaster co. SC 
Their dau. Rebecca Ellen< 1828-1902> is the g g g mother of Kenneth Harrison. 
Henry & family moved to Muscogee co., then Marion co. GA where he & wt. d. 

e. Alexander, b. 15 Jun 1801 <another big gap - perhaps other children in 
between?>, md. < l> Margaret Hood, <2> Sarah Ann Cathey Gillespie. Alexander 
had three children, Hugh, Emma & Sarah, but I don't know which wife was the 
mother< s>. 

f. Jane, md. Mr. Nesbitt. 
Q• Jean, md. Daniel Nelson 

<Ref. for the Hugh, Sr. family: Texas DAR, through Bonnie Thelma Chett Nailon, 
no. 576952.> 

3. John, b, 1752, md. Susanna Crockett; children: 
a. Elizabeth, b. 1783. "A Reed Family in America" 1 ists her as marrying 

James Craig but Freda Blessing of Conyers, CA <CCC Sep 1990, p. 5> says: 
b. Susannah, md. James Craig (Freda is a descendant>. 
c. John M., b. 1785 6 md. Sarah W. Morrow in 1820 according to "Reed 

Family". At this point the water gets rather muddy because we have an account 
of research by I.V. Crawford and Spencer Coffey of a John Coffey, b. 1773, 
Lancaster Dist. SC whose father was also named John and served in the Colonial 
Army. This is essentially what the "Reed Family" says about the John c 1752> 
above. Could John< 17?3> be the son of John< 1752>? This John is supposed to 
have married Margaret Baskin, Dau. of Andrew Baskin and Mary Marshall. Perhaps 
the "Reed Family" account is wrong, either in the date of birth of John, his 
wife's name or a wrong John placed under John < 1752>. John, b. 1773, d. 1843. 
He & Margaret Baskin were parents of: 

< l> David Pleasant, b. Nov 1805, Wi 11 iamson co. TN, d. 1883, moved as a 
small child to Fayette co. TN; md. 12 Nov 1835 Mary C. Cogbill (b. ca 1819, d. 
1885>, 14 children - a son John D. went to White co. AR. 

C2> Elizabeth, md. John Price. 
<3> William 
c 4 > Hugh 
< 5) James 
<6> Col. Jonathan, b. 1819, Lincoln co. TN, md. 18-41 Pamela G. Cloyd 
c 7> Susan 
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<8) Isabella, md. John Griffin 
(9) Margaret Jane, md. James B, Henley 

4. Nathaniel, b. 1754, S.C., also served in Rev. War. 
5. Elizabeth 
6. Mary "Polly", md. James Huey 
7. Jonathan. 
The last three above are 1 isted in the "Reed Family" book, but not by Walker 

Coffey C CCC Jun '87, p. 10>. ,· 

This brings us to Hugh Coffey, b. 9 Apr 1784, Lancaster, SC or across the 
line in NC, d. 7 May 1861; md. ca 1805/6 Margaret Walker Cl Oct 1789-4 Nov 
1854>, dau. of Andrew Walker and Sarah Crye. Children: 

a. Sarah Crye, b. 29 Jul 1807, d. 29 Jan 1826. 
b. James W., b. 11 Apr 1809, d. bef, 1810. 
c. John, b. 17 Jan 1811 
d. Harrison H,, b. 13 Jan 1814, md. Martha Elizabeth Lambert <ancestors of 

Askew Coffey & Dr. Robert T. Coffey>. 
e, Agnes Nancy, b. 22 Jul 1816 
£. Andrew B., b, 2 Jun 1818, d. 1854, md. Margaret Walker, <ancestors of 

Suzan Kirkland, Cordova, TN>. 
g. Elizabeth W., b. 9 May 1821 
h. Easter Louise, b. 24 Mar 1824 
i. Sarah Jane, b. 11 Mar 1827 
j, James Alexander, b. 31 Oct 1830, md. < 1) Lavina Barry< 1844-68>, (2) 

Martha Leggett< 1848-1924>. The latter is ancester of Walker Jackson Coffey, 
Oxford, MS 

k. Mary C., b. 17 Sep 1831, d. 16 Dec 1842. 
So where does this Hugh family fit? Walker Coffey thinks the name Easter 

relates to John Coffey and Esther Givens, but this John is not old enough to be 
the father of Hugh, Both Hugh and John had a dau. Agnes Nancy. Perhaps John 
< 1752) also had a-son Hugh <we only have three children listed for him>. A 
birth of 1784. would fit. If this _we~e the case· John < 1772, md. Esther Givens> 
and Hugh< 1784, md. Margaret Walker> would be f'irst cousins, John being the son 
of Hugh Sr. & Agnes Montgomery, and Hugh being the son of John and Susannah 
<Crockett> Coffey. There is no hard evidence for the latter, but it makes good 
sense. 
Other possibilities to consider are: did Henry or Nathaniel have a Hugh or a 
John? We have very little on their families, This Hugh is the subject of a 
book by Gene Brewington <"Hugh Coffey and His Descendants"> and another book by 
Walker Coffey ("Journal of a Journey">. This family went to Alabama and later 
to Mississippi. 

One more member of this line should be mentioned, This is Rebecca Coffey 
who md. 1762 William Gault in VA Che was b. 1735, PA>, She is supposed to be a 
dau, of Hugh Coffey, but which Hugh? Since she had a dau. Susanna, b. 1784, 
Waxhaw Settlement, NC she was prob. not b. before the early to mid 1740s. She 
could then be a dau. of what most have called the immigrant Hugh, that is, the 
one who went to Harper's Ferry and then Augusta co. VA. Thus she would be a 
younger sister of John (b. ca 1730, md, Susannah Watson.> Since she was md. in 
1762 she could have been b. a little later, say 1745-48 and be the dau. of 
John, 1730 (assuming the 1730 date is only an estimate and he was actually b. a 
few years earlier>, Q!:_perhaps Hugh had a son Hugh Cfor whom we have no record> 
and he was the father of Rebecca. I favor the first option. 
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Rebecca Coffey Gauul t 1 s dau. Susanna, b. 1784, md. 1805 ,James McCormack, dau 
Nancy McCormack <b. 1807> md. 1827 William Pinkerton 11805-39). Elizabeth 
Pinkerton Leighty of Carbondale, IL is of this 1 ine. Other children of Rebecca 
were: Robert, William, Jane, Isabella 1md. Baley>, John, Charles, Joseph, 
Thomas, Grace <md. Johnson, Wilson>, James, Nancy <md. Taylor>, HuQh Coffey 
Ga~lt 1md. Nancy Askins>. 

Page 105 

James Coffey family: James W. Coffey md. Louisa Norman <b. TN> in 1842.s In 
1864 they moved to Washington co. IA. They had 7 sons and l dau. One~": was 
Joseph Lane Coffey who md. Susanna Wellman. Four other sons moved to Astoria, 
OR and Louisa also moved there after James' death. Shed. in 1g12 in OR at age 
86. 

Other Coffeys: 
l. Michael: 

John & Mary md. 
<all from Wills 

Sons John and Thomas md. daus. of Hugh Patrick <Elizabeth md. 
Thomas>. One of the other sons prob. md. Rachel Dougherty. 
of Rockingham co. NC>. 

2. James of Chester co. PA: This family moved to the Bedford-Marshall co. 
area of Tennessee <some on one side of county line and some on other>. James 
d. 20 Dec 1836 in Bedford co. His children were: 

a. Thomas, b. 17 Jan 1788. 
b. Mary, b. 23 Aug 1788 <?> 
c. James Leeper, b. 15 Dec 1791. 
d. Martha, b. 19 Mar 1794. 
e. Jane, b. 20 Mar 1797. 
f. Allen, b. 26 Sep 18~.o~ tc.c ,7) d•~';fi,wl~t-lMA .. ,~All Co Tw 
g. Elizabeth, b. Dec 18~4.ot, 0 , ~f .. 1"60 41 ,, ,, 

The above is supposed to be from a Fam. Bible rec. & the Ref. is Wm. A, 
Allen. Brentwood, TN but one would wonder if Allen and Elizabeth might not be 
grand children rather than children. James served in the Rev. War from PA in 
1776-8. He md. Mary Leeper 5 Apr 1787 in Cumberland co. PA. 

3, Some other Coffeys appear in the Marshall & Bedford co. recs. that I have 
not been able to account for. They do not seem to belong to the Rice Coffey 
family of Bedford co. nor is there any mention of them in the James family 
above. Perhaps James had a brother who also came to that area, The problem 
with this idea is that at least some seem to have been b, in North Carolina, 
This includes a Benjamin Coffey, b. ca 1790 NC and wife Nancy, b. ca 1805 TN. 
They had a son John, b. ca 1826 TN, md. Deanna------- <b. 1823 TN, and they in 
turn had a son John o.c .. b. 1849 TN, d. 1 Aug 1870 Marshall co. TN, md. Anna 
Elizabeth Sikes. A dau. Ella Eudora Coffey was the grandmother of Rita Wilson. 
Could this family be descendants of the Benjamin & Leah Coffey family of Wilkes 
co. NC'? 
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CHAPTER 8 

Archelaus Coffey Family 
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It seems probable that James <son of Archelaus> did not live with his mother 
and step-father in Virginia but may have remained in Wilkes co. NC, perhaps 
indentured to a Coffey relative. Frank Crosswhite has suggested this might be 
Nebuzaradon Coffey who lived nearby the family. James was in Madison co. KY in 
1798 when he sold his father•s land in Wilkes co. Nebuzaradon had gone to 
Madison co. and d. there in 1797. This is a logical reason why James would be 
there, 

Page 121 

First line: The date should be 25 Apr 1839, Georgianne Teague of Euless, TX 
says that according to the tombstone William Harbord was b. 13 Jan 1778. She 
also had a marr, date for James Coffey Harbord of 27 Jan 1825, a marr. date for 
Matthew Harbord of 183~, and a death date for Eleanor <p. 122) of 30 Mar 1889. 
The children of James Coffey Harbord were: 

1. Mary Jane, b. 11 Nov 1825, d. 6 Apr 1833 Bloomington, IL. 
2, Martha Ann, b. 27 Jan 1827, md, 17 Aug 1848 John Wesley Walker. 
3. Richard Henry, b. 27 Sep 1829, d. 21 Jun 1839 Bloomington, 
4, William E., b. 15 Mar 1831, d. 2 Aug 1852 Bloomington. 
5. Nancy A., b. 13 Mar 1833, d. 26 May 1852 Bloomington. 
6. Mary Margaret, b, 8 Apr 1835, d, 19 Feb 1857 Bloomington. 
7. Moses G., b. 3 Jul 1837, md. Jane Price. 
8, George Washington, b, 22 Oct 1840, md, 16 Dec 1863 Effie Critton Gault, 

d. 27 Dec 1914 Lyon co. KS. 
9. Elanor Adaline, b, 22 Sep 1843, d. 19 Dec 1862 Bloomington. 

10. Elizabeth Adelaide, b. 22 Sep 1843 (twin>, d. 31 May 1862 Bloomington. 
11. Mahala Cassandra Helen, b. 22 Sep 1846 McLean co., md, 7 Jan 1864 James 

A. Hunt, d. 8 Jul 1873. 
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CHAPTER 10 

James Coffey and Frances Lane 

Page 138 

Eleanor Coffey Kennedy (also listed as Elender and Ellen> remarried in 1860 
John Johnson Cage 60>, In the 1860 census of Saline co. IL she is listed as 
age 46 <b, 1814> and had children Francis J, <female age 8>, Nancy C. <age 6> 
and Franklin P. Cage 4>. They are also listed in James L. Kennedy's probate 
record <Box 14-4> except that Nancy's middle initial is given as "K". Green B, 
Raum was appointed guardian for the 3 minor children. Final return was 16 Feb 
1864, 

Children of Sally Coffey & Ewing G. Flannigan <proven by Mexican War Pension 
papers>: 

l. Paulina Eleanor, b, 18 Sep 1837, Hamilton co. IL. md. 10 Aug 1856 James 
H. Ritchey. Hamil ton co. IL. 5 children. 

2. Martha E., b. 18 Feb 1839, Hamilton co. IL. 
3. Sarah Jane, b. 8 May 1840, Hamilton co. IL .• had a dau. Xenia Dye who 

is the ancestor of Barbara Kapp of Fairfax, VA, 
<Also make these changes on p. 146. > 

Page 140 

c last paragraph>. 
Christine Felty of Champaign, IL also has Jane Coffey as the first wife of 

William Dean. Her Bible record has William. b. 18 Oct 1799, Jane b. 29 Dec 
1804 & Barsheba (Jane Durham> b. 1 Hay 1799. Children are< it's not entirely 
clear which may belong to Jane & which to Barsheba, but since a break in years 
occurs between Louisa and Martha it may be that the 1st 8 are Jane's>: 

l. James, b. 29 Jun 1822, md. Parlee Davis. 
2. Jacob, b. 15 Sep 1823, md. Martha Ann Johnson, 
3. Sally, b. 6 apr 1825. 
4. Susan, b. 21 Mar 1827, md. Henry Davis, 
5, Frances, b. 14 Feb 1829, md. James W. Johnson. 
6. William, b. 19 Dec 1831. 
7. Francis, b. 22 Sep 1833. 
8. Louisa <Eliza'?> Jane, b. 5 Apr 1835, md, Wi 11 iam G. Pul 1 iam. 
9, Martha, b. 28 Jun 1839. 

10. Wiley, b, 10 Jan 1841. 

As an addition to this family 1 should mention another <apparently 
unrelated> Coffey family that was living in Galatin & Saline counties, IL. This 
family included Horatio Roberts Coffee, b. 5 Oct 1794 in Maryland, wife Juliet, 
b. ca 1804, and children: < 11 Adaline, 1826, < 2) James, 2-17-1828, < 3> Allen 
B., 1829, c 4> Grandison Green, 1832, < 5> Darcus S., 1834, < 6) Sarah E., 1834, 
<7> Richard M., 1839, <8> Robert A .• 1841, & <9> Chloe, 1848. A brother, 
Charles Grandison, d. in 1848 and Horatio was the guardian of his children: 

~ 

Perry, John Roberts and James, There was also another brother, Robert and a ,..,,._i 
sister, Mary Ann. Both of the latter lived in Lawrence co., Wisconsin. 
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Pages 144-5 

Fern Fields of Oklahoma City has provided additional information on Permelia 
(child# 1 on p. 144) and Lawarence Lessenby <child i 9 on p. 145>. 

Permelia was b. 26 Feb 1825, d. 20 Sep 1906, bur. Port cem,, nr. Sentinel, 
Washita co. OK. Her dau. Pauline Hunt, b. 14 Jan 1868, d. 20 Dec 1957, bur. 
Memorial cem, Oklahoma City, OK; md. 8 Sep 1886, Saline co, IL (for child, see 
"Amon Hume" under "Lawrence Lessenby" below.> 

,;_ ~e.~P. Lawrence Lessenby, b, 20 Aug 1841, Gallatin co, IL; d. 9 Jun 1912, bur. 
~ SiJnaa Springs, AR; md. 20 Nov 1862 Susan Melvina Barker, Hamilton co. IL. 

Children (replace list on p, 145>: 
1, Orilla Jane, b. 5 Sep 1863, Saline co. IL; md. 20 Jul 1884 W.D. Ezell, 

Saline co. IL; d. 21 Sep 1917, bur. Siloam Springs, AR. 
2. Amon Hume, b. 17 Oct 1865, Saline co, IL; md, 8 Sep 1886 Paulina Hunt, 

Saline co. IL; d. 25 Mar 1853, bur. Memorial Park cem, Okla. City, OK; Children 
<a> Clemma Grace, (b) Ovelton Earl, <c> Allie Fern, <d> Maud May, <e> Nellie 
Eldine, & Cf> Noah Eddle. The latter md. Dora Lee Deen & lives in Okla. City. 
Clemma Grace has a son Leonard Horris who lives in Prineville, OR. Allie Fern 
has a dau. Geneva Fern Cassady Fields who lives in Oklahoma City. 

3. Irene Ellen, b. 1 Feb 1867, Allen co. KS; d. 7 Jul 1872, Montgomery co. 
KS. 

4. Ethan Otho, b. 30 Jan 1869, Woodrow co. KS; md. < l> 1916 Agnes Reed, 
<2> Jo Hannah; d. 18 Sep 1939, Portland, OR. 

5. Ollie Grace, b. 2 May 1871, Montgomery co. KS; d. 16 Jan 1873, 
6. Eddie Emit, b. 16 Oct 1873, Jasper co. MO; md. 14 Dec 1904 Mable 

Miller, Van Buren, AR; d, 16 May 1929, Woodward, OK, 
7. Allie Elizabeth, b. 30 Oct 18?6 Williamson co. IL; md. 15 Feb 1905 B.D. 

Matthews, Cordell, OK; d, 25 Nov 195?, bur Rose Hill cem, Okla. City; children: 
<a> Helen Matthews, (b> Mary Davenport Matthews. 

8. Maud May, b. 13 May 1879, Saline co. IL; md. 1 Mar 1905 Samuel Marvin 
Wright Randle, Bessie, OK; d. 17 Mar 1961, bur Rose Hill cem, Okla. City; 
children: <a> Evelyn Elizabeth, <b> Ida Lucile, <c> Carol Coffey. 

9. John Wilson, b. 11 Feb 1881 Saline co. IL; d. 30 Aug 1881, Saline co. 
10. Shelby Carr, b. 12 Oct 1882, Saline co. IL; d. 28 Jul 1884, Saline co. 
11. Ethel Eva, b. 3 Aug 1885, Saline co. IL; md. 22 Jan 1905 Paul G. Reeve, 

Washita co, OK; d. 12 Jun 1940, bur Rose Hill cem, OKla, City, OK; children: 
Eva Reeve & Paul G. Reeve. 

Child# 12, John McClernan: grandson John Lockhart Coffey, b. 4 Feb 1898, d. 
8 Aug 1984; grandau. Georgia Coffey, b. 22 Feb 1903, d. 12 Apr 1985. 

Page 146 

Top of page <Thomas Coffey £am.>: 
Lois Anne Bloss of Willsville, KS whose son William Lee Coffey is a 2nd g g 

son of William Allen Coffey Ci 2> lists the latter's son Rufus as James Rufus, 
b. 24 Jan 1861, Brumley, Miller co. MO; d, 21 Apr 1931, Bristow, OK; md, 
Cordelia Jane Carroll 13 Mar 1884, Camden co. MO. The unnamed son I had listed 
is Albert C. He is the father of Sophronia Mae who md, Willoughby Lewis 
Rowson, the parents of Stanley Irwin Rowson, the father of Everett K. Rowson of 
Philadelphia, PA. William Allen was a private in the Civil War. His complete 
family is as follows: 
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William Allen Coffey, b. 8 Sep 1831. IL, lived in Linn Creek, MO, d. 13 Auq 
1906, Toronto, MO; md. 22 Mar 1855 Mary A. Wiseman ,. b. 1835, MO, d. U Dec 
1913, Toronto, MO>, Camden co. MO. Children: 

1. George, b. 1856, MO, rnd. Ellen-------, 5 child. 
2. Louisa S,/J., b. 185718, MO, d, bef 1898, 
3. Thomas B., b. 1858, MO, rnd. Nora M. Schooley, 8 child. 
4. Ruf us, b. 1861, MO, md. Delia -----, 5 child, 
5. Kaz iah Clementine, b. 1863, MO, md. Thomas Pemberton, 5 child. 
6. Caledonia, b. 1865, MO 
7. Sarah E, IJ., b, 1865/6, MO, d. bef 1898. 
8. James Everett, b. 1868, md. Minerva Dorinda Schooley, 8 child, 
9. Albert C., b. 1870, d. 1947, West Plains, MO., rnd. 12 Mar 1893 Jo5eph'ine 

Ragsdale. 
10. Jasper A. C N. '?J, b. 1873, MO, md, 11 Aug 1904 Eliza Wilson, Reno co. KS. 

Pages 146-7 

Add to James Wesley Coffey's children: <Ref. Charles Sloan, Raleigh, IL> 
1. Isabella <Simmons>, d. 1935, children: (a> Myrtle, (b> John Orct, Cc> 

Owen, <d> Ollie & <e> Silas. She md. <2> "Doc" Kaines, 1 dau., Jessie. 
3. Sarah Elizabeth <Ogden>,children: Ca) George, <b> Stella, <c> Susie & 5 

who d. as infants. 
4. Mary J. <Hargraves>, children: <a> Charlie, (b) Mattie, <c> William, <d> 

Grace, (e> Ebb & <f> Cliff. 

Lewis P. Coffey: Wife Nancy b. 28 Feb 1821, Davidson co. TN, d. 30 Dec 1898. 
2. Snphronia, b. 27 Dec 1846, d. 31 Mar 1932; md. Cl> 12 Jul 1868 Martin 

Luther Hicks, <2> Riley Griswold. 
Lewis' wife Nancy, md. (2> 25 Oct 1853 Eldridge Sneed who d. 1 Oct 1857. 

They had one dau. Ladonia Cor Ladonna), b. ca 1854 

Page 148 
Newman Arthur Coffey, son of John Eli, was b. 1 Jan 1914 & d. 19 May 1944. 

CHAPTER l.l. 

The Lane Family 
Page 151-2 

Last paragraph: John Crew was b. ca 1676, md. < 1) Catherine, < 2 > Sarah 
Pleasants or Sarah Monroe. 

Ann Crew ,p. 152>, b. ca 1710-14. 

Page 153 
Top of page: 
Benjamin Hancock was granted land in Cumberland co, KY 

which became Wayne co. in 1800. His will was dated 3 Sep 
1815. The children listed were daus. Nancy Martin, Sarah 
Warren; the sons were William, John L,, Jessy & Benjamin. 

in 1799 in a part 
1811 & proved in Nov 
Rains & Marjory 
They may also have 
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had a son Daniel who d. bef. the will. Margaret C or Marjory), b. ca 1780-85, 
md. Reuben Warren 6 Jan 1811. Beulah Warren·Moore of Ft. Worth, TX is a direct 
descendant of this line. Jesse md. Milly Morrow 24 Feb 1810. Benjamin md. 
Betsy Vickrey 16 Dec 1820, John md. Tabitha Ballew 19 Jul 1806, & William md, 
Mary G. Johnson 21 Jan 1815. 

Bottom of page: 
Records of Eddie Anderson of Ft. Madison, IA show Mordecai Lane, b. ca 1760-

64, but another FGR (source unknown> says ca 1?55. Both dates are later than 
the 1747 I had projected. The marr. date to Susannah Ballard is given as 24 
Feb 1796 in Guilford co. NC. She was b. 18 Jul 1764, the dau of William 
Ballard & Ann Stanley. Mordecai d. sometime between 1800 & 1810 and shed, ca 
1838. Their children were C 1) Ann <Nancy), b. ca 1796, Guilford co. NC, md. 10 
Mar 1813 James Frazer; <2> William, b. ca 1798, Guilford co. NC; and <3> 
Pleasant, b. 7 Mar 1800, Guilford co. NC, md. ca 1819 Casandra Reynolds, 
Guilford co. NC, d. 9 Aug 1876, Van Buren co. IA. These last are ancestors of 
Eddie Anderson. 

Page 157 

Mordecai Lane, d. 30 Nov 1873, aged 86 years. His wife Celia Atkinson, dau 
of John Atkinson, a Rev. War Vet., & Elizabeth Hall, whose father also was a 
Rev. War soldier, was b. ca 1791 in NC & d. 10 Mar 1874, aged 83 years <stone 
erected by a son>. Both bur. in Franklin Butte cem. nr. Scio, Linn co. OR. 
When they came west they had a Donation Land Claim near Sublimity, Marion co. 
OR. They later sold this<# 3924> and moved to Linn co. See notes for p. 162 
for their children, It might be noted at this point that Celia's mother moved 
to Lawrence co. AL sometime after her husband d. in 1810, prob. following a son 
there. It is thought that the Lane family also moved there from Wayne co. KY 
since some of their daus. listed Alabama for the birthplace, but then may have 
gone back to Wayne co. KY briefly before going to Illinois. Since the account 
of the James Coffey family Cp. 130) indicates they lived in Alabama from 1818 
to 1820 Lawrence co. may have been the place where they lived and would account 
for the reason of going to Alabama. 

Page 159 

Sarah "Sally" Lane: According to her tombstone in Hamilton co. IL she would 
have been b. 15 Apr 1797 (d. 28 Mar 1880, aged 82 years, 11 months, 13 days>. 
After her husband Jacob <Dean> d. she md. 24 Aug 1857 Hezekiah B. Massery, 

Page 162 

Correction and additions to the children of Mordecai Lane & Celia Atkinson. 
1. Lucinda, b. 27 Nov 1812 C?>, Wayne co. KY. 
2. Malinda, b. 1 Oct 1814 
3. Elizabeth, b, 26 Oct 1816, Wayne co, KY, d. 4 Sep 1905, Albany, OR: md. 

< 1) 25 Jul 1839, MO, James Perry, (2) 7 Jul 1867 Olney Fry, Sr., Linn co. OR 
4, Nancy, b. 26 Oct 1819, Wayne co. KY, d. 6 Jan 1894, Scio, OR; md. 19 Jan 

1841 Creed T. Bigger, Miller co. MO (d. 1 Nov 1876, age 70 yrs. 5 ms. 21 ds), 
both bur. in Franklin Butte cam, Linn co. OR. Also, there are children or 
grandchildren bur. there: Or. George Lee Bigger C 1874-1953), James M. Bigger 
<d. 5 Oct 1870, age 21 ys, 4 ms, 19 ds, & George W, Bigger< 1846-1907), 
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5. John J., did not have a Donation Land Claim, first lived in Linn co. but ~ 
left and nothin~ further is known of his family Cperhaps went to California, 
but erected toombstone on his parent's graves after they d, in 1873-4>. 

6. Mary Melissa, b. ca 1824, AL<?>, d. 21 Mar 1859, Marion co. OR. 
7, Frances Anne, b. 17 Oct 1824, AL; d. 27 Aug 1907, Salem, OR; md. 11 Oct 

1855 Robert Godrey, Marion co. OR Cdiv. 1863); md. C2} 26 Nov 1866 Matthais 
Marvin. 

8. Priscilla, b, 1826, AL; d. Lakeview, OR; md. 10 Nov 1853 Frederick 
Augustus Miller, Marion co, OR; lived in Sublimity area of Marion co. until ca 
1869 when they went to Lake co. A son, Francis Marius became rather prominent 
in Lakeview in stockraising, banking and municiple affairs. 

9. Elmina, b, l J\ll 1832, IL C ?>, d, 8 < or 18> Nov 1906, Albany, OR; md, 10 
May 1854 David Kirkpatrick, Marion co. OR. 

Most of the new info. on the Mordecai Lane family is from Betty Kurtz, 
Hillsboro, OR. 

Sarah "Sally" Lane <md, Jacob Clay Dean>: 
It may be that they did not have a son Jacob, At least the Jacob Dean who 

md. Martha Ann Johnson appears to have been the son of William Dean and <prob.> 
his 2nd wife Barsheba Jane Durham. Child# 6 of Sally & Jacob Clay Dean should 
be Susan Ardine Dean, not Susan N. Dean, It might be well to mention that some 
descendants insist that the name is spelled Deen, 

Page 163 

The obituary of William Dabney Lane says that he was b, 29 May <not Mar.> 
and that he is of a family of 9 (we only have 5 listed.} The obit. mentions 
only two surviving, a sister in Illinois [Susanna] and "Mr. Jerry Lane of Big 
Piney." The latter must be one of the 4 for which I had no record. Also 
mentioned is the fact that his wife "departed this life last fall" C 19041. 
Eight of his children were surviving at the time and all lived at Big Piney. 

Many Lanes and Deans are bur. in Little Spring cern., Hamilton co. IL <Ref., 
Opal Morrow>. 

CHAPTER 12 

The Dabney Family 

The genealogy of this family is still very much confused. It seems 
impossible to verify which of the many accounts are true unless we can find 
some mare reliable records. Concerning the origin < p. 170> there is more 
evidence that Charles William Dabney's 1937 account is correct. A few years 
ago the following records were found in English Parish Registers: 

Cornelius Dabney <Daubney> was christened 11 Dec 1631 in the town parish of 
Bucknall, Lincolnshire, England <Bucknall Bishop's Transcripts>. His parents 
were Theodore Daubney <Dawbney> and Dorothy Batts who were md. 30 Apr 1630. 
Theodore was christened 6 Jun 1606, the son of John Dawbney <town Parish of 
Scatter>. John was b. 1570 at Scotter, Linc., graduated from St. John's 
College of Cambridge Univ, 1588 & was Vicar of Calverton, Notts. & Rector of 
$cotter, 1605-10. He was bur. 28 Jan 1610/11. He was a son of William Dawbney 
Cea. 1535-May 1613> & wife Agnes. William was probably the son of Richard 
Dawbney (ca. 1505-46> & wf. Isabell. 
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Frank Crosswhite of Superior, NZ., who I earlier mentioned in connection with 
Coffey and Cleveland families, also is a Dabney descendant and has investigated 
this line with some slightly differing conclusions. Referring to the bottom of 
p, 170 he is convinced that Cornelius the immigrant had no wife other than 
Edith and that the Cornelius attributed to him was a son of James and Susem1a, 
the latter as a widow marrying David Anderson. This would be the Cornelius 
that md. Sarah Jennings. I find no problem with a Susanna and Ann being the 
same person and I do not know of hard records that show James md. Ann Sherwood 
and Cornelius, Sr. md. Susanna Swan, but historical family records indicate 
this to be so. Also, I am not sure we can account for all the Cornelius Dabney 
families of the time without both Cornelius Sr. and James having a son 
Cornelius. 

Frank is descended from Cornelius Dabney <p. 178> through son Charles and 
his son Cornelius & 1st wife whose maiden name was Graham. The Sarah I have 
listed is Sarah Dagleigh, a second wife. Cornelius also had a sister Frances 
which should be added to the six sons of Charles Dabney. Frank believes that 
Cornelius' name might have really been William Cornelius, that he 1st md, 
Frances Harris & 2nd Molly Lane. He also thinks the latter was probably Thomas 
Lane's sister, Marjorie Lane. However, I don't see where the name Marjorie is 
ever used for Margaret Che assumes a name Mary Margaret "Molly" Lane.> or vice 
versa, and the name Marjorie is used later in the Lane family, I do believe, 
however, that Mary "Molly" Lane must have been closely related to Thomas Lane. 

A further projection by Frank Crosswhite is that John Dabney of Appomattox 
who md. Anna Harris (dau. of Tyree Harris and sister of Frances Harris> is the 
father of Nathan who md. Jenny Younger and went to Wayne co. KY and later Macon 
co. MO (see pp. 179-180>. Among the children of this John Dabney is a son 
Nathaniel, a name often given as Nathan. This Nathaniel, according to family 
recs., is supposed to have gone to Louisiana and d. there. However, in 
correspondence Frank shows that this is quite unlikely. As to my Nancy Dabney, 
he feels that she could be a younger sister of Cornelius of Bedford co. Cd. 
1792>, or a dau. of a widowed sister who remarried. 

My correspondence with Frank Crosswhite contains many other conjectures 
concerning the Dabneys, but at this point I prefer not to comment upon them. I 
give only this information for the interested reader who, in turn may want to 
correspond with Frank. I personally feel no closer to the truth on these lines 
(with the exception of the Dabney origin> than I did ten years ago when the 
original book was written. Perhaps someone else will undertake research on the 
Dabneys and find a better approach. 

CHAPTER 13 

Oregon Families 
Page 199 

Nebuzaradon was in Simpson co, KY after having been in the Adair-Russell­
Cumberland co. area. He prob. moved to Pike co. IL in 1831/2. 
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Page 200 

James Alaexander Coffey was b. 4 Jul 1872 in Lenoir, NC & d. 27 Nov 1957 in 
Jamestown, ND. He md. Josephine Andrews 30 Dec 1902. They were the parents of 
Constance Hamm Baarsch, Minneapolis, MN. 

Page 203 

George F. Coffey was bur. in City cem., Medicine Hat, Alberta, Canada, but a 
marker was later placed in Miller cem., Shelburn, Linn co., OR. 

Page 206 

ii 3, Thomas: wf, b, 1823; she md, <2> 1861 Elijah W, Rhea, Lane co. OR. 
Children of Thomas: another listing <CCC Sep '86, p. 9> has Gholson S., not 
Ghalan, b. ca 1850; Mary, b. ca 1842; Emily, b. ca 1843; Sidney J,, b. ca 1845; 
John I. H., b. ca 1857; Sarah L., b. ca 1850; Elizabeth F., b. ca 1853; and 
Green M., b. ca 1855. 

ii 6, Catherine Jane: prob. b. Simpson co. KY. 
# 7, Sidney J.: prob. b. Simpson co. KY; d. 7 Sep 1844, Pike co. IL. 
# 8, German .J.: b, Sinpson co. KY; md. < 1 > Juli 1 a < b. 1835, d, 1855 >; 

children: Mary L.; md. <2) 6 Jul 1856 Mary Margaret Smith, Lane co. OR, 
children: a 11 others 1 isted in book. John Crittenden Coffey was b. 1857 in 
Oregon 6 d. 1929, also Oregon. 

ii 9, Elizabeth: b. Simpson co, KY 

Page 207 

Top of page: Denton Darby Coffey was b. in IL. 
Lowisa Coffey should be Louisa; d, 17 Aug 1845, Pike co. IL 

Joel Coffey: 
Wife Sarah Hackey, b. 1795, dau of Wi 11 lam Lewis Mackey 6c Elizabeth Ashbrook 
Another child of Joel & Sarah < apparent 1 y the eldest, was Amanda, b. 1829 in 

MO< 1850 census> or Tenn. < 1870 cens1Js>; md. 24 Jul 1853 William F. Hosmer. She 
had 2 children: Ruth & Frank. She is listed as a sister in Mary L. Abbott's 
obit. 

Children of Terral Mackey Coffey were < l> Terral Lewis, d. 1878 aged 7 mo.; 
<2> James Herbert, b. May 1885, OR; <3> Octavia E.; (4) Earl O., b. Jan 1889; 
and <5> "an infant" <Hines History of Oregon & 1900 Clarke co. WA census>. 

Mary Louisa Coffey Abbott had 2 children: Henrietta M. and Webster <Obit.), 
Elizabeth Angeline Coffey rnd. 3 Feb 1856 in OR Terr. She is said to had had 

8 children, aaed "a babe in arms" to 28 when her husband was murdered Dec. 1919 
in Newman, CA. 

<some of the data above is from Washington Terr. Donation Land Claims 0-139, 
V-46 and Notification# 1303 1/2. > 

Page 217: .Ambrose: p. 66 should be 61. 

Page 224: William Mayfield: should be p. 50, not 49. 



ABBOTT. Henrietta H. 58 
Mary L. 58 
Webster SB 

AOAHS, Clarissa 18 
ALEXANOER, Geor9e 41 
ALLEN, John 11 

Nancy F. Loney 10 
l,w. A. 50 

ALLEY. Lillie Della 46 
ALLIS(),!, HarY 17 

V, Ephraim 45 
ANDERSON, DaYid 57 

Eddie 55 
ANDREUS, Josephine 58 
ARNETT, AIIY Ann 9 

Amanda E, 9 
Andrew 9 
Appal ine 9 
Jamn,es 9 
Mira 9 
Nelson 9 

ASHBROOK. Elizabeth SB 
ASKINS. Nancy 50 
ATKINSON, Celia 55 

John 55 
AUSTlN, Mary 18 
AUTON, W1lliain Columbus 17 

Willim Johnson 19 

SAARSCH, Constance 24 
BAGBY, Dianah H, 29 
BAlLEY, Chris 5 

John 42 
SAKER, Elizabeth 38 

Richard 24 
BALDUIN, Margaret 39 
SAILE'!', John 42 
BALEY, Hr. 50 
BALL, Elizabeth 27 
BALLARD, Suwnnah 55 

Wi I liam 55 
BALLEU, Hary Ann <Hrs.> 40 

Tabitha 55 
BARBEE, John 2 
BARBER, ECMln B, 43 
BARKER, SuMn Hel11ina 53 
8ARLIM, Nancy 11 
BARNES, Harriet 12 
BARNETT, Nancy Ann Phillips 21 
BARRY, La11lna 49 
BASKET, Susan 16 
BASKIN, Andrew 48 

Margaret 48 
BATTS, Dorothy 56 
BAUGH, William D, <Dr,) 42 
8AYSDRE, Sh1reen 42 
BEAM, Dorothy 23 
BEAMAll, Dave 43 
BEAVERS, Moses 3 
BENBROOK, Charles M, 38 
BENNETT , Pat 42 
BERNARD, Sarah 46 
BERRY, Sarah II 
BIGGER, Creed T. 55 

George Lee <Dr,> 55 
George W. 55 
James M. 55 

BILLINGS, Harpa.ret 15 
BLACK, George Fain 4 

Howard Mercer 25 
BLAIR, El :i,a 40 

James 13 
HarY 40, 43 

BLALOCK, Mary 19 
BLECKLEY, Franklin A, 4 
BLESSING, Freda 48 
BLOSS, LOIS Anne 53 
BO<J,IE, Anna <Annie) 12,24 

Hannah 12 
Jesse 12 
Hary Harie 17 
Rachel 12 ,23 

INDEX 

BIMEN, Elizabeth 26,28 
BRADFORD, Frances Elizabeth 14 
BRADLEY, Nancy 39 
BRADSHAW, Elizabeth 48 
BRASWELL, J. Thaddeus 17 

Thaddeus 17 
BRAWiER, Jesse Jr. 29 
BREWINGTON, Gene 29,34,36,49 
BRIDGES, Hr, 44 
BROWER, Helen L, 38 
BROWN, Alired 16 

Al ice Hae 44 
Carol 26,27 
Elijah 27 
Elizabeth 27 
Jane 33 
Je5se 16 
HarY Jane 46 
Nancy 27 

BROWNING, NanCY ~-- 41 
BRYAN, Ann Ptn1lope 35 
BRYS!J-1, Sarah 12 
BUCK, RubY 39 
BUCKNER, Eiizabeth 41 
BULLEN, lSd.AC 22 

James P, 22 
BUNCH, Tom 9 

Wi 11 ian; Henry 9 
BURGES, Sarah F, 28 
BURGESS, Marian 42 
B--GLER, Ju1Ydla 41 

CADDELL, Etiiabeth Susan 29 
CAIVINS, Susan K, 16 
CALLOWAY, !:ne-line 17 

Gilu 17 
Harriette Melissa 19 
lsarell,; 17 
Ja.,•: 17 
Larki.i 17 
Nancy 17 
Sampson 17 
Samuel 17 

CAMBELL, Oarias 40 
Eliza Ann 21 
Ann1e E. 46 
Archibald 38 

CAMPBELL, Elizabeth 7 
Ezekiel 7 
James 7 

CANAN, Mr . 27 
CANARD, Dauid 26 
~ON, Nancy 13 
CARROLL, Cordelia Jane 53 

Sal IY, 13 
CASKEY, John Coffey 48 

Samuel 48 
Themas 47 
T,W, 47 

CASSELL, Anna 40 
CARTER, t1ary Nancy 40 ,45 
CAR'TWRIGHT, Sally 7 
CHADWELL, Elizabeth 16 
CHANBERS, Sereptla 44 
CHAPt1AN, Sarah Jane 43 
CHRISTENSEN, Hr, 43 
CHRlSTI', Nancy B, 15 
CIBANIJ-l, Sophia 30 
CLARK, Darlene 39 

Dennis 46 
Elua Tennessee 9 
Harue 17 
Paralee 9 
Ron B, 13 

CLEVELAND, Abulom 32 
Alexander 31,32,33,34 
Alexander Jr, 32,34 
•Anca• 34 
Ancarith1a <Anka> 32 
Anna 34 
BenJamin <Col,l 3,32,34,38 

'Devi I John' 32 
Eli 32-34 
Elizabeth 24,28,32,33 
Haryey 33 
Jacob 32 
Jane 33,38,39,45 
James 32,34 
Jamima 32 
Jeremiah 32-34 
John 3,4,32,33,34 
John <Rev.> 32 
John <Jack> 34 
Larkin 33,34 
Martha <Patsy) 32-34 
Mary 32.34 
Micajah 33,34 
Milly 32,34 
Patty 32,33 
Pressly 33 
Reuben 33 
Robert (Capt,) 33 
Roger 31 
Roger Alexander 31 
William 32 
William Johnson 33 
Vikki LYn 31 -34 

CLOYD, Pamela C, 48 
COBB, 11artha 4 
COBTAACH 1 
COCHRAN, Jane 13 
COFFEY, Abner 36 

Abraham 20 
Absalom '15 
Adaline 10,11,13,52 
Addison 44 
Adison A, 21 
Agnes 36,48 
Agnes Nancy 48,49 
Agni \la 42 
Ailsy 25 
Albert 131 17 
Albert C. 53,54 
Albert G. 47 
Albert Gallatin 46,47 
Albert 11, 16 
Alcey 25,27 
Aletha 17 
Aley 43 
Alfr11d 16 
AHr11d H, 15 
Alfred Hartin 13 
Alexander 13,48 
Alexander B. 30 
Alexander Hamilton 31 
Alexander Smartt 25 
Alice 11,25,43 
Al ice Eugenia '15 
Allie Elizabeth 53 
Al 1 le Fern 53 
All en 16, 43, 50 
Allene. 52 
Allen F, Sherman 10 
Alley 24 
Ally 25 
Almira 30 
Alphonso 13 
Alsa 25,27 
Alsy 21 
Alton Powell 13 
Amanda 31,44,58 
Ambrose t,22,25,26,27,28,58 
Ambrose Jr. 26,27,28 
Ambrose 11 I 27 
America 25,44 
Amon Hume 53 
Amos 27 
Al\105 o. 16,17,27 
Andrew 27,46 
Andrew B, 49 
Andrew Jackson 19,25 1 36,46 
Andrew Noble 17 
Anderson H. 42 

59 
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Anc;iellne 28 
Ann 2,4,7,17 
Anna <Annie> 9,12,13 
Ann ~el ia 25 
Ano1n1u 43 144 
Archelau, 20,24,51 
Ardena 43 
Arona 22 
Arthur Marion 17 
Arthur Noble 17 
Asbury 30 
Asbury J, II 
Asbury 114di5on 28 130 
Atkvw 49 
Athan 12 
AthH N, •Sud' 12 
Aurelius 29 
Ausburn ,~usborne• 21 
Aust1• 12,19,22,23 
Au• t In C. 30 
Au~t1n Jr. 30 

Barret 22 
Bartlett 12 
Bashaba 4 
8on1.-n,1n 3,8,21,23,24,31. 

42,46,50 
BenJdlll n L. 29 
Bernetha 44 
Bettie, Betty or Betsy -

~ee Eluabeth 
Bonagarte 40 
Boone 12 
!lrown S. 36 
8n,1n 35 
Bryce I B 
Budd, 15 

Cabelu5 ,Cab1cus,Cab1n1,>43 
Ca I eaon 1a 54 
Cdl t 18 
c .. 1 ton 21 
Calvin 10, 11, 13,21,24,40-43 
C.>IVln J. 41 
Campbel I 24 
C,1pta1n 3 
Carol 36 
Cdrol1ne 13,19,2B,4I 
C,nandra 11 
Caner 11 
CJ~uus 43 
CJ,wel 1 22 
Catherine 29,36,37,39 
Catherine Jane 58 
Cealy <Cely) 20,45 
Colla l2,13,15,30,37,42,43,45 
Chaney 29 
Chaney Evergreen 29 
Charityl3 
Charles 14, I 9 
Charles Grandison 52 
Charles ll!llji, 14 
Char !er. H, 28 
Charin Oliver 
Charlotte 15 
Chatham 25 
ChHll.'Y 3,38 
Chesley Jr. 39,40,42,45 
Chesler Sr. 33,39,40,45 
Chloe 52 
Chr i 5 lian 46 
Christopher Riffe 8 
Clara Gertrude 40 
Clark 1'1acl1n 31 
Clav1nda 42 
ClelMl.i Grace 53 
Cleueland 3,4,17,19,22,23,37, 

39,40,42,43,45 
Cleveland Salath1el 39 
Colbert l, 39 
Colbt 21,22 
Coll 1~s 23 
Col I Is 17 
Columbvs 35 

Cornel 1us 12 
Cornelius Jones \9 

Cvnth1a 35 
Cynthia A. 27,45 
Cyrenna 40 
Cvrus 44,45 
Cvrus R. 42 
Cvrus Christooher 42 

Oan1e Richard 38 
Daniel 12,14.27 
Daniel Franklin 38 
Jana>\ P. 19 
()arcus S, 52 
D.1r1us 45,46 
~,1v1d 9,17,19,27,36 
Oau1d C, 43 
David Columbus 18 
0.1v1d Pleasant 48 
0.1v1d I.I. 46 
Oav, Hugh Jr. 23 
Deanna 50 
Deborah 10 
OeCalb 17 
Oel1a S4 
Del la 30 
Delpha 28 
Delphia 22 
Oeniza 15 
Oen ton Darby 58 
DiCY 21,40 
Due 36 
Donna II 
Dorcas ID 
Oorca, Ann ID 
Orewy S, II 
Drury 12 

Eadv 36 
Earl 0, 56 
Ea~ter Louise 49 
Ed, Cloueland 38 
Eddie Emit S3 
Eamund <Edmond! 7,10.12,23 
Edmund A. 29 
Edmond llaabv 2" 
Edmund s:10 
Ed-•ard 2,3,4,12 
E~ard Jr. 3,38 
Eaward <Gen.> 
Eo,,ard H, 20 
Ec!w1n R. 37 
Elbert 12 
Elddlana IB 
Eleanor <Elenderl 52 
El 1 a C. 8 
El la Eudora 50 
E 11 Pn 43,54 
El 1 en 8, 30 
El I 11,37 ,39 ,40 ,43.45 
El I C, 14 
El ,as 21 
EI I Jah 4, 7, I 2, 13, 16, 22, 23, 

26,27,28,33,37,39,43 
El 1sha 4,15,17 
EI l : a 4 , IO. I I , I 2, 15, 23, 27 , 

40,44 
El ua A. !9 

Eliza Emeline 38 
Eliza Jane 18,19,29 
Elizabeth 3,4,7-10,12,14,17, 

18,20-25,28,29,31,33,35, 
37,39,41-43,45,48-50,58 

Elizabeth Ann 10,29 
Elizabeth e. 16 
Elizabeth Angeline SB 
EluabethF, 
Elizabeth Faye 44 
Elizabeth Graham 38 
Elizabeth Gravov 36 
Elizabeth W, 49 
Elvira 13,31 
Emeline 22,37 
Em1 IY <Emilie) 121 14,27,28, 

36,37,58 

Em11 y Jane 44 
Enma 17-19,48 
Enoch 17 
Ethan Otho 53 
Ethel Eva 53 
Eupheme 41 

Fel1c1a 41,42 
Felh G. 42 
Fielden 42,43 
Fielding 37,42 
F1eldinQ Gdtewood 44 
Finley P. 13 
Florence e_.11 9 
Frances 3,30 
Frances Caroline 
Frances H. 20 

15 

France, HcAl, aster 
Francis 18 
Francis L. 19 
Franc JS Har1on 

Gabriel 11 
Gar land 10 ,31 
Garrett 28 

46 

36 

George 19,22,28,37,54 
George Alfred Cdldwell 46 
G11oroe 8, 37 
George 8.W. 42 
Georoe F, ~B 
George H. 19 
Geor9e H. 20 
Georgl' N. 20 
George I.I. 37,43 
Geor9e Washington 18,19,25 
George W1ll1s 45 
Georgia 53 
German J. 58 
Gholson S, 58 
GI lbert 29 
G111 iam 13 
Golson Walson 46 
Gracie 39,41 
Grandison Green 52 
Granv 1 11 e 11 , I 5 
Grayson 13 
Green 37 
Green N. 58 
Green Nore 44 
Gwyn 19 

Hami 1 ton 30 
Hannah 8,12,17,35 
Hannah E, 20 
Hannah Jane 38 
Harrel 1 I 9 
Harriet 12,13 140 144 
Harrison 42 
Harrison H. 49 
Har"eY N, I 3 
Hat tie 19 
Havs \Haves, 1 .. 

Havs Jr, 44 
Hell, (Hett•• 4~ 
Henrv 7,9,47-4', 
Henrv AQUJlli 10 
HPnr • 8. 30 
He~rv ErAd4ora 31 
t◄ e11r v C. I 2 , 14 
Henry J. 4,o 
Henry H1 I ton 11 
Het t1 14 
He:a.k1ah 12 
Hillie 13 
Hiram 25 
Hiram e. 15 
Ho! land 25 
Horatio Roberts 52 
Hudson 7 
Hugh 47-49 
Huoh G, 41 
Hugh Jr. 4? 
Huch M. 47 
Huoh Sr. 47-4..­
Hug~ Wt I e• 48 
.,_.umphre._. 3-; 
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Ike 43 
111.u (llai I 4 
Ira 4 
Irena 28 
Irene 19 
Irene El Ion 53 
Irwin <Irvin> 24 
haac 3,12,27,41 
It.a.le N, 41 
Isabella 11,49,54 
Isaiah 3,4 
llham 31 
1110111 15,20 
Israel 12 
Ivory 4 

Jack 34 
Jackson 35, 39 
Jacob 41 
James 1,3,10,11,13 1 15116 1 18, 

20,22,23,27,28,30,37,42-46, 
48,'50-52,5' 

JaniH A, 10,46 
Jamos Aloxandor 24 149 
Jamo11 C, 39 
James Cleveland 38 
James D. 20 
James Danial 27 
JamH David 20 
James Delbert 43 
Jame5 E. 10 
Jame5 Elborl 14 
James Erno9l 36 
James Everett 54 
James F. 15 
James Hardin 40 
James Herbert '58 
J.unes Irwin 24 
James J. 11 
James Jr. 11,24 
James K. 42 
James L, 44 
JamH Leeper 50 
James 11. 9,30 
James M, Jr. 4,14 
James Madison 21,25,29 
James Mart In Sr. 14 
James Mar 11ha I I 31 
James Monroe 28 
James Perry 8 
J4111e,; R. 45 
J.vnes Rufus 53 
James s. 40 
James Simpson 40 
James W. 15,46,49,50 
James Wesley 54 
Jane 2,4,7,11,16,18,23,31,37, 

39 141-43,4S 148,S0,52 
Jane E. 14 
Jane Elizabeth 35 
Jane Louise 16 
Jarad (Jerette?> 28 
Jasper A, 28 
Juper H, 13 
Jean 48 
JtH 48 
Jenny 10, 18 
Jesse 3,4,7-9,16-18,20-25, 

27,30,39,45 
Jesse Ca I ton 18 
Jesse (Capt,> 3,38 
Jesse Carlton 18 
Jesse Cleveland 3 139 
Jene CIR 10 
Jesse F, 19 
Jesse Fillmore 19 
Jesse H, 25 
Jesse P. <Jr.> 8 
Jesse Patterson 17,19 

Jes,e s. B,14,39 
Jene T, 19 
Jethro 23 
J.F. 44 
J. Harri son 13 
J1nCY 37,47 
Jool 4,10,16,22,33,36,37,39, 

42-45,56 
~oel Anderson 13 
Joel BenJan,in 21 
Joel Henn 10 
Jool W111 iam 4 
Joel Woodson 38 
John 1,2,4-7,9-11,13,14,18, 

!9,2l,22,28,34-36,40,42, 
43,45.47-50 

John A, 19,21,35,40 
Johh Benjamin 31 
John Burnett 10 
John C. 46 
John Calvin 13 
John Clavton 14 
John Crittenden 58 
John D, 48 
John Dau Id 44 
John Oauidson 20 
John O.C. 50 
John Donelson 36 
John E, 19 
John El1 54 
John Finley 19 
John <Gen. l 35 
John Gibson 15 
John Gordon I 4 
John H. 9 
John I .H. 58 
John L, 28 
John Lockhart '53 
John H, 28,48 
John Mctiernan 53 
John Peyton 11 
John Reid 31 
John Robert,; 52 
John st-rt 19 
John Taylor 36 
John Trou~dale 36 
John W. 20,27,46 
John Wesl oy II 
John Wilkerson 23 
Jonah 12 
Jonathlln 20,49 
Jonathan <Col,> 48 
Jordan 7 
J. Rufui 11 
Joseph 16,17,19,34,37,44,48 
Joseph A, 20 
Joseph Burgess 18 
Jo.eph C, 10 
Jonph Lane 50 
JOHPh M, 12,20 
Jo11aph R, 17 
Jo1111ph W, I 7 
Jo11lah A, 9 
Jo11ia 40 
Joshua 11,12,23,28,35,36 
Jo11hua A, 36 
Joshu.s Dauid 36 
Joihua Mctallistor <Reu.>36 
Julia 11,12,23,44 
Jul 1a A, 14 
Julia Jana 15 
Ju I 1at 52 
Juli la 58 
Julius Calvin 18 

Kaziah CletDentino 54 
Kel th 19 
Keith Howard 17 
K1ttY 37 
K1z1a Katherina 38 

Lacy 22 
Landon 42 
Langston 37 
Larkin II , I 2, 14 
Larkin D. 14 
Larry 9 
Laura 15 
Laura B, 45 
Laura LouiH 15 
Lavina 24 
Lavill4 15 
Lawrence 14 
Lawrence Lessenby 53 
Lawson 21 
Loah 3,23,50 
Lea111t t 22 
Leland 12 
Lemu11I 36 
L11ticla 39 
Lo11en Stokos 20 
Lelli 28 
Lelli W, 20 
Luwis 13,14,17,28,29 
Lawis Elbert 14 
Lo.ah P. 54 
LI I ian 28 
LI ly 19 
L1ncia 18 
L1ncy 37 
L1n11111 e 11 
Lo.iny 29 
Logan <Logenl 36 145 
Lo94n McMill1n 37 
Lotty E. 39 
Lou 18 
LOU15 43,44 
Louisa 11,12,58 
Louisa Caroline 28,44 
Lou ha Jane 16 
Louisa S/J 54 
Lovancy 11 
Lo,,,ell William 17 
LuAnn 28 
Luchia 18 
Luci I la 44 
Lucinda 16,18,37,41,42,46 
Lucinda H. 36 
LUCY 37 ,46 
LUCY A, 40 
Lulu S. 43 
Lurane 29 
LYdia 27 

M. 43 
Madi110n 9 
t1a99111 30 
Mahalia 10,42,43 
Malena ti 
Malinda 19,22,43 
Malinda C. 16 
Mandy 0, 46 
Hllnsel 37 
Manuel 21 
Harcus <H,> 8 1 19 
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Margaret 3,4,11,14,19 122,26, 
27,40 ,41 ,47 

Margaret A, 23 
Margaret E. 14, 19 
MArgaret Jane 49 
Margaret L, 40 
l'largaret P. 17 
l'largie 43 
Nart.ih 371 39,43 
Hariah Ann 37 
Marshall Lock 44 
Hart 4S 
Martha ll,15,17,19,28,29 131, 

35-37,39,42,43,45,46,48,50 
Martha Ann 17 
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COFFEY 
Mar Iha e. 43 
1'1.lr tha 8a9by 38 
Mart ha E , 12 , I 5 
Martha Franc1, 8 
Mutha J, 10 
Martha Jane 18,20 
Mdrtha L. 17 
Martha Serend 17 
Martin 13,39,43,45-47 
1'1drt1n Sr, 45-47 
11.lr t In OeW I t t 14 
Martin Vdn Buren 14 
Martin W. 45 
Marvel ll,12,23,24 
Marv <also Polly) B,10-12,14, 

15,17,18,20-22,25,27-3l,35-
42,44-50,58 

H,a,ry A. 22,43 
Mary Ann<o> 31,40,44,52 
Mary C. 14,49 
Mary Cleveland 30 
Mary Donelson 36 
Mary E, 27,37 
Mary El ua 31 
Marv FranC&'3 4 
1"1n I. 46 
Har, J. 19,21,54 
Mdry Jane 9,17,19,36 
Mary L. 17,58 
Mary Lou 14 
Mary Lou11a 42,58 
Mary N, 46 
Mary S. 20,37 
Mary W, 31 
11.tson 27 
Mateld1a II 
Matilda 3,10,18,21,22 
Matilda A. 19 
Matilda Cathorine 21 
Matilda Evaline 42 
Matthew 9 
Maud Hay 53 
M.E. 40 
Helson 22 
Meredith 9 1 10 143 
Meredith W.:.1hington 38 
Hila 12 
Michael 50 
Michael A, 31 
Michael W, 20 
Mildred 25 1 36 
Hillie (Hilly) 8,12 118,22 
Hi 1 he Ann 46 
Hilton 12,13,21 
Hilton Wolford 40 
111 I us II 
Minerva 8,11,13,15 
Minter L, 20 
r11ra <Mrra, 10,11,13,22,25 
Mira Lucinda 9 
Monroe 23 
Morl}an 12 
Moses 46 
Murry 39 
M,ra Angeline 19 

McCaleb 12,14,19 
McCord E. 42 

Noah Eddie 53 
Noah W. 20 
Nanc, 3,4,o,10,11,15,18,20-23, 

26-28,30,35-39,41,43,46,48, 
50,54 

Ndncv Ann 20 
Nancv C, 37 
NanCY E. 16 
N.snc• Aqnes 
NdnCY J. 42 

48 

Nanc:w-Jane 40 
Na.nc_-, J,F, 45 
Nancy M, 19 
Nancr , . 36 

NdOITll 7 
Nathan 8,40,41,44,45 
Nathan E. 41 
Nathan James 38 
Nathaniel 49 
Nathaniel Jackson 40,45 
Nebuzaradan 3,37,39,40,42,45, 

51 ,47 
N,E. 40 
Nellie Eldine 53 
Nelson 7 122 
Neoma 15 
N~n Arthur 54 
Newton 39 
Newton Eli 40 
Newton H. 13 
N1as <see Ananias> 

Octau1a E. 58 
011uer 30 
Ol1uer Shuford 23 
011 let 31 
Ollie Grace 53 
Ori I la Jane 53 
Orp1liaJ,l4 
Osborn 6,8,9 
Oue I ton Ear I 53 
Owen 18 

PatseY <see also Martha• 9 
Patrick Henry 2~ 
Patterson 17 
Patterson •Janee 13, 24 
Penelope 35 
Perme• ia 53 
Permeta 40 
Perry 11,21,52 
Peter 3,34,36 
Peter Jr. 35 
Peyton Joshua 36 
Pleasant 36 
Pleasant 8. 36 
Polly <see Maryl 
Pol lY Ann 39 
Preston l.larren 30 
Ou1ntas 45 

Rabdn Scott 17 
Rachael Frances 30 
Rachel Lorinda 18 
Rachol H. 15 
RansOffl 18.21 
R.srmond 43 
RaYl!lond LUCIOUS 14 
Rebecca 9,21,22,27,49,50 
Rebecca Ann 45 
Rebecca Ellen 48 
Rebecca s. 18 
Reuben 7,B,10 1 13,15,16,18, 

20,22,24,27,28,30,39,40 
Reuben G, 10,46 
Reuben Goerge 45 
Reuben Jr. 15 
Rice 9,10,31 136,50 
Richard 27,ZII 
Richard H, 46 
Richard L. 13 
Richard H. 52 
Richard Nighton94le 8 19 
Richard Smith 35 
Richardson 21 
Richmond 18 
Riley 20 
Robert 20,23,40,43 152 
Robert A, ::it 
Robert 8. 4e 

Robert Cor.,.'!'1 IU!i 12,47 
Robert <Or.• 24 
Robert GIi 11am 11 
Robert Pierce 37 
Robert R, 30 
Robert T. 49 

RodA 22 
P.cl la 27 
Rosett~ Belle 27 
Rov 11 
Rufus 12,19,30,53.54 
Ru th 44 
Ruth El 11ab1Hh 

S,A, 43 
S..lath1el 39,40,42,43,45 
Sally <Sal I 1e) 4,8, 10-13,21. 

30,37,S2 
Sally Ann 20,21 
Sally M, 37 
Sam II 
Samuel 22,48 
Samuel H, 2B 
Samuel J, ,,, 
Samuel I.I, 48 
Sara A. 17 
Sara Jano 44 
Sarah 4,7,11,12,15,17-20,22, 

23,26-30,32,35,36,39,4I, 
42,48 

Sarah A. 14,46 
Sarah Ann 38,45 
Sarah Be 11 31 
Sarah carol1ne 29 
Sarah Crye 49 
Sarah E. 19,52,54 
Sarah Elizabeth 9,18,31 146,54 
Sarah F. 45 
Sarah Frances 21 
Sar-ah H, IS 
Sarah Jane 20,49 
5.trah L. 58 
Sarah Lucinda 22 
Sarah Lou Isa 23 
Sarah Halinda 29 
Schylar 7 
Sealy <see Celia) 
Sel iny 37 
Semantha 43 
Shelby Carr 5:3 
Shelton 35 
Shelva 18 
Shuiord 12 
Sidney J. 58 
S1 las 18,20 
Silas C, 18,19 
S1rend 40 
Sn-ith 12 
Smith Jr, 12 
Solcw,,on 10 
Sophia 11,43 
Sophronia 11,12,54 
Sophronia Mae 53 
Sophron 1a T, 14 
Spencer 48 
Squire 12,24 
Stanton P. 37 
Stanton Presle~ 40 
Starl1n9 13 
Stewart 14 
Stockard Watkins 36 
Su~an 21,27,35,40,47,48 
Susan Elizabeth 17,19 
Susanna Jane 7 
Susannah 24,35,48,49 

Tabl Illa 8,15,20 
Tecld• 39 
Tel ett,a 27 
TEH11perance 15,24 
Terral Lewis 58 
Terral Mackey 59 
There1,a Ann 21 
lh011l4S 7,11-14,18,20,22,30, 

43,50,S3,58 
Tllan:,.u A. 20 
Thomas Aru1I 2f 
Thomas B. 54 
lhoraas C•lu1n 12 
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Th_, Chelton 38 
Thoma, Co111114n 31,46 
Th011141 F. 19 
Th0111411 Graves 35 
Thomas H. 19,42 
Thoma, Jefferson 14,21,25 
Th01114S Joshuo II 
Thoma, Jr. 11 
Thomas L. 39 
Thomas Hintrua 19 
Thomas R. 15 
Thomas Stock~ 36 
ThciMS W, 14 
Th01114S Y. 19 
TIidy 10,36 
Tl lll'lllln 15 
Tipton H. 30 
Treva Nae 11 

Vanra 11 
Victor L11e 17 
Vic tori a 44 
V1letta 42 
V1rg1nia l1abella 41 

Walker 49 
Walker Jackson 49 
u., I ton 37 
Wobster 29 
Wob11ter G. 29 
Welborn (Wilborn> 12,45 
Wo;ley 13 
William 3.7,I0-13,16,18,20-

29,34-37,40,43,44,48 
Lhlliam A. 20 
William Allen 53,54 
William Brazeal 24 
W1 I llam C, 27 
William Clayton 18 
WI lllam Clayton Jr. 18 
William Columbus IS 
William F. 40,45,46 
William Ecnondson 31 
W1 II lam G. 48 
WsllimH,20 
William Harrison 9.11 
William Herbert 46 
Wilham L. 19 
W111 lam Lee 53 
William Lawis 13 
WllliamM. 19,41,46 
Wi I I iam Nadison 38 
W1lllm Pinkney 18 
W1lllam R. 14 
William S. 40 
WIiiiam Trimble 16 
Wllli41'11 W. 10,19 
WIiliam WAilace 27 
Willl.:im Wilburn 38 
WI I ey 21 
Lh Joy 0, 31 
Wiley Hubbard 16 
Wiley J, 27 
WI l lis 39,40 
WI hon II 
Winifred 7 
W11odson 37 
Woodson Rickets 38 
Wyatt (Wlete> 37 

Zachariah 17,19,20 
Zackery 40 
Zarrah 3 
Zidnor 43 

COGBILL, H.\ry C. 48 
COLENAN, John 3,4 
COLLETT, Harr I ett 12 
COLLINS, Lettie 19 
CCJ,NER, Elizabeth 38 
COOi<, Henry 24 
COONER, Barry Green 44 

COOPER, Nancy 28 
Perry 28 
William 6 

COTTRELL, Sarah 'Sallie' 12 
COULTER, James 8 
COUNCIL, Elizabeth 14 
CRAIO, Elizabeth 44 

James 48 
CRAIN, Louena ID 
CRAIJFORO, I.V, 48 

Jamos HcOowell 46 
CREW, Ann 54 

Catherine 54 
John 54 

CRIDER, Chena 44 
CRISP, John 11 
CROCKET, Susanna 48,49 
CROt'IJELL, Oliver 34 
CROSHAW, Katherine 35 

Rachel 35 
CROSHER, Katherine 5 
CROSS, Oonna Lee Coffey 40 
CROSSWHITE, Frank 1,2,31,33,43, 

51,57 
J4111es Matterson 43 

CROWLEY, Ora Priscilla 30 
CRLNPTON, Hezekiah 8,29 

James 8 
Jane 8 
Sarah 30 
Winnifred 8,14,30 

CRYE, Sarah 49 
CULLEY, Bonnie 22 
CULP, China F, 13 
CINOIFF, Nancy 45 
CURTIS, Clarissa 16 

Hezakiah 13 
Hary Adeline 18 
Phobia Matilda 19 

CZAROWITZ, Jon 40 

DABNEY, Ann 57 
Charles 57 
Charles W1ll1am 56 
Cornelius, 56,57 
Cornelius Sr, 57 
Edi th 57 
Frances 57 
James 57 
John 57 
Nancy 57 
Nathan 57 
Nathaniel 57 
Susanna 57 
William Cornelius 

OAGLEIGH, Sarah 57 
DAIGH, Rebecca J, 38 
OAILEY, Perry 29 
OALTIJ-I, Abner 22 

Adeline 22 
Ally 22 
Archer 22 
Car t&r 21, 22 
Carter Jackson 22 
Delpha 22 
Green 22 
Hiram 22 
Emeline 22 
Lacy 22 
Lucretia 22 
Louisa 22 
Mahaly 22 
Mlnerua 22 
Perlina 22 
Plea11ant 22 
Sarah Hulda 22 
William N, 22 

DANIEL, Cunnlnghillll 35 
DANIELS, Charlos 35 
DANNELLEY, Beulah 48 

Th011141 48 
DAUBNEY <OAWBNEYl, Agnes 56 

Ccrnellus 56 
habell 56 

John :16 
Richard :16 
Theodore 56 
WI 11141!1 56 

OAVeiPORT, Elizabeth 6 
DAVIS, Henry 52 

John 41 
Hilly 39 
Parlee 52 
Sue 5 

DAWKINS, Julia Ann 13 
OAIJSON, Benjamin Jr. 8 

George B 
l)AY, Elizabeth 12 

Julia 23 
Lucinda 26,27 
Hyra 12 

DEAN <OEENl. Frances 52 
Francis 52 
Jacob 52,55,56 
Jacob Clay 56 
JamH 52 
LOUISA Jane 52 
Martha 52 
Sally 52 
Susan S2 
Susan Ard1 ne 56 
WI I ey 52 
William 52,56 

DEEN, Dora Lee 53 
DELLINGER, Joseph 18 

Lavina W. 18 
Reuben 19 

DEMASTERS, Mr. 7 
DERREBERRY, Louisa 12 
DILLARD, Carlton 35 
DOBBINS, Amanda Carolin11 23 
DONELSON, Mary 36 
OOUOHERTY, Rachel SO 
DRUl"MOND, Susannah 34 
OIJ,l8AR, Nancy 39,43 
OINCAN, Willard 25 
DUNN, Frances 27 
DURHAN, Barsheba Jane 52,56 

Hartha 24 
DWALL, Frank W. 14 
DYE, Xenia 52 
OYER, Josiah 16 

Polly 16 
Sarah IS 

EADS, Caroline 24 
EARL, Betty 34 
EDHIST!tl <EDHINJ>SON), 

Nargaret 8,18 
Nancy 18 

ELLIOTT, ~nlel 43 
ELLIS, Louisa 44 
ELLISON, Manda 44 
ELROD, Harold 25 
EOFF, Elizabeth 44 
EPPARD, Kathy 9 
EPPERSON, Hartha Virginia 4 
ESTES, Clarlasa 12 

John 13,18 
Laney 24 
Hartuha 13 
Nancy Hart1sha 24 
Sallie 12 
Sena 16 

EVANS, Chester William 40 
Herbert Edgar 40 
Kay Ann 40 

EVETTS, Joyce 47 
EZELL, W.O. 53 

FARTHING., David J. IS 
FIELDEN, Sarah Jane 10 
FIELDER, Sarah 35 
Fl ELDS, Fern 53 

Geneva Fern CasMdy 53 
Jane 8.30 
Sarah "Sally• 12,30 
Thomas 8 



64 
FELT¥, Chr1st1ne 52 
FERGUSO'l, N.!r tha 27 
FINE, Elizabeth 40 
FITZGERALD, BenJam1n 7 
FLAl.tll GAN, Ewi n9 G. 52 

Harth.s E. 52 
Paulina Eleanor 52 
Sarah Jane 52 

FLETCHER, Burd 43 
FRANKLIN, Bernard 32 

Frank 1 1 n Jr. 32 
Jane 20 
Jeremiah 32 
Jesse 32 
Nary 32 

FRAZER, Ja,ne5 55 
FREElW-1, Mary B, 15 
FRY, Olney 55 
FUGATE, Sarah Coffey 39 
FULLEN, John T, IS 

Rachel 15 

GAINS, Andre,o 42 
GALLO, SuHn 46 
GALLOWAY, Charles 25 
GARDNER, Sally 12 
GARNER, Elizabeth 30 

Pol h 1,25 
Sally 30 

GAULT, Charles 50 
Effie tri tton 51 
Grace 50 
Hugh CoH ey 50 
lsab11lla 50 
Jane 50 
John SO 
Joseph 50 
Nanc, 50 
Robecca 49,50 
Susanna 50 
ThORas 50 
Wt ll1am 49,50 

GEORGE, Wm, Frank 46 
GIBBONS, H1chael 24 
GIBSON, Henry 35 

Mary Ann Matilda 44 
GILBERT, Janes 24 

Sar.1h 23 
GILBREATH, Andrew 38 

El uabeth 40 
H.s,.,.ood "Gustine· 39 
Jane 38.41 
James 38 
John 38-41 
John Ches I eY 39 
Wt lltam 41 
W1ll1am Henry 39 

GILES, NancY 10 
GILLASPY, Benjamin G. 33 

O.iv1d 33 
El azabeth 33 
P.H. 32,33 

GILLESPIE, Sarah Ann Cathey 48 
GIVENS, Esther 48,49 
GLASSCOCK, Bob 45 
GOOREY, Robert 56 
GOLDSBY, Eliza 30 
GOODE, Margaret C.1ther1ne 46 

R1Cholrd A, 46 
GOSSETT, Cody 29 

John Henry 29 
GOUEN, L.irktn 44 
GRAGG, Burton 20 

Oav1d 20 
Ectnond 18 
Gro1ce 17 
Indiana 18 
Jam111 20 
JHH 17,20 
John 13 
Johnson 17 
Lonon 17 
Loullo E, 19 
Margaret Cordelia 18 
Martha 19,20 
Mary 16 
Mary Lagustia 

!lane• Eliabett, 17 
rlJCt'Y 17 
Prudence 17 
Susan Moore Green 1~ 
Susannah 18 
TilY1 or H. 18 
W1ll1arr, 18 

GRAHAN, MISS 57 
GRANITT, Temperance 14 
GP.AVES, Ann 6 

BenJam1n 6 
E 1 tzabeth 35, 36 
France~ o 
Francis 5,6 
Henry White 35 
Jane <Jean' 5-7,9.~7 
James 1,5,1> 
Johanna (Hannah• 5,6 
John I , 5, I>. 35 
Joseph 32 
Katherine 6 
Kenneth 5.6 
Martha 6 
NarY 32 
Ralph 35 
Richard I> 
Solrah 32 
Thomas 6,37 
Th0111as <Capt.> 5,35 
Va 1 inda 6 

GREB~. Abel 16 
Amos 16 
Daniel 16 
Eleanor I B 
El ender 16, 18 
El1Jah 16 
Eluabeth 18 
Harriet LOUl54 39 
Jane 16 
Jeremiah 18 
Jerenuah J. 18 
Jene 16 
John •Moccasin" 16 
Margaret 37 
Mary 13,16 
Mourn 1 ng 16 
Nancy 16 
Nathan 18 
541 ly 20 
Sarah 16,IB 
Sil.as 16 
Susan 16 
Thom,u 16 

GREER, Nollie 14 
GRIDER, John Hunter 37 
GRIFFIN, John 49 
GRIMSLEY, !«<to 19 
GRINDSTAFF, 11r, 20 
GRISWOLD, Riley 54 
GRUGG, Elizabeth 10 

HACKETT.Ann Amelia 25 
HADLEY. Edwin 44 

Richard 44 
HALL, Elizabeth 55 
HAMMOND, l!iaac Newton 27 
HANCOCK, BenJan,1n 54,55 

Daniel 55 
Jesse 55 
John L. 54, 55 
N.!r~ret 55 
Mar,ory 55 
NanCY 54 
Sarah 54 
W1ll1am 54,55 

tW>IES ' James I I 
lewis I I 
Nanc, 11 

H,<l;t,,NAH, Jo 53 
HANSFORD, Nancy 46 
liARBORO, Elanor Adaline SI 

E 1 ea nor SJ 
El uabeth St 
George 1Jash1n9ton SI 
James CoHoy 51 
11ahala Cassandra Helen 51 

Marthol Ann 51 
N.!r y Jane 51 
Nary Margaret SI 
Ma! the,o 51 
Hoses G, SI 
Nancy A, 51 
Richard Henry 51 
WI 11 iarn 51 
William E, 51 

HARE, Deborah ~o 
HARGRAVES, Charlie 54 

Cliff 54 
Ebb 54 
Grace 54 
Hat tie 54 
W1ll1arn 54 

HAR11(),I, 114ry Catherine 43 
HARPER, Shirley 22 
HARRAH, Willian, Osburn 17 
HARRIS, Anna :17 

Frances 57 
ivree 57 
Wt 11 iam 35 

HARRISON, Anson 18 
Bridget 32,34 
Kenneth 48 
fatty 32 
Sarah Ann 32, 34 

HARRY, Grae@ J. 44 
HARTLEY, Delphia 18 

Ja1>es 14 
Jan,es w. Io 
Jc.>ne M, J9 
John C. J9 

tta991 e I 9 
Themas N, 19 
WI 111am J. I 9 

HATCH <HITCH,, Le<o11s 41 
HAWKINS, Bet5Y 12,23 

Calvin Henry 23 
DeliaC.23 
George w. 23 
Henn· 23 
Jesse F. 23 
John C. 23 
John O, 23 
Joshua 23 
Jo5hua Melvin 23 
Larkin Luther 23 
t'..ir94ret 23 
Martha 23 
Nary 23 
Samuel 23 
Sarah (Sallv1 23 
Sarah E. 23 

HAYDEN. Judi th K. 41 
HAYS <l<AYESI, Elzie 37 

Gabri e I Jr , 37 
Ge~rge 21 
Hami 1 ton 21 
Jmos Simon 21 
Josvph Elzie 40 
Nary 21 
Matilda Jane 21 
Naomi 15 
Polly 21 
Rachel 18 
Sarah 19 
Susan 19 
Thcnas 15 
W1llia111 Oan101 21 
Wyatt 19 

HAYNES, Por~ol1a 45 
Violetta 'Lotty• 39,40 

HEARD, Abram 35 
Gi.'orge 35 

HEGARTY, N.!rv J, 43 
HENLEt, J.imes 8, ~4 
HENSON, Hannah 29 
HESSOUG, James W1l10n 40 
HETHCOAT, Mar> 4 
HICIO~N. FrancH 32 
HICKS, Hartin Luthor 54 
HIGGENBOTHAt1, John LI. 46 
HINDMAN, Aleiander 43 

Asha! 41 
Jane 43 
Pegg> 43 



HJtflAN, Eliz.s 41 
HJPSHIRE, John 22 

Haleta 22 
Hartin 22 
Wiley 22 
William T, 22 

HODGES, Grate Penelope 29 
HOLDEN, James II 

Joseph II 
HOLLANO, Hargaret 32 
HOLT , Rhoda 46 
HOOO, Hargaret 48 
HOPKINS, Robert 44 
HOPPER, Elizabeth 9 

Janv 9 
John 9 

HORTON, Ja111es 16 
HOSNER, Frank 58 

Ruth 58 
I.Ii l 1ia111 F. 58 

HOUPE, Harry G, 11 
HOUSTON, Hary 12 
HCIJE, Laura J, 13 
HUEY, James 49 
HUFF, Ruth 21 
HUGHES, Nancy 24 

Permelia Jant 46 
Sarah Ja111t 44 

HINT, Jamer. A, lit 
Paulina 53 

HURCHISON, Fannie E, II 
HURT, Susannah 41 
HUSKINS, Hary 11 
HUTCHISON, Eliza 38 
HUTCHINSON, Louisa Jane 19 

IHAS, Rachel 19 
IRE~, R.tltcca 2 
ISAACS, Gertrude 11 
ISBELL, Clora 32 

Hartha Ptrmilia 4 
'iSRAEL, Hlch.11tl 32 

Michael Jr, 32 

JACKSON, 11.try E, 43 
JEFFERS, Bertha 9 

Joe 9 
J&NINGS, Sarah 57 
JOl¾lSEY, Ella C. 8 

Robert W, 8 
JOl¾lSON, Alley 24 

ECMard 32,34 
Elizabeth 33 
Henry J, 41 
Hubbard 16 
Ja111es W. 52 
John 16,27,52 
Kathryn 15,22 
Martha 40 
Martha Ann 52 156 
Martha Jane 16 
Mary G. 55 
McCrourie c. 19 
Mr, 50 
Myra Christine 19 
Patton 46 
Sally 33 

JOINSTON, Martin Harrison 42 
JOLLIFFE, Mary 2 
JONES, Andrew 4 

Elizabeth 4 
Henry 4 
Jesse 4 
John 4 
Lewh Naal 4 
Lucinda 4 
Malinda 4 
Mary 4,35 
Mot1e11 4 
Nancy 4 
Pahey 4 
Sarah 4 
Wll liam 4 

KAINES, •ooc• 54 
Jenio 54 

KAPP, Sarbara 52 
KELLER, Jonas 11 

Mary 11 
KELTNER, John Richard 44 

Har94nna 43 
KENDAL, Are111\a 31 

Heuma 31 
James 31 
Nancy Z. 31 

KEM~EDY, Elaanor Cof-fey 52 
Franc II J. 52 
Franklin P. 52 
Jamo5 35 
Nancy c. 52 

KERBY, Giorge O, 40 
John 40 

KERNS, Hubert F. 45 
Lloyd 45 

KEY, Sara El 1Z, 17 
KILBY, Martha II 
KILPATRICK, David 56 

Eli:iabeth 12 
Sally 12 

KIMLER, L,C. B 
Randy B 

KNIGHT, 11.lry 35 
KNOX, James 44 

John 44 
Mary 37,44 

KURTZ, Betty 56 

IACY, Elizabeth 26 
LAFFERTY, C,N, 42 
LAMBERl, Martha Elizabeth 40 
LAND, Hannah 12 
LANE, Ann 55 

Elizabeth 55 
Elmlna 56 
France-. 52 
Frances Anne 56 
Jerry 56 
John J. 56 
Lucinda 55 
Mal Inda 55 
Marjorto 57 
Mary Melina 56 
Mordecai 55,56 
Mally 57 
Nancy 55 
Pleuant 55 
Pri'iCI I la 56 
Sarah 55,56 
Susanna 56 
Thomas 57 
Wtl ltam 55 
William Dabnoy 56 

LANEY, George 11 
LASI.IELL, Celia Ann 21 

Nancy 54 
LAWHORN, Shonna 27 
LAY, Haroaret 41 
LEEPER, Mary 50 

Hiri4111 13 

LEFLER, laura 26,28 
LEGGETT, Martha 49 
LEIGHTY, Elizabeth Pinkerton 50 
LEMASTERS, Rebecca 28 
LEVERIOGE, Mary 8 
LEWIS, W.G. 23 
LIGAN, l, 35 
LINDSAY, Isabel la 17 
LITTON, Kingston 21 

Mary Adel lne 21 
LOFTIN, Bennie 21 
LUCAS, Elizabitth 36 

Silas E111111ett <Rev.> 32 
LYNCH, Anna 43 

MACKEY, Sarah 58 
WI 11 l.tm Lowa 58 

MACY <MASY), Isaac 23 
MAGUFFEY, Jane <Hrs.> 5,6 

John 6 
MARLER, James 8. 6 
MARSHALL, Catherine <Cam> 5 

George Preston 5 
Mary 48 

MARVIN, t1a t thais 56 
MASSERY, Hezekiah B. 55 
MAST, Reuben 16 
MATHENY, Alice Cook 45 
MATHEY, Jane 23 
MATHIS, "Aley' 33 

Thelma 41 
MATTHEWS, B.O. 53 

Helen 53 
Mary Oauonport 53 
Sarah 42 

MAXAM, Phyllis Ann 17 
HAYFIELD, Isaac W, 15 

James B. 15 
Jean 1,5 
Jesse 15 
Margaret 15 
Mary A, 20 
Sarah E, 15 
Wi11ia111 15,58 

HEADWS, Al thH 46 
Andrew 46 
Arteme511tah 46 
Donna Ann 46 
Elizabeth 46 
Eraitus 46 
Henry 46 
Henry Wtn4ray 46 
James 46 
Ja111os V. 46 

Jane 46 
John G, 46 
Judi th 36 
Martha 46 
Martin C. 46 
Mary C. 46 
Sarah Jane 46 
Sytha 36 
Thon,a<; 46 

MEOARIS, Robt, 41 
MEECE, Martha 41 
MEFFORD, William taluin IS 
MEREDITH, Daniel 38 

Janice 38 
Sarah 38 

MERRITT, Don Ruth 34 
HILLER, Franc11 Marius 56 

Frederick Augustus 56 
J .. ne 4 
Levi 10 
Loree Gilbreath 38 
Mable 53 
Noah 10 
Sarah 10 

MILLS, John 25 
MINSHULL, Marilyn 12 
MITCHELL, Mary 7 
MOBLEY, Terry 46 

Vince 46 
MONROE, Sarah 54 
MONTGOMERY, Agnes 47,49 

Boomer Ben 27 
MOODY, Mary 16 
MOORE, Charity 13 

Elijah L, 12 
Eli zabvth Ann 4 
Harriott 12 
Jesse 24 
J. Richard 13 
Marg.,rot 47 
Mary <Molly) 1124 
Mary <Polly) 13 
Millio 25 
Nancy 12 
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110Rfff, Ann 7 
El•tr• 7 
El ij4h 7 
J•n. 7 
John 7 
John Cl•Yeland 7 
Joshua 7 
11.artha 7 
Nancy 7 
t◄ icholas 7 
1◄ 1cholas Jr. 7 
Sar•h 7 
W1ll1am 7 

MORELAND, Abner 15 
Alfred 15 
C&I 1a 15 
Charles 15 
El1zab11th 15 
John O. 15 
Law!.on H. 15 
Matilda 15 
Nancy Ann 15 
W1 ll1am 15 

MORGAN, Sa 1 1 y 13 
110RPHEl~, Mary 2'3 
MORRIS, Leonard 53 

1,11 l l1arr, 5 
MORROW, Leonard 38 

111 lly 55 
Opal 56 
Sarah w. 48 

MOSELY, EiMard 2 
1105S, Mrs, W111 iam 24 
MURPHY, Joseph HPnry 46 

11CAtolALLY, Jame, 22 
MCCORNACK, James 50 
MCCORNACK, Nancy 50 
MCGAUGH, Ob•dience 48 
11CGJI-NIS, Aaron 19 
MCGUIRE, Jame, 26,28 

Martha 40 
Mary "Polly" 12,43 

MCHENRY, JamH 25 
MCKINLEY, Na01111 34 
HCKll'f'IEY, John Boone 29 
MCLAIN, Chesley 41 

D.lnlel Cl•rk 41 
ECMin W, 41 
h.uc 41 
JM!IH 41 
John 41 
John Jr, 41 
Jouph 41 
l'largaret Ann 41 
Nary 41 
Helisw Felicia 41 
Robert H. 41 
S.rah 41 

MCLEAN, Bassi• 13 
1101AHAN, Sarah 12 
MCOUJLLING, David R, 44 
MCWHORTER, Mr, 48 
MCWILLIAMS, John 32 

NASH, Dice 22 
El I en 22 

NEIGHBORS, Lillian 31 
NEILL, Gilbreth 15 

Nartha I(, 16 
1~011>I 15 
Wt I !lam IS 

riE IMOtER, Betty 17 
NELS(Ji, O.inutl 48 

John 13 
NESBITT, Mr. -18 
NEVILLE, Elizabeth 4 

Wit11ired 4 
NEWBROUGH, Louis H. 30 
NIXCt~, Tho,,,aS 27 
tl!XSIJ,I, Richard 29 
NORMAN, Lou1s,1 50 

OAKLEY, Betty Ann 41 
O'BRll'Otl, Th01114s 3 
O'COBITTl'AIGH I 
O'COFAIGH I 
000!1, haac w. 24 
OGOEN, Geor911 54 

Stella 54 
Suue 54 

IJ'IEY, R~oda 28 
ORR, J411101 24 

Pauline 43 
Peggy H1nmian 43 

OWENS, Joseph 30 
N.aino 4 
Rebeckah 30 
Sdffiuel 30 
Simeon 30 
WnhIngton 30 

PALHER, EI b.i 22 
PARKER, Drusilla 24 
PARR!~, Eo.,,in 44 
PARSIJ'IS, Laura Elii.aibeth II 
PATRICK, Elizabeth 50 

Hugh 50 
Isham 11 
Margaret <Peggy> 26·28 
Holry SO 
Samuel 27 
Willim 27 

PATTIJ'I, Venla 12 
PEACOCK, John 44 

William 44 

PEMBERTCt•, Thom.is 54 
PENDLEY, Nancy 11 

Sara(h) 11 ,30 
PENLY, Annie 19 
Pen•ELL, Sarnue I 23 
PERKINS, Meeky, 32 
PERRY, Jame, SS 
PERRIN, Mus 35 
PETTIT, Frances Millicent 14 

Mary Monroe 14 
PETTY, Wm, 24 
PHELPS, Nancy 45-47 
PIDGEON, Rachael .a.34 
P ltlKERTON, W1 l l 1,1111 50 
PIPES, Etta 23 

Mar Iha 23 
PITHAN, Susana 23,24 

W1 II iam 24 
PLATT, Connie 40 
PLEASANTS, Sarah 54 
PORTER, John 36 

PORTER, Mr~. 37 
PORTMAI◄, B,11 I y < Or . > 9 

Behi, 9 
El u.ibeth 9 

Gecroe 9 
GoorQ& McWhorter 9 

Jene Coffey 9 
John Clayton 9 
Matthew~ 
Osborn 9 
Patsy 9 
Richard Ni9htingale 9 
Sall 1e 8 
W.A. 9 

POWELL, Ann 3 
Hayward 14 
ThOffldS 2 

PRESLEY, Hildred <Milley> 31,33 
PR! CE, J.in11 51 

John 48 
PRITCHARD, 11.llinda 19 
PUETT, William 12 
PULLIAN, William G. 52 
PURDY, 11.lry Rosetta 46 

RAGAN, John 46 

Polly 33 
RAGLAND, 11.lr y 37 

RAGSDALE, Jo,ephlne 54 
Rebecca 9 

RAMAGE, Carol 27 
RAMBO, Margarot 14 
RAH SEY , Mary Sa 1 I y 30 
RANDALL, carol Coffey 53 

Evelvn Eluabeth 53 
ld.i Luc, le 53 
Samuel Harv111 Wright 53 
T. 35 • 

RAl11, Greer, B. 52 
RAY ~RHEA•. Ben,am1n 10 

Jane (J1nc.i 10 
Lucinda 10 
Sterling 10 

REAVIS, Joh~ 3'1 
H. 39 

REED, Agne~ 53 
Ann Je,um.i 46 
John 47 

REEVE, Eva 53 
Paul G. 53 

REGISTER, Elvira 21 
Racht-1 11, 21 

PEID, George Robert 4 
REJrlS, Nancy lB 
PErHOLDS, Cuanda 55 

Catherine Berry 46 
RH:A, EIIJah W. 58 
RICHARDS, Mary 38 
RIFFE, Christopher 9 

El1zabetn °T.ib1tha" 8 
Leannah 9 
Peter e. 8,9 

RIGGINS, Luc1nddl 46 
RIKE <REICH>, Gladys I. 46 
RIPPETOE, Elizabeth 7 
RITCHEY, Jan,111 H. 52 
ROACH, Jim 45 

Thoma~ 10 
ROBERTS, Lyla Stag.ill 40 

Hanan 41 
ROBBINS, Elizabeth 12,23 

Joshua Rufn 23 
11.argaret 12,23 
Mary LindMY 23 
Reubin 23 
Rufus 23 
Thomas 23 

ROCKET, Sarah 15 
ROGERS, Angeline Mercy 17 

David 43 
James 44 
Susan Ann 3'5 

ROGER, Elin 14 
ROSE, Sabra 41 
ROSS, Hor94n 41 
ROINOTREE, Ida E, 40 
Ro.IE, Sar•h 18 
R().ISm, Eul'retl k 53 

Stanlev Irwin 53 
Willou9hby Lewis 53 

RUDO, Louisa 27 
RYALS, Nari@ I 9 
RtERSm, Capl. J2 

SANBORN, Mrs. l 4 
SATTERFIELD, Sophia 25 
SAUFLEY, Marr C, 40 
SCALF, Henry 36 
SCHOOLEY, Minerva Dorinda 54 

Nora H. 54 
SCOTT, Nary 46 

Sally 7,16 
SEWELL, Mel1~,a Jane 

El uabet th 29 
SE(TON, Jacqu~l,ne 24 
SHACKLEFORO, ~ebecca Ann 46 
SHARP, Gl'orge W. 15 

J.imes S1mpion 15 
Jasper I◄, IS 
Mary S. lS 
N.inc ~ Ann I 5 
Sarah M. IS 



67 
Sf/ARR, Noreva 15,16 STRANGE, Mary !,18 Nancy 16 

( SHEARER, Robert 13 STREETS, David 30 Noah 17 
SHEPARD, Mr, 17 SWAN, Susanna 57 Pahy 16 
SHEPHERD, Rebecca 11 Sidena 16 
SHERWOOD, Ann 57 TAYLOR, John 7 Sol0111on 16 
SHIELDS, L,M, 29 Mary Ann 7 Theodore M, 18 
SHOCKLEY, Perry 22 Mr, 50 Th~s Crittenden 16 
SHORES, Abigail 41 TEAGUE, Georgianne 51 Tyre 19 
SHOUSE, Gelina E, 19 TEPERA, Gary Steven 40 WELCH, Eli1abeth 10 
SIDERS, Ethel Sparks 45 Janet Hessong 40 Fel Ix 17 
SIKES, Anna Elizabeth 50 TERRELL, Myra 35 WELL.HAN, Susanna 50 
SILKY, Jemima 44 THOMPSON, Elizabeth 4 WELLS, William 38 
Sl1'110NS, John Ora 54 TIDMORE, John W. 29 WELSCH, Margaret 39 

Kathy Coffee 34,37 Louis;p E, 29 WHEAT, Mary Ann "Nancy• 42 
Myrtle 54 TILFORE, James 7 Emelina Parthena 42 
01 lie 54 TILLER, Frances L, 20 WHI SANAND, Mary 20 
Owen 54 TOMLINSON, Charles 38 WHISENANT, Sherlene 29 
Silas 54 TRITT, John 12 WHITE I Judy 46 

SIMPSON, Jane 16 TROUSDALE, Jane 36 Mary (Polly) 4 
SIMS, Fannie 17 TROUT, John Henry 9 Phyllis Coffey 45 

Parish 42 Wa~ne 8,9 Serena 11 
Sally 7 TUCKER, Martha 46 Unity 35 

SINGLETON, Dudley 4 TURMIRE, Martha 23 WHITSETT, Nancy E, 21 
Echund 4 Sal I 10 23 Nathan 21 
J.iiiu Kadi son 22 TURNBOW (TURNBOUGH), Sarah 21 

SLINKARD, Charlott• 37 Andrew 39,41,42 WILCOX, Mary Margaret 
SLOAN, Charles 54 Chesley 41 Coffey 43 
SNITH, Augustine 2 Feliciana 41 WILCOXON, Elizabeth 40 

Austin 32 Gracy 42 WILEY, Dr. 44 
Betty 32 Hickland 41 James 32 
Claudia Stella 29 James 41 Thomas 39 
Jane Stuart 7 Joe 41 WILHOIT, Lucy Stapp 5 
John 7 John B. 41 WILLIAMS, James Bruton 27 
Joseph George 29 Landon 41 MargarE!t 27 
Hartin 30 Margaret 42 Mary 35 
Mary 1'1argaret 58 Mary 42 Nancy Jane 27 
Minnie Viola 29 Nancy 41, 42 Ransom 27 
Sarah 35 Nathan 41 WILSON, Eliza 54 

SMITHSIJ,I, Oauid Coleman 25 Wm, Claiborne 42 Et i zabeth 29 
SMOCK, Martha 15,20 TURNER, Jane 23 Margaret 32 
SNEED, Eldridge 54 TUTTLE, Marr Elizabeth Mary Ann Speldle 21 

Ladonia 54 •set tie" 13 Mr, 41150 
SNYDER, Josiah 46 Nancy 13 Rita 50 
SOUTHERLAND, G.W, 45 WISEMAN, Mary 17 
SPAIN, Sarah 42 VANDERWEOEN I Betty Ann 10,12, Mary A. 54 
SPEARS, Agnes 9 14,16,17 WITHERSPOON, Kathrine 36 
STACY, Nancy 27 VllNDIVER, John 32 WOLFE, Charles 21 
STANLEY, Ann 55 VARDAMAN, Jeremiah 8 William 22 

Kaye We.,.kley 46 VASl'Alrl, Clarisw Ann 30 WOLFORD, Nancy E. 40 
Wiley 12 VICKREY, Betsy 55 WOOD, Brenda 44 

STANSBURY, Elisha 16 
WADE, Oaraleen 3,43,45 

WOODWARD, William 29 
STAPP, Catherine 41 WRIGHT, Frances 34 

Elizabeth 5 WALKER, Andrew 49 Phyllis 17 
Joseph 4, 36 Archibald A. 30 Thomas A, 19 
Jo5hua 4, 36 EI i 5ha Trimble 29 WYATT, Alfred 11 
Joshua Jr, 5 John Wes 1 OY 51 Rebecca Eueline II 
Martha 4, 36 Laur et ta Grace 30 Sarah 11, 37 

STATON, Perllna <Pa1ina) 43 Margaret 49 
STEELE, John 10 Mary Louise 30 YATES, Janies Franklin 29 
STEPHENS, Cannon 4 Rebecca Jane 21 Hattie 29 
STEPHENSIJ,I, Samuel 47 Robert C. 30 YELL, Ahc 31 
STEVENS, Gallatin 29 Robert Hales 30 Betty 31 
STEWART, John 13 Wi I liam B, 30 YORK, William Somore 4 

Martha 13 WAMPLER, Theresa 15 YOLNGER, Jenny 57 
Martha A, 4B WARD, Elizabeth 16 
Theodore 13 WARREN, Beulah 55 ZOLLINGER, Viuian 5,6 
Thmas 13 Reuben 55 

STOCKS, Thomas 35 WATSON, Susannah 47,49 
STOKES, Sarah 20 WEAl<L Y, James 35 
STONE, Steven 44 WEBB, A 11 ey I 2 
STORIE, Nimrod 23 Benjamin 16 

Selen• 23 Elijah Cl au son 16 
STORY, Mattie E. 19 El 1zabeth 16 
ST~GE, Abner Alloway 29 El la 12 

Abraham 20 James 16 
Archulaus AIICMaY 28,29 James C, 19 
David A, 20,29 J4111es Cr1ttenden 16 
Edlllond 20,28 James Tyre 17 
Hannah All~Y 20 John C. 16 
Ian Maclaren 29 Joseph Milton 17 

~· 
l11abol 28 Margaret Legrand 17 
Ltwh A, 28 Mary Jane 17 
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